UNIVERSIDAD COMPLUTENSE DE MADRID FACULTAD DE CIENCIAS MATEMÁTICAS



TESIS DOCTORAL

Métodos computacionales en topología y sistemas dinámicos

Computational methods in topology and dynamical systems

MEMORIA PARA OPTAR AL GRADO DE DOCTOR

PRESENTADA POR

Pedro José Chocano Feito

Directores

Manuel Alonso Morón Francisco Romero Ruiz del Portal

Madrid

© Pedro José Chocano Feito, 2021

UNIVERSIDAD COMPLUTENSE DE MADRID FACULTAD DE CIENCIAS MATEMÁTICAS



TESIS DOCTORAL

MÉTODOS COMPUTACIONALES EN TOPOLOGÍA Y SISTEMAS DINÁMICOS.

COMPUTATIONAL METHODS IN TOPOLOGY AND DYNAMICAL SYSTEMS

MEMORIA PARA OPTAR AL GRADO DE DOCTOR

PRESENTADA POR

Pedro José Chocano Feito

DIRECTORES

Manuel Alonso Morón Francisco Romero Ruiz del Portal

Madrid, 2021

Universidad Complutense de Madrid

FACULTAD DE CIENCIAS MATEMÁTICAS



MÉTODOS COMPUTACIONALES EN TOPOLOGÍA Y SISTEMAS DINÁMICOS Computational Methods in Topology and Dynamical Systems

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

Author:

Supervisors:

Pedro José Chocano Feito

Manuel Alonso Morón Francisco Romero Ruiz del Portal

Madrid 2021

A mi Kankun.

Et ignotas animum dimittit in artes. Ovidio, Metamorfosis viii, 18

And then she said the ancient phrase: "We're like the dreamer who dreams and then lives inside the dream" I told her I understood and then she said: "but who is the dreamer?"

Gordon Cole

Agradecimientos

En lo académico, agradezco al Ministerio de Ciencia, Innovación y Universidades por haberme concedido la ayuda FPI que he disfrutado durante mi etapa en el doctorado. También agradezco a la facultad de Matemáticas y al departamento de Álgebra, Geometría y Topología que me hayan permitido colaborar en labores docentes con las que tanto he aprendido. Agradezco a Manuel A. Morón y a Francisco R. Ruiz del Portal, mis directores, que me aceptaran como alumno de doctorado sin apenas conocerme y me hayan dado esta gran oportunidad.

A Jonathan A. Barmak le agradezco sus valiosos comentarios y siempre interesantes sugerencias a la vez que su gran amabilidad y paciencia para atenderme de manera tan generosa, gracias a ellos mejores resultados y exposición se han podido obtener a lo largo de esta memoria.

I am very grateful to my advisor during my research stay in Krakow, Marian Mrozek. I learned a lot about Conley index among other things in your courses and seminars. I really felt very comfortable in your research group, you welcomed me very kindly and showed me a lot of interesting mathematics. You also gave me the opportunity to explain some of my lines of work at the seminars organized by the department. I thank Michał Lipiński and Mateusz Przybylski for their friendliness, they made my stay easier and nicer.

I thank Thomas Wanner and Antonio Viruel for their useful remarks and observations during the preparation of the final version of this dissertation.

Finally, I am bound to say that it is fair to thank one more time the anonymous referee that reviewed [29]. Unfortunately, I do not know if this paragraph will be read by this person. Even though the revisions were very tough, not only do I learned about mathematics, but I also learned about presentation and organization. I believe that it encouraged me to do my best.

No me puedo olvidar de todos aquellos que me han acompañado durante este tiempo en la facultad y han hecho más amenos los duros días de trabajo, mis compañeros de despacho Juan A. Rojo, Eduardo Fernández y Tayomara Borsich, al igual que mis compañeros de doctorado, Miguel Monsalve, Miguel G. Bravo, Xabi Martínez, Eva Saez, Hernán Cabana. Muchas gracias por las agradables conversaciones entre café y café.

Entrando en el terreno más personal, cómo no mencionar a mis amigos, a *los de siempre*, Miguel Rozalén, Diego Cartán, Javier Chiquero y Alberto Pernia. Durante todos estos años no me habéis fallado cuando os he necesitado. Con unos amigos así, una tesis siempre se hace más llevadera. Os estoy muy agradecido por todos los buenos momentos vividos estos años y por los que vivamos, pues por algo somos los de siempre.

Aunque esta tesis esté dedicada a mi Kankun, bien podría ser a mi familia entera y especialmente a mis padres, por su apoyo incondicional. Seguramente mientras hayan empezado a leer las primeras líneas de esta tesis, y en concreto de estos agradecimientos, empiecen a sentir un gran orgullo por su hijo, pero el que realmente se siente orgulloso soy yo por tenerles a mi lado, pues no he podido tener mejores padres. Me habéis dado educación y amor, o lo que es lo mismo, todo lo que se le puede dar a un hijo. A vosotros os debo mucho por la persona en la que me he convertido.

Finalmente, gracias Elena. Me has acompañado en esta aventura desde el principio, aunque tengo la sensación de que me has acompañado realmente desde siempre. Has estado conmigo en las alegrías cuando los resultados salían, alegrándote incluso más que yo y que de tus propios resultados, transmitiéndome esa chispa de alegría que a veces necesito. Pero sobre todo has sabido estar cuando me quedaba atascado en algo, me has sabido comprender y has hecho todo lo posible e imposible para que me sintiera bien. Me has enseñado muchas cosas, pero entre ellas me quedo con lo que significa amar y darlo todo por una persona. Tengo la sensación de que estamos cerrando ambos una etapa, que es sin lugar a duda una muy feliz. Echaré mucho de menos el salir al pasillo de la segunda planta para sacarte del despacho y tomarnos una napolitana, o cuando era al revés y venías tú a sacarme, cuando miraba la hora impaciente porque me imaginaba que en breve podías llamar a la puerta y entrar. Echaré de menos esta experiencia, no tanto por la experiencia sino por cómo la he vivido contigo, sin ti hubiera sido todo completamente diferente. Afortunadamente, sé que estás a mi lado, así que tengo la garantía de que todo lo que venga lo podré afrontar sin miedo y con una sonrisa al mirarte a los ojos.

Abstract

Alexandroff spaces are topological spaces satisfying that the arbitrary intersection of open sets is an open set. The theory of Alexandroff spaces is becoming a significant part of topology since it can be used to model and solve mathematical problems of different nature. They were first considered in [1] under the name of *diskrete Räume* (discrete spaces), where P.S. Alexandroff proved that they can also be treated as combinatorial objects. Concretely, he proved that Alexandroff spaces are in bijective correspondence with preordered sets. Therefore, topological notions such as continuity or homotopy can be expressed in terms of combinatorial notions. However, Alexandroff spaces have some poor topological properties. For instance, if X is an Alexandroff space being T_1 or a Fréchet space, then its topology is the discrete topology.

Finite topological spaces are a very important example of Alexandroff spaces. Due to its finitude, at a first glance, they can seem uninteresting from an algebraic point of view. Surprisingly, M.C. McCord proved in [75] that they have the same singular and homotopy groups of finite simplicial complexes. For example, there exists a finite topological space with four points satisfying that its fundamental group is the same as the fundamental group of the circle. The same situation holds for Alexandroff spaces and not necessarily finite simplicial complexes. We can say that Alexandroff spaces are as interesting as simplicial complexes from an algebraic point of view. A study of the homotopy type of finite topological spaces was made in [103], a generalization of this study was made in [67]. Two main monographs on the issue of the algebraic aspects of the topology of finite spaces are [74] and [12]. The first one, due to J.P. May, is the result of some REU programs developed by the author at the University of Chicago. The other one is, essentially, the Ph. D. thesis of J.A. Barmak (under the supervision of E.G. Minian).

Since finite topological spaces can be seen as partially ordered sets and have a finite number of points, it follows that they are good candidates to develop computational methods. Nevertheless, from a more theoretical point of view they are also very interesting. For instance, Quillen's conjecture (see [91, 104] and [12, Chapter 8]) or the Andrews-Curtis conjecture (see [4] and [12, Chapter 11]) can be stated in terms of finite topological spaces. In addition, interesting results regarding to topological spaces that have the fixed point property have been obtained in [14]. J.A. Barmak proved that the fixed point property is not a weak homotopy invariant. For every polyhedron K there exists a topological space which is weak homotopy equivalent to K and has the fixed point property. Finite topological spaces can also be used to solve a classical problem of realization of groups, see [25, 106, 10] or [16, 15]. Hence, we can say that they have strong relations with the theory of finite groups.

Recently, an interest in finding applications to the study of dynamical systems using the theory of finite topological spaces has grown up, see for example [20] or [68]. This is due to the difficulty of describing the exact behavior of the solutions or orbits of a general dynamical system. Topological methods such as the Conley index (see [32, 84, 105] or [51]) have been developed to overcome this difficulty. But the computation of these methods is far from being reachable in each case. One possible approach to solve this situation is to define a combinatorial dynamical system on a combinatorial object, e.g., a finite topological space or a Lefschetz complex. Then, adapt classical invariants to this framework. Finally, find a discretization of the original dynamical system to obtain a combinatorial dynamical system and derive from here information, see [85] or [21] for more details. Moreover, some tools of differential topology like Morse theory (see [78]) have been adapted in a combinatorial way to the context of finite topological spaces in [80] and [46], and simplicial complexes in [48, 49, 50]. For simplicial complexes this combinatorial approach has been used for computational aspects in a fruitful manner, see for example [38] and [59]. From this it can be thought that a similar situation also holds for dynamical systems.

Objectives

The original idea of this work is to establish a proper theoretical framework to develop computational tools to study dynamical systems. To do this task some ideas of the shape theory are considered. Notice that shape theory fits better than homotopy theory in order to study dynamical objects such as attractors or repellers. This is because of the poor local properties that can have these spaces, e.g., Lorentz attractor. Homotopy theory works very nice for topological spaces with "good" local properties but not necessarily for topological spaces with "bad" local properties. The classical example is the Warsaw circle, it has all its homotopy groups trivial, but it is not contractible. Shape theory appears as a generalization of homotopy theory. It provides a better description or classification. One of the main ideas is to think about a topological space X as a family of "easy" topological spaces that are approximating X. In this case, the "easy" topological spaces are polyhedra and they are closely related to finite topological spaces. Then it is natural to follow a similar approach using finite spaces as it was done in [82] and [31]. The first task is to adapt these ideas to get a description of a compact metric space in terms of finite topological spaces. Once it is accomplished the previous task, it is natural to wonder if shape theory can be reformulated using finite spaces. A positive answer could lead to a sort of computational shape theory.

On the one hand, the groups of automorphisms of finite topological space should be analyzed to study dynamical systems on them. For example, a discrete dynamical system for a finite topological X space is given by a homeomorphism $f: X \to X$. On the other hand, it is not difficult to show that the only continuous dynamical system defined on a finite T_0 topological spaces is the trivial one. This is due to the lack of room, there is only a finite number of points. The usual definition of dynamical system does not work properly in this context and then new definitions must be given. To sum up, the ideas to be developed in this work are the following:

- Develop a theory to reconstruct or approximate a compact metric space using finite topological spaces.
- Study the groups of automorphisms of finite topological spaces.
- Give new definitions of dynamical system to the framework of finite topological spaces.
- Find a discretization of classical dynamical systems and see how this discretization recovers some of the original information.

Results

Chapter 1 serves as an introduction to the theory that will be used in subsequent chapters. The introduction has two well-differentiated parts. The first one deals with basic results and theory of Alexandroff spaces. The second one is a brief introduction to shape theory and results related to it.

In Chapter 2 we give a new inverse sequence to reconstruct the homotopy type of compact metric spaces. Concretely, given a compact metric space X we construct an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces satisfying that its inverse limit contains a homeomorphic copy of X which is a strong deformation retract. We study the relations of our inverse sequence with other similar constructions ([31] and [82]) and propose a computational method to reconstruct the homology groups of a compact metric space. Then, a new description of shape theory is given and some other shape theoretical questions are treated. Finally, we define a topological category SW (SH) that classifies compact metric spaces by their shape and finite topological spaces by their weak homotopy type (homotopy type).

In Chapter 3 problems of realization of groups in topological categories are solved. We prove that every group can be realized as the group of homeomorphisms or self-homotopy equivalences or pointed self-homotopy equivalences of a topological space. In addition, we also prove that every homomorphism of groups can be expressed in terms of the natural homomorphism between the group of homeomorphisms and the group of self-homotopy equivalences of a topological space. Other realization problems involving homotopy groups and homology groups are considered. To do this, we find a family of asymmetric topological spaces satisfying that each member is weak homotopy equivalent to a point. From this we derive some consequences of the relations between the groups mentioned above. We get that some techniques used to study the group of self-homotopy equivalences of CWcomplexes cannot be adapted to general topological spaces. The topological spaces used throughout this chapter are Alexandroff spaces. Even though Alexandroff spaces and CW-complexes are closely related, there are huge differences in terms of the groups of self-homotopy equivalences.

In Chapter 4 we propose a method to define dynamical systems for finite topological spaces. From a dynamical point of view single valued maps are not appropriate to model a complex behavior. Then a special class of multivalued maps is introduced, the socalled Vietoris-like multivalued maps. For this special class of multivalued maps, we develop a general Lefschetz fixed point theorem and some coincidence theorems. The usual continuous maps between finite topological spaces can be seen as Vietoris-like multivalued maps, so the classical Lefschetz fixed point theorem can also be obtained as a special case of the general one. In addition, it is not required any hypothesis of continuity in the definition of a Vietoris-like multivalued map. Therefore, the flexibility of this sort of multivalued maps is very high and they can be used to model more complex dynamical systems. We apply the theory of Vietoris-like multivalued maps to approximate discrete dynamical systems defined on polyhedra. To do this we use a sequence of finite topological spaces and Vietoris-like multivalued maps. Finally, we define a category enclosing the theory of Vietoris-like multivalued maps. To get this category we give a new definition of homotopy. The new homotopy generalizes some other definitions of homotopy for multivalued maps and also the classical definition of homotopy for continuous maps between finite topological spaces. Moreover, we give some remarks about a possible concept of topological degree for this setting.

Chapters 2, 3 and 4 can be read independently. The second subsection of Chapter 1 is only referenced in Chapter 2. Therefore it can be omitted in order to read Chapter 3

and Chapter 4. At the beginning of each chapter there is an introduction recalling basic theory, notation and a brief discussion of each topic.

Conclusions and further work

We have obtained a computational method to approximate discrete dynamical systems defined on polyhedra using finite topological spaces. But we use the inverse sequence obtained in [31], which works only for simplicial complexes. It is desirable to adapt this method to discrete dynamical systems defined on general compact metric spaces. The idea is to use the new inverse sequence obtained in Chapter 2. In that way, more general results could be obtained.

A Lefschetz fixed point theorem for Vietoris-like multivalued maps has been obtained. Then it can be interesting to get an axiomatization of the Lefschetz number as in the classical setting, see [7]. A similar axiomatization has been carried out for finite topological spaces and continuous maps in [23].

The theory of Vietoris-like multivalued maps seems a very promising starting point to get the notion of continuous and discrete dynamical system in this framework. Then other classical notions such as the fixed point index or the Conley index may be adapted. Once it is accomplished the previous task, it would be very interesting to see the relations with the original classical notions in the method of approximating dynamical systems given in the fourth chapter. Moreover, it also remains to do a deeper study of the Lefschetz number obtained for a Vietoris-like multivaled map. This is, a study of periodic orbits or other relations with the topology of the space. Another question to be analyzed regarding to the fixed point theory in this framework is the following. Is the fixed point property for Vietoris-like multivalued maps a homotopy invariant? The fixed point property for singlevalued maps is a homotopy invariant for finite T_0 topological spaces, see [12, Chapter 10]. But in general, this question does not necessarily have a positive answer. For compact CWcomplexes and continuous maps the fixed point property is not a homotopy invariant, see [69]. Similarly, it can also be treated the combinatorial counterpart to some coincidence problems in the classical setting such as the one treated in [54] or [44], i.e., given two continuous maps, do there exist continuous maps f', g' such that f is homotopic to f', gis homotopic to g' and f', g' do not have coincidence points? Furthermore, an adaptation of the theory of Vietoris-like maps and multivalued to general Alexandroff spaces could be done.

This work has a strong theoretical point of view, but the implementation of the methods described throughout this dissertation is something to be done. The construction given in the second chapter can lead to a sort of computational shape theory and the method proposed in the fourth chapter can describe a dynamical system by its approximations. Furthermore, the method obtained to reconstruct homology groups of compact metric spaces could give applications to topological data analysis.

The results of the third chapter are somehow the ones that are closed since a positive answer has been obtained for the problems. Remarkably, it has been proved that an algebraic notion such as the homomorphism of groups can be expressed in terms of groups related to a topological space. Alexandroff spaces are proved to be perfect blocks to realize different groups related to topological spaces. One problem that has not been treated throughout this chapter is the cardinality of the topological spaces. By way of illustration, what is the minimum number of points that are needed to get a finite topological space realizing a finite group G as its group of homeomorphisms? In this direction, there is a recent manuscript, see [15]. Another problem that could be considered is the study of realization problems for other algebraic structures. For instance, the combinatorial version of the problem treated in [35] could be considered.

Resumen

Los espacios de Alexandroff son espacios topológicos que satisfacen la propiedad adicional de que la intersección arbitraria de abiertos es de nuevo un abierto. La teoría de espacios de Alexandroff se está convirtiendo en una parte significativa dentro de la topología dado que dichos espacios pueden ser usados para modelizar y resolver diferentes problemas matemáticos. La primera vez que fueron considerados fue en [1] bajo el nombre de diskrete Räume (espacio discreto), en dicho artículo se demostró que estos espacios podían ser tratados como objectos combinatorios. Concretamente, se probó que los espacios de Alexandroff se pueden poner en correspondencia biyectiva con los conjuntos preordenados. Por tanto, algunas nociones topológicas como la continuidad o la homotopía pueden ser descritas en términos combinatorios. Por otro lado, los espacios de Alexandroff tienen algunas propiedades topológicas muy pobres. Por ejemplo, si X es un espacio de Alexandroff satisfaciendo el axioma de separación T_1 o siendo un espacio de Fréchet, entonces la topología definida en X es la discreta.

Los espacios topológicos finitos son un ejemplo importante de espacios de Alexandroff. Debido a su finitud, a primera vista pueden parecer poco interesantes desde un punto de vista algebraico topológico. Sorprendentemente, en [75], se demuestra que éstos tienen los mismos grupos de homología singular y homotopía que complejos simpliciales finitos. Por ejemplo, existe un espacio topológico con solo cuatro puntos cuyo grupo fundamental es el mismo que el de la circunferencia. La misma situación descrita para los grupos de homología y homotopía se mantiene para los espacios de Alexandroff y complejos simpliciales no necesariamente finitos. Así pues, los espacios de Alexandroff pueden ser tan interesantes como los complejos simpliciales desde un punto de vista algebraico. En [103], es llevado a cabo un estudio sobre el tipo de homotopía de los espacios topológicos finitos. Recientemente, en [67], se obtiene una generalización de dichos resultados para espacios de Alexandroff. Hay dos referencias principales que tratan cuestiones algebraicas en espacios topológicos finitos, [74] y [12]. La primera referencia, debida a J.P. May, es el resultado de algunos programas REU desarrollados por el autor en la universidad de Chicago. La segunda referencia es esencialmente la tesis de J.A. Barmak bajo la supervisión de E.G. Minian.

Los espacios topológicos finitos son buenos candidatos para desarrollar métodos computacionales que sirvan en la resolución de algunos problemas de distinta naturaleza. Esto último se debe a que pueden ser tratados como objetos combinatorios y a que tienen un cardinal finito. Sin embargo, desde un punto de vista más teórico siguen siendo de gran interés. Por ejemplo, la conjetura de Quillen (ver [91, 104] y [12, Chapter 8]) o la conjetura de Andrews-Curtis (ver [4] y [12, Chapter 11]) pueden ser reformuladas mediante la teoría de espacios topológicos finitos. Además, interesantes resultados relacionados con espacios que poseen la propiedad de punto fijo pueden obtenerse como es el caso en [14], donde se demuestra que la propiedad de punto fijo no es un invariante para la noción de homotopía débil, esto se debe a que para todo poliedro K existe un espacio de Alexandroff satisfaciendo la propiedad de punto fijo con el mismo tipo de homotopía débil que K. Los espacios topológicos finitos también se pueden usar para resolver problemas clásicos de realización de grupos, ver [25, 106, 10, 16, 15], lo que implica que hay una fuerte relación entre la teoría de grupos finitos y la de los espacios topológicos finitos.

Recientemente, el interés en encontrar aplicaciones al estudio de sistemas dinámicos mediante la teoría de espacios topológicos finitos ha aumentado, ver por ejemplo [20] o [68]. Este hecho se debe a la dificultad que reside en describir el comportamiento exacto de órbitas o soluciones para un sistema dinámico general. Métodos topológicos como el índice de Conley (ver [32, 84, 105] o [51]) se han desarrollado para superar esta dificultad. Sin embargo, el cómputo de estos métodos en algunos casos se encuentra lejos de poder ser alcanzado. Una posible aproximación para resolver esta situación consiste en definir un sistema dinámico de manera combinatoria sobre objetos también combinatorios como puedan ser los espacios topológicos finitos o los complejos de Lefschetz. A partir de ahí, adaptar algunos invariantes clásicos como el va mencionado índice de Conley. Finalmente, encontrar una discretización del sistema dinámico original para obtener uno combinatorio y derivar a partir del combinatorio información del original, ver [85] o [21] para más detalles. Además, algunas herramientas de la topología diferencial como la teoría de Morse [78] han sido adaptadas de manera combinatoria a el contexto de espacios topológicos finitos, ver [80] y [46], y a complejos simpliciales, ver [49, 50]. Para complejos simpliciales, este enfoque combinatorio ha sido usado de manera fructífera para tratar algunas cuestiones de carácter computacional, ver por ejemplo [38] o [59]. Por ello, resulta razonable pensar que una situación similar pueda ocurrir en sistemas dinámicos.

Objetivos

La idea original de este trabajo consiste en establecer un marco teórico adecuado para el desarrollo de herramientas computacionales en el estudio de sistemas dinámicos. Para realizar esta tarea, algunas ideas de la teoría de la forma son usadas. Es también importante observar que la teoría de la forma encaja mejor que la teoría de homotopía a la hora de estudiar algunos objetos dinámicos como puedan ser atractores o repulsores. Este último hecho se debe a que en general dichos objetos dinámicos no necesariamente tienen que tener buenas propiedades locales, véase el atractor de Lorenz. La teoría de homotopía funciona bien para espacios con buenas propiedades locales pero no necesariamente para los que no las tengan. Por tanto, la teoría de la forma nace como una generalización de la teoría de homotopía que es capaz de dar una mejor descripción o clasificación. Una de las ideas principales consiste en pensar en un espacio topológico X como si fuera una familia de espacios topológicos "sencillos" que aproximan a X. En este caso, los espacios "sencillos" que se usan son poliedros. A su vez, como los poliedros están relacionados de manera directa con los espacios topológicos finitos es natural intentar seguir un enfoque que use espacios topológicos finitos en vez de poliedros como es hecho en [31] y [82]. Por tanto, la primera tarea a realizar consiste en adaptar estas ideas para obtener una nueva descripción de compactos métricos en términos de espacios topológicos finitos. Una vez logrado este objetivo, es natural plantear si la teoría de la forma puede ser reformulada usando espacios topológicos finitos. En caso de ser posible, se obtendría una especie de teoría de la forma computacional.

Por un lado, el grupo de automorfismos de espacios topológicos finitos debe ser analizado para el estudio de sistemas dinámicos. Por ejemplo, un sistema dinámico discreto para un espacio topológico finito X es dado por un homeomorfismo $f : X \to X$. Por otro lado, no es complicado deducir que el único sistema dinámico continuo que se puede definir sobre un espacio topológico finito es el trivial. Esto último se debe a la falta de espacio porque solamente disponemos de una cantidad finita de puntos. Así pues, las definiciones usuales de sistema dinámico no funcionan demasiado bien en este contexto, nuevas definiciones deben darse para adaptar la noción de sistema dinámico y a su vez otras nociones relacionadas con ello. En resumen, las ideas a ser desarrolladas en este trabajo son las siguientes:

- Desarrollar una teoría de reconstrucción o aproximación para compactos métricos usando espacios topológicos finitos.
- Estudiar el grupo de automorfismos de espacios topológicos finitos.
- Dar definiciones de sistema dinámico para este contexto combinatorio y adaptar algunas nociones clásicas.
- Encontrar una discretización para sistemas dinámicos clásicos y ver cómo esta discretización recupera información del sistema original.

Resultados

El Capítulo 1 de esta tesis sirve como introducción a la teoría que será usada en capítulos posteriores. La introducción contiene dos partes bien diferenciadas. La primera de ellas repasa resultados básicos de la teoría de espacios de Alexandroff. La segunda es una somera introducción a la teoría de la forma y resultados relacionados con ella.

En el Capítulo 2, una nueva construcción para reconstruir el tipo de homotopía de compactos métricos mediante el uso de espacios topológicos finitos es dada. En concreto, dado un compacto métrico X, se construye una sucesión inversa de espacios topológicos finitos satisfaciendo que su límite inverso contiene una copia homeomorfa de X que es un retracto fuerte de deformación de X. Luego, relaciones con otras construcciones similares ([31] y [82]) son estudiadas. Una nueva descripción de la teoría de la forma usando la construcción propuesta es obtenida y otros aspectos relacionados con la teoría de la forma son analizados. Finalmente, se construye una categoría SW (SH) que clasifica compactos métricos por su tipo de forma y espacios topológicos finitos por su tipo de homotopía débil (homotopía).

En el Capítulo 3, algunos problemas de realización de grupos en categorías topológicas son resueltos. En concreto, se demuestra que todo grupo puede realizarse como el grupo de homeomorfismos (auto-equivalencias homotópicas o auto-equivalencias homotópicas punteadas) de un espacio topológico. Además, también se demuestra que todo homomorfismo de grupos puede ser expresado como el homomorfismo natural entre el grupo de homeomorfismos y el grupo de auto-equivalencias homotópicas de un espacio topológico. Otros problemas de realización involucrando grupos de homología y homotopía son resueltos. Para lograr esta meta, una familia asimétrica de espacios topológicos satisfaciendo que cada elemento tiene el tipo de homotopía débil de un punto es encontrada. A partir de aquí, se derivan algunas consecuencias entre las relaciones que hay en los grupos previamente mencionados. Una de ellas prueba que las técnicas usadas para el estudio del grupo de auto-equivalencias homotópicas de CW-complejos no pueden ser adaptadas a espacios topológicos generales. Los espacios topológicos usados en este capítulo son espacios de Alexandroff. Por tanto, a pesar de que los espacios de Alexandroff y los CW-complejos están relacionados, existen enormes diferencias en lo que respecta a el grupo de autoequivalencias homotópicas.

En el Capítulo 4, se propone un método para adaptar la noción de sistema dinámico discreto en espacios topológicos finitos. El primer enfoque consiste en desarrollar una teoría de punto fijo apropiada. Desde un punto de vista dinámico, las aplicaciones univaluadas no son apropiadas en este contexto para modelizar comportamientos complejos. Por ese motivo, se introduce una clase especial de aplicaciones multivaluadas, las nombradas aplicaciones multivaluadas Vietoris-like. Para esta clase especial de aplicaciones multivaluadas se desarrolla un teorema general de punto fijo de Lefschetz y teoremas de coincidencia. Las aplicaciones continuas usuales entre espacios topológicos finitos son un ejemplo particular de aplicación multivaluada Vietoris-like. Además, ninguna hipótesis de continuidad es requerida en la definición de aplicación multivaluada Vietoris-like, este hecho dota de gran flexibilidad a este tipo de aplicaciones multivaluadas, lo que has hace más idóneas para modelizar sistemas dinámicos más complejos. Una aplicación de la teoría desarrollada para aplicaciones multivaluadas Vietoris-like se obtiene para sistemas dinámicos discretos definidos sobre poliedros. En concreto, se propone un método computacional para aproximar sistemas dinámicos discretos sobre poliedros mediante una sucesión de espacios topológicos finitos y aplicaciones multivaluadas. Por último, se define una categoría que englobe a la teoría de aplicaciones multivaluadas Vietoris-like. Para definir dicha categoría, se introduce una nueva noción de homotopía que a su vez generaliza otras nociones de homotopía para aplicaciones multivaluadas y también a la noción clásica de homotopía para funciones continuas entre espacios finitos. Además, se dan algunas observaciones sobre el concepto de grado topológico para el contexto de espacios finitos.

Los Capítulos 2, 3 y 4 pueden ser leídos de manera independiente. La segunda subsección del Capítulo 1 es solamente referenciada en el Capítulo 2.

Conclusiones y trabajo futuro

Se ha conseguido desarrollar un método para aproximar sistemas dinámicos definidos sobre poliedros mediante el uso de espacios topológicos finitos. Aunque una de las construcciones usadas en dicho método se apoya en la construcción hecha en [31], que funciona solamente para complejos simpliciales. Sería bueno lograr adaptar el método propuesto usando la construcción hecha en el segundo capítulo de este trabajo, de esa manera se podrían aproximar sistemas dinámicos discretos definidos sobre compactos métricos y resultados más generales se podrían obtener.

Se ha desarrollado un teorema de punto fijo de Lefschetz para aplicaciones multivaluadas Vietoris-like, una axiomatización del número de Lefschetz como en el contexto clásico para poliedros y aplicaciones continuas [7] podría llevarse a cabo. Para aplicaciones continuas y espacios topológicos finitos, una axiomatización se ha adaptado en [23].

Las aplicaciones multivaluadas Vietoris-like parecen un prometedor punto de partida para definir la noción de sistema dinámico continuo y discreto en el marco de espacios topológicos finitos. Por tanto, a partir de ahí, otras nociones clásicas como el índice de punto fijo o índice de Conley pueden ser adaptadas. Una vez se hayan adaptado estos invariantes, sería muy interesante conocer las relaciones que tienen con las nociones clásicas en el método de aproximación descrito en el cuarto capítulo de esta tesis. Además, queda todavía por hacer un estudio más profundo de los números de Lefschetz obtenidos para una aplicación multivaluada Vietoris-like, por ejemplo, un estudio de órbitas periódicas u otras relaciones con la topología del espacio. Otra cuestión interesante a ser tratada en lo que concierne a teoría de punto fijo es la siguiente. ¿Es la propiedad de punto fijo para aplicaciones multivaluadas Vietoris-like un invariante homotópico? La propiedad de punto fijo para aplicaciones continuas univaluadas es un invariante homotópico en espacios topológicos finitos T_0 , véase [12, Chapter 10]. Pero en general esta cuestión no tiene necesariamente una respuesta afirmativa. Por ejemplo, si consideramos CW-complejos compactos y aplicaciones continuas, la propiedad de punto fijo no es un invariante homotópico como se prueba en [69]. De forma análoga al marco clásico, algunos problemas de coincidencia como el planteado en [54] o [44] pueden ser tratados en su versión combinatoria, es decir, dadas dos aplicaciones continuas f y g; Existen aplicaciones continuas f' y g' satisfaciendo que f es homotópica a f, g es homotópica a f y f' no tiene puntos de coincidencia con g'? También queda por adaptar la teoría de aplicaciones multivaluadas Vietoris-like al marco más general de espacios de Alexandroff.

Este trabajo tiene un punto de vista más teórico, pero una implementación de los métodos descritos a lo largo de la tesis es algo que queda por hacer. Un ejemplo de ello es implementar la construcción hecha en el segundo capítulo para intentar obtener una especie de teoría de la forma computacional, o bien el método descrito en el cuarto capítulo para describir un sistema dinámico mediante aproximaciones. Además, el método obtenido para aproximar los grupos de homología de un compacto métrico podría servir para obtener aplicaciones en análisis topológico de datos.

Se puede decir que los resultados obtenidos en el tercer capítulo son los más cerrados en el sentido de que respuestas afirmativas se han obtenido a las preguntas planteadas. Es notable, el hecho de que una noción puramente algebraica como es la de homomorfismo de grupos pueda ser expresada en términos de grupos relacionados con espacios topológicos. Los espacios de Alexandroff han resultado ser bloques perfectos para tratar distintos problemas de realización de grupos. Un problema que no ha sido tratado a lo largo del tercer capítulo es la cardinalidad de los espacios empleados. A modo de ilustración ¿Cuál es el mínimo número de puntos necesarios para realizar a un grupo finito G como grupo de homeomorfismos de un espacio topológico? En esta dirección véase [15]. Otro problema a ser tratado puede ser el de la realización de otras estructuras algebraicas mediante el uso de espacios topológicos. Por ejemplo, la versión combinatoria del problema tratado en [35] podría considerarse.

Table of Contents

1	Pre	liminaries	1		
	1.1	Theory of Alexandroff spaces	1		
		1.1.1 Basic definitions and properties	1		
		1.1.2 Homotopy types of Alexandroff spaces, a combinatorial approach	3		
		1.1.3 Weak homotopy types of Alexandroff spaces	5		
		1.1.4 Basic constructions for Alexandroff spaces	8		
		1.1.5 Properties preserved by homeomorphisms	9		
	1.2	Shape Theory	10		
		1.2.1 Geometrical motivation	10		
		1.2.2 Inv-Categories and Pro-Categories	12		
		1.2.3 Expansions \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	13		
		1.2.4 The shape category and topological shape	15		
		1.2.5 Inverse limits and shape theory	16		
		1.2.6 Hyperspaces and a different description of shape theory	16		
2	Reconstruction of compact metric spaces and shape theoretical proper-				
	ties		19		
	2.1	Introduction	19		
	2.2	Finite approximative sequences with the opposite order	23		
	2.3	Properties of the inverse limit of a FASO for a compact metric space	26		
	2.4	Uniqueness of the FASO constructed for a compact metric space and rela-			
		tions with other constructions	31		
	2.5	Computational aspects of a FASO for a compact metric space and imple-	~ ~		
		mentation	35		
	2.6	New description of the shape theory	39		
	2.7	Core of an inverse sequence of finite spaces and an application to shape theory	44		
	2.8	Categories SW and SH	50		
	2.9	FASOs for a compact metric space and HPol-expansions	55		
3	Rea	lization problems of groups in topology	59		
	3.1		59		
	3.2	Realization problem in Top	62		
	3.3	Realization problem in $HTop$	66		
	3.4	Realization problem in $HTop_*$ and Top_*	72		
	3.5	Infinitely many spaces realizing groups in Top, $HTop$, Top_* and $HTop_*$	F 4		
	9.0	and some properties of X_G	74		
	3.6	Realization problem in <i>Top</i> and <i>HTop</i>	78		
	3.7 2 0	Realizing nonomorphisms of groups An assumption from the of the observation of th	84		
	3.8 2.0	An asymmetric family of topological spaces	87		
	3.9	General realization problems	89		

app	roximation of dynamical systems	93
4.1	Introduction	93
4.2	Vietoris-like maps and multivalued maps	98
4.3	A coincidence theorem for finite topological spaces	104
4.4	Lefschetz fixed point theorem for non-acyclic multivalued maps	110
4.5	Fixed point property	113
4.6	Approximation of dynamical systems	115
4.7	Diagrams	121
4.8	Category of morphisms	125
4.9	Homotopical category of diagrams	128
4.10	Relations of the homotopy for diagrams with other notions of homotopy	134
4.11	Some remarks about the topological degree for finite topological spaces	137

Bibliography

 $\mathbf{139}$

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

In this chapter we recall basic definitions and results from the literature. We prove auxiliary propositions that will be used in subsequent chapters and fix notation. The first section is devoted to the theory of Alexandroff spaces and finite topological spaces, a complete exposition of this topic can be found in [12] and [74]. In Section 1.2 we introduce the categorical approach that was used to define the shape theory in [72, 73], we also recall the intrinsic description of shape theory introduced in [98], which was reformulated in [3]. Another categorical approach to define shape theory can be seen in [33].

1.1 Theory of Alexandroff spaces

1.1.1 Basic definitions and properties

Definition 1.1.1. An Alexandroff space X is a topological space with the property that the arbitrary intersection of open sets is open.

Remark 1.1.2. Every finite topological space is an Alexandroff space.

Remark 1.1.3. Let X be an Alexandroff space and let $x \in X$, U_x denotes the intersection of every open set containing x. By Definition 1.1.1, U_x is a minimal open set, that is, if V is an open set containing x, then $U_x \subseteq V$. Analogously, F_x denotes the intersection of every closed set containing x. We get that F_x is a minimal closed set.

Example 1.1.4. We consider $X = \{A, B, C, D\}$ and the topology τ given by $\tau = \{\{X\}, \emptyset, \{A, C, D\}, \{B, C, D\}, \{C\}, \{D\}, \{C, D\}\}$. We have $U_A = \{A, C, D\}, U_B = \{B, C, D\}, U_C = \{C\}$ and $U_D = \{D\}$. In Figure 1.1.1 we present a schematic drawing of U_A, U_B, U_C and U_D .

Definition 1.1.5. Let (X, \leq) be a partially ordered set or poset. A lower (upper) set $S \subset X$ is a set satisfying that if $x \in X$ and $y \leq x$ ($y \geq x$), then $y \in S$.

Let (X, \leq) be a partially ordered set and let $x, y \in X$. If x < y are such that there is no $z \in X$ satisfying x < z < y, then we write $x \prec y$. Let max(X) (min(X)) denote the maximum (minimum) of X if it exists. Let maximal(X) (minimal(X)) denote the set of maximal (minimal) points of X. A map $f : X \to Y$ between two posets is order-preserving if for every $x \leq x'$ in X then $f(x) \leq f(x')$ in Y.

Example 1.1.6. We consider the set of real numbers \mathbb{R} with its usual order. It is easy to deduce that there are no $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfying that $x \prec y$.



Figure 1.1.1: Schematic drawing of U_A , U_B , U_C and U_D .

Theorem 1.1.7 ([1]). For a poset (X, \leq) , the family of lower (upper) sets of \leq is a T_0 topology on X, that makes X an Alexandroff space. For a T_0 Alexandroff space, the relation $x \leq_{\tau} y$ if and only if $U_x \subseteq U_y$ ($U_y \subseteq U_x$) is a partial order on X. Moreover, the category of T_0 Alexandroff spaces and the category of posets are isomorphic.

Consequently, T_0 Alexandroff spaces and partially ordered sets can be seen as the same object from two different perspectives. From now on, every Alexandroff space satisfies the T_0 separation axiom. We will treat Alexandroff spaces and partially ordered sets as the same object without explicit mention. The main reason to consider only Alexandroff spaces satisfying the T_0 separation axiom is the following result.

Proposition 1.1.8. If X is an Alexandroff space satisfying the T_1 separation axiom, then the topology defined on X is the discrete topology.

The partial order given in Theorem 1.1.7 is called the natural order, while the partial order given in parenthesis is called the opposite order. If there is no mention to the partial order considered, then we assume that we are working with the natural order.

Remark 1.1.9. Let X be an Alexandroff space and let $x \in X$. Then $U_x = \{y \in X | y \le x\}$ and $F_x = \{y \in X | y \ge x\}$.

Definition 1.1.10. Let X be an Alexandroff space. We say that X is locally finite if for every $x \in X$, then U_x is a finite set.

Example 1.1.11. The set of the natural numbers \mathbb{N} with its usual order is an Alexandroff space that is locally finite.

Definition 1.1.12. Let X be a locally finite Alexandroff space. The Hasse diagram of X, denoted by H(X), is a directed graph. The vertices of H(X) are given by the points of X. There is an edge between $x, y \in X$ if $x \prec y$, where the orientation of the edge goes from the lower element to the upper element. Let $H_u(X)$ denote the undirected graph given by the Hasse diagram of X.

We omit the orientation of the edges of subsequent Hasse diagrams because we assume an upward orientation. The condition of being locally finite required in Definition 1.1.12 is relevant because not every Alexandroff space admits a Hasse diagram. For instance, the Alexandroff space considered in Example 1.1.6.



Figure 1.1.2: Hasse diagram of X.

Example 1.1.13. Let X be the finite topological space considered in Example 1.1.4. We get that A, B > C, D. In Figure 1.1.2 we present the Hasse diagram of X.

Topological notions can be expressed in a combinatorial way due to Theorem 1.1.7.

Proposition 1.1.14. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a map between two Alexandroff spaces. Then f is a continuous map if and only if f is order-preserving.

Proposition 1.1.15. Let $f, g : X \to Y$ be two continuous maps between Alexandroff spaces. If $f(x) \leq g(x)$ for every $x \in X$, then f and g are homotopic.

Proposition 1.1.16. Let $f, g: X \to Y$ be two continuous maps between finite topological spaces. Then f and g are homotopic if and only if there exists a finite sequence of continuous maps from X to Y such that $f(x) = f_0(x) \leq f_1(x) \geq f_2(x) \leq ... \geq f_n(x) = g(x)$ for every $x \in X$.

Proposition 1.1.17. If $x_0, x_1, ..., x_n$ are points in an Alexandroff space X such that x_i is comparable to x_{i+1} for every i = 0, ..., n - 1, then there exists a continuous path from x_0 to x_n .

Proposition 1.1.18. Let X be an Alexandroff space. Then X is connected if and only if X is path-connected.

1.1.2 Homotopy types of Alexandroff spaces, a combinatorial approach

We recall the combinatorial techniques developed in [103] and [67] to study the homotopy type of Alexandroff spaces.

Definition 1.1.19. Let X be an Alexandroff space and let $x \in X$. Then x is a down (up) beat if $U_x \setminus \{x\}$ has a maximum $(F_x \setminus \{x\}$ has a minimum).

Proposition 1.1.20. Let X be an Alexandroff space. If $x \in X$ is a beat point, then $X \setminus \{x\}$ is a strong deformation retract of X.

The notion of beat point was introduced originally for finite topological spaces in [103] but it can be extended to Alexandroff spaces.

Theorem 1.1.21. Let X be a finite topological space such that it does not have beat points. Then a continuous map $f: X \to X$ is homotopic to the identity map if and only if f is the identity map.

Definition 1.1.22. A finite topological space X is a minimal finite topological space if X does not have beat points. The core of a finite topological space X is a strong deformation retract of X that it is also a minimal finite topological space.

Remark 1.1.23. Every finite topological space X admits a core. We only need to remove the beat points one by one until there are none left.

By Theorem 1.1.21 we can obtain that the cores are unique up to homeomorphism. Concretely, two finite topological spaces are homotopy equivalent if and only if they have homeomorphic cores.

Corollary 1.1.24. Let $f : X \to X$ be a continuous map and let X be a minimal finite topological space. Then f is a homeomorphism if and only f is a homotopy equivalence.

Remark 1.1.25. Let X be a finite topological space. It is easy to identify beat points looking at the Hasse diagram of X. A beat point is a vertex of H(X) for which there is only one edge that enters or exits.

Example 1.1.26. Consider the topological space given by the Hasse diagram of Figure 1.1.3. We have that E is an up and down beat point and F is an up beat point. We remove E. Now, F is still an up beat point so we can remove it without changing the homotopy type of X. The remaining space does not have beat points, it is a minimal finite topological space, which implies that it is a core of X.



Figure 1.1.3: Removing beat points of X.

The previous results cannot be extended easily to Alexandroff spaces, they require new definitions that generalize the previous ones.

Definition 1.1.27. Let X be an Alexandroff space. Then $r : X \to X$ is a comparative retraction if r is a retraction in the usual sense and for all $x \in X$, $r(x) \ge x$ or $r(x) \le x$. The class of all comparative retractions is denoted by C. The topological space X is called a C-core if there is no other retraction $r : X \to X$ in C other than the identity $id : X \to X$.

Remark 1.1.28. If X is an Alexandroff space with a beat point x, then X is not a C-core. Suppose that x is an up beat point, which implies that $F_x \setminus \{x\}$ has a minimum x'. We consider $r : X \to X$ given by r(x) = x' and r(y) = y for every $y \in X \setminus \{x\}$. It is clear that r is a comparative retraction and it is not the identity map. A similar argument can be used for a down beat point.

Definition 1.1.29. A C-core X is locally a core if for every $x \in X$ there exists a finite set $A_x \subseteq X$ containing x such that for every $y \in A_x$, then $|A_x \cap maximal(\{z \in X | z < y\})| \ge 2$ if y is not minimal in X and $|A_x \cap minimal(\{z \in X | z > y\})| \ge 2$ if y is not maximal in X.

Remark 1.1.30. If X is a minimal finite topological space, then X is locally a core.

Given two topological spaces X and Y, the space of continuous maps from X to Y equipped with the compact-open topology is denoted by C(X, Y).

Theorem 1.1.31 ([67]). If X is a locally core, then there is no map in C(X, X) homotopic to the identity other than the identity.

Corollary 1.1.32. Let X be locally a core and let $f : X \to X$ be a continuous map. Then f is a homeomorphism if and only if f is a homotopy equivalence.

Given a topological space X, Aut(X) denotes the group of homeomorphisms of X and $\mathcal{E}(X)$ denotes the group of homotopy classes of self-homotopy equivalences of X.

Corollary 1.1.33. If X is locally a core, then Aut(X) and $\mathcal{E}(X)$ are isomorphic.

Proof. We define $\varphi : Aut(X) \to \mathcal{E}(X)$ given by $\varphi(f) = [f]$, where [f] denotes the homotopy class of f. We have that φ is clearly well-defined and a homomorphism of groups. If $\varphi(f)$ is the homotopy class of the identity map, then we get that f is the identity map by Theorem 1.1.31. Therefore, φ is a monomorphism of groups. If f is a self-homotopy equivalence of X, then there exists a continuous map $g: X \to X$ such that $f \circ g$ and $g \circ f$ are homotopic to the identity map id_X . By Theorem 1.1.31, we obtain that $g \circ f = id_X$ and $f \circ g = id_X$. Thus, it can be deduced that f is indeed a homeomorphism. From here, we obtain that φ is an isomorphism of groups.

Remark 1.1.34. If X is locally a core, then each homotopy class of the group $\mathcal{E}(X)$ contains exactly one element. We will refer and treat an element $[f] \in \mathcal{E}(X)$ just as $f \in Aut(X)$ and vice versa. We identify both groups so $Aut(X) = \mathcal{E}(X)$.

1.1.3 Weak homotopy types of Alexandroff spaces

A key concept in the theory of Alexandroff spaces is the notion of weak homotopy equivalence.

Definition 1.1.35. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous map between two topological spaces. Then f is a weak homotopy equivalence if it induces isomorphism on homotopy groups. Two topological spaces are weak homotopy equivalent if there exists a sequence of spaces $X = X_0, X_1, ..., X_n = Y$ such that there exists a weak homotopy equivalence $X_i \to X_{i+1}$ or $X_{i+1} \to X_i$ for every $0 \le i \le n-1$.

Remark 1.1.36. Weak homotopy equivalences satisfy the 2-out-3 property, that is, let $f: X \to Y$ and $g: Y \to Z$ be two maps, if 2 of the 3 maps $f, g, g \circ f$ are weak homotopy equivalences, then so is the third.

The weak homotopy type of finite topological spaces can be studied from a combinatorial point of view as it was done in the previous subsection. In [18], a generalization of beat point is introduced. J.A. Barmak and E.G. Minian define also simple homotopy for finite spaces.

Definition 1.1.37. Let X be a finite topological space and $x \in X$. Then x is a down (up) weak beat point if $U_x \setminus \{x\}$ ($F_x \setminus \{x\}$) is contractible.

Proposition 1.1.38. Let X be a finite topological space and let $x \in X$. If x is a down (up) weak beat point, then the inclusion $i: X \setminus \{x\} \to X$ is a weak homotopy equivalence.

Definition 1.1.39. Let X be a finite topological space and let $Y \,\subset X$. It is said that X collapses to Y by an elementary collapse $X \searrow Y$ if Y is obtained from X by removing a weak beat point. Given two finite topological spaces X and Y, X collapses to Y if there is a sequence $X = X_1, X_2, ..., X_n = Y$ of finite topological spaces such that for each $1 \le i < n$, X_i collapse to X_{i+1} by an elementary collapse $X_i \searrow X_{i+1}$. A finite topological space is collapsible if it collapses to a point. Two finite topological spaces X and Y are simple homotopy equivalent if there is a sequence $X = X_1, ..., X_n = Y$ of finite topological spaces such that for each $1 \le i < n$, the function of the topological space is a sequence $X = X_1, ..., X_n = Y$ of finite topological spaces X and Y are simple homotopy equivalent if there is a sequence $X = X_1, ..., X_n = Y$ of finite topological spaces such that for each $1 \le i < n$, $X_i \searrow X_{i+1}$ or $X_{i+1} \searrow X_i$.

Lemma 1.1.40. Homotopy equivalent finite topological spaces are simple homotopy equivalent.

A different approach was made in [75]. One way to compute the homology groups or homotopy groups of Alexandroff spaces is to study simplicial complexes.

Definition 1.1.41. Let X be an Alexandroff space. The order complex or McCord complex $\mathcal{K}(X)$ is a simplicial complex. The simplices are given by the totally ordered subsets of X. $|\mathcal{K}(X)|$ denotes the geometric realization of $\mathcal{K}(X)$.

Remark 1.1.42. Let X be a finite topological space. Then X can be equipped with two partial orders, the natural and the opposite. It is simple to check that the McCord complex of X does not depend on the partial order chosen. If X^o denotes X with the opposite partial order and X denotes X with the natural partial order, then $|\mathcal{K}(X^o)| = |\mathcal{K}(X)|$.

Let X be an Alexandroff space. If $u \in |\mathcal{K}(X)|$, then u is contained in a minimal open simplex $(x_0, ..., x_r)$, where $x_i \in X$ and $x_0 < ... < x_r$. Hence, $f_X : |\mathcal{K}(X)| \to X$ given by $f_X(u) = x_0$ is well-defined. Furthermore, if $g : X \to Y$ is a continuous map between two Alexandroff spaces, then g induces a natural simplicial map $\mathcal{K}(g) : \mathcal{K}(X) \to \mathcal{K}(Y)$.

Theorem 1.1.43. Let X be an Alexandroff space. Then $f_X : |\mathcal{K}(X)| \to X$ is a weak homotopy equivalence. Moreover, if $g : X \to Y$ is a continuous map between two Alexandroff spaces, then $f_Y \circ \mathcal{K}(g) = g \circ f_X$.

The proof of Theorem 1.1.43 relies in the following theorem proved in [40]. Before stating this theorem, we provide a definition.

Definition 1.1.44. An open cover \mathcal{U} of a space B will be called basis-like if whenever $U, V \in \mathcal{U}$ and $x \in U \cap V$, there exists $W \in \mathcal{U}$ such that $x \in W \subset U \cap V$.

Remark 1.1.45. Every Alexandroff space X admits a basis-like open cover given by $\mathcal{U} = \{U_x | x \in X\}$.

Theorem 1.1.46. Suppose p is a map of a space E into a space B for which there exists a basis-like open cover \mathcal{U} of B satisfying the following condition: for each $U \in \mathcal{U}$, the restriction $p_{|p^{-1}(U)} : p^{-1}(U) \to U$ is a weak homotopy equivalence. Then p itself is a weak homotopy equivalence.

There is also a correspondence that assign to each simplicial complex an Alexandroff space that is weak homotopy equivalent to it.

Definition 1.1.47. Let L be a simplicial complex. Then $\mathcal{X}(L)$ denotes the poset given by the subset relation, where the points are the simplices of L.

Remark 1.1.48. If L is a simplicial complex, then $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{X}(L))$ is the barycentric subdivision of L. Hence, $|L| = |\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{X}(L))|$

Let $g: L \to K$ be a simplicial map. We consider $\mathcal{X}(g): \mathcal{X}(L) \to \mathcal{X}(K)$ given by $\mathcal{X}(g)(x) = g(\sigma) = y$, where x is the point in $\mathcal{X}(L)$ given by the simplex σ and y is the point in $\mathcal{X}(K)$ given by the simplex $g(\sigma)$.

Theorem 1.1.49. Let L be a simplicial complex. Then $f_{\mathcal{X}(L)} : |L| \to \mathcal{X}(L)$ is a weak homotopy equivalence. Furthermore, if $g : L \to K$ is a simplicial map between two simplicial complexes, then $\mathcal{X}(g) : \mathcal{X}(L) \to \mathcal{X}(K)$ is a continuous map satisfying that $f_{\mathcal{X}(K)} \circ g$ is homotopic to $\mathcal{X}(g) \circ f_{\mathcal{X}(L)}$.

Remark 1.1.50. By construction, \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{X} are covariant functors. They are related by the relation given in Remark 1.1.48

Example 1.1.51. Let X be the finite topological space considered in Example 1.1.4. Hence, $\mathcal{K}(X)$ is a triangulation of S^1 . We define L given by the 2-dimensional simplex. In Figure 1.1.4 we have the Hasse diagram of $\mathcal{X}(L)$.



Figure 1.1.4: Representations of L, $\mathcal{X}(L)$, X and $\mathcal{K}(X)$.

Remark 1.1.52. If X is a finite topological space collapsible, then $\mathcal{K}(X)$ is also collapsible.

The definition of collapse as well as simple homotopy type for simplicial complexes are the classical ones, where we have the elementary collapses for simplicial complexes introduced in [110].

In [12, Corollary 5.2.8], it can be found a characterization of being a contractible finite topological space in terms of simplicial complexes. The notion of strong collapse is given in [12, Chapter 5] or [19]

Theorem 1.1.53. A finite T_0 topological space X is contractible if and only if $\mathcal{K}(X)$ is strong collapsible.

Definition 1.1.54. The Euler characteristic of a finite poset (X, \leq) is defined as the alternate sum of the number of i-chains, where an i-chain in X is a chain $v_0 < ... < v_i$ with i + 1 elements in X. The Euler characteristic of X is denoted by $\chi(X)$. Then

$$\chi(X) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{i} |\{v_0 < \dots < v_i | v_j \in X \text{ for every } j\}|$$

Remark 1.1.55. Let X be a finite topological space. The Euler characteristic defined in Definition 1.1.54 coincides with the classical Euler characteristic of $\mathcal{K}(X)$.

Finally, we give a definition that will be used in subsequent chapters.

Definition 1.1.56. Let K and L be two simplicial complexes and let $f, g : |K| \to |L|$ be two continuous maps. Then f is simplicially close to g if and only if for every x, there exists a simplex σ_x in L containing in its closure f(x) and g(x).

Proposition 1.1.57. Let K and L be two simplicial complexes and let $f, g : |K| \to |L|$ be two continuous maps. If f is simplicially close to g, then f is homotopic to g.

1.1.4 Basic constructions for Alexandroff spaces

We recall some natural constructions with Alexandroff spaces to obtain new Alexandroff spaces.

Definition 1.1.58. The **product** of two Alexandroff spaces X and Y is given by the Cartesian product $X \times Y$, where it is considered the product order, i.e., $(x, y) \leq (x', y')$ if and only if $x \leq x'$ and $y \leq y'$.

Proposition 1.1.59. Let X_c and Y_c be cores of finite topological spaces X and Y respectively. Then $X_c \times Y_c$ is a core of $X \times Y$.

Proposition 1.1.60. Let X and Y be Alexandroff spaces. Then $|\mathcal{K}(X \times Y)|$ is homeomorphic to $|\mathcal{K}(X)| \times |\mathcal{K}(Y)|$.

Definition 1.1.61. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a map between finite topological spaces. The non-Hausdorff **mapping cylinder** B(f) is defined as the following finite topological space. The underlying set is the disjoint union $X \sqcup Y$. B(f) keeps the given orderings within Xand Y and for $x \in X$, $y \in Y$, $x \leq y$ in B(f) if $f(x) \leq y$ in Y.

Lemma 1.1.62. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a continuous map between finite topological spaces. Then Y is a strong deformation retract of B(f).

Definition 1.1.63. The non-Hausdorff join of two Alexandroff spaces is the disjoint union $X \sqcup Y$ keeping the given ordering within X and Y and setting $x \leq y$ for every $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$. The join of X and Y is denoted by $X \circledast Y$.

Proposition 1.1.64. Let X and Y be Alexandroff spaces. Then $\mathcal{K}(X \circledast Y) = \mathcal{K}(X) \ast \mathcal{K}(Y)$, where \ast denotes the usual join of simplicial complexes. If X and Y are finite topological spaces and one of them is collapsible, then $\mathcal{K}(X \circledast Y)$ is collapsible.

Proposition 1.1.65. If X and Y are Alexandroff spaces, then $Aut(X * Y) = Aut(X) \times Aut(Y)$.

There is also a definition of barycentric subdivision for finite topological spaces, see for instance [58] and [109].

Definition 1.1.66. Let X be a finite topological space. The finite barycentric subdivision of X is given by $\mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(X))$.

The finite barycentric subdivision of a finite topological space X is denoted by X'. The *n*-th finite barycentric subdivision of X is denoted by X^n . **Lemma 1.1.67.** Let X be a finite topological space. Then X and X' are simple homotopy equivalent.

Remark 1.1.68. Let X be a finite topological space. Then X' can be seen as the poset whose points are the chains in X, i.e., if $x' \in X'$, then x' is given by a chain $x_1 < ... < x_n$ in X. Hence, the partial order defined on X' is given by the subset relation.

There is a natural map between a finite topological space X and its finite barycentric subdivision X'. We define $h: X' \to X$ given by $h(x') = x_n$, where x' is a chain $x_1 < \ldots < x_n$ in X. We have that $h_{n+1,n}: X^{n+1} \to X^n$ denotes the corresponding natural map between the finite barycentric subdivisions.

Proposition 1.1.69. Let X be a finite topological space. Then $h : X' \to X$ is a weak homotopy equivalence.

Proposition 1.1.70. Let X be a finite topological space. Then $|\mathcal{K}(h)| : |\mathcal{K}(X')| \to |\mathcal{K}(X)|$ is simplicially close to the identity map, which means that h induces the identity map in homology.

Example 1.1.71. Let X be the finite topological considered in Example 1.1.4. In Figure 1.1.5 we present a schematic draw of $h: X' \to X$.



Figure 1.1.5: Hasse diagrams of X and X'.

For a complete exposition and more constructions involving Alexandroff spaces see [12] and [74].

1.1.5 Properties preserved by homeomorphisms

We introduce auxiliary definitions and enunciate some properties that are preserved by homeomorphisms.

Definition 1.1.72. Given a finite topological space X, the height ht(X) is one less than the maximum number of elements in a chain of X. The height of a point x in a locally finite Alexandroff space is given by $ht(U_x)$. For a general Alexandroff space X the height of a point $x \in X$ is defined as ∞ if U_x contains a chain without a minimum and $ht(U_x)$ otherwise.

Definition 1.1.73. Given a finite topological space X and $x \in X$. Let $P_x = (E_x, S_x)$ denote the cardinal numbers $E_x = |\{y \in X | y \prec x\}|$ and $S_x = |\{y \in X | y \succ x\}|$.

Remark 1.1.74. Let X be an Alexandroff space and let $x \in X$. If $P_x = (1,b)$ or $P_x = (a,1)$, then x is a beat point.

Example 1.1.75. Let us consider the set of the real numbers \mathbb{R} with its usual order. For every $x \in \mathbb{R}$ we get $ht(x) = \infty$ because $\ldots < x - n < \ldots < x - 2 < x - 1 < \ldots < x$ is a chain that does not have a minimum. Since there is no $y \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfying that $x \prec y$ or $y \prec x$, it follows that $P_x = (0,0)$. Now, let us consider $X = \mathbb{N} \cup \{*\}$, where we are considering \mathbb{N} just as a set with any partial order or additional structure and we declare n < * for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $U_* = X$ but ht(*) = 1. Furthermore, $P_* = (|\mathbb{N}|, 0)$. In Figure 1.1.6 we present the Hasse diagram of X.



Figure 1.1.6: Hasse diagram of X.

Proposition 1.1.76. Let X be an Alexandroff space and let $f : X \to X$ be a homeomorphism.

- 1. If $x, y \in X$ are such that $x \prec y$, then $f(x) \prec f(y)$.
- 2. If $x \in X$, then ht(x) = ht(f(x)).
- 3. If $x \in X$ is a maximal (minimal) point, then f(x) is a maximal (minimal) point.
- 4. If $x \in X$, then $P_x = P_{f(x)}$.
- 5. If $x \in X$ is a down (up) weak beat point, then f(x) is a down (up) weak beat point.

Proof. We prove (1). We argue by contradiction. Suppose there exists $z \in X$ such that f(x) < z < f(y). Therefore, $x < f^{-1}(z) < y$, which entails a contradiction.

We have that (3),(4) and (5) follow easily.

We prove (6). Suppose that x is a down weak beat point. It is simple to get that $f(U_x) = U_{f(x)}$, which implies that $f(U_x \setminus \{x\}) = U_{f(x)} \setminus \{f(x)\}$. From here, it can be deduced the desired result.

1.2 Shape Theory

1.2.1 Geometrical motivation

The goal of shape theory is to study global properties of topological spaces. The idea is to generalize the homotopy theory. Homotopy theory works very nice for topological spaces having good local properties, e.g., CW-complexes. An example of the previous assertion is the following result: a continuous map $f: X \to Y$ between two CW-complexes that induces isomorphisms on all homotopy groups is indeed a homotopy equivalence, see [111, 112]. However, a similar result for general topological spaces does not hold, see Section 1.1. Nevertheless, the classical example is the Warsaw circle W. The Warsaw circle is a subset of \mathbb{R}^2 given by

$$W = \{(x, \sin(\frac{1}{x})) | x \in (0, 2\pi]\} \cup \{(0, y) | y \in [-1, 1]\} \cup C,$$

where C is an arc of \mathbb{R}^2 joining $(2\pi, 0)$ and (0, -1) such that $C \setminus \{(2\pi, 0), (0, -1)\}$ and $\{(x, \sin(x)) | x \in (0, 2\pi]\} \cup \{(0, y) | y \in [-1, 1]\}$ are disjoint sets. We have that W is a compact
metric space that it is connected and arc-connected but not locally connected. Moreover, the homotopy groups of W are trivial since every continuous map $f: S^n \to W$, where S^n denotes the *n*-dimensional sphere and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, is null-homotopic. Therefore, the continuous map $f: * \to W$ given by f(*) = (0, 0) induces isomorphisms on all homotopy groups but W is not contractible, which implies that f is not a homotopy equivalence. From a global point of view, the Warsaw circle seems very similar to a circle. In an informal way, we could say that the Warsaw circle seems a bad draw of a circle. But there is no continuous map from one to another being non-trivial. If we look at small neighborhoods of W as a subspace of \mathbb{R}^2 , then we can observe that they have the same homotopy type of a circle. In Figure 1.2.1 we have a representation of the Warsaw circle and a small neighborhood of W.



Figure 1.2.1: The Warsaw circle, a small neighborhood U of W and a strong deformation retract $S^1 \subset U$ of U.

The idea to overcome the lack of morphisms is to consider morphisms from a system of neighborhoods that approximates the compact metric space. In that way, we will be able to get more morphisms and even to say that the Warsaw circle and the circle have the same shape although they are not homotopy equivalent. To develop this idea to general compact metric spaces is necessary to embed them in a good ambient space. The original idea used in [27] is to use the Hilbert cube. Once the compact metric space is embedded there, it is considered a decreasing sequence of neighborhoods. Then, the morphisms between two compact metric spaces are given in terms of morphisms between the sequences.

Shape theory provides a classification for compact metric spaces weaker than the homotopy theory. It coincides with homotopy theory when it is applied to CW-complexes or ANR's. One possible application of shape theory is to the study of dynamical systems. This is due to the lack of good local properties for some invariant sets, e.g., the Lorenz attractor. We recall shape theory in subsequent subsections. Instead of following the classical approach of [27], we follow the categorical approach of [73].

1.2.2 Inv-Categories and Pro-Categories

Given a partially ordered set (Λ, \leq) , a subset $\Lambda' \subset \Lambda$ is cofinal in Λ if for each $\lambda \in \Lambda$ there exists $\lambda' \in \Lambda'$ such that $\lambda < \lambda'$. A partially ordered set (Λ, \leq) is a directed set if for any $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \Lambda$, there exists $\lambda \in \Lambda$ such that $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda$ and $\lambda_2 \leq \lambda$.

Definition 1.2.1. Let C be an arbitrary category. An inverse system in the category C consists of a directed set Λ , that is called the index set, of an object X_{λ} from C for each $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and of a morphism $p_{\lambda,\lambda'} : X_{\lambda'} \to X_{\lambda}$ from C for each pair $\lambda \leq \lambda'$. Moreover, one requires that $p_{\lambda,\lambda}$ is the identity map and that $\lambda \leq \lambda'$ and $\lambda' \leq \lambda''$ implies $p_{\lambda,\lambda'} \circ p_{\lambda',\lambda''} = p_{\lambda,\lambda''}$. An inverse system is denoted by $\mathbb{X} = (X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda,\lambda'}, \Lambda)$, where the X_{λ} 's are called the terms and $p_{\lambda,\lambda'}$ are called the bonding maps of \mathbb{X} .

Remark 1.2.2. An inverse system indexed by the natural numbers with its usual order is called an inverse sequence and it is denoted by $\mathbb{X} = (X_n, p_{n,n+1})$. In an inverse sequence $(X_n, p_{n,n+1})$, it suffices to know the morphisms $p_{n,n+1} : X_{n+1} \to X_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ because the remaining bonding maps are obtained by composition.

$$X_1 \leftarrow x_2 \leftarrow x_2 \leftarrow x_3 \leftarrow x_3 \leftarrow x_4 \leftarrow x_{p_4,5} \cdots \leftarrow x_n \leftarrow x_n \leftarrow x_{p_{n-1,n}} X_n \leftarrow x_{p_{n-1,n}} \cdots$$

Remark 1.2.3. Every object X of C can be seen as an inverse system (X), where every term is X and every bonding map is the identity map. This inverse system is called rudimentary system.

A morphism of inverse systems $\mathbb{X} = (X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda,\lambda'}, \Lambda) \to \mathbb{Y} = (Y_{\mu}, q_{\mu,\mu'}, M)$ consists of a function $\phi : M \to \Lambda$ and of morphisms $f_{\mu} : X_{\phi(\mu)} \to Y_{\mu}$ in \mathcal{C} for each $\mu \in M$ such that whenever $\mu \leq \mu'$, then there exists $\lambda \in \Lambda$ satisfying that $\lambda \geq \phi(\mu), \phi(\mu')$, for which $f_{\mu} \circ p_{\phi(\mu),\lambda} = q_{\mu,\mu'} \circ f_{\mu'} \circ p_{\phi(\mu'),\lambda}$, that is, the following diagram commutes.



A morphism of inverse systems is denoted by $(f_{\mu}, \phi) : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$. Let $\mathbb{Z} = (Z_{\nu}, r_{\nu,\nu'}, N)$ be an inverse system and let $(g_{\nu}, \psi) : \mathbb{Y} \to \mathbb{Z}$ be a morphism of systems. Then the composition $(g_{\nu}, \psi) \circ (f_{\mu}, \phi) = (h_{\nu}, \chi) : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Z}$ is given as follows: $\chi = \phi \circ \psi : N \to \Lambda$ and $h_{\nu} = g_{\nu} \circ f_{\psi(\nu)} : X_{\chi(\nu)} \to Z_{\nu}$. It is routine to check that the composition is welldefined and associative. The identity morphism $(id_{\lambda}, id_{\Lambda}) : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{X}$ is given by the identity map $id_{\Lambda} : \Lambda \to \Lambda$ and the identity morphisms $id_{\lambda} : X_{\lambda} \to X_{\lambda}$. It is easy to check that $(f_{\mu}, \phi) \circ (id_{\lambda}, id_{\Lambda}) = (f_{\mu}, \phi)$ and $(id_{\mu}, id_{M}) \circ (f_{\mu}, \phi) = (f_{\mu}, \phi)$. Thus, we have a category inv- \mathcal{C} , whose objects are all inverse systems in \mathcal{C} and whose morphisms are the morphisms of inverse systems described above.

Let $\mathbb{X} = (X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda,\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ and $\mathbb{Y} = (Y_{\lambda}, q_{\lambda,\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ be two inverse systems over the same directed set Λ . A morphism of systems (f_{λ}, φ) is a level morphisms of systems provided φ is the identity map and for $\lambda \leq \lambda'$ the following diagram commutes.



Given two morphisms $(f_{\mu}, \phi), (f'_{\mu}, \phi') : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$, we write that $(f_{\mu}, \phi) \sim (f'_{\mu}, \phi')$ if and only if each $\mu \in M$ admits $\lambda \in \Lambda$ satisfying that $\lambda \geq \phi(\mu), \phi'(\mu)$ and that the following diagram commutes.



Again, it is routine to check that \sim is an equivalence relation. We have the category pro-C for the category C. The objects of pro-C are all inverse systems in C. A morphism $f : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$ is an equivalence class of morphisms of systems with respect to the equivalence relation \sim .

Let Λ be a directed set. If $\Lambda' \subset \Lambda$ is a directed set and $\mathbb{X} = (X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda,\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ is an inverse system, then $\mathbb{X}' = (X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda,\lambda'}, \Lambda')$ is a subsystem of \mathbb{X} . There is a natural morphism (i_{λ}, i) given by $i(\lambda) = \lambda$ and $i_{\lambda} = id_{\lambda} : X_{\lambda} \to X_{\lambda}$ for every $\lambda \in \Lambda'$. The morphism $i : \mathbb{X}' \to \mathbb{X}$ represented by (i_{λ}, i) is called the restriction morphism.

Theorem 1.2.4. If Λ' is cofinal in Λ , then the restriction morphism $i : \mathbb{X}' \to \mathbb{X}$ is an isomorphism in pro- \mathcal{C} .

Finally, we recall Morita's lemma, see [83] or [73, Chapter 2, Theorem 5].

Theorem 1.2.5. Let C be a category and let $\mathbb{X} = (X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda,\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ and $\mathbb{Y} = (Y_{\lambda}, q_{\lambda,\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ be inverse systems over the same index set Λ . Let $f : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$ be a morphism of pro-C given by a level morphism of systems $(f_{\lambda}) : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$. Then the morphism f is an isomorphism of pro-C if and only if every $\lambda \in \Lambda$ admits $\lambda' \geq \lambda$ and a morphism $g_{\lambda} : Y_{\lambda} \to X_{\lambda}$ of C such that the following diagram commutes.



1.2.3 Expansions

Definition 1.2.6. Let \mathcal{T} be a category and let \mathcal{P} be a subcategory of \mathcal{T} . For an object X of \mathcal{T} , a \mathcal{T} -expansion of X (with respect to \mathcal{P}) is a morphism in pro- \mathcal{T} of X to an inverse system $\mathbb{X} = (X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda,\lambda',\Lambda})$ in \mathcal{T} , $p: X \to \mathbb{X}$, satisfying that for any inverse system $\mathbb{Y} = (Y_{\mu}, q_{\mu,\mu',M})$ in the subcategory \mathcal{P} and any morphism $h: X \to \mathbb{Y}$ in pro- \mathcal{T} , there exists a unique morphism $f: \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$ in pro- \mathcal{T} such that $h = f \circ p$, i.e., the following diagram commutes.



It is said that p is a \mathcal{P} -expansion of X provided X and f are in pro- \mathcal{P} .

Proposition 1.2.7. Let $p: X \to X$ and $p': X \to X'$ be two \mathcal{P} -expansions of the same object X. Then there is a unique morphism $i: X \to X'$ such that $i \circ p = p'$.

Proposition 1.2.8. If $i : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{X}'$ is an isomorphism in pro- \mathcal{T} and $p : X \to \mathbb{X}$ is an expansion, then $i \circ p : X \to \mathbb{X}'$ is also an expansion.

Definition 1.2.9. Let \mathcal{T} be a category and let \mathcal{P} be a subcategory. The subcategory \mathcal{P} is dense in the category \mathcal{T} provided every object X in \mathcal{T} admits a \mathcal{P} -expansion $p: X \to \mathbb{X}$.

Let Top denote the topological category, i.e., the objects are the topological spaces and the morphisms are the continuous maps. Let HTop denote the homotopy category of topological spaces, that is, the objects are the topological spaces and the morphisms are the homotopy classes of continuous maps. Finally, HPol denotes the homotopy category of polyhedra, which is a subcategory of HTop.

Theorem 1.2.10. The homotopy category of polyhedra HPol is a dense subcategory of the homotopy category HTop.

We describe a classical HPol-expansion for a compact metric space X, the Čech expansion. Since for a compact metric space X every open cover is a normal cover, we prefer to omit the definition of normal cover for simplicity.

Definition 1.2.11. Given a topological space X and open covers \mathcal{U} , \mathcal{V} of X. Then \mathcal{V} is finer than \mathcal{U} if and only if for every $V \in \mathcal{V}$ there exists $U \in \mathcal{U}$ such that $V \subseteq U$. We write $\mathcal{U} \leq \mathcal{V}$ if \mathcal{V} is finer than \mathcal{U} .

Proposition 1.2.12. Any two open covers $\mathcal{U}', \mathcal{U}''$ of a compact metric space X admit an open cover \mathcal{U} which refines both.

Hence, the set of open covers is a directed set under the relation of being a finer cover.

Definition 1.2.13. Given an open cover \mathcal{U} of a compact metric space X. The nerve of \mathcal{U} , denoted by $N(\mathcal{U})$, is a simplicial complex. Its vertices are the elements U of \mathcal{U} and $U_0, ..., U_n \in \mathcal{U}$ span a simplex of $N(\mathcal{U})$ whenever $U_0 \cap ... \cap U_n \neq \emptyset$.

Given a compact metric space X and two open covers \mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V} such that $\mathcal{U} \leq \mathcal{V}$. We get a natural simplicial map $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}} : N(\mathcal{V}) \to N(\mathcal{U})$, a vertex $V \in \mathcal{V}$ is mapped to a vertex $U \in \mathcal{U}$ if $V \subseteq U$. This simplicial map is called projection and determines a continuous map $|N(\mathcal{V})| \to |N(\mathcal{U})|$ for which it is used the same notation $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}$. If $\mathcal{U} \leq \mathcal{V} \leq \mathcal{W}$ are open covers for X, then $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}} \circ p_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}} : N(\mathcal{W}) \to N(\mathcal{U})$ is also a projection. Projections are not unique, but it can be shown the following result.

Proposition 1.2.14. Let \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{V} be open covers of a compact metric space X. Any two projections $p, p' : |N(\mathcal{V})| \to |N(\mathcal{U})|$ are contiguous and thus also homotopic.

Definition 1.2.15. Let \mathcal{U} be an open cover of a compact metric space X. A canonical map $p: X \to |N(\mathcal{U})|$ is a map such that for each $U \in \mathcal{U}$, $p^{-1}(St(U, N(\mathcal{U}))) \subseteq U$, where $St(U, N(\mathcal{U}))$ is the star of the vertex U in $N(\mathcal{U})$.

Proposition 1.2.16. If X is a compact metric space and \mathcal{U} is an open cover of X, then there exists a canonical map $X \to |N(\mathcal{U})|$. Moreover, if $p, p' : X \to |N(\mathcal{U})|$ are canonical maps, then p and p' are contiguous and thus also homotopic.

Given a compact metric space $X, C(X) = (X_{\mathcal{U}}, [p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{U}'}], \Lambda)$ is called the Čech system of X, where Λ is the set of all open covers of X ordered by the relation of being a finer cover, $X_{\mathcal{U}} = |N(\mathcal{U})|$ is the nerve of \mathcal{U} and $[p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{U}'}]$ is the unique homotopy class to which belong the projections $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{U}'} : |N(\mathcal{U}')| \to |N(\mathcal{U})|$. For every $U \in \Lambda$, $[p_{\mathcal{U}}] : X \to X_{\mathcal{U}}$ is the unique homotopy class of the canonical mapping $p_{\mathcal{U}} : X \to X_{\mathcal{U}}$. It can be proved that $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{U}'} \circ p_{\mathcal{U}'} = p_{\mathcal{U}}$. Then, $p = (p_{\mathcal{U}}) : X \to C(X)$ is a morphism of pro-*HTop*.

Theorem 1.2.17. Let X be a compact metric space. The morphism $p: X \to C(X)$ of pro-HTop is a HPol-expansion.

1.2.4 The shape category and topological shape

Let \mathcal{T} be an arbitrary category and let \mathcal{P} be a dense subcategory. Let $p: X \to \mathbb{X}$ and $p': X \to \mathbb{X}'$ be \mathcal{P} -expansions of X and let $q: Y \to \mathbb{Y}$ and $q': Y \to \mathbb{Y}'$ be \mathcal{P} -expansions of Y. The morphisms $f: \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$ and $f': \mathbb{X}' \to \mathbb{Y}'$ in pro- \mathcal{P} are equivalent $f \sim f'$ if and only if the following diagram in pro- \mathcal{P} commutes.



Where i and j are the morphisms of Proposition 1.2.7. It can be proved that \sim is an equivalence relation.

The shape category for $(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{P})$ is denoted by $Sh_{(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{P})}$ or Sh, its objects are all the objects of \mathcal{T} . The morphisms $X \to Y$ of Sh are equivalence classes with respect to \sim of morphisms $f : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$ in pro- \mathcal{P} . Hence, a shape morphism $F : X \to Y$ is given by a diagram as follows.



The composition of shape morphisms $F: X \to Y$ and $G: Y \to Z$ is defined by composing representatives $f: \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$ and $g: \mathbb{Y} \to \mathbb{Z}$. The identity shape morphism $id: X \to X$ is defined by $(id_{\lambda}, id_{\Lambda}): \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{X}$.

It can be proved that for every morphism $f : X \to Y$ in \mathcal{T} and for \mathcal{P} -expansions $p: X \to \mathbb{X}$ and $q: Y \to \mathbb{Y}$, there is a unique morphism $f': \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$ in pro- \mathcal{P} such that the following diagram commutes in pro- \mathcal{T} .



If $p': X \to \mathbb{X}'$ and $q': Y \to \mathbb{Y}'$ are other \mathcal{P} -expansions and $\overline{f}: \mathbb{X}' \to \mathbb{Y}'$ is another morphism in pro- \mathcal{P} obtained as before. Then $f' \sim \overline{f}'$, which implies that for every $f \in \mathcal{T}(X,Y)$ it can be associated a shape morphism f' that will be denoted by S(f). If we declare S(X) = X, then a covariant functor $S: \mathcal{T} \to Sh$ is obtained. This functor is called the shape functor.

The topological shape is defined as $Sh_{(HTop,HPol)}$. Hence, a shape morphism $F: X \to Y$ between topological spaces X and Y is given by a morphism $f: \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{Y}$ in pro-*HPol*, where $p: X \to \mathbb{X}$ and $q: Y \to \mathbb{Y}$ are *HPol*-expansions of X and Y respectively.

The shape functor $S: HTop \to Sh$ fixes objects and induces a bijection of $HTop(X, P) \to Sh(X, P)$ for any X in HTop and P in HPol. Concretely,

Proposition 1.2.18. If X and Y are topological spaces that have the same homotopy type, then they have the same shape (sh(X) = sh(Y)).

1.2.5 Inverse limits and shape theory

Instead of giving the general definition of inverse limit we prefer to give the following one for simplicity.

Definition 1.2.19. Let $\mathbb{X} = (X_n, p_{n,n+1})$ be an inverse sequence in the topological category. The inverse limit of \mathbb{X} is a subspace of $\prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} X_n$ which consists of all points xsatisfying $\pi_n(x) = p_{n,m}(\pi_m(x))$ for every $m \ge n \in \mathbb{N}$, where $\pi_i : \prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} X_n \to X_i$ is the natural projection and $\prod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} X_n$ is considered with the Tychonoff topology.

Given an inverse sequence $\mathbb{X} = (X_n, p_{n,n+1})$ in the topological category. Let $\lim \mathbb{X}$ denote the inverse limit of \mathbb{X} . Moreover, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there is a natural continuous map $p_n : \lim \mathbb{X} \to X_n$ given by $p_n = \pi_{n \mid \lim \mathbb{X}}$, which is called projection. It can be deduced that $p = (p_n)$ is a morphism in pro-*Top* from the rudimentary system (X) to \mathbb{X} .

Theorem 1.2.20. Every compact metric space X is the inverse limit of an inverse sequence of compact polyhedra $\mathbb{X} = (X_n, p_{n,n+1})$.

Let X be the inverse limit of an inverse sequence X in Top and let $p: X \to X$ be the morphism in pro-Top given by the projections. If we apply the homotopy functor Hthat keeps the objects of Top fixed and sends continuous maps to its homotopy classes, then we get a morphism $Hp: X \to HX$ in pro-HTop, where $HX = (X_n, [p_{n,n+1}])$. The following result relates more clearly the relations between the notion of inverse limit and shape theory.

Theorem 1.2.21. Let X be an inverse sequence of compact polyhedra. If X is the inverse limit of X and $p : X \to X$ is the morphism in pro-Top given by the projections, then $Hp: X \to HX$ is a HPol-expansion.

1.2.6 Hyperspaces and a different description of shape theory

Given a compact metric space (X, d), where d denotes the metric, $2^X = \{C \subseteq X | C \text{ is non-empty and closed}\}$ is called the hyperspace of X. For every open set $U \subseteq X$ we consider $B(U) = \{C \in 2^X | C \subset U\}$. The family $B = \{B(U) | U \subseteq X \text{ is open }\}$ is a base for the upper semifinite topology on 2^X . In addition, there is a natural metric that can be defined on 2^X , the Hausdorff metric d_H . If $C, D \in 2^X$, then the Hausdorff metric is defined as follows:

$$d_H(C,D) = \inf\{\epsilon > 0 | C \subseteq \mathcal{B}(D,\epsilon), \ D \subseteq \mathcal{B}(C,\epsilon)\},\$$

where $\mathcal{B}(C, \epsilon)$ denotes the generalized ball of radius ϵ , that is, if $C \in 2^X$, then $\mathcal{B}(C, \epsilon) = \{x \in X | d(x, C) < \epsilon\}$. The hyperspace of X with the Hausdorff metric is a compact metric space. We recollect in the following proposition some properties of the Hausdorff metric.

Proposition 1.2.22. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and let $(2^X, d_H)$ be the hyperspace of X with the Hausdorff metric.

- $d_H(x,y) = d(x,y)$ if $x, y \in X$.
- $d_H(x,C) = \sup\{d(x,c)|c \in C\} \ge \inf\{d(x,c)|c \in C\} = d(x,C) \text{ if } x \in X \text{ and } C \in 2^X.$
- $d_H(x,D) \leq d_H(x,C)$ but $d(x,D) \geq d(x,C)$ if $x \in X$ and $C, D \in 2^X$, where $D \subseteq C$.

Moreover, (X, d) can be identified with $\phi(X) \subset 2^X$, where $\phi : X \to 2^X$ is given by $\phi(x) = \{x\}$. This map is well-defined since X is T_2 . It is not difficult to check that ϕ is an isometry onto its image and then $\phi(X)$ is homeomorphic to X. Therefore, (X, d) is embedded in $(2^X, d_H)$. We consider $U_{\epsilon} = \{C \in 2^X | diam(C) < \epsilon\}$, where diam(C) denotes the diameter of C and ϵ is a positive real value. Furthermore, the closure operator can be described easily. If $C \in 2^X$, then the closure of C is given by $\overline{\{C\}} = \{D \in 2^X | C \subset D\}$. For a complete exposition about this topic, see [88].

We recall some properties of hyperspaces with the upper semifinite topology studied in [3] and [81].

Proposition 1.2.23. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space. Then the family $\mathcal{U} = \{U_{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon>0}$ is a base of open neighborhoods of X inside 2^X .

Lemma 1.2.24. Let Z and T be compact metric spaces and let $h: Z \to 2^T$ be a continuous map. Then $h^*: 2^Z \to 2^T$ given by $h^*(C) = \bigcup_{c \in C} f(c)$ is well-defined and continuous.

Theorem 1.2.25. Let X and Y be compact metric spaces. If $H : X \times [0,1] \to 2^Y$ and $h : 2^X \to 2^Y$ are continuous maps such that $H(x,0) = h_{|X}(\{x\})$, then there exists a map $\overline{H} : 2^X \times [0,1] \to 2^Y$ satisfying the following properties:

- 1. $\overline{H}(C,0) = h(C)$ for all $C \in 2^X$.
- 2. $\overline{H}_{|X \times [0,1]} = H$.
- 3. \overline{H} is continuous.
- 4. If $H(x,t) \in \mathcal{U}_{\epsilon}(Y)$ for all $(x,t) \in X \times [0,1]$, then it can be chosen $\gamma > 0$ such that $\overline{H}(U_{\gamma}(X) \times [0,1]) \subset U_{\epsilon}(Y)$.

Now, we recall the description of the shape theory that was given in [3] using the results obtained in [98].

Definition 1.2.26. Let X and Y be compact metric spaces. A sequence of continuous functions $\overline{f} = \{f_k : X \to 2^Y\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is said to be an approximative map from X to Y if for every neighborhood U of the canonical copy Y in 2^Y there exists $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that f_k is homotopic to f_{k+1} in U for all $k \geq k_0$.

Definition 1.2.27. Let \overline{f} and \overline{g} be approximative maps. Then \overline{f} is homotopic to \overline{g} if for each open neighborhood U of the canonical copy Y in 2^Y there exists n_0 such that f_n is homotopic to g_n in U for every $n \ge n_0$.

Theorem 1.2.28. The set of all homotopy classes of approximative maps from X to Y is in bijective correspondence with the set of shape morphisms from X to Y.

Remark 1.2.29. It can be said that this approach substitutes the Hilbert cube by hyperspaces in the original idea mentioned in Subsection 1.2.1.

Chapter 2

Reconstruction of compact metric spaces and shape theoretical properties

Given a compact metric space X, we associate to it an inverse sequence of finite T_0 topological spaces such that its inverse limit has the same homotopy type of X. We give a method to reconstruct the homology groups of X and study computational aspects. We propose a different description of shape theory. Finally, we construct two categories. The first (second) one classifies compact metric spaces by their shape and compact Alexandroff spaces by their weak homotopy type (homotopy type).

2.1 Introduction

Approximation of topological spaces is an old theme in geometric topology. There are two approaches that can be followed. Given a topological space X. One approach is to find a simpler topological space Y such that X and Y share some topological properties (compactness, homotopy type, etc.) or algebraic properties (homology and homotopy groups, etc.). Polyhedra have been used for this purpose, see for instance [71]. In this direction, it is important to remark the following classical result, which is known as the nerve theorem. The idea is to use good covers to construct a simplicial complex that reconstructs the homotopy type of X, see [26] and [76].

Theorem 2.1.1 (Nerve theorem). If \mathcal{U} is an open cover of a paracompact space X such that every non-empty intersection of finitely many sets in \mathcal{U} is contractible, then X is homotopy equivalent to the nerve of \mathcal{U} .

Example 2.1.2. Let us consider the topological space $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ given in Figure 2.1.1 and the open cover \mathcal{U} given by U_1, U_2, U_3, U_4 and all the possible intersections of them. It is clear that $N(\mathcal{U})$ has the same homotopy type of X.

This approach using the nerve theorem has a drawback, it is not always easy to find an open cover satisfying the hypothesis required. Recently, interesting results have been obtained in this direction modifying the notion of good cover. In [56], the hypothesis of being a good cover is relaxed. Using computational tools such as persistent homology, results about the reconstruction of the homology of the original space were obtained. Moreover, for Riemannian manifolds, results of reconstruction using Vietoris-Rips complexes were obtained in [61].

A different approach is to approximate X studying the inverse limit of an inverse sequence. The idea is the following. The bigger $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is, the better the term X_n to approximate X is. Indeed, if an inverse sequence is indexed by a finite totally ordered set N, then the inverse limit is homeomorphic to the term indexed by the maximum of N.



Figure 2.1.1: X, schematic representation of \mathcal{U} and $N(\mathcal{U})$.

Example 2.1.3. Let us consider the Hawaiian earring, that is,

$$\mathbb{H} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 | (x - \frac{1}{n})^2 + y^2 = (\frac{1}{n})^2 \}$$

We consider $X_n = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 | (x - \frac{1}{i})^2 + y^2 = (\frac{1}{i})^2\}$. It is clear that $X_n \subseteq X_{n+1}$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We also consider $p_{n,n+1} : X_{n+1} \to X_n$ given by $p_{n,n+1}(x, y) = (x, y)$ if $(x, y) \in X_n \subseteq X_{n+1}$ and $p_{n,n+1}(x, y) = (0, 0)$ if $(x, y) \in X_{n+1} \setminus X_n$. We have an inverse sequence $(X_n, p_{n,n+1})$ satisfying that its inverse limit is homeomorphic to \mathbb{H} . If N denotes the totally ordered set $\{1, ..., N\}$, then the inverse limit of $(X_n, p_{n,n+1}, N)$ is X_N . Hence, the higher the value of N is, the better the inverse limit of $(X_n, p_{n,n+1}, N)$ approximates \mathbb{H} .



Figure 2.1.2: Inverse sequence $(X_n, p_{n,n+1})$ and schematic representation of $p_{n,n+1}$.

As mentioned earlier, polyhedra have been good candidates to get results of approximation. In [31], it is proved that finite topological spaces are also good candidates. Concretely, E. Clader proved that given a compact polyhedron X, there exists a natural inverse sequence of finite topological spaces such that its inverse limit contains a homeomorphic copy of X which is a strong deformation retract. In [81, 82], it is proved a generalization of this result to compact metric spaces. In [24], a similar result is obtained for topological spaces satisfying that are locally compact, paracompact and Hausdorff spaces, where non-finite Alexandroff spaces are considered. Throughout this chapter, we will restrict our discussion to compact metric spaces and finite topological spaces. Given a compact metric space (X, d), we recall the Main Construction [2] or Finite Approximative Sequence (FAS) for X [82]. A FAS for a compact metric space X is an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces that reconstructs the homotopy type of X. We recall notation and some technical results before giving the construction. **Definition 2.1.4.** Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and let ϵ be a positive real number. A finite subset A of X is an ϵ -approximation of X if for every $x \in X$ there exists $a \in A$ satisfying that $d(x, a) < \epsilon$.

In the conditions of Definition 2.1.4, $\mathcal{U}_{\gamma}(A) = \{C \subseteq A | diam(C) < \gamma\}$ is a finite poset for every positive real value γ , the partial order is given by the subset relation, that is, $C \leq D$ if and only if $C \subseteq D$. If (X, d) is a compact metric space, then it is easy to check that for every $\epsilon > 0$ there exists an ϵ -approximation A of X.

Lemma 2.1.5. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space. If ϵ is a positive real value and A is an ϵ -approximation of X, then there exists $0 < \epsilon' < \epsilon$ such that for every ϵ' -approximation A' of X the map $p : \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon'}(A') \to \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon}(A)$ given by $p(C) = \bigcup_{c \in C} \{a \in A | d(c, a) = d(c, A)\}$ is continuous. Moreover, ϵ' can be chosen satisfying $\epsilon' < \frac{\epsilon - \gamma}{2}$, where $\gamma = \sup\{d(x, A) | x \in X\}$.

As an immediate consequence of Lemma 2.1.5, it can be obtained the so-called Main Construction or FAS for a compact metric space.

Proposition 2.1.6 (Main Construction or FAS). Let (X, d) be a compact metric space. There exists an inverse sequence $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$, where $\{\epsilon_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of decreasing positive real values satisfying that $\epsilon_{n+1} < \frac{\epsilon_n - \gamma_n}{2}$, $\{A_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of ϵ_n -approximations of X, $\gamma_n = \sup\{d(x, A_n) | x \in X\}$ and $p_{n,n+1} : \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1}) \to \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ is given by $p_{n,n+1}(C) = \bigcup_{c \in C} \{a \in A | d(c, a) = d(c, A)\}.$

One important property of this inverse sequence relies on its inverse limit.

Theorem 2.1.7. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and let $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ be a FAS for X. Then the inverse limit of $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ contains a homeomorphic copy of X which is a strong deformation retract.

In addition, if we apply the McCord functor to a FAS $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ for a compact metric space X, then we get an inverse sequence of polyhedra $(\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n)), |\mathcal{K}(p_{n,n+1})|)$ or an object in pro-*HPol*.

Theorem 2.1.8. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and let $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ be a FAS for X. Then $(\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n)), |\mathcal{K}(p_{n,n+1})|)$ is a HPol-expansion of X.

If we consider the opposite order on the finite T_0 topological spaces of a FAS for a compact metric space, then the inverse limit does not need to preserve the good properties that were obtained in Theorem 2.1.7. From a set theoretical point of view, the inverse limit is the same independently of the partial order chosen, but from a topological point of view the topologies of the inverse limits are different.

Example 2.1.9. Let us consider the unit interval I = [0, 1]. We consider the same FAS for I that was chosen in [81, Example 4]. Namely, $A_1 = \{0\}$, $\epsilon_1 = 2$, $\epsilon_n = \frac{1}{3^{2n-3}}$ and $A_n = \{\frac{k}{3^{2n-3}} | k = 0, ..., 3^{2n-3} \}$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$. Then, $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n) = A_n \cup \{\{\frac{k}{3^{2n-3}}, \frac{k+1}{3^{2n-3}}\} | k = 0, ..., 3^{2n-3} - 1\}$. We denote by $\varphi : \mathcal{I}^u \to I$ the map obtained in Theorem 2.1.7, where \mathcal{I}^u denotes the inverse limit of $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$. Since $C = (C_1, C_2, C_3, ..., C_n, ...) \in \mathcal{I}^u$ can be seen as a sequence in the hyperspace of $I(2^I)$ with the Hausdorff distance, φ is defined by sending $(C_1, C_2, C_3, ...)$ to its convergent point $\{x\} \in 2^I$, where $x \in I$. If $x \in \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n$, then $\varphi^{-1}(x)$ has cardinality one. If $x \in I \setminus \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n$, then $\varphi(x)^{-1} = \{C, D, X\}$, where $C_i, D_i \subset X_i$ for every i. For a complete exposition of the previous assertion, see [81, Chapter 3]. In Figure 2.1.3 we present a schematic description of the above situation.



Figure 2.1.3: Schematic description of $\varphi^{-1}(x)$ and $\varphi^{-1}(y)$, where $x \in I \setminus \{\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n\}$ and $y \in \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n$.

If we consider the opposite partial order in every term of the inverse sequence and $x \in I \setminus \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n$, then $X_i <_o C_i$ and $X_i <_o D_i$ for every *i*, where $\varphi(x)^{-1} = \{C, D, X\}$. We denote by \mathcal{I}^o the inverse limit of the inverse sequence of finite topological spaces with the opposite partial order. Therefore, the identity map $id : \mathcal{I}^o \to \mathcal{I}^u$ is not continuous. We argue by contradiction. Let us consider $x = \frac{1}{2}$, we have that every open neighborhood U of $C \in \mathcal{I}^o$ contains X because $X_i <_o C_i$ for every *i*. On the other hand, we can consider $V = U_{C_1} \times U_{C_2} \times \cdots \times U_{C_n} \times \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+1}(A_{n+1})} \times \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+2}(A_{n+2})} \times \cdots$, where U_{C_i} denotes the minimal open neighborhood of $C_i \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_i(A_i)}$. We get that V is an open neighborhood of id(C) and does not contain X because $X_i > C_i$ for every *i*, which entails a contradiction.

This example shows the following. If we want to keep a similar result changing the partial order of the terms, then we need to get a different construction. The opposite partial order has been used recently to find applications to the study of dynamical systems, see for example [68]. Furthermore, the inverse sequence of finite topological spaces obtained in [31] also uses the opposite order.

The organization of this chapter is as follows. In Section 2.2 we construct an analog of the FAS for a compact metric space using the opposite partial order. This construction has more advantages from a computational viewpoint. The different stages of the construction are implemented in classical algorithms or algorithms used to calculate persistent homology. A discussion about this issue is done in Section 2.5. In Section 2.3, we study the properties of the inverse limit of the inverse sequence obtained in Section 2.2. Namely, we prove that the inverse limit reconstructs the homotopy type of the compact metric space chosen. Since the inverse sequences obtained are not strictly equal, we give a result of uniqueness in Section 2.4. Then we use this result to get a method of approximation of homology groups. However, this method does not reconstruct the homotopy type, but it is more suitable for computational reasons. In addition, we study the relation of our inverse sequence and the Main Construction. We also study the relation with the inverse sequence given in [31]. In Section 2.6, we give a different description of shape theory. The definition of core for a finite topological space is extended to inverse sequences of finite topological spaces. We give an application to shape theory in Section 2.7. In Section 2.8, we define a category that classifies compact metric spaces by their shape and finite topological spaces by their weak homotopy type. We also get a stronger version that classifies compact metric spaces by their shape and finite topological spaces by their homotopy type. In Section 2.9, Theorem 2.1.8 is proved with a shorter proof than the one given in [81].

2.2 Finite approximative sequences with the opposite order

Given a compact metric space (X, d), we construct an inverse sequence of finite T_0 topological spaces using the opposite order. Let ϵ and γ be positive real values and let A be an ϵ -approximation of X. From now on, if there is no explicit mention of the partial order considered on $\mathcal{U}_{\epsilon}(A)$, then it is considered the partial order given as follows: $C \leq D$ if and only $D \subseteq C$.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space. If ϵ is a positive real value and A is an ϵ -approximation of X, then for every $\epsilon' < \frac{\epsilon - \gamma}{2}$ and every ϵ' -approximation A' of X the map $q : \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon'}(A') \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon}(A)$ given by $q(C) = \bigcup_{x \in C} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon) \cap A$ is well-defined and continuous, where $\gamma = \sup\{d(x, A) | x \in X\}$.

Proof. Since X is a compact space, it follows that γ exists. We check that q is well-defined. Let us take $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon'}(A')$, which implies that $diam(C) < 4\epsilon'$. If $x, y \in q(C)$, then there exist $c_x, c_y \in C$ satisfying that $x \in \mathcal{B}(c_x, \epsilon)$ and $y \in \mathcal{B}(c_y, \epsilon)$. Therefore, we have

$$d(x,y) \le d(x,c_x) + d(c_x,c_y) + d(c_y,y) < \epsilon + 4\epsilon' + \epsilon < 2\epsilon + 2(\epsilon - \gamma) < 4\epsilon,$$

which implies that $diam(q(C)) < 4\epsilon$. The continuity of q follows trivially.

Remark 2.2.2. In Lemma 2.2.1, we can consider $\epsilon' < \frac{\epsilon}{2}$ for simplicity and the result also holds true.

From here, we can get the desired inverse sequence.

Theorem 2.2.3. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space. There exists an inverse sequence $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$, where $\{\epsilon_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of decreasing positive real values with $\epsilon_{n+1} < \frac{\epsilon_n - \gamma_n}{2}, \{A_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of ϵ_n -approximations of X, $\gamma_n = \sup\{d(x, A_n) | x \in X\}$ and the map $q_{n,n+1} : \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1}) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ is given by $q_{n,n+1}(C) = \bigcup_{x\in C} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n) \cap A_n$.

Proof. We start with $\epsilon_1 > diam(X)$. Then, A_1 can be taken as $A_1 = \{a\}$ for some $a \in X$, we define $\gamma_1 = \sup\{d(x, A_1) | x \in X\}$. Applying Lemma 2.2.1, we can obtain $\epsilon_2 < \frac{\epsilon_1 - \gamma_1}{2}$, a ϵ_2 -approximation A_2 of X and a continuous map $q_{1,2} : \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_2} : (A_2) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_1}(A_1)$. It suffices to repeat this method inductively to conclude.

The inverse sequence obtained in Theorem 2.2.3 is called Finite Approximative Sequence with Opposite order (FASO). For simplicity, when there is no confusion, $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ denotes $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ and we will also omit the subscript of the bonding maps.

Example 2.2.4. We construct a FASO for the unit circle S^1 . We consider the unit circle in the complex plane with the geodesic distance, $S^1 = \{z \in \mathbb{C} | |z| = 1\}$. We get a FASO for S^1 by steps.

<u>Step 1.</u> We consider $\epsilon_1 = 3\pi > diam(S^1) = \pi$ and $A_1 = \{e^{2\pi i}\}$, which is clearly an ϵ_1 -approximation of S^1 . Then, $\gamma_1 = \pi$ and $\mathcal{U}_1 = A_1$.

<u>Step 2.</u> We consider $\epsilon_2 = \frac{\pi}{2} < \frac{3\pi - \pi}{2}$ and $A_2 = \{a_k^2 = e^{\frac{2\pi ki}{4}} | k = 0, 1, 2, 3\}$, which is clearly an ϵ_2 -approximation of S^1 . Then, $\gamma_2 = \frac{\pi}{4}$ and $\mathcal{U}_2 = \{2^{A_2}\}$, where 2^{A_n} denotes the power set of S minus the empty set.

<u>Step 3.</u> We consider $\epsilon_3 = \frac{\pi}{16} < \frac{\pi}{8}$ and $A_3 = \{a_k^3 = e^{\frac{2\pi ki}{32}} | k = 0, 1, ..., 31\}$, which is clearly an ϵ_3 -approximation. Then, $\gamma_3 = \frac{\pi}{32}$ and $\mathcal{U}_3 = \{2^{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3, a_{i+2}^3, a_{i+3}^3}\}_{i=0,...,31}$, where the subindices are considered modulo 32 and $2^{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3, a_{i+2}^3, a_{i+3}^3}$ denotes the power set of

 $\{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3, a_{i+2}^3, a_{i+3}^3\}$ minus the empty set. The last statement is true due to the fact that $d(a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3) = \frac{\pi}{16}$ for every i, i+1 modulo 32 and $4\epsilon_3 = \frac{\pi}{4}$.

Step n. We consider $\epsilon_n = \frac{\pi}{2^{3n-5}}$ and $A_n = \{a_k^n = e^{\frac{2\pi ki}{2^{3n-4}}} | k = 0, ..., 2^{3n-4} - 1\}$, which is clearly an ϵ_n -approximation of S^1 . Therefore, we obtain that $\gamma_n = \frac{\pi}{2^{3n-4}}$ and $\mathcal{U}_n = \{2^{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+2}^n, a_{i+3}^n}\}_{i=0, ..., 2^{3n-4}-1}$, where the subindices are considered modulo 2^{3n-4} and $2^{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+2}^n, a_{i+3}^n}$ denotes the power set of $\{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+2}^n, a_{i+3}^n\}$ minus the empty set. The last statement is true due to the fact that $d(a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n) = \frac{\pi}{2^{3n-5}}$ for every i, i+1 modulo 2^{3n-4} and $4\epsilon_n = \frac{\pi}{2^{3n-7}}$.

For a schematic representation of the minimal points of \mathcal{U}_1 , \mathcal{U}_2 and \mathcal{U}_3 , see Figure 2.2.1. Each arc represents a minimal point. Red, green and blue arcs represent the minimal points of \mathcal{U}_1 , \mathcal{U}_2 and \mathcal{U}_3 , respectively.



Figure 2.2.1: Diagram of the minimal points of U_1 , U_2 and U_3 in S^1 .

Given a compact metric space (X, d) and a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ for X, there is natural map $q_n : X \to \mathcal{U}_n$ given by $q_n(x) = \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n) \cap A_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, .

Proposition 2.2.5. Given a compact metric space (X, d) and a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ for X. The following diagram commutes up to homotopy for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.



Then $q = (q_n) : X \to (\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ is a morphism in pro-HTop.

Proof. Firstly, we prove that q_n is continuous and well-defined for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If $x \in X$, then the diameter of $q_n(x)$ is less than $2\epsilon_n$, which implies that $q_n(x) \in \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$. Now, we prove the continuity of q_n . We consider $\gamma = \max\{d(x,b)|b \in q_n(x)\}$ and $0 < \delta < \epsilon_n - \gamma$. We have that γ is well-defined since $q_n(x)$ is a finite set. For every $y \in \mathcal{B}(x,\delta)$ we have that $q_n(x) \subseteq q_n(y)$. We prove the last assertion. If $b \in q_n(x)$, then we get $d(x,b) \leq \gamma$. Therefore,

$$d(y,b) < d(y,x) + d(x,b) < \epsilon_n - \gamma + \gamma = \epsilon_n.$$

From here, the continuity of q_n follows easily since we have that $q_n(\mathcal{B}(x,\delta)) \subseteq U_{q_n(x)}$, where $U_{q_n(x)}$ denotes the minimal open neighborhood of $q_n(x)$.

We consider $h: X \to \mathcal{U}_n$ given by $h(x) = q_n(x) \cup q_{n,n+1}(q_{n+1}(x))$. We prove that h(x) has diameter less than $4\epsilon_n$. Let us take $a \in q_n(x)$ and $b \in q_{n,n+1}(q_{n+1}(x))$. By construction, $d(a,x) < \epsilon_n$ and there exist $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1})$ and $c \in C$ such that $c \in q_{n+1}(x) = C$ and $b \in q_{n,n+1}(c)$, which implies that $d(x,c) < \epsilon_{n+1} < \frac{\epsilon_n}{2}$ and $d(c,b) < 2\epsilon_n$. We have

$$d(a,b) < d(a,x) + d(x,c) + d(c,b) < \epsilon_n + \frac{\epsilon_n}{2} + 2\epsilon_n < 4\epsilon_n.$$

From this, we get that $h = q_n \cup q_{n,n+1} \circ q_{n+1} : X \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ is well-defined. The continuity of h follows trivially. In addition, $q_n(x), q_{n,n+1}(q_{n+1}(x)) \subseteq q_n(x) \cup q_{n,n+1}(q_{n+1}(x))$ for every $x \in X$. It is easy to deduce that the diagram commutes up to homotopy. We only prove one of the two homotopies because the other one is similar. We consider $H: X \times [0,1] \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ given by

$$H(x,t) = \begin{cases} q_n(x) \cup q_{n,n+1}(q_{n+1}(x)) & \text{if } t \in [0,1) \\ q_n(x) & \text{if } t = 1. \end{cases}$$

It suffices to verify the continuity at t = 1. If $(x, 1) \in X \times [0, 1]$, then we consider the minimal open neighborhood of H(x, 1), i.e., $U_{H(x,1)}$. By the continuity of q_n , there exists an open neighborhood V of x with $H(V, 1) \subset U_{H(x,1)}$. By construction, if $t \neq 1$, then we have $H(V,t) = h(V) \supset H(V,1) = q_n(V)$ so $h(y) \in U_{q_n(x)}$ for every $y \in V$. Thus, $V \times [0,1]$ is an open neighborhood of (x, 1) in $X \times [0,1]$ satisfying $H(V, [0,1]) \subset U_{H(x,1)}$, which implies the continuity of H at (x, 1).

Given a compact metric space (X, d) and a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ for X. We can change the partial order defined on the terms of the inverse sequence $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$, that is, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we consider the other possible partial order defined on \mathcal{U}_n . We get that the bonding maps of the inverse sequence are also continuous but Proposition 2.2.5 does not hold true. This is due to the following result.

Proposition 2.2.6. Let (X, d) be a non-empty connected compact metric space and let Y be a finite topological space. If $f : X \to Y$ is continuous and it is also continuous when the other possible order on Y is considered, then f is the constant map.

Proof. Let us consider $x \in X$ and the minimal open neighborhood containing f(x) for the natural order and opposite order, that is, $U_{f(x)}$ and $F_{f(x)}$ respectively. By the continuity of f, there exist open sets V_x and W_x containing x such that $f(V_x) \subseteq U_{f(x)}$ and $f(W_x) \subseteq F_{f(x)}$. Therefore, $f(V_x \cap W_x) \subseteq U_{f(x)} \cap F_{f(x)} = \{f(x)\}$, which implies that f is a locally constant map. Since X is connected, if follows that f is a constant map.

2.3 Properties of the inverse limit of a FASO for a compact metric space

Given a compact metric space (X, d) and a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ for X. We study properties of the inverse limit of $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$, denoted by \mathcal{X} . Firstly, we prove that \mathcal{X} is non-empty. Despite the fact that this result can be deduced from [102, Theorem 2], we prefer to describe specific elements of \mathcal{X} .

For every $x \in X$, we consider

$$X_*^n = \bigcup_{m>n} q_{n,m}(A_m(x)),$$

where $A_m(x) = \{a \in A_m | d(x, a) = d(x, A_m)\}$. The sequence $\{X_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a candidate to be an element of \mathcal{X} .

Proposition 2.3.1. If $x \in X$, then $X_*^n \in \mathcal{U}_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. We prove that if $x \in X$, then $X_*^n \subseteq \mathcal{B}(x, 2\epsilon_n) \cap A_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We verify that $q_{n,m}(A_m(x)) \subset \mathcal{B}(x, 2\epsilon_n) \cap A_n$ for all m > n. As a consequence, it can be deduced that $diam(X_*^n) < 4\epsilon_n$ and $X_*^n \in \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$.

If $a_n \in q_{n,m}(A_m(x))$, then there exists a sequence $\{a_t\}_{n \leq t \leq m}$ with $a_t \in A_t$ and $a_t \in q_{t,t+1}(a_{t+1})$, so $d(a_t, a_{t+1}) < \epsilon_t$. In addition, $a_m \in A_m(x)$, which means $d(a_m, x) < \epsilon_m$. Therefore,

$$d(a_n, x) < d(a_n, a_{n+1}) + d(a_{n+1}, a_{n+2}) + \dots + d(a_{m-1}, a_m) + d(a_m, x) < < < \epsilon_n + \epsilon_{n+1} + \dots + \epsilon_{m-1} + \epsilon_m < \epsilon_n + \frac{\epsilon_n}{2} + \dots + \frac{\epsilon_n}{2^{m-1-n}} + \frac{\epsilon_n}{2^{m-n}} = = \epsilon_n (1 + \sum_{i=1}^{m-n} \frac{1}{2^i}) < 2\epsilon_n.$$

The idea of the following lemmas is to show that X_*^n , which is an infinite union of sets, stabilizes for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Lemma 2.3.2. If $x \in X$, then $A_n(x) \subset q_{n,n+1}(A_{n+1}(x))$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. If $a_n \in A_n(x)$ and $a_{n+1} \in A_{n+1}(x)$, then we have $d(a_n, x) \leq \gamma_n$ and $d(a_{n+1}, x) < \epsilon_{n+1}$. We obtain the following relations

$$d(a_n, a_{n+1}) < d(a_n, x) + d(x, a_{n+1}) < \gamma_n + \epsilon_{n+1} < \gamma_n + \frac{\epsilon_n - \gamma_n}{2} = \frac{\epsilon_n}{2} + \frac{\gamma_n}{2} < \epsilon_n.$$

Thus, we get $a_n \in \mathcal{B}(a_{n+1}, \epsilon_n) \cap A_n = q_{n,n+1}(a_{n+1}).$

Lemma 2.3.3. If $x \in X$, then $q_{n,m}(A_m(x)) \subset q_{n,m+1}(A_{m+1}(x))$ for every m > n.

Proof. We know that $q_{n,m+1}(A_{m+1}(x)) = q_{n,m}(q_{m,m+1}(A_{m+1}(x)))$. By Lemma 2.3.2, we have that $A_m(x) \subset q_{m,m+1}(A_{m+1}(x))$. On the other hand, $q_{n,m}$ is a continuous map between finite topological spaces so $q_{n,m}$ preserves the subset relation. Therefore, if we apply $q_{n,m}$ to $A_m(x) \subset q_{m,m+1}(A_{m+1}(x))$, then we get $q_{n,m}(A_m(x)) \subseteq q_{n,m}(q_{m,m+1}(A_{m+1}(x))) = q_{n,m+1}(A_{m+1}(x))$.

Proposition 2.3.4. If $x \in X$, then for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $n_* > n$ such that for all $m \ge n_*$ we have $X^n_* = q_{n,m}(A_m(x))$.

Proof. By Proposition 2.3.1, we know that $X_*^n \subset \mathcal{B}(x, 2\epsilon_n) \cap A_n$ so X_*^n is a finite set. By Lemma 2.3.3, if $a \in X_*^n$, then there exists $n_a \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $a \in q_{n,m}(A_m(x))$ for every $m \geq n_a$. We consider

$$n_* = max\{n_a | a \in X^n_* \quad and \quad a \in q_{n,m}(A_m(x)) \quad \text{with} \quad m \ge n_a\},$$

where n_* is well-defined since X_*^n is a finite set. From here, it follows the desired result. \Box

Finally, we prove that $\{X_*^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is an element of the inverse limit \mathcal{X} . Then, we also prove a connection between the elements of \mathcal{X} and X.

Proposition 2.3.5. If $x \in X$, then $\{X_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{X}$.

Proof. It suffices to check that $q_{n,n+1}(X_*^{n+1}) = X_*^n$, the general case follows inductively. By Proposition 2.3.4, if $s > n_*, (n+1)_*$, then $q_{n,s}(A_s(x)) = X_*^n$ and $q_{n+1,s}(A_s(x)) = X_*^{n+1}$. Thus,

$$q_{n,n+1}(X_*^{n+1}) = q_{n,n+1}(q_{n+1,s}(A_s(x))) = q_{n,s}(A_s(x)) = X_*^n.$$

Proposition 2.3.6. If $\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{X}$, then $\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence in the hyperspace of X with the Hausdorff distance 2_H^X that converges to $\{x\} \in 2_H^X$ for some $x \in X$. In addition, $d_H(x, C_n) < 2\epsilon_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Firstly, we check that $d_H(C_n, C_m) < 2\epsilon_n - \frac{\gamma_n}{2}$ for every $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying $m \ge n$. If $c_n \in C_n$, then there exists a sequence $\{c_t\}_{n \le t \le m}$ with $c_t \in A_t$ and $c_t \in q_{t,t+1}(c_{t+1})$. We get $d(c_t, c_{t+1}) < \epsilon_t$. We obtain

$$\begin{aligned} d(c_n, c_m) &< d(c_n, c_{n+1}) + \dots + d(c_{m-1}, c_m) < \epsilon_n + \dots + \epsilon_{m-1} < \\ &< \epsilon_n + \frac{\epsilon_n - \gamma_n}{2} + \dots + \frac{\epsilon_n - \gamma_n}{2^{m-1-n}} = \epsilon_n (1 + \sum_{i=1}^{m-1-n} \frac{1}{2^i}) - \gamma_n \sum_{i=1}^{m-1-n} \frac{1}{2^i} \\ &< 2\epsilon_n - \frac{\gamma_n}{2}, \end{aligned}$$

which implies that $C_n \subset \mathcal{B}(C_m, 2\epsilon_n - \frac{\gamma_n}{2})$. If $c_m \in C_m$, then we can repeat the same argument to show that $C_m \subset \mathcal{B}(C_n, 2\epsilon_n - \frac{\gamma_n}{2})$. Therefore, for every $\epsilon > 0$ there exists $s \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for every n, m > s we have $d_H(C_n, C_m) < \epsilon$. It suffices to consider ssatisfying that $2\epsilon_s - \frac{\gamma_s}{2} < \epsilon$. We have proved that $\{C_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence in a compact metric space 2_H^X so $\{C_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to an element $C \in 2_H^X$. It is important to recall that $diam(C_n) \leq 4\epsilon_n$ because $C_n \in \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$. Due to the fact of the continuity of the diameter function regarding to the Hausdorff metric, we have

$$diam(C) = diam(\lim_{n \to \infty} (C_n)) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (diam(C_n)) < \lim_{n \to \infty} 4\epsilon_n = 0.$$

Thus, $C = \{x\}$ for some $x \in X$.

We have shown that $d_H(C_n, C_m) < 2\epsilon_n - \frac{\gamma_n}{2}$ for every $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying $m \ge n$. We know that $\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence that converges to $\{x\}$. Therefore, for $\frac{\gamma_n}{2}$ there exists $n_0 > n$ such that for every $m > n_0$ we get $d_H(x, C_m) < \frac{\gamma_n}{2}$. From this, we obtain the following relations

$$d_H(x, C_n) < d_H(x, C_m) + d_H(C_m, C_n) < \frac{\gamma_n}{2} + 2\epsilon_n - \frac{\gamma_n}{2} = 2\epsilon_n.$$

-	_	_	_	
•				

Proposition 2.3.7. If $x \in X$, then $\{X_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{X}$ converges to $\{x\}$ in 2_H^X .

Proof. It is an immediate consequence of Proposition 2.3.1 and Proposition 2.3.6.

Furthermore, we also get that $\{X_*^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is somehow minimal with respect to the elements of \mathcal{X} that converge to the same point.

Proposition 2.3.8. If $\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{X}$ converges to $\{x\}$ for some $x \in X$, then $X_*^n \subseteq C_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. We prove that $A_n(x) \subset C_n$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We know that $q_{n,n+1}(C_{n+1}) = C_n$. By Proposition 2.3.6, if $c_{n+1} \in C_{n+1}$, then we have that $d_H(x, C_{n+1}) < 2\epsilon_{n+1}$. Therefore, $d(x, c_{n+1}) < 2\epsilon_{n+1}$. In addition, for every $a_n \in A_n(x)$ we get $d(x, a_n) \leq \gamma_n$. We have

$$d(a_n, c_{n+1}) < d(a_n, x) + d(x, c_{n+1}) < \gamma_n + 2\epsilon_{n+1} < \gamma_n + \epsilon_n - \gamma_n = \epsilon_n,$$

so $a_n \in \mathcal{B}(c_{n+1}, \epsilon_n) \cap A_n = q_{n,n+1}(c_{n+1}) \subset C_n$. We can conclude that $A_n(x) \subset C_n$. We take $s > n_*$ where n_* is given by Proposition 2.3.4. We know that $q_{n,s}(A_s(x)) = X_*^n$. On the other hand, we have proved that $A_s(x) \subset C_s$. If we apply $q_{n,s}$ to the previous content, then we get the desired result. This is due to the fact that $q_{n,s}$ is a continuous map between finite topological spaces, which means that it preserves the subset relation. Thus,

$$X_*^n = q_{n,s}(A_s(x)) \subset q_{n,s}(C_s) = C_n.$$

Now, we can define a map φ between the inverse limit of $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,m})$ and X. The map $\varphi : \mathcal{X} \to X$ sends each element of the inverse limit to its convergent point given by Proposition 2.3.6, that is, $\varphi(\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}) = x$ where $\lim_{n\to\infty} C_n = \{x\}$.

Proposition 2.3.9. The map $\varphi : \mathcal{X} \to X$ is surjective and continuous.

Proof. The surjectivity is given by the construction of $\{X_*^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and Proposition 2.3.7, so it only remains to show the continuity. For each open neighborhood V of $\varphi(\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}) = x$, we can take $\delta > 0$ such that $\mathcal{B}(x, \delta) \subset V$. We consider the open neighborhood of $\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ given as follows

$$W = (U_{C_1} \times U_{C_2} \times \cdots \times U_{C_{n_0}} \times \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{n_0+1}(A_{n_0+1})} \times \dots) \cap \mathcal{X},$$

where $U_{C_t} = \{D \in \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_t(A_t)} | C_t \subset D\}$ denotes the minimal open neighborhood of C_t in $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_t}(A_t)$. We consider n_0 satisfying that for every $n \geq n_0$ we obtain that $\epsilon_n < \frac{\delta}{4}$. Suppose that $\{D_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in W$ with $\{D_n\} \to \{y\}$. We verify that $y \in \mathcal{B}(x,\delta)$. By construction, $C_n \subset D_n$ for every $n \leq n_0$. By the second part of Proposition 2.3.6 and the previous observation, we get

$$d(x,y) = d_H(x,y) < d_H(x,C_{n_0}) + d_H(C_{n_0},y) < d_H(x,C_{n_0}) + d_H(D_{n_0},y) < < 2\epsilon_{n_0} + 2\epsilon_{n_0} < 4\epsilon_{n_0} < \delta,$$

where we are using the properties of the Hausdorff metric given in Proposition 1.2.22. \Box

We can also define a map ϕ between X and \mathcal{X} given by the construction made at the beginning, i.e., $\phi(x) = \{X_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$.

Proposition 2.3.10. The map ϕ is injective and continuous.

Proof. We show the continuity of ϕ . For each open neighborhood V of $\phi(x) = \{X_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ we can find an open neighborhood of the form

$$W = (U_{X_*^1} \times U_{X_*^2} \times \cdots \times U_{X_*^n} \times \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{n+1}(A_{n+1})} \times \dots) \cap \mathcal{X}$$

such that $W \subset V$. By Proposition 2.3.4, for every X_*^n there exists n_* satisfying that for every $s > n_*$ we get $q_{n,s}(A_s(x)) = X_*^n$. We fix a value $s > n_*$. Now, we consider $\delta < \epsilon_s - \gamma_s - \epsilon_{s+1}$, where we have $\epsilon_s - \gamma_s - \epsilon_{s+1} > 0$ because $\epsilon_{s+1} < \frac{\epsilon_s - \gamma_s}{2}$. The idea is to verify that for every $y \in \mathcal{B}(x, \delta)$ we get $\phi(y) = \{Y_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in W$. By the continuity of $q_{m,n}$ for all m < n, it suffices to check that $X_*^n \subset Y_*^n$ because $X_*^m = q_{m,n}(X_*^n) \subset q_{m,n}(Y_*^n) = Y_*^m$. From here, we would get $\phi(y) \in W$.

We prove that $A_s(x) \subset q_{s,s+1}(A_{s+1}(y))$. If $a_{s+1} \in A_{s+1}(y)$, then we have $d(y, a_{s+1}) < \epsilon_{s+1}$. On the other hand, if $b_s \in A_s(x)$, then we know that $d(x, b_s) \leq \gamma_s$. Hence,

$$d(b_s, a_{s+1}) < d(b_s, x) + d(x, y) + d(y, a_{s+1}) < \gamma_s + \delta + \epsilon_{s+1} < \gamma_s + \epsilon_s - \gamma_s - \epsilon_{s+1} + \epsilon_{s+1} = \epsilon_s,$$

which means that $b_s \in \mathcal{B}(a_{s+1}, \epsilon_s) \cap A_s = q_{s,s+1}(a_{s+1})$. We obtain $A_s(x) \subset q_{s,s+1}(A_{s+1}(y))$, as we wanted. If we apply $q_{n,s}$ to the previous content, then we get

$$X_*^n = q_{n,s}(A_s(x)) \subset q_{n,s}(q_{s,s+1}(A_{s+1}(y))) = q_{n,s+1}(A_{s+1}(y)) \subset Y_*^n = \bigcup_{m>n} q_{n,m}(A_m(y)).$$

We prove the injectivity of ϕ . Suppose that $x \neq y$, which implies that d(x,y) > 0. We take n_0 such that for all $n > n_0$ we get $\epsilon_n < \frac{d(x,y)}{16}$. By Proposition 2.3.1, we know that $X^n_* \subset \mathcal{B}(x, 2\epsilon_n)$ and $Y^n_* \subset \mathcal{B}(y, 2\epsilon_n)$. If $X^n_* \cap Y^n_* \neq \emptyset$, then we can take $a \in X^n_* \cap Y^n_*$. Hence, $d(a, x), d(a, y) < 2\epsilon_n$ and we get a contradiction since

$$16\epsilon_n < d(x,y) < d(x,a) + d(a,y) < 2\epsilon_n + 2\epsilon_n < 4\epsilon.$$

Thus, $X_*^n \cap Y_*^n = \emptyset$ and we conclude that $\phi(x) \neq \phi(y)$.

We consider $\phi(X) = \mathcal{X}_* \subseteq \mathcal{X}$. We will prove that \mathcal{X}_* is homeomorphic to X and a strong deformation retract of \mathcal{X} . Firstly, we verify that \mathcal{X}_* is a homeomorphic copy of X in \mathcal{X} but before stating this result, we prove a property of \mathcal{X}_* .

Proposition 2.3.11. The topological space \mathcal{X}_* is a Hausdorff space.

Proof. Let us take $\phi(x) = \{X_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \neq \{Y_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} = \phi(y)$, so $x \neq y$ and d(x, y) > 0. We consider n_0 such that for every $n \geq n_0$, we get $\epsilon_n < \frac{d(x,y)}{16}$. Furthermore, we know that $X_*^n \cap Y_*^n = \emptyset$ for all $n \geq n_0$ by the proof of Proposition 2.3.10. We consider the following open neighborhoods for $\{X_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $\{Y_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$

$$V_{1} = (U_{X_{*}^{1}} \times U_{X_{*}^{2}} \times \cdots \times U_{X_{*}^{n_{0}}} \times \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{n_{0}+1}}(A_{n_{0}+1}) \times \dots) \cap \mathcal{X}_{*}$$
$$V_{2} = (U_{Y_{*}^{1}} \times U_{Y_{*}^{2}} \times \cdots \times U_{Y_{*}^{n_{0}}} \times \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{n_{0}+1}}(A_{n_{0}+1}) \times \dots) \cap \mathcal{X}_{*}.$$

We argue by contradiction, suppose that the intersection of V_1 and V_2 is non-empty. Then, there exists $\{Z_*^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in V_1 \cap V_2$ such that $X_*^m, Y_*^m \subset Z_*^m$ for every $m \leq n_0$. We consider $x_{n_0} \in X_*^{n_0}$ and $y_{n_0} \in Y_*^{n_0}$. It follows that

$$16\epsilon_{n_0} < d(x, y) < d(x, x_{n_0}) + d(x_{n_0}, y_{n_0}) + d(y_{n_0}, y) < < 2\epsilon_{n_0} + d(x_{n_0}, y_{n_0}) + 2\epsilon_{n_0} = 4\epsilon_{n_0} + d(x_{n_0}, y_{n_0}).$$

Therefore, $12\epsilon_{n_0} < d(x_{n_0}, y_{n_0})$ but $\{Z_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{X}_*$. We get that $diam(Z_{n_0}) < 4\epsilon_{n_0}$, which leads to a contradiction.

Theorem 2.3.12. The compact metric space X is homeomorphic to \mathcal{X}_* .

Proof. We have that $\phi : X \to \mathcal{X}_*$ is a continuous bijective map between a compact Hausdorff space and a Hausdorff space. Thus, ϕ is a homeomorphism.

Remark 2.3.13. We can also prove Theorem 2.3.12 without Proposition 2.3.11. We have that $\varphi_{|\mathcal{X}_*} : \mathcal{X}_* \to X$ is a continuous and bijective function. On the other hand, $\phi : X \to \mathcal{X}_*$ is a continuous and bijective function that verifies $\phi \circ \varphi_{|\mathcal{X}_*} = id_{\mathcal{X}_*}$.

Theorem 2.3.14. The topological space \mathcal{X}_* is a strong deformation retract of \mathcal{X} .

Proof. It is easy to check that $\varphi \circ \phi : X \to X$ is the identity map. We will check that $\phi \circ \varphi : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ is homotopic to the identity map $id_{\mathcal{X}}$. We consider $H : \mathcal{X} \times I \to \mathcal{X}$ given by

$$H(\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}, t) = \begin{cases} \{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} & t\in[0,1)\\ \phi(\varphi(\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}})) & t=1, \end{cases}$$

where I denotes the unit interval. To study the continuity of H, it suffices to prove the continuity at the point $(\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}, 1) \in \mathcal{X} \times I$. For every neighborhood W of $\phi(\varphi(\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}})) = \{X_*^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ we can obtain a neighborhood V of the form

$$V = (U_{X_*^1} \times U_{X_*^2} \times \cdots \times U_{X_*^r} \times \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{r+1}}(A_{r+1}) \times \dots) \cap \mathcal{X}$$

such that $V \subset W$. By the continuity of $\phi \circ \varphi$ we know that there exists an open neighborhood U of $\{C_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ with $\phi(\varphi(U)) \subset V$. We take $\{D_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in U$ and we denote $\phi(\varphi(\{D_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}})) = \{Y_*^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$. By continuity, $\{Y_*^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in V$, so $X_*^n \subset Y_*^n$ for every $n \leq r$. By Proposition 2.3.8, we also know $Y_*^m \subset D_m$ for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Concretely, $X_*^n \subset D_n$ for every $n \leq r$. Therefore, $H(\{D_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}, t) = \{D_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in V$ when $t \in [0, 1)$ and $H(\{D_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}, 1) = \{Y_*^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in V$. Thus, $U \times I$ satisfies that $H(U \times I) \subset V$.

We update the example introduced in Section 2.2 with the theory developed in this section. Since the elements of \mathcal{X}_* have a constructive description, they can be computed.

Example 2.3.15. We study the elements of the inverse limit of the FASO constructed in Example 2.2.4 for S^1 . By construction, we have that $A_n \subset A_{n+1}$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We study two cases to get a description of \mathcal{X}_* . Firstly, we show one useful property.

<u>Assertion.</u> If $a_k^n, a_{k+1}^n \in A_n$, where $k, k+1 \in \{0, 1, ..., 2^{3n-4}-1\}$, then a_k^n and a_{k+1}^n are in an arc of S^1 formed by two consecutive points $a_l^{n-1}, a_{l+1}^{n-1} \in A_{n-1}$ for some l such that the length of the arc is $\frac{\pi}{2^{3(n-1)-5}}$.

Proof. We can determine l solving the following equation: $\frac{2\pi k}{2^{3n-4}} = \frac{2\pi l}{2^{3n-7}}$. Then, $l = \frac{k}{2^3}$. We have two possibilities:

- $l \in \mathbb{N}$, which implies that $a_k^n \in A_{n-1}$ and the result follows easily.
- l is not a natural number. We define l^* as the integer part of l. We will check that $a_{l^*}^{n-1}, a_{l^*+1}^{n-1} \in A_{n-1}$ are the desired points. We know that k = 8a + r for some a and r < 8. Therefore,

$$\frac{2\pi(k+1)}{2^{3n-4}} = \frac{2\pi m}{2^{3n-7}} \Rightarrow m = \frac{k+1}{8} = a + \frac{r+1}{8}$$

If $\frac{r+1}{8}$ is an integer, we are in the first case. We suppose that it is not an integer number. Then, $\frac{r+1}{8} < 1$ and the integer part of m is exactly l^* .

If $x \in X$, then $\{X_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ can only be of two different forms.

<u>Case 1</u>: $x \in S^1$ satisfying that $x = a_s^n \in A_n$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, $a_s^n \in A_m$ for every m satisfying $n \leq m$. We want to describe $\varphi(x) = \{X_*^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. On the one hand, it is clear that $A_m(a_s^n) = a_s^n$ for every $m \ge n$. On the other hand, $q_{m,m+1}(A_{m+1}(a_s^n)) =$ $q_{m,m+1}(a_s^n) = \mathcal{B}(a_s^n, \epsilon_m) \cap A_m = a_s^n$ for every $m \ge n$ because $d(a_s^n, A_m \setminus \{a_s^n\}) = \epsilon_m$. From here, we can deduce that $X_*^m = \{a_s^n\}$ for every $m \ge n$. We study X_*^m with m < n. By the previous observation, $q_{m,t}(A_t(a_s^n)) = q_{m,n}(a_s^n)$ if t > n. Clearly, a_s^n is between two consecutive points $a_{k}^{n-1}, a_{k+1}^{n-1} \in A_{n-1}$. Therefore, $q_{n-1,n}(a_s^n) = \{a_k^{n-1}, a_{k+1}^{n-1}\}$. By the previous assertion, a_k^{n-1} and a_{k+1}^{n-1} are between two consecutive points $a_k^{n-2}, a_{k+1}^{n-2} \in A_{n-2}$ so $q_{n-2,n-1}(\{a_k^{n-1}, a_{k+1}^{n-1}\}) = \{a_k^{n-2}, a_{k+1}^{n-2}\}$. Thus, we can deduce that $X_*^m = \{a_k^m, a_{k+1}^m\}$ for every m < n and $m \neq 1$ because $X^1_* = \{e^{2\pi i}\}$. In Figure 2.3.2 we present a schematic draw of the above description.

$$\{X_*^n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} = (\{e^{2\pi i}\}, \{a_k^1, a_{k+1}^1\}, \{a_k^2, a_{k+1}^2\}, \dots, \{a_k^{n-1}, a_{k+1}^{n-1}\}, \{a_s^n\}, \{a_s^n\}, \dots\})$$

<u>Case 2</u>: $x \in S^1$ such that $x \notin A_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We are interested in the following property: for every n there exists m > n such that $A_m(x) \notin A_{m-1}$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose $A_m(x) \in A_{n+1}$ for every m > n, which implies $x \in A_{n+1}$ and then a contradiction. By Proposition 2.3.4, we know that for each n there exists $n_* > n$ such that $\{X_*^n\} = q_{n,m}(A_m(x))$ for every $m > n_*$. On the other hand, there exists $s > n_*$ with $A_s(x) \notin A_{s-1}$ and $\{X_*^n\} = q_{n,s}(A_s(x))$. We get that $A_s(x)$ is at most two consecutive points $a_k^s, a_{k+1}^s \in A_s$. Furthermore, by the previous property, a_k^s, a_{k+1}^s are between two consecutive points $a_k^{s-1}, a_{k+1}^{s-1} \in A_{s-1}$. Hence, $q_{s-1,s}(\{a_k^s, a_{k+1}^s\}) = \{a_k^{s-1}, a_{k+1}^{s-1}\}$. Thus, we can deduce that $X_*^n = \{a_k^n, a_{k+1}^n\}$ where $a_k^n, a_{k+1}^n \in A_n$ and x lies in the arc formed by a_k^n and a_{k+1}^n . In Figure 2.3.1 we present a schematic draw of the above description.



Figure 2.3.1: Schematic situation when $x \notin$ A_n for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.



Figure 2.3.2: Schematic situation when x is equal to $a_n \in A_n$ but $x \notin A_{n-1}$.

Uniqueness of the FASO constructed for a compact met-2.4ric space and relations with other constructions

Let (X, d) be a compact metric space. Then a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ for X is not unique since it depends on the values of ϵ_n and the points of A_n that we chose. We also know that the main results obtained in Section 2.3 do not depend on the points chosen. A FASO $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ for X can be seen as an object of pro-*HTop* because $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ is an inverse sequence of finite T_0 topological spaces.

Theorem 2.4.1. Let (X,d) be a compact metric space. If $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ is a FASO for X and $(\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$ is a different FASO for X, then $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ and $(\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$ are isomorphic in pro-HTop.

Proof. Firstly, we define a candidate to be an isomorphism. We consider $I : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ given by $I(n) = \min\{l \in \mathbb{N} | \delta_l < \frac{\epsilon_n}{16}\}$ and $I_n : \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{I(n)}}(B_{I(n)}) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ given by $I_n(C) = \bigcup_{x \in C} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n) \cap A_n$. We prove that (I_n, I) is a morphism in pro-*HTop*. For simplicity, we omit some subscripts when there is no confusion.

We prove that I_n is well-defined for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Suppose $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{I(n)}}(B_{I(n)})$. If $x, y \in I_n(C)$, then there exist $a_x, a_y \in C$ such that $x \in I_n(a_x)$ and $y \in I_n(a_x)$. We obtain that $d(x, a_x), d(y, a_y) < \epsilon_n$. We also have that $diam(C) < 4\delta_{I(n)} < \frac{\epsilon_n}{4}$, which implies that

$$d(x,y) < d(x,a_x) + d(a_x,y) + d(a_y,y) < \epsilon_n + \frac{\epsilon_n}{4} + \epsilon_n < 4\epsilon_n.$$

Thus, I_n is well-defined for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The continuity of I_n follows trivially because I_n clearly preserves the order. Now, we check that for every $m \ge n$, where $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, the following diagram is commutative up to homotopy.

$$\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{I(n)}}(B_{I(n)}) \xleftarrow{q_{I(n),I(m)}} \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{I(m)}}(B_{I(m)})$$

$$\downarrow^{I_n} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{I_m}$$

$$\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n) \xleftarrow{q_{n,m}} \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_m}(A_m)$$

Suppose $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{I(m)}}(B_{I(m)})$. If $x \in I_n(q(C))$, then there exist $a_x \in B_{I(n)}, b_x \in C$ satisfying that $a_x \in q(b_x)$ and $x \in I_n(a_x)$. Therefore, $d(b_x, a_x) < 2\delta_{I(n)} < \frac{\epsilon_n}{8}$ and $d(a_x, x) < \epsilon_n$. If $y \in q(I_m(C))$, then there exist $a_y \in A_m$, $b_y \in C$ such that $y \in q(a_y)$ and $a_y \in I_m(b_y)$. We get $d(y, a_y) < 2\epsilon_n$ and $d(a_y, b_y) < \epsilon_m < \frac{\epsilon_n}{2}$. We know $d(b_y, b_x) < 4\delta_{I(m)} < \frac{\epsilon_m}{4} < \frac{\epsilon_n}{8}$. Hence,

$$d(x,y) < d(x,a_x) + d(a_x,b_x) + d(b_x,b_y) + d(b_y,a_y) + d(a_y,y) <\epsilon_n + \frac{\epsilon_n}{8} + \frac{\epsilon_n}{8} + \frac{\epsilon_n}{2} + 2\epsilon_n < 4\epsilon_n.$$

We can conclude that $diam(I_n(q(C)) \cup q(I_m(C))) < 4\epsilon_n$ for every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{I(m)}}(B_{I(m)})$. Thus, $I_n \circ q \cup q \circ I_m : \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{I(m)}}(B_{I(m)}) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ is well-defined, continuous and satisfies $I_n(q(C)), q(I_m(C)) \subset I_n(q(C)) \cup q(I_m(C))$ for every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{I(m)}}(B_{I(m)})$. From here, we get that the previous diagram is commutative up to homotopy.

We consider $T : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ given by $T(n) = \min\{l \in \mathbb{N} | \epsilon_l < \frac{\delta_n}{16}\}$ and $T_n : \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{T(n)}}(A_{T(n)}) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(B_n)$ given by $T_n(C) = \bigcup_{x \in C} \mathcal{B}(x, \delta_n) \cap B_n$. It suffices to repeat the same arguments used before to get that (T_n, T) is a well-defined morphism in pro-HTop.

We prove that $(T_n, T) \circ (I_n, I)$ is homotopic to $(id_{\delta}, id) : (\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n(B_n)}, q_{n,n+1}) \to (\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n(B_n)}, q_{n,n+1})$, where (id_{δ}, id) denotes the identity morphism.

We consider $m \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying that m > I(T(n)). Hence, we need to show that the following diagram is commutative up to homotopy, where *id* denotes the identity map.

$$\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{T(n)}}(A_{T(n)}) \xleftarrow{I_{T(n)}} \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{I(T(n))}}(B_{I(T(n))}) \xleftarrow{q_{I(T(n)),m}} \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_m}(B_m) \xrightarrow{q_{n,m}} \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(B_n)$$

Suppose that $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_m}(B_m)$. If $x \in q(C)$, then there exists $c_x \in C$ such that $x \in q(c_x)$ and $d(x, c_x) < 2\delta_n$. If $y \in T(I(q(C)))$, then there exist $a_y \in A_{T(n)}$, $b_y \in B_{I(T(n))}$ and $c_y \in C$ such that $y \in T(a_y)$, $a_y \in I(b_y)$, $b_y \in q(c_y)$. Therefore, $d(y, a_y) < \delta_n$, $d(a_y, b_y) < d_n$ $\epsilon_{I(n)} < \frac{\delta_n}{16}, d(b_y, c_y) < 2\delta_{I(T(n))} < \frac{\epsilon_{I(n)}}{8} < \frac{\delta_n}{128}.$ On the other hand, $diam(C) < 4\delta_m$ and $d(c_x, c_y) < 4\delta_m < 2\delta_{I(T(n))} < \frac{\delta_n}{128}$, which implies

$$\begin{split} d(x,y) <& d(x,c_x) + d(c_x,c_y) + d(c_y,b_y) + d(b_y,a_y) + d(a_y,y) \\ <& 2\delta_n + \frac{\delta_n}{128} + \frac{\delta_n}{128} + \frac{\delta_n}{16} + \delta_n < 4\delta_n. \end{split}$$

We get $diam(T(I(q(C))) \cup q(C)) < 4\delta_n$ for every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_m}(B_m)$. Thus, $h = T \circ I \circ q \cup q : \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_m}(B_m) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(B_n)$ is a well-defined and continuous map. Furthermore, $I(I(q(C))), q(C) \subset h(C)$ for every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_m}(B_m)$, which implies that the diagram is commutative up to homotopy.

Repeating the same arguments, it can be deduced that $(I_n, I) \circ (T_n, T)$ is homotopic to the identity morphism $(id_{\epsilon}, id) : (\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1}) \to (\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1}).$

We study the relations between the inverse sequences considered throughout this chapter as objects of pro-*HTop*. Given a compact metric space (X, d), it can be considered the FAS or Main Construction $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ for X. We consider the opposite order for each term of this inverse sequence. Then we can compare this inverse sequence with a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$ for X.

Theorem 2.4.2. Given a compact metric space (X, d). If $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ is a FAS for X, where each term is considered with the opposite order, then every FASO $(\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$ for X is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ in pro-HTop.

Proof. It is easy to show that $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ is a FASO for X. By Theorem 2.4.1, $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$. Therefore, it suffices to show that $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$.

We have a natural inclusion $i_n : \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon}(A_n) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon}(A_n)$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The following diagram is commutative up to homotopy due to the fact that $p(i(C)) \subseteq i(q(C))$ for every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n)$.

Then, we have a level morphism between the two inverse sequences considered. For every m > n we define $g_n : \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_m}(A_m) \to \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ given by

$$g_n(C) = \overline{\mathcal{B}}(C, \gamma_n) \cap A_n = \bigcup_{x \in C} \overline{\mathcal{B}}(x, \gamma_n) \cap A_n$$

where $\overline{\mathcal{B}}(x, \gamma_n)$ denotes the closed ball of radius γ_n and $\gamma_n = \sup\{d(x, A_n) | x \in X\}$. We prove that g_n is well-defined. If $x, y \in g_n(C)$, then there exist $c_x, c_y \in C$ with $x \in g_n(c_x), y \in g_n(c_y)$. We obtain that $d(x, c_x), d(y, c_y) \leq \gamma_n$. We also know that $diam(C) < 4\epsilon_m$, which implies $d(c_x, c_y) < 4\epsilon_m < 2\epsilon_n - 2\gamma_n$. Therefore,

$$d(x,y) < d(x,c_x) + d(c_x,c_y) + d(c_y,y) < \gamma_n + 2\epsilon_n - 2\gamma_n + \gamma_n = 2\epsilon_n.$$

The continuity of g_n for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ follows trivially. Since $g_n(i(C)) \subset p(C)$ and $q(C) \subset i(g_n(C))$, we get that $g_n \circ i$ is homotopic to p and q is homotopic to $i \circ g_n$. By Theorem 1.2.5, we get the desired result.

From Theorem 2.4.2 and Theorem 2.1.8 we get the following the result. If the Mc-Cord functor \mathcal{K} is applied to a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ for X, then a *HPol*-expansion of X is obtained. On the other hand, given a compact metric space (X, d) and a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ for X. We can consider a decreasing sequence of positive real values $\{\tau_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in the hypothesis of Remark 2.2.2, which is clearly less restrictive. For every $n\in\mathbb{N}$ we consider a τ_n -approximation B_n for X. We get an inverse sequence $(\mathcal{U}_{4\tau_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$. Repeating the same arguments used in the proof of Theorem 2.4.1, we can prove that $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}_{4\tau_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$. This result is important for computational reasons because we can drop a hard hypothesis to check, i.e., it is not necessary to compute $\gamma_n = \sup\{d(x, A_n) | x \in X\}$. Removing this hypothesis, we cannot expect to get Theorem 2.3.12 and Theorem 2.3.14. This is due to the fact that $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ and $(\mathcal{U}_{4\tau_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$ are just isomorphic in pro-*HTop* and not in pro-*Top*. Since both inverse sequences are isomorphic in pro-HTop, if follows that $(\mathcal{U}_{4\tau_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$ serves to approximate algebraic invariants such as the homology groups. If we apply the homology functor to $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ and $(\mathcal{U}_{4\tau_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$, then we get two inverse sequences of groups that are isomorphic in the pro-category of groups. This means that both inverse limits are isomorphic. Thus, the new inverse sequence can be used to approximate or get the Cech homology groups of X. For the case X is a CW-complex the singular homology groups and Cech homology groups are the same.

Thus, we have a method to reconstruct homology groups. In the following proposition we sum up the previous comments.

Proposition 2.4.3. Let X be a compact metric space and let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exists an inverse sequence $(\mathcal{U}_{4\tau_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$, where $\tau_{n+1} \leq \frac{\tau_n}{2}$ and A_n is a τ_n -approximation for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, satisfying that the inverse limit of $(H_m(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)), q_{n,n+1*})$ is isomorphic to $\check{H}_m(X)$.

Remark 2.4.4. Similarly, we can use other functors to reconstruct other groups. For instance, shape groups or Čech cohomology groups.

Given a compact polyhedron K, we can obtain an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces using the theory developed or we can apply the construction given in [31]. Let $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ denote this construction, where X^n denotes the *n*-th finite barycentric subdivision of $\mathcal{X}(K)$ with the opposite order and $h_{n,n+1}$ is the natural map considered in Subsection 1.1.4.

Theorem 2.4.5. Let K be a compact polyhedron. If $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ is a FASO for K, then there is a natural morphism $(i_n, id) : (X^n, h_{n,n+1}) \to (\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}, q_{n,n+1})$ in pro-HTop.

Proof. We construct a new FASO $(\mathcal{U}_{4\sigma_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$ for K and a morphism (i_n, id) : $(X^n, h_{n,n+1}) \to (\mathcal{U}_{4\sigma_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$. Hence, by Theorem 2.4.1, we get the desired result.

We start taking $\sigma_1 > diam(K)$, B_1 is the set of vertices of K and $X^1 = \mathcal{X}(K)$. We consider $\delta_1 = \sup\{d(x, B_1) | x \in K\}$ and $\sigma_2 < \frac{\sigma_1 - \delta_1}{2}$. Applying barycentric subdivisions of K, we obtain that there exists $t_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that the set of vertices of K^{t_2} is a σ_2 approximation B_2 of K, $X^2 = \mathcal{X}(K^{t_2})$ is a subposet of $\mathcal{U}_{4\sigma_2}(B_2)$ and $q_{2,1} \circ i \geq i \circ h_{t_2,t_1}$, where i denotes the inclusion map with abuse of notation. We can deduce the last assertion using that the diameters of the simplices obtained after a barycentric subdivision are smaller than the original ones, see [60] or [100]. In Figure 2.4.1 there is an example of the situation described above.

Arguing inductively, we can obtain a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_{4\sigma_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$ for K such that X^{t_n} is a subposet of $\mathcal{U}_{4\sigma_n}(B_n)$. The set $\{t_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a cofinal subset of \mathbb{N} . Then, $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ is



Figure 2.4.1: Representation of the simplicial complex L and Hasse diagrams of $\mathcal{X}(L)$ and $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(\{A, B, C, D\})$.

isomorphic to $(X^{t_n}, h_{n,n+1}, \{t_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}})$ in pro-*HTop*. We have that the following diagram commutes up to homotopy.



Remark 2.4.6. In general, the continuous inclusion $i: X^{t_n} \to \mathcal{U}_{4\sigma_n}(B_n)$ considered in the proof of Theorem 2.4.5 is not a homotopy equivalence. From Example 2.7.5 we can deduce that X^{t_n} and $\mathcal{U}_{4\sigma_n}(B_n)$ are not homotopy equivalent.

2.5 Computational aspects of a FASO for a compact metric space and implementation

We recall the notion of Vietoris-Rips complex, [108]. Given a finite set of points $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and a positive real value ϵ . The Vietoris-Rips complex is a simplicial complex given as follows $V_{\epsilon}(S) = \{\sigma \subseteq S | d(u, v) \leq \epsilon, \forall u \neq v \in \sigma\}$. In Figure 2.5.1 we have an example of a Vietoris-Rips complex. For a complete introduction, see for example [42].

Let us assume that X is a compact metric space embedded in \mathbb{R}^n for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Given an ϵ_n -approximation A_n , the problem of finding $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ is equivalent to construct the Vietoris-Rips complex $V_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$. This is due to the fact that $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ is the face poset of $V_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$, that is, $\mathcal{X}(V_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)) = \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$. Furthermore, we get that $V_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ has the same weak homotopy type of $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ by Theorem 1.1.49. In [114], it is obtained an algorithm to get Vietoris-Rips complexes. Furthermore, it is also compared with other algorithms in terms of computational time. The experiments show that the algorithm introduced in [114] is the fastest. It is also important to observe that this algorithm has



Figure 2.5.1: A set of points $S \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ and Vietoris-Rips complex of S for some positive real value ϵ .

two phases. In the first one, the 1-skeleton of the Vietoris-Rips complex is constructed. Once it is obtained the 1-skeleton, the problem to obtain the entire simplicial complex is a combinatorial one and it is related to the computation of clique complexes. A clique is a set of vertices in a graph that induces a complete subgraph. A clique complex has the maximal cliques of a graph as its maximal simplices.

If we have computed $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ and $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1})$, then we need to get the map $q_{n,n+1}$. This problem is equivalent to a variation of a classical one in computational geometry, the ϵ -nearest neighborhood problem. Namely, given a set of points $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$, a point $q \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and a positive value ϵ , find the set $N = \{x \in S | d(x, y) < \epsilon\}$. This problem has been treated largely in the literature with different approaches, see for instance [52] or [8]. Using one of the previous algorithms it can be obtained $q_{n,n+1}$ over A_{n+1} . For the remaining points in $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1})$, the description of $q_{n,n+1}$ is purely combinatorial since it is the union of the images of the points obtained before.



Figure 2.5.2: Schematic description of $q_{n,n+1}(a_j)$, where $a_j \in A_{n+1}$.

Thus, if $X \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ for some $m \in \mathbb{N}$. we have the following steps:

- 1. Find a sequence of positive values $\{\epsilon_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and an ϵ_n -approximation A_n for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying the conditions required in the construction of a FASO for X.
- 2. Compute $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- 3. Obtain $q_{n,n+1}: \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1}) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

One possible approach to get the first step is to consider a sequence of grids. We have seen that the second step is equivalent to the construction of a Vietoris-Rips complex and the third step is equivalent to a classical problem in computational geometry. Then, combining classical algorithms we can obtain a FASO for a compact metric space embedded in \mathbb{R}^m .

Remark 2.5.1. Step 1 can be simplified using Remark 2.2.2 and Proposition 2.4.3. We lose information about X but we get a simpler algorithm.

The method proposed throughout this chapter can also be used for data analysis. Instead of having a compact metric space embedded in \mathbb{R}^n we could have just a set of points S in \mathbb{R}^n . Using the metric inherit from \mathbb{R}^n , we can speak about ϵ -approximations for the data set S. In this case, higher values of the inverse sequence tend to recover the data set as a disjoint union of points, i.e., there exists m such that for every $n \geq m$ we get $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n) = \{S\}$.

We present an easy example. We assume that we cannot get in a deterministic way the points of the approximation, that is, we can obtain data from experiments, or we only know that the data follow a distribution.

Example 2.5.2. We consider two squares,

$$D = \{0\} \times [0,2] \cup \{1\} \times [0,2] \cup [0,1] \times \{0\} \cup [0,1] \times \{1\} \cup [0,1] \times \{2\}$$

We can consider $\epsilon_n = \frac{1}{2^{2(n-1)}}$ by Remark 2.2.2 and Proposition 2.4.3. Suppose that the data that can be taken to approximate D follow a continuous uniform distribution. In Figure 2.5.3 we have the data obtained for the first observations, that is, A_1 , A_2 , A_3 and A_4 .



Figure 2.5.3: A_1, A_2, A_3 and A_4

We compute the dimensions of the homology groups of $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_i}(A_i)$ for i = 1, ..., 4, see Table 2.5.1. It seems that with a few steps we get a good representation of D at least from a homological viewpoint. On the other hand, we know that different choices of the sequence $\{\epsilon_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ or observations lead to the same results due to the results obtained in Section 2.4. In addition, Proposition 2.4.3 guarantees that this method is appropriate.

In Example 2.5.2 we can observe that the dimensions of the homology groups stabilize very soon. This can happen due to the good properties of the topological space D, which is a CW-complex. We provide an example for which this behavior does not happen.

Table 2.5.1: Dimensions of homology groups.

	H_0	H_1	H_2
$\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_1}(A_1)$	1	0	0
$\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_2}(A_2)$	1	2	0
$\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_3}(A_3)$	1	2	0
$\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_4}(A_4)$	1	2	0

Example 2.5.3. We consider the Cantor set $C \subset [0, 1]$. The exact construction is as follows. From the closed interval $E_1 = [0, 1]$, first remove the open interval $(\frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3})$ leaving $E_2 = [0, \frac{1}{3}] \cup [\frac{2}{3}, 1]$. From E_2 , delete the open intervals $(\frac{1}{9}, \frac{2}{9})$ and $(\frac{7}{9}, \frac{8}{9})$. E_3 is the remaining 4 closed intervals. From E_3 , remove middle thirds as before obtaining E_4 . Hence, $C = \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} E_i$. For a complete introduction and properties about the Cantor set C, see [101].

Again, it can be taken $\epsilon_n = \frac{1}{2^{2(n-1)}}$ by Remark 2.2.2 and Proposition 2.4.3. We will use as approximations the endpoints of the closed intervals that remain after removing open intervals. For example, $A_1 = \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}, 1\}$. We define A_n given by the endpoints of E_{n+1} . It is not difficult to show that the endpoints of the remaining closed intervals belong to C and are an ϵ_n -approximation for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We present in Figure 2.5.4 the first approximations, i.e., A_1 and A_2 .



Figure 2.5.4: A_1 and A_2 .

In Table 2.5.2 we present the dimensions of the homology groups for the first values of the sequence $\{\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$. It can be observed that if *n* increases, then the dimension of the 0-dimensional homology group for $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ increases. The previous behavior is expected since the Cantor set is a totally disconnected topological space. Therefore, in each step we are locating more components.

Table 2.5.2: Dimensions of homology groups.

	$ \mathcal{U}_1 $	\mathcal{U}_2	\mathcal{U}_3	\mathcal{U}_4	\mathcal{U}_5	\mathcal{U}_6	\mathcal{U}_7	\mathcal{U}_8
H_0	1	1	1	3	7	31	63	127
H_1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

The computations for Example 2.5.2 and Example 2.5.3 have been carried out by the software R.

2.6 New description of the shape theory

We use the theory developed earlier to establish a new description of shape theory based on [98] and [3]. Given a compact metric space X, we choose a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ for X. By Theorem 2.4.1, it makes sense to consider this choice. Then, for every compact metric space we can fix a FASO. Concretely, we have a map T that sends each compact metric space to an object in pro-*HTop*. We will show that the set of morphisms in pro-*HTop* between the FASOs for two compact metric spaces X and Y is in bijective correspondence with the set of shape morphisms between X and Y.

For technical reasons, every term of a FASO considered in this section has the natural order, that is, $A \leq B$ if and only if $A \subseteq B$. The reason to consider the natural order relies on the results that were recalled in Subsection 1.2.6. These results were obtained for the upper semifinite topology in hyperspaces. This topology coincides with the natural order for finite topological spaces. On the other hand, the main result also holds true if we consider the opposite order as we will see in Remark 2.6.8. Before giving the proof of the desired result, we prove technical propositions and lemmas.

Lemma 2.6.1. Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and let A be an ϵ -approximation of X. We consider the natural order in $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon}(A)$.

- 1. The map $p: X \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon}(A)$ given by $p(x) = \{a \in A | d(x, a) = d(x, A)\}$ is well-defined and continuous.
- 2. If $f, g : \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon}(Y) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon}(A)$ are continuous maps and $f \cup g$ given by $(f \cup g)(x) = f(x) \cup g(x)$ is well-defined, then $f \cup g$ is also continuous. Moreover, f is homotopic to $f \cup g$ and g is homotopic to $f \cup g$.

Proof. (1) The proof follows easily from [81, Lemma 2].

(2) The continuity is easy to check. Let x be a point of X. The minimal open neighborhood that contains $f(x) \cup g(x)$ also contains the minimal open neighborhoods of f(x) and g(x). Since f and g are continuous maps, there exist open sets W and Vcontaining x such that $f(W) \subseteq U_{f(x)}$ and $g(V) \subseteq U_{g(x)}$. From here, the continuity of $f \cup g$ at x follows trivially. For the second part, we consider $H : \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon}(Y) \times [0,1] \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon}(A)$ given by H(x,t) = f(x) if $t \in [0,1)$ and $H(x,t) = f(x) \cup g(x)$ if t = 1. We only need to check the continuity of H at points of the form (x,1), where $x \in X$. Let us consider $(x,1) \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon}(Y) \times [0,1]$. Since $f \cup g$ is continuous, there exists an open set V containing x such that $f(V) \cup g(V) \subseteq U_{f(x) \cup g(x)}$. Concretely, $f(V) \subseteq U_{f(x) \cup g(x)}$. Then, $V \times I$ is an open set of $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon}(Y) \times I$ containing x and satisfying that $H(V \times I) \subseteq U_{f(x) \cup g(x)}$, which implies the desired result. The proof to show that g is homotopic to $f \cup g$ is the same. \Box

Remark 2.6.2. Repeating similar arguments than the ones used in the second part of Lemma 2.6.1, it can be obtained the following: if $f, g: X \to U_{2\epsilon}(Y)$ are continuous maps such that $f \cup g$ is well-defined, then $f \cup g$ is continuous, f is homotopic to $f \cup g$ and g is homotopic to $f \cup g$.

In the following proposition, we get a constructive method to get a morphism in pro-HTop induced by the homotopy class of an approximative map.

Proposition 2.6.3. Let (X, d) and (Y, l) be compact metric spaces. If $[f] : X \to Y$ is the homotopy class of an approximative map, then there exists a natural morphism $T([\overline{f}]) : T(X) \to T(Y)$ in pro-HTop.

Proof. We fix notation, $T(X) = (\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ and $T(Y) = (\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(B_n), q_{n,n+1})$. Firstly, we prove that for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the map $r_n : \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(Y) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(B_n)$ given by

$$r_n(C) = \bigcup_{x \in C} \{b \in B_n | l(x, b) = l(x, B_n)\}$$

is well-defined and continuous. If $x, y \in r_n(C)$ for some $C \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(Y)$, then there exist $c_x, c_y \in C$ such that $x \in r_n(c_x)$ and $y \in r_n(c_y)$. We have $l(x, c_x), l(y, c_y) < \epsilon_n$ and $l(c_x, c_y) < 2\epsilon_n$. Hence, we get

$$l(x,y) < l(x,c_x) + l(c_x,c_y) + l(c_y,y) < \epsilon_n + 2\epsilon_n + \epsilon_n,$$

which implies that r_n is well-defined. By Lemma 1.2.24, we get that r_n is continuous since $r_n = p_{n|\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(Y)}^*$, where p_n is the continuous map considered in Lemma 2.6.1 and p_n^* denotes the extension of p_n to the hyperspace of Y defined in Lemma 1.2.24.

Now, we prove the commutativity up to homotopy of the following diagram, where i denotes the inclusion map.



We consider $C \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+1}}(Y)$. If $x \in q_{n,n+1}(r_{n+1}(C))$, then there exist $a_x \in B_{n+1}$, $b_x \in C$ such that $x \in q_{n,n+1}(a_x)$ and $a_x \in r_{n+1}(b_x)$. Therefore, we get,

$$l(x, b_x) < l(x, a_x) + l(a_x, b_x) < \epsilon_n + \frac{\epsilon_n}{2}.$$

If $y \in r_n(i(C))$, then there exists $b_y \in C$ such that $y \in r_n(b_y)$. Since $l(b_x, b_y) < 2\epsilon_{n+1} < \epsilon_n$, we have

$$l(x,y) < l(x,b_x) + l(b_x,b_y) + l(b_y,y) < \epsilon_n + \epsilon_n + \frac{\epsilon_n}{2} + \epsilon_n.$$

Thus, we have shown that $h = r_n \circ i \cup q_{n,n+1} \circ r_{n+1} : \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+1}}(Y) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n(B_n)}$ is welldefined. The continuity of h follows by Lemma 2.6.1. Again, by Lemma 2.6.1, we get the commutativity up to homotopy of the previous diagram.

Let us consider $f = f_k : X \to 2^Y_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in [\overline{f}]$. By Proposition 1.2.23, for every open neighborhood U of Y in 2^Y there exists n such that $U_{2\epsilon_n}(Y) \subseteq U$. By Definition 1.2.26, there exists s(n) such that f_m is homotopic to f_{m+1} in $U_{2\epsilon_n}(Y) \subseteq U$ for every $m \geq s(n)$. Let H denote the homotopy between $f_{s(n)}$ and $f_{s(n)+1}$. By Theorem 1.2.25, there exists $\gamma_n > 0$ such that $\overline{H}(\mathcal{U}_{\gamma_n}(X) \times I) \subseteq \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(Y)$. We also denote by f the map $f : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ given by $f(n) = \min\{l \in \mathbb{N} | 4\delta_l < \gamma_n\}$, it is clear that f is well-defined and satisfies that $f(n) \leq f(m)$ for every $n \leq m$ in \mathbb{N} . For every natural number n we consider $f_n : \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{f(n)}}(A_{f(n)}) \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(B_n)$ given by $f_n = r_n \circ f_{s(n)}^* \circ i$, where $f_{s(n)}^*$ denotes the extension of $f_{s(n)}$ to the hyperspace of X given in Lemma 1.2.24 and $i : \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{f(n)}}(B_n) \to \mathcal{U}_{\gamma_n}(X)$ denotes the inclusion. By construction, it is immediate to get that f_n is well-defined and continuous for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. To check that $(f_n, f) : T(x) \to T(Y)$ is a morphism in pro-HTop, we need to verify the commutativity up to homotopy of the following diagram.

We check the commutativity up to homotopy of the first square. We consider $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{f(n+1)}}(A_{f(n+1)})$. If $x \in i(q(C)) = q(C)$, then there exists $a_x \in C$ such that $x \in q(a_x)$, which implies $d(x, a_x) < 2\delta_{f(n)} < \frac{\gamma_n}{2}$. If $y \in i(i(C)) = C$, then $d(y, a_x) < 4\delta_{f(n+1)} < \frac{\gamma_n}{2}$. We get $d(x, y) < \gamma_n$. Therefore, $q(C) \subseteq q(C) \cup C$ for every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{f(n+1)}}(A_{f(n+1)})$, where $q \cup id : \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{f(n+1)}} \to \mathcal{U}_{\gamma_n}(X)$ is well-defined and continuous. By Lemma 2.6.1, the commutativity up to homotopy of the first square can be deduced. The second square is commutative up to homotopy by construction. The commutativity up to homotopy of the third square was proved at beginning.

If $g \in [\overline{f}]$, then we can repeat the same construction to get $(g_n, g) : T(X) \to T(Y)$. We prove that (f_n, f) is equivalent to (g_n, g) as morphisms in pro-*HTop*. To do this, given a natural number n we need to verify the commutativity up to homotopy of the following diagram for some $m \ge f(n), g(n)$.



We define $m = \max\{f(n), g(n)\}$. Without loss of generality, we can suppose that $\gamma_n \leq \tau_n$ and m = f(n). We study the commutativity up to homotopy of the first square. We consider $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_m}(A_m)$. We assume that $f(n) \neq g(n)$ since the other case follows trivially. If $y \in i(q(C)) = q(C)$, then there exists $a_y \in C$ such that $y \in q(a_y)$. We get $d(a_y, y) < 2\delta_{g(n)} < \frac{\tau_n}{2}$ and $d(x, a_y) < 4\delta_{f(n)} < 2\delta_{g(n)} < \frac{\tau_n}{2}$ for every $x \in C$. Thus, we have

$$d(x,y) < d(a_x,a_y) + d(a_y,y) < \tau_n$$

and $i \circ q \cup i \circ i : \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{f(n)}}(A_{f(n)}) \to \mathcal{U}_{\tau_n}(X)$ is well-defined. By Lemma 2.6.1, we get the desired result. The commutativity up to homotopy of the second square follows due to the fact that f and g are homotopic approximative maps by Theorem 1.2.25 and the choice of s(n) and h(n). For every $m \geq s(n), h(n)$ we have that $f_{s(n)}$ is homotopic to f_m in $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(Y)$ and $g_{h(n)}$ is homotopic to g_m in $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(Y)$. The third square commutes trivially. \Box

We obtain a method to get a homotopy class of an approximative map from a morphism in pro-HTop between two FASOs.

Proposition 2.6.4. Let (X, d) and (Y, l) be compact metric spaces. If $(f_n, f) : T(X) \to T(Y)$ is a morphism in pro-HTop, then there exists a natural homotopy class of an approximative map $E(f_n) : X \to Y$ induced by (f_n, f) .

Proof. We fix notation, $T(X) = (\mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(A_n), q_{n,n+1})$ and $T(Y) = (\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n(B_n)}, q_{n,n+1})$. Firstly, we consider $p_n : X \to \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(A_n)$ given by $p_n(x) = \{a \in A | d(x, a) = d(x, A)\}$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, that is, the continuous map considered in Lemma 2.6.1. We prove that the following diagram commutes up to homotopy.



If $a_x \in p(q(x))$, then there exists $b_x \in A_{n+1}$ with $a_x \in p(b_x)$ and $b_x \in p(x)$. Hence, $d(x, b_x) < \delta_{n+1} < \frac{\delta_n}{2}$ and $d(a_x, b_x) < \delta_n$. If $c_x \in p(x)$, then we get $d(x, c_x) < \delta_n$. Thus,

$$d(c_x, a_x) < d(c_x, x) + d(x, b_x) + d(b_x, a_x) < 3\delta_n,$$

which implies that $q_{n,n+1} \circ p_{n+1} \cup p_n : X \to \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_n}(A_n)$ is well-defined. Applying Lemma 2.6.1, we get that the diagram commutes up to homotopy.

We construct the candidate to be an approximative map. We consider $F = \{F_k : X \to 2^Y\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ given by $F_k = f_k \circ p_{f(k)} : X \to \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_k}(B_k)$. For every open neighborhood U of the canonical copy of Y in 2^Y , there exists $4\epsilon_m$ such that $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_m}(B_m) \subset \mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_m}(Y) \subseteq U$ by Proposition 1.2.23. To prove that F is an approximative map we only need to check that F_m is homotopic to F_{m+1} in U, which is equivalent to show the commutativity up to homotopy of the following diagram.

The commutativity up to homotopy of the first square follows from the commutativity up to homotopy of the diagram at the beginning. The second square commutes up to homotopy since (f_n, f) is a morphism in pro-*HTop*. Thus, we deduce that F is an approximative map. We denote by $E(f_n)$ the homotopy class generated by the approximative map F. We verify that E is well-defined, that is, if (g_n, g) is equivalent to (f_n, f) as morphisms in pro-*HTop*, then the induced approximative map $G = \{G_k = g_k \circ p_{f(k)} : X \to 2^Y\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is homotopic to $F = \{F_k = f_k \circ p_{f(k)} : X \to 2^Y\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$.

For every open neighborhood U of Y in 2^Y there exists $4\epsilon_n$ such that $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(Y) \subseteq U$ by Proposition 1.2.23. By hypothesis, for every n there exists $m \geq f(n), g(n)$ such that $f_n \circ q_{f(n),m}$ is homotopic to $g_n \circ q_{g(n),m}$. We have the following diagram.



It is clear that every square commutes up to homotopy. From here, we obtain the desired result. $\hfill \Box$

Lemma 2.6.5. Let (X,d) and (Y,l) be compact metric spaces. If $[\overline{f}] : X \to Y$ is the homotopy class of an approximative map, then $E(T([\overline{f}])) = [\overline{f}]$.

Proof. Let $\overline{f} = {\overline{f}_k : X \to 2^Y}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ denote the approximative map that generates $[\overline{f}]$. We consider a representative (f_n, f) of $T([\overline{f}])$ induced by \overline{f} and a representative $\overline{f}' = {\overline{f}'_k : X \to 2^Y}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ of $E(T(f_n))$ induced by (f_n, f) . Then, $\overline{f}'_k = f_k \circ p_{f(k)}$, where $f_k = r_k \circ \overline{f}^*_{s(k)} \circ i$, see the proof of Proposition 2.6.3. For every open neighborhood U of Y in 2^Y there exists

 $\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(Y) \subseteq U$ by Proposition 1.2.23. We check that the following diagram is commutative up to homotopy.



Let $x \in X$, we know that $diam(\overline{f}_{s(n)}(x)) < 2\epsilon_n$. We have $d(x,a) < \delta_{f(n)} < \gamma_n$ for every $a \in p(x)$. Thus, $2\epsilon_n > diam(\overline{f}_{s(n)}^*(i(p(x)) \cup \{x\})) = diam(\overline{f}_{s(n)}^*(i(p(x))) \cup \overline{f}_{s(n)}(x))$ so $h = \overline{f}_{s(n)} \cup \overline{f}_{s(n)}^* \circ i \circ p_{f(n)} : X \to \mathcal{U}_{\epsilon_n}(Y)$ is continuous and well-defined. In addition, $\overline{f}_{s(n)}(x), \overline{f}_{s(n)}^*(i(p_{f(n)}(x))) \subseteq h(x)$ for every $x \in X$. By Remark 2.6.2, we get the commutativity up to homotopy of the first square. It is clear that $diam(i(C) \cup r_n(C)) < 4\epsilon_n$ for every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(Y)$. Therefore, we can repeat the previous argument to show that r_n is homotopic to i.

By construction and hypothesis, for every $m \ge s(n)$, n we have that \overline{f}_m is homotopic to $\overline{f}_{s(n)}$ in U and \overline{f}'_n is homotopic to \overline{f}'_m in U, which implies the desired result. \Box

Lemma 2.6.6. Let (X, d) and (Y, l) be compact metric spaces. If $(f_n, f) : T(X) \to T(Y)$ is a morphism in pro-HTop, then $T(E(f_n)) = (f_n, f)$.

Proof. We consider a representative (f'_n, f') of $E(T(f_n))$, where (f'_n, f') is induced by an approximative map F induced by (f_n, f) . Given $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we need to verify that for every $l \geq f'(n), f(n)$ the following diagram commutes up to homotopy.



Without loss of generality, we can assume that f'(n) > f(n). Then, we need to check the commutativity up to homotopy of the following diagram, where $h = (f_{s(n)} \circ p_{f(s(n))})^*$.



By construction, $h(C) = \bigcup_{c \in C} f_{s(n)}(p_{f(s(n))}(c))$ for every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{4\delta_{f'(n)}}(A_{f'(n)})$. We have $f'(n) \geq f(s(n))$ and $s(n) \geq n$. Then, it is easy to show that $q_{f'(n),f(s(n))}$ is homotopic to $p_{f(s(n))} \circ i$ because $p_{f(s(n))}(i(c)) \subseteq q_{f'(n),f(s(n))}(c)$ for every $c \in C$. In addition, r_n restricted to the image of $h \circ i$ is homotopic to $q_{s(n),n}$ because $r_n(a) \subseteq q_{s(n),n}(a)$. Since (f_n, f) is a morphism in pro-HTop, it follows the commutativity up to homotopy of the diagram. \Box

Theorem 2.6.7. Let (X, d) and (Y, l) be compact metric spaces. The set of shape morphisms between X and Y is in bijective correspondence with the set of morphisms in pro-HTop between T(X) and T(Y).

Proof. We consider the constructions made in Proposition 2.6.3 and Proposition 2.6.4. Thus, the result is an immediate consequence of Lemma 2.6.5 and Lemma 2.6.6. \Box

Remark 2.6.8. The result of Theorem 2.6.7 also holds true if the FASOs considered have the opposite order. This is due to the following fact. Let $(X_n, q_{n,n+1})$ and $(Y, p_{n,n+1})$ be inverse sequences of finite topological spaces. If $(f_n, f) : (X_n, q_{n,n+1}) \to (Y, p_{n,n+1})$ is a morphism in pro-HTop, then (f_n, f) is also a morphism in pro-HTop when it is considered the other possible partial order for every term of $(X_n, q_{n,n+1})$ and $(Y_n, p_{n,n+1})$.

We have obtained a computational description of shape theory based on finite topological spaces. From an algebraic point of view, it is not surprising to get this description since the homology and homotopy groups of finite posets are the same groups of simplicial complexes. Nevertheless, every finite topological space has trivial shape, see Proposition 2.8.1.

2.7 Core of an inverse sequence of finite spaces and an application to shape theory

For finite topological spaces there exists the notion of core, which was recalled in Subsection 1.1.2. We generalize this notion to inverse sequences of finite topological spaces.

Definition 2.7.1. Let $(X_n, t_{n,n+1})$ be an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces. The core of $(X_n, t_{n,n+1})$ is given by $(C_n, r_n \circ t_{n,n+1} \circ i_{n+1})$, where C_n is the core of X_n , $i_n : C_n \to X_n$ denotes the inclusion and $r_n : X_n \to C_n$ is a retraction satisfying $r_n \circ i_n = id_{C_n}$ and $i_n \circ r_n$ is homotopic to id_{X_n} . We say that $C(X_n, t_{n,n+1})$ is the core of $(X_n, t_{n,n+1})$.

Given a finite topological space X. If X^c denotes the core of X, then X and X^c are isomorphic in HTop. We prove the analogue result for an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces.

Theorem 2.7.2. Let $(X_n, q_{n,n+1})$ be an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces. Then $(X_n, q_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to $C(X_n, q_{n,n+1})$ in pro-HTop.

Proof. We fix notation, $C(X_n, q_{n,n+1}) = (C_n, h_{n,n+1})$, where $h_{n,n+1} = r_n \circ t_{n,n+1} \circ i_{n+1}$. There is a natural morphism in pro-*HTop* between $(C_n, h_{n,n+1})$ and $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ induced by the inclusions, that is, $i : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ is the identity map and $i_n : C_n \to X_n$ is the inclusion. It is trivial to check that (i_n, i) is a well-defined morphism since the following diagram is commutative up to homotopy.



Now, we construct a sequence $\{g_n : X_{n+1} \to C_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of continuous maps making the following diagram commutative up to homotopy.



For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we consider $g_n : X_{n+1} \to C_n$ given by $g_n = r_n \circ q_{n,n+1}$. By construction, we have $g_n \circ i_{n+1} = r_n \circ q_{n,n+1} \circ i_{n+1}$ and $h_{n,n+1} = r_n \circ q_{n,n+1} \circ i_{n+1}$, which implies the commutativity of the first triangle. We also have that $i_n \circ g_n = i_n \circ r_n \circ q_{n,n+1}$. Therefore, $i_n \circ g_n$ is homotopic to $q_{n,n+1}$ and we get the commutativity up to homotopy of the second triangle. By Theorem 1.2.5, we get the desired result.

Remark 2.7.3. Given an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces $(X_n, q_{n,n+1})$. Suppose L_n is a strong deformation retract of X_n for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Following the same arguments used before, we can obtain an inverse sequence where the terms are given by L_n . Repeating the proof of Theorem 2.7.2, it can be deduced that this new inverse sequence is isomorphic to $(X_n, q_{n,n+1})$ in pro-HTop.

Example 2.7.4. We consider $X = \{A, B\}$, where we declare that A < B. Let X^n denote the *n*-th finite barycentric subdivision of X, see Definition 1.1.66. We have a natural inverse sequence given by $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$, where $h_{n,n+1} : X^{n+1} \to X^n$ is the natural map considered in Subsection 1.1.4. It is easily seen that the core of X^n is homotopy equivalent to one point for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. This implies that $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to the rudimentary system given by one point. In Figure 2.7.1 we have an schematic representation.



Figure 2.7.1: Schematic illustration of the inverse sequence $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ and its core.

We can study the core of a FASO for a compact metric space X. We update the example introduced in Section 2.2.

Example 2.7.5. We get the core of the FASO obtained in Example 2.2.4.

Step 1. Since \mathcal{U}_1 has one element, it follows that $C_1 = \mathcal{U}_1$.

Step 2. We get that \mathcal{U}_2 is contractible because it has a minimum, which is $\{a_0^2, a_1^2, a_2^2, a_3^2\}$. Then, $C_2 = \{a_0^2, a_1^2, a_2^2, a_3^2\}$.

Step 3. We identify beat points of \mathcal{U}_3 . Then, we remove them one by one. The resulting topological space is C_3 . If x is of the form $\{a_i^3, a_{i+2}^3, a_{i+3}^3\}$ or $\{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3, a_{i+3}^3\}$, where $i \in \{0, ..., 31\}$ and the subindices are modulo 32, then x is a down beat point.

This is due to the fact that $U_x \setminus \{x\} = \{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3, a_{i+2}^3, a_{i+3}^3\}$. After removing these beat points, we get that $x_i = \{a_i^3, a_{i+2}^3\}$ and $y_i = \{a_i^3, a_{i+3}^3\}$, where $i \in \{0, ..., 31\}$ and the subindices are modulo 32, are down beat points because $U_{x_i} \setminus \{x_i\} = \{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3, a_{i+2}^3\}$ and $U_{y_i} \setminus \{y_i\} = \{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3, a_{i+2}^3, a_{i+3}^3\}$. There are no more beat points. Thus, C_3 consists of points of the form $\{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3, a_{i+2}^3, a_{i+3}^3\}$, $\{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3, a_{i+2}^3\}$, $\{a_i^3, a_{i+1}^3\}$ and $\{a_i^3\}$, where $i \in \{0, ..., 31\}$ and the subindices are modulo 32. In Figure 2.7.2 we present the Hasse diagram of the minimal closed set of \mathcal{U}_3 containing $\{a_0^3, a_1^3, a_2^3, a_3^3\} \in C_3$, where we have omitted the superscripts for simplicity.



Figure 2.7.2: Hasse diagram of the minimal closed set of \mathcal{U}_3 containing $\{a_0^3, a_1^3, a_2^3, a_3^3\} \in C_3$.

Step n. We continue in this fashion, that is, we identify beat points and then we remove them. If x is of the form $\{a_i^n, a_{i+2}^n, a_{i+3}^n\}$ or $\{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+3}^n\}$, where $i \in \{0, \dots, 2^{3n-4} - 1\}$ and the subindices are modulo 2^{3n-4} , then it is a down beat point. This is due to the fact that $U_x \setminus \{x\} = \{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+2}^n, a_{i+3}^n\}$. After removing these beat points, we get that $x_i = \{a_i^n, a_{i+2}^n\}$ and $y_i = \{a_i^n, a_{i+3}^n\}$, where $i \in \{0, \dots, 2^{3n-4} - 1\}$ and the subindices are modulo 2^{3n-4} , are down beat points since $U_{x_i} \setminus \{x_i\} = \{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+2}^n\}$ and $U_{y_i} \setminus \{y_i\} = \{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+2}^n, a_{i+3}^n\}$. There are no more beat points. Thus, C_n consists of points of the form $\{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+2}^n, a_{i+3}^n\}$, $\{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+2}^n\}$, $\{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n\}$ and $\{a_i^n\}$, where $i \in \{0, \dots, 2^{3n-4} - 1\}$ and the subindices are form $\{a_i^n, a_{i+1}^n, a_{i+2}^n, a_{i+3}^n\}$.

Given a compact metric space (X, d) and a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ or FAS $(\mathcal{U}_n, p_{n,n+1})$ for X. In general, the inverse limit of the core of $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ or $(\mathcal{U}_n, p_{n,n+1})$ does not preserve the good properties of the inverse limit of $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ or $(\mathcal{U}_n, p_{n,n+1})$. However, the core of an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces can be used to show that two compact metric spaces have the same shape. We give an example of this.

Example 2.7.6. We consider the computational model of the topologist's sine curve S, that is, we consider

$$\overline{b}_n = \left(\frac{1}{2^{2n-1}}, \frac{1}{2}\right) - \left(\frac{1}{2^{2n-2}}, \frac{1}{2}\right) \quad n \ge 1$$

$$\underline{b}_n = \left(\frac{1}{2^{2n}}, \frac{1}{2}\right) - \left(\frac{1}{2^{2n-1}}, 0\right) \quad n \ge 1,$$

$$a_n = \left(\frac{1}{2^n}, \frac{1}{2}\right) - \left(\frac{1}{2^n}, 0\right) \quad n \ge 0,$$

$$a_{\infty} = \left(0, \frac{1}{2}\right) - \left(0, 0\right),$$

where $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and (a, b) - (c, d) denotes the segment joining the point (a, b) with (c, d). Therefore,

$$S = a_{\infty} \cup (\bigcup_{n \ge 1} \overline{b}_n) \cup (\bigcup_{n \ge 1} \underline{b}_n) \cup (\bigcup_{n \ge 0} a_n).$$
In Figure 2.7.3 we present the computational topologist's sine curve. The metric is the one induced as a subspace of \mathbb{R}^2 . We construct a FAS for S and study at the same time its core.



Figure 2.7.3: The computational topologist's sine curve.

<u>Step 1.</u> The diameter of S is $\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}$, so we can consider $\epsilon_1 = \sqrt{5}$, $A_1 = \{(0, \frac{1}{4})\}$ and $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_1}(A_1) = A_1$. It is easy to check that $\gamma_1 = \frac{\sqrt{5}}{4}$.

Step 2. We consider $\epsilon_2 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2^3} < \frac{\epsilon_1 - \gamma_1}{2}$, the grid $G_2 = \{ (\frac{l}{2^{3-1}}, \frac{k}{2^{3-1}}) \in \mathbb{R}^2 | l, k \in \mathbb{Z} \}$ and the intersection of G_2 with S. There are two points in a_3 that are at distance ϵ_2 to $G_2 \cap S$, which are $b_1 = (\frac{1}{2^3}, \frac{1}{2^3})$ and $b_2 = (\frac{1}{2^3}, \frac{1}{2^3} + \frac{1}{2^2})$. If we add $(0, \frac{1}{2^3})$ and $(0, \frac{1}{2^3} + \frac{1}{2^2})$ to $G_2 \cap T$, then we get an ϵ_2 -approximation, i.e.,

$$A_2 = G_2 \cap S \cup \{(0, \frac{1}{2^3}), (0, \frac{1}{2^3} + \frac{1}{2^2})\}$$



Figure 2.7.4: ϵ_2 -approximation A_2 for S.

Figure 2.7.5: The set of points A'_2 in S.

We consider $B_2 = \{x \in A_2 | x \in \overline{b}_1 \setminus a_1 \text{ or } x \in a_0\}$, that is, the points of A_2 that lie to the right of a_1 . It is easy to observe that $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(A'_2)$ is a strong deformation retract of $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(A_2)$, where $A'_2 = A_2 \setminus B_2$. The last assertion is an immediate consequence of the construction we made of A_2 and the value that we have chosen for ϵ_2 . Suppose that $C \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(A_2)$ contains points of the approximation that lie in B_2 , i.e., C is of the form $C = \{e_k, e_{k+1}\}$

or $C = \{e_k\}$. Then $\{e_1\}$ is an up beat point because $F_{\{e_1\}} \setminus \{e_1\} = \{e_1, e_2\}$, so we can remove it without changing the homotopy type of $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(A_2)$. Now, $\{e_1, e_2\}$ is a down beat point since $U_{\{e_1, e_2\}} \setminus \{e_1, e_2\} = \{e_2\}$. Therefore, we can remove it without changing the homotopy type. We can proceed inductively to get the desired result. The point $\{e_5\}$ satisfies that $d(e_5, e_6), d(e_5, e_{10}) = \frac{1}{4} < 2\epsilon_2 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2^2}$. We get $\{e_5, e_6\}, \{e_5, e_{10}\} \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(A_2)$, which means that $\{e_5\}$ is not an up beat point. On the other hand, $\{e_5, e_6\}$ and $\{e_5, e_{10}\}$ are clearly not down beat points. A similar argument can be made with the rest of the points in A_2 that lie in a_1 . In addition, the map $p_{1,2}$ trivially sends every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A'_2)$ to A_1 . In Figure 2.7.4 we present A_2 . In Figure 2.7.5 we present A'_2 .

<u>Step 3.</u> It is easy to get that $\gamma_2 = \frac{1}{2^3}$. Then, we can choose $\epsilon_3 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2^6} < \frac{\epsilon_2 - \gamma_2}{2}$. We consider the grid $G_3 = \{(\frac{l}{2^{6-1}}, \frac{k}{2^{6-1}}) \in \mathbb{R}^2 | l, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ and the intersection of G_3 with S. There are 16 points that are at distance ϵ_3 to A_3 , these points lie in a_6 . Concretely,

$$\{(\frac{1}{2^6}, \frac{2k+1}{2^6})|k=0, 1, 2..., 15\}.$$

We add points of a_{∞} to get an ϵ_3 -approximation, i.e.,

$$A_2 = (G_3 \cap S) \cup \{(0, \frac{2k+1}{2^6}) | k = 0, 1, 2..., 15\}.$$

We consider $B_3 = \{x \in A_2 | x \in a_l \text{ with } l = 0, 1, 2, 3 \text{ or } x \in \overline{b}_i \text{ with } i = 1, 2 \text{ or } x \in \underline{b}_1 \text{ or } x \in \underline{b}_2 \setminus a_4 \}$, i.e., the points of A_3 that lie to the right of a_4 . Again, it is easy to observe that $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_3}(A'_3)$ is a strong deformation retract of $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_3}(A_3)$ where $A'_3 = A_3 \setminus B_3$. We enumerate from right to left the points of A_3 , see Figure 2.7.6. Then $\{e_1\}$ is only covered by $\{e_1, e_2\}$, so we can remove it. Now, $\{e_1, e_2\}$ only covers $\{e_2\}$, so it is a down beat point and we can remove it. If we continue in this fashion, we get the desired result. If x is a point of A_3 that lie in a_4 , then it satisfies that there exists another point in a_5 and a_4 that are at distance less than $2\epsilon_3$. If $C \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_3}(A'_3)$, then C contains points lying in a_4 or a_5 . In Figure 2.7.7 we have A'_3 .



Figure 2.7.6: ϵ_3 -approximation A_3 for S.

Figure 2.7.7: The set of points A'_3 in S.

Furthermore, the image of the map $p_{2,3}: \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_3}(A'_3) \to \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(A_2)$ is $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(\overline{A}_2) \subset \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(A'_2)$, where $\overline{A}_2 = \{x \in A_2 | x \in a_\infty\}$. On the other hand, $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(\overline{A}_2)$ is contractible to $\{(0, \frac{1}{4})\}$. We have that $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(\overline{A}_2))$ is strong collapsible. Therefore, we obtain the desired result after applying Theorem 1.1.53. In Figure 2.7.8 we present the McCord complex of $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_1}(\overline{A}_1)$, $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_1}(\overline{A}_1)$ and $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_1}(\overline{A}_1)$.

<u>Step n.</u> We consider $\epsilon_n = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2^{3n-3}}$, the grid $G_n = \{(\frac{l}{2^{3n-4}}, \frac{k}{2^{3n-4}}) \in \mathbb{R}^2 | l, k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ and the intersection of G_n with S. There are 2^{3n-5} points that lie in a_{3n-3} such that the distance to $G_n \cap S$ is exactly ϵ_n . If we add the following points to $G_n \cap S$, then we get an



Figure 2.7.8: $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_1}(\overline{A}_1)), \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(\overline{A}_2))$ and $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_3}(\overline{A}_3))$.

 ϵ_n -approximation

$$A_n = (G_n \cap S) \cup \{(0, \frac{2k+1}{2^{3n-3}}) | k = 0, 1..., 2^{3n-4} - 1\}.$$

Moreover, $\gamma_n = \frac{1}{2^{3n-3}}$. It is simple to show that $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ is homotopy equivalent to $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A'_n)$, where $A'_n = A_n \setminus B_n$ and B_n consists of points in A_n that lie to the right of a_{3n-5} .

In addition, $p_{n-1,n}$ sends $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A'_n)$ to $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n-1}}(\overline{A}_{n-1}) \subset \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n-1}}(A_{n-1})$, where $\overline{A}_{n-1} = \{x \in A_{n-1} | x \in a_\infty\}$. The McCord complex $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n-1}}(\overline{A}_{n-1}))$ is strong collapsible, so it can be deduced that $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n-1}}(\overline{A}_{n-1})$ is contractible to $\{(0, \frac{1}{4})\}$.

Inverse limit. We have constructed a FAS $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A'_n), \overline{p}_{n,n+1})$ that is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ due to Remark 2.7.3. We denote by \mathcal{S} the inverse limit of $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A'_n), \overline{p}_{n,n+1})$. If $\{D_n\} \in \mathcal{S}$, then we have that $D_n \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(\overline{A}_n)$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ because the image of $\overline{p}_{n,n+1}$ is precisely $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(\overline{A}_n)$; otherwise we would not have $\overline{p}_{n,n+1}(D_{n+1}) = D_n$. On the other hand, $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(\overline{A}_n), p^*_{n,n+1})$ is a FAS for $a_{\infty} = [0, \frac{1}{2}]$, where $p^*_{n,n+1}$ is the restriction of $\overline{p}_{n,n+1}$ to $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+1}}(\overline{A}_{n+1})$. Therefore, it is easy to check that \mathcal{S} and the inverse limit of $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(\overline{A}_n), p^*_{n,n+1})$ (FAS for interval $[0, \frac{1}{2}]$) are the same. Nevertheless, the topologist's sine curve and the interval $[0, \frac{1}{2}]$ does not have the same homotopy type, which implies that the inverse limits considered before does not have the same homotopy type.

Shape of the topologist's sine curve. By Theorem 2.4.2 we have that every FASO for S is isomorphic to the previous FAS for S, where we are taking the opposite order. By previous arguments, the FAS for S is isomorphic to a FAS for the interval $[0, \frac{1}{2}]$. Again, every FASO for $[0, \frac{1}{2}]$ is isomorphic to the previous FAS for $[0, \frac{1}{2}]$. Thus, we get that the shape of S and $[0, \frac{1}{2}]$ is the same by Theorem 2.6.7.

Remark 2.7.7. Example 2.7.6 illustrates a way to use this theory to the study of the shape of a compact metric space.

2.8 Categories *SW* and *SH*

Shape theory serves to classify compact Hausdorff spaces but does not work properly for topological spaces with poor separation axioms such as finite topological spaces.

Proposition 2.8.1. If X is a connected finite topological space, then X has trivial shape.

Proof. The result is an immediate consequence of the following: every continuous map from a connected finite topological space to a compact metric space is the constant map. We prove the last assertion. Suppose M is a compact metric space. If f is continuous at $x \in X$, then for every open neighborhood V of f(x) there exists an open neighborhood U of x satisfying $f(U) \subseteq V$. We consider a decreasing sequence of positive values $\{\epsilon_n\}$ satisfying that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \epsilon_n = 0$. Since U_x is a minimal open neighborhood for X, it follows that $f(U_x) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n)$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We have $\bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n) = \{f(x)\}$ and then $f(U_x) = f(x)$. Therefore, f is a locally constant map defined on a connected space, which implies that it is constant. From this, we get that the only HPol-expansion of X is the trivial one.

The idea of this section is to construct categories that serve to classify compact Hausdorff spaces by their shape and finite T_0 topological spaces by their weak homotopy type or homotopy type. Firstly, we construct an auxiliary category M. The objects of M are the finite T_0 topological spaces. If X and Y are objects of M, then we define $Mor(X,Y) = \{f : |\mathcal{K}(X)| \to |\mathcal{K}(Y)| | f$ is a continuous map $\}$. It is easy to check that M is a category. Let HM denote the homotopy category of M, that is, the objects of HM are the objects of M and the morphisms of HM are the homotopy classes of the morphisms of M. Again, it is trivial to check that HM is a category.

A finite cover of a compact topological space can be seen as a finite T_0 topological spaces since there is a natural partial order given by $U \leq V$ if and only if $U \subseteq V$. From now on, we will treat open covers as finite topological spaces without explicit mention.

Given a compact space X, we will associate to X an object of pro-HM. We consider $Cov(X) = \{\mathcal{U} \text{ is a finite open cover of } X \mid \mathcal{U} \text{ is basis-like } \}$. Let $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V} \in Cov(X)$. Then we say that $\mathcal{U} \geq_C \mathcal{V}$ if and only if \mathcal{U} refines \mathcal{V} and there exists a continuous map $p_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{U}} : \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{V}$ such that for every $U \in \mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{U}}(U)$ contains U. When there is no confusion, we will omit the subscript of $p_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{U}}$.

Example 2.8.2. Let us consider $X = [0,1] \times [0,1] \subset \mathbb{R}^2$. Let \mathcal{U} denote the open cover given by $U_1 = [0,1] \times [0,\frac{3}{4})$ and $U_2 = [0,1] \times (\frac{1}{4},1]$. Let \mathcal{V} denote the open cover given by U_1, U_2 and $U_3 = U_1 \cap U_2$. It is clear that $\mathcal{V} \not\geq_C \mathcal{U}$ because there is no continuous map $p: \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{U}$ satisfying that $U \subseteq p(\mathcal{U})$. In Figure 2.8.1 we present a schematic representation of the situation described above.



Figure 2.8.1: X, U, V and Hasse diagrams of U and V.

Remark 2.8.3. Let X be a finite T_0 topological space and let $\mathbb{B}(X) = \{U_x | x \in X\}$. Then $\mathbb{B}(X) \in Cov(X)$. In addition, it is easy to get that $\mathbb{B}(X)$ is homeomorphic to X. We have that $\varphi : \mathbb{B}(X) \to X$ given by $\varphi(U) = max(U)$ is a homeomorphism.

Proposition 2.8.4. Let X be a finite T_0 topological space. Then $\mathbb{B}(X) \geq_C \mathcal{U}$ for every $\mathcal{U} \in Cov(X)$. Moreover, if there exists $\mathcal{V} \in Cov(X)$ with $\mathcal{V} \geq_C \mathbb{B}(X)$, then \mathcal{V} is homotopy equivalent to $\mathbb{B}(X)$.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{U} \in Cov(X)$. It is trivial to check that $\mathbb{B}(X)$ refines \mathcal{U} , in fact, $\mathbb{B}(X)$ is a basis for the topology of X. We define $p : \mathbb{B}(X) \to \mathcal{U}$ as follows: $p(U_x)$ is the minimum open set in \mathcal{U} containing U_x . We prove that p is well-defined, i.e., $p(U_x)$ exists. Since $\mathbb{B}(X)$ refines \mathcal{U} , it follows that there exists at least one open set in \mathcal{U} that contains U_x . If $U_x \in \mathcal{U}$, then $p(U_x) = U_x$ and p is well-defined. If $U_x \notin \mathcal{U}$, then we argue by contradiction. Suppose that there is no minimum open set containing U_x , that is, there are two open sets $U_1, U_2 \in \mathcal{U}$ that are not comparable satisfying $U_x \subseteq U_i$ for i = 1, 2 and the property that there is no $W \in \mathcal{U}$ such that $U_x \subseteq W \subseteq U_i$ for i = 1, 2. We get that $U_1 \cap U_2$ is non-empty because it contains U_x . By the property of being basis-like, we have $U_1 \cap U_2 = \bigcup_{t \in T} U_t$ for some T, where $U_t \in \mathcal{U}$ for every $t \in T$. On the other hand, $\mathbb{B}(X)$ is a basis for the topology in X, so $U_t = \bigcup_{y \in I_t} U_y$ for every $t \in T$ and some $I_t \subseteq X$. We get that $U_x \subseteq U_t \subseteq U_t \in \mathcal{U}$ but $U_t \subseteq U_i$ for i = 1, 2, which leads to contradiction.

We have shown that p is well-defined, it remains to show the continuity of it. It suffices to check that it is order-preserving. Again, we argue by contradiction. Suppose that $p(U_x) \notin p(U_y)$. By hypothesis, $U_x \subseteq U_y \subseteq p(U_y)$ so $p(U_x) \cap p(U_y) \neq \emptyset$. We repeat the same argument used before to get the contradiction. We have that $p(U_x) \cap p(U_y) = \bigcup_{t \in T} U_t$ for some T, where $U_t \in \mathcal{U}$ for every $t \in T$. On the other hand, $U_t = \bigcup_{z \in I_t} U_z$ for some $I_t \subseteq X$, where $U_z \in \mathbb{B}(X)$ for every $z \in I_t$ and every $t \in T$. We get $U_x \subseteq p(U_x) \cap p(U_y) = \bigcup_{t \in T} \bigcup_{z \in I_t} U_z$, therefore, $U_x \subseteq U_z \subset U_t \subseteq p(U_x)$ for some $t \in T$, which leads to a contradiction with the minimality of $p(U_x)$.

To prove the last part of the proposition we use the characterization of homotopic maps between finite topological spaces. We show that $p_{\mathbb{B},\mathcal{U}} \circ p_{\mathcal{U},\mathbb{B}} \geq id_{\mathcal{U}}$. By construction, for every $U \in \mathcal{U}$ we get that $id(U) = U \subseteq p_{\mathbb{B},\mathcal{U}}(p_{\mathcal{U},\mathbb{B}}(U))$ because $U \subseteq p_{\mathcal{U},\mathbb{B}}(U) \subseteq p_{\mathbb{B},\mathcal{U}}(p_{\mathcal{U},\mathbb{B}}(U))$. We apply the same argument to show $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathbb{B}} \circ p_{\mathbb{B},\mathcal{U}} \geq id_{\mathbb{B}}$. Thus, $\mathbb{B}(X)$ and \mathcal{U} have the same homotopy type.

Let X be a finite topological space. We consider $Cov(X) = \mathbb{B}(X)$ because $\mathbb{B}(X)$ is cofinal. If X is not a finite topological space, then we consider $\overline{Cov}(X) = \{\mathcal{U} \text{ is a finite open cover of } X | \text{ for every } U, V \in \mathcal{U}, U \cap V \in \mathcal{U} \}$. We have trivially that $\overline{Cov}(X) \subseteq Cov(X)$. In fact, $\overline{Cov}(X)$ is cofinal in Cov(X) with the usual relation of refinement.

Lemma 2.8.5. Let X be a compact space. Then $(Cov(X), \geq_C)$ is a preordered set. If X is a finite topological space, then $(Cov(X), \geq_C)$ is a directed preordered set. If X is a compact Hausdorff space $(\overline{Cov}(X), \geq_C)$ is a directed preordered set.

Proof. Suppose X is a compact space. For every $\mathcal{U} \in Cov(X)$ we have the reflexive property, $\mathcal{U} \geq_C \mathcal{U}$, it suffices to take $p : \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{U}$ as the identity map. The transitive property also holds trivially, we only need to compose the continuous maps given by the relations $\mathcal{U} \geq_C \mathcal{V}$ and $\mathcal{V} \geq_C \mathcal{W}$, where $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W} \in Cov(X)$.

The results for the finite can be deduced from Proposition 2.8.4. Thus, let us check the properties for a compact Hausdorff space X. We prove that $(\overline{Cov}(X), \geq_C)$ is also a directed set. For any $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V} \in \overline{Cov}(X)$ there exists a finite open cover \mathcal{W} that refines \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{V} in the usual sense [73, Appendix 1, 3.1]. Let $\overline{\mathcal{W}}$ denote the open cover \mathcal{W} with all the possible intersections of open sets from it. Then $\overline{\mathcal{W}}$ clearly refines \mathcal{W} and $\overline{\mathcal{W}} \in \overline{Cov}(X)$. We define $p: \overline{\mathcal{W}} \to \mathcal{U}$ given by

$$p(W) = \bigcap_{V \in U_W} V$$
, where $U_W = \{V \in \mathcal{U} | W \subseteq V\}$.

The map p is well-defined because $\mathcal{U} \in \overline{Cov}(X)$, which means that the intersection of elements of \mathcal{U} is again an element of \mathcal{U} . Therefore, $p(W) \in \mathcal{U}$ for every $W \in \overline{\mathcal{W}}$. We prove the continuity of p. By hypothesis $W' \subseteq W$ implies $U_W \subseteq U_{W'}$ and therefore $p(W') \subseteq p(W)$. Thus, $\overline{W} \geq_C \mathcal{U}$ and we only need to repeat the same argument to get $\overline{W} \geq_C \mathcal{V}$.

With the usual notion of refinement, we can have the following situation for a finite topological space X. There is a finite cover $\mathcal{U} \in Cov(X)$ satisfying that \mathcal{U} is cofinal in Cov(X) and $\mathcal{U} \neq \mathbb{B}(X)$. On the other hand, $\mathbb{B}(X)$ is also cofinal in Cov(X). We have that \mathcal{U} and $\mathbb{B}(X)$ do not have necessarily the same homotopy type or weak homotopy type as finite topological spaces. Hence, if we consider a cofinal subset in Cov(X), then we make a choice that it is not unique.

Thus, for the finite case, it does not make sense to consider a cofinal subset in Cov(X) with the usual notion of refinement. This is the main reason why we define \leq_C , Proposition 2.8.4. In contrast, for compact Hausdorff spaces the relation \leq_C fits well with $\overline{Cov}(X)$, which is a cofinal subset in Cov(X) with the usual notion of refinement. In this case, it makes sense to consider a cofinal subset because we would not have made a choice of an element that determines Cov(X). This is due to the cardinality of Cov(X). For the finite case, Cov(X) is a finite set, i.e., we do not have enough covers, while for the non-finite case the cardinality of Cov(X) is infinite. Therefore, for the non-finite case we consider Cov(X).

Remark 2.8.6. Let X be a compact Hausdorff space. If \mathcal{U} refines \mathcal{V} , then $\mathcal{U} \geq_C \mathcal{V}$, where we consider $p : \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{V}$ given by $p(\mathcal{U}) = \bigcap_{\mathcal{U} \subseteq \mathcal{V} \in \mathcal{V}} \mathcal{V}$. By construction, p is well-defined and continuous. Furthermore, if $q : \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{V}$ is another map given by the relation \geq_C , then it is clear that $p \leq q$, which implies that p is homotopic to q.

In the following example, we have an open cover \mathcal{U} for a finite topological space X satisfying that \mathcal{U} is not homotopy equivalent to $\mathbb{B}(X)$, \mathcal{U} refines $\mathbb{B}(X)$ and $\mathcal{U} \ngeq_C \mathbb{B}(X)$.

Example 2.8.7. We consider $X = \{a, b, c, d\}$ with the following topology $\tau = \{\{a\}, d\}$ $\{b\}, \{a, b\}, \{a, b, c\}, \{a, b, d\}, \{a, b, c, d\}\}$. It is trivial to check that (X, τ) is a finite T_0 topological space. On the one hand, $\{\{a\}, \{b\}, \{a, b, d\}, \{a, b, d\}\} = \mathbb{B}(X) \in Cov(X)$. We get that $\mathbb{B}(X)$ as a finite topological space is homeomorphic to X, see Remark 2.8.3. On the other hand, we consider $\mathcal{U} = \{\{a, b\}, \{a, b, c\}, \{a, b, d\}\} \in Cov(X)$. Since \mathcal{U} contains a minimum given by $\{a, b\}$, it follows that \mathcal{U} has the same homotopy type of a point. We have that $|\mathcal{K}(X)| = S^1$, which implies that $\mathbb{B}(X)$ is not contractible. In fact, X is a finite model of the circle. It is not difficult to get that $\mathbb{B}(X)$ refines \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{U} refines $\mathbb{B}(X)$ in the usual sense. Moreover, $\mathbb{B}(X) >_C \mathcal{U}$ considering $p : \mathbb{B}(X) \to \mathcal{U}$ given by $p(\{a, b, c\}) = \{a, b, c\}, p(\{a, b, d\}) = \{a, b, d\}$ and $p(a) = p(b) = \{a, b\}$. There is no continuous map $q: \mathcal{U} \to \mathbb{B}(X)$ satisfying that $U \subseteq q(U)$ for every $U \in \mathbb{B}(X)$. If it exists, then $q(\{a, b, c\}) = \{a, b, c\}$ and $q(\{a, b, d\}) = \{a, b, d\}$. We only have two options for $q(\{a, b\})$. If $q(\{a, b\}) = q(\{a, b, c\})$, then q is not continuous since $\{a, b, d\} > \{a, b\}$ but $q(\{a, b, d\}) = \{a, b, d\} \not\geq \{a, b, c\} = q(\{a, b\})$. Similarly, we get a contradiction with the continuity of q if $q(\{a, b\}) = \{a, b, d\}$. In Figure 2.8.2, we have the Hasse diagrams of X, $\mathbb{B}(X)$ and \mathcal{U} .



Figure 2.8.2: Hasse diagrams of X, $\mathbb{B}(X)$ and \mathcal{U} and schematic representation of the open sets of $\mathbb{B}(X)$ and \mathcal{U} .

For every compact space X we associate an element in pro-HM given by

$$\mathcal{M}(X) = (\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{K}(p_{\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}}), Cov(X)),$$

where $\mathcal{U} \in Cov(X)$ is considered as a finite T_0 topological space, $\mathcal{K}(p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}) : \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}) \to \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{V})$ denotes the induced continuous function given by the McCord functor and $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}$ is a continuous map from \mathcal{V} to \mathcal{U} given by the relation \leq_C . It remains to verify that $\mathcal{M}(X)$ is indeed an element of pro- $H\mathcal{M}$.

Lemma 2.8.8. If X is a compact space, then $\mathcal{M}(X)$ is an object of pro- $H\mathcal{M}$.

Proof. In Lemma 2.8.5, it is shown that Cov(X) is a directed set. It only remains to show that for every $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W} \in Cov(X)$ satisfying that $\mathcal{U} \leq_C \mathcal{V}$ and $\mathcal{V} \leq_C \mathcal{W}$ we get $\mathcal{K}(p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}) \circ \mathcal{K}(p_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}) \simeq \mathcal{K}(p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{W}}).$

For the non-finite case, by the definition of \leq_C and Remark 2.8.6, we get that $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{W}}(W) \subseteq p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}(p_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}(W))$ for every $W \in \mathcal{W}$. Therefore, using the characterization of homotopic maps between finite T_0 topological spaces, we have $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{W}} \simeq p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}} \circ p_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}$ and the desired result when we use the McCord functor.

For the finite case, we consider $Cov(X) = \mathbb{B}(X)$ since $\mathbb{B}(X)$ is cofinal, see Proposition 2.8.4. Then, $\mathcal{M}(X)$ is a rudimentary system.

Applying the McCord functor, $\mathcal{M}(X)$ can also be seen as an element of *pro-HPol*. Let $\mathcal{K}(X)$ denote the inverse system given by

$$\mathcal{K}(X) = (\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}), \mathcal{K}(p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}), Cov(X)).$$

Proposition 2.8.9. If X is a compact Hausdorff space, then $\mathcal{K}(X)$ is a HPol-expansion.

Proof. We prove the result showing that $\mathcal{K}(X)$ is isomorphic to the Čech system $(|N(\mathcal{U})|, N(p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}), \overline{Cov}(X))$, which is a *HPol*-expansion of X. In Subsection 1.2.3, it can be seen the definition and properties of the Čech system. Nevertheless, a detailed description about Čech systems for compact Hausdorff spaces can be found in [73, Appendix 1.3].

Firstly, we study the map $N(p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}})$. We have that $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}: \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{U}$ satisfies $V \subseteq p(V)$ for every $V \in \mathcal{V}$. Then, $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}$ induces a map between the nerves, i.e., $N(p): |N(\mathcal{V})| \to |N(\mathcal{U})|$. By construction, $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}) \subseteq N(\mathcal{U})$. Moreover, $|\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U})|$ is deformation retract of $|N(\mathcal{U})|$ by [76, Lemma 3]. Furthermore, the set of vertices of $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U})$ and $N(\mathcal{U})$ is the same. We have that p can be taken satisfying that N(p) and $\mathcal{K}(p)$ are the same map over the set of vertices. In addition, in [73, Appendix 1.3], it is proved that all choices of N(p) are homotopic. Thus, we have $\mathcal{K}(p) = N(p)_{|\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U})}$. We also have a level morphism between the two inverse systems given by the natural inclusion i. We will use Theorem 1.2.5 to conclude the proof.



We consider $g_{\mathcal{U}} = r \circ N(p)$, where $r : |N(\mathcal{U})| \to |\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U})|$ denotes the retraction considered before. The commutative up to homotopy of the above diagram follows trivially. Applying Theorem 1.2.5, we get the desired result.

We define the category SW, its objects are compact spaces and if $X, Y \in Obj(SW)$, then $Mor(X,Y) = \{f : \mathcal{M}(X) \to \mathcal{M}(Y) | f \text{ is a morphism in pro-} H\mathcal{M}\}.$

Theorem 2.8.10. Let X, Y be compact Hausdorff spaces. Then X and Y have the same shape if and only if X and Y are isomorphic in SW. Furthermore, let X, Y be finite T_0 topological spaces. Then X is weak homotopy equivalent to Y if and only if X is isomorphic to Y in SW.

Proof. Suppose X, Y are finite T_0 topological spaces that are isomorphic in SW. We prove that X and Y are weak homotopy equivalent, i.e., there exists a CW-complex Zand weak homotopy equivalences $Z \to X, Z \to Y$ [Proposition 4.13, Corollary 4.19, [60]]. By hypothesis, $|\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{B}(X))|$ and $|\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{B}(Y))|$ are homotopy equivalent. In addition, by Theorem 1.1.43 there exist weak homotopy equivalences $|\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{B}(X))| \to X, |\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{B}(Y))| \to Y$. From here, we deduce the desired result. Now, we prove the opposite implication, so let us assume that X is weak homotopy equivalent to Y. Hence, $|\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{B}(X))| = |\mathcal{K}(X)|$ and $|\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{B}(Y))| = |\mathcal{K}(Y)|$ are also weak homotopy equivalent. By [60], there exists a CWcomplex Z and weak homotopy equivalences $|\mathcal{K}(X)| \leftarrow Z \to |\mathcal{K}(Y)|$. By a well-known theorem of Whitehead, a weak homotopy equivalence between connected CW-complexes is a homotopy equivalences. Then, $|\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{B}(X))|$ is homotopy equivalent to $|\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{B}(Y))|$, so X is isomorphic to Y in SW.

Suppose X and Y are compact Hausdorff spaces that are isomorphic in \mathcal{SW} . Then $\mathcal{K}(X)$ and $\mathcal{K}(Y)$ are HPol-expansions of X and Y by Proposition 2.8.9. It is clear that $\mathcal{M}(X) \simeq \mathcal{M}(Y)$ implies $\mathcal{K}(X) \simeq \mathcal{K}(Y)$. Thus, X and Y have the same shape. Suppose X and Y are compact Hausdorff spaces that have the same shape. Then, there are two HPol-expansions $(X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ and $(Y_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ satisfying that $(X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ is isomorphic to $(Y_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda\lambda'}, \Lambda)$. For each polyhedra X_{λ} of $(X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ we take a triangulation and we apply the McCord functor \mathcal{X} to get a finite T_0 topological space. It is clear that $(\mathcal{X}(X_{\lambda}), p_{\lambda\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ is an element of pro- $H\mathcal{M}$. In addition, $(|\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{X}(X_{\lambda}))|, p_{\lambda\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ is isomorphic to $(X_{\lambda}, p_{\lambda\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ in pro-HPol because $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{X}(X_{\lambda}))$ is just the barycentric subdivision of the triangulation given to X_{λ} , i.e., $|\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{X}(X_{\lambda}))| = X_{\lambda}$. In fact, $(\mathcal{X}(X_{\lambda}), p_{\lambda\lambda'}, \Lambda)$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{M}(X)$ because $(|\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U})|, \mathcal{K}(p), \overline{Cov}(X))$ is a HPol-expansion of X by Proposition 2.8.9. The same situation holds for Y. Thus, $\mathcal{M}(X)$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{M}(Y)$ in pro- $H\mathcal{M}$ and we deduce that X is isomorphic to Y in SW.

Similarly, a category that classifies compact metric spaces by their shape and finite topological spaces by their homotopy type can be obtained. By Section 2.6, we know that there is a description of the shape theory in terms of finite topological spaces. Given a compact metric space X, we associate an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$. In the following section, we prove that $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}, \overline{Cov}(X))$. The objects of SH are compact topological spaces. Given a compact metric space X, we consider $(\mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}, \overline{Cov}(X))$. Let X and Y be compact space. We define $Mor(X, Y) = \{f : (\mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}, \overline{Cov}(X)) \to (\mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}, \overline{Cov}(Y)) | f \text{ is a morphism in$ $pro-<math>HTop \}$. It is easy to check that SH is a category. By construction, it is immediate to get the following result.

Theorem 2.8.11. Let X, Y be compact metric spaces. Then X and Y have the same shape if and only if X and Y are isomorphic in SH. Furthermore, let X, Y be finite T_0 topological spaces. Then X is homotopy equivalent to Y if and only if X is isomorphic to Y in SH.

2.9 FASOs for a compact metric space and HPol-expansions

Given a compact metric space (X, d) and a FASO $(\mathcal{U}_n, q_{n,n+1})$ for X. If we apply the McCord functor, then we obtain an inverse sequence of polyhedra, i.e., an object of pro-*HPol*. We denote that inverse sequence by

$$\mathcal{AM}_4(X) = (|\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n))|, |\mathcal{K}(q_{n,n+1})|).$$

Given a finite partially ordered set X, the McCord complex of X with the opposite order is homeomorphic to the McCord complex of X with the natural order, see Remark 1.1.42. Since $(\mathcal{U}_{4\epsilon_n}(A_n)_n, q_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic in pro-*HTop* to the Main Construction $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ with the opposite order, it follows that $\mathcal{AM}_4(X)$ is a *HPol*-expansion of X. This is due the fact that

$$\mathcal{AM}_2(X) = (|\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n))|, |\mathcal{K}(p_{n,n+1})|)$$

is a HPol-expansion of X by [81, Theorem 12]. In this section, we present an alternative and shorter proof of this result.

We consider $\mathcal{B}_n = {\mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n) | x \in A_n}$. By construction, \mathcal{B}_n is an open cover of X. By abuse of notation, \mathcal{B}_n also denotes the open cover that contains all possible intersections of elements of \mathcal{B}_n . Hence, for every $U, V \in \mathcal{B}_n$ we get $U \cap V \in \mathcal{B}_n$. We can also treat \mathcal{B}_n as a partially ordered set if we consider the following partial order on \mathcal{B}_n : $C \leq D$ if and only if $D \subseteq C$, where $C, D \in \mathcal{B}_n$. From now on, \mathcal{B}_n can be treated as an open cover or as an Alexandroff space without explicit mention. In Figure 2.9.1 there is a schematic illustration of the situation described above.

We consider the power set of A_n , denoted by 2^{A_n} , with the subset relation, that is, $C \leq D$ if and only if $C \subset D$. We define $\varphi : \mathcal{B}_n \to 2^{A_n}$ given by $\varphi(C) = \{x\}_{x \in I}$, where $C = \bigcap_{x \in I} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n)$ and $I \subseteq A_n$ satisfies that if $C = \bigcap_{x \in J} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n)$, then $J \subseteq I$.

Lemma 2.9.1. The map φ is well-defined, continuous and injective. Furthermore, if $C \in \mathcal{B}_n$, then $\varphi(C) \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n)$.

Proof. It is clear by construction that φ is well-defined. We show the continuity of φ . Suppose $D, C \in \mathcal{B}_n$ with $C \subseteq D$. Then, $C = \bigcap_{x \in I} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n) \subseteq \bigcap_{x \in J} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n) = D$ and $J \subseteq I$. Therefore, $D \leq C$ implies $\varphi(D) \leq \varphi(C)$. Now, we prove the injectivity of φ . If $C = \bigcap_{x \in \varphi(C)} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n) \neq \bigcap_{x \in \varphi(D)} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n) = D$, then $\varphi(C) \neq \varphi(D)$.

For the second part of the statement, we consider $C \in \mathcal{B}_n$ and $z \in C = \bigcap_{x \in I} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n)$. We have that $d(z, x) < \epsilon_n$ for every $x \in I$. If $x, y \in \varphi(C)$, then we get $d(x, y) < d(x, z) + d(z, y) < 2\epsilon_n$.



Figure 2.9.1: Schematic illustration of \mathbb{B}_n .

We construct a new inverse sequence, the terms are given by $\{\mathcal{B}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$. We define $h_{n,n+1}: \mathcal{B}_{n+1} \to \mathcal{B}_n$ given by $h_{n,n+1}(C) = \bigcap_{D\in S(C)} D$, where $S(C) = \{D \in \mathcal{B}_n | C \subset D\}$.

Proposition 2.9.2. For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the map $h_{n,n+1} : \mathcal{B}_{n+1} \to \mathcal{B}_n$ is well-defined, continuous and satisfies that $C \subseteq h_{n,n+1}(C)$.

Proof. Firstly, we prove that for every $C \in \mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ there exists at least one point $x \in A_n$ such that $C \subset \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n)$. We take $x \in \varphi(C)$ and $y \in p_{n,n+1}(x)$, where $p_{n,n+1}$ is the bonding map of the Main Construction. Therefore, $d(x, z) < 2\epsilon_{n+1}$ for every $z \in C$ and $d(x, y) \leq \gamma_n$. Thus,

$$d(z,y) < d(z,x) + d(x,y) < 2\epsilon_{n+1} + \gamma_n < \frac{2(\epsilon_n - \gamma_n)}{2} + \gamma_n = \epsilon_n.$$

Concretely, we get that $C \subset \mathcal{B}(y, \epsilon_n)$, which implies that $h_{n,n+1}$ is well-defined. To verify the continuity we only need to check that $h_{n,n+1}$ is order-preserving. If $C \subseteq D$, where $C, D \in \mathcal{B}_{n+1}$, then $S(D) \subseteq S(C)$. From here, we deduce that $h_{n,n+1}$ is order-preserving. The last property is an immediate consequence of the construction of $h_{n,n+1}$.

By Proposition 2.9.2, we get that $(\mathcal{B}_n, h_{n,n+1})$ is a well-defined inverse sequence of finite T_0 topological spaces.

Given a compact metric space X, we consider $\overline{Cov}(X) = \{\mathcal{U} | \mathcal{U} \text{ is a finite open cover} and for every <math>U, V \in \mathcal{U}, U \cap V \in \mathcal{U}\}$. It is easy to show that $\overline{Cov}(X)$ is cofinal in $Cov(X) = \{\mathcal{U} | \mathcal{U} \text{ is a finite open cover}\}$ with the usual notion of refinement, see Subsection 1.2.3. If $\mathcal{U} \in Cov(X) \setminus \overline{Cov}(X)$, then $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ given by \mathcal{U} and $\{U \cap V | U, V \in \mathcal{U}\}$ refines \mathcal{U} . If $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V} \in \overline{Cov}(X)$ and \mathcal{V} refines \mathcal{U} , then we consider $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}: \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{U}$ given by $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}(V) = \bigcap_{V \subseteq U \in \mathcal{U}} \mathcal{U}$. Repeating the same arguments used in the proof of Proposition 2.9.2, we get that $p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}$ is well-defined and continuous. We get that $(\mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}, \overline{Cov}(X))$ is an inverse system of finite topological spaces.

Proposition 2.9.3. Let X be a compact metric space and let $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ be a FAS for X. Then $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}, \overline{Cov}(X))$ in pro-HTop.

Proof. We prove that $(\mathcal{B}_n, h_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ in pro-*HTop*. Later, we show that $(\mathcal{B}_n, h_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}}, \overline{Cov}(X))$ in pro-*HTop*.

Firstly, we verify that φ is a level morphism, i.e., the following diagram commutes up to homotopy.

$$\mathcal{B}_{n} \xleftarrow{h_{n,n+1}} \mathcal{B}_{n+1}$$

$$\downarrow^{\varphi} \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\varphi}$$

$$\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n}}(A_{n}) \xleftarrow{p_{n,n+1}} \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1})$$

By the proof of Proposition 2.9.2, for every $C \in \mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ we get $C \subset \bigcap_{x \in p_{n,n+1}(\varphi(C))} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n)$. We have that $h_{n,n+1}(C) \subset \bigcap_{x \in p_{n,n+1}(\varphi(C))} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n)$. From here, we deduce that $\varphi(h_{n,n+1}(C)) \ge p_{n,n+1}(\varphi(C))$ and the diagram is commutative up to homotopy.

We want to apply Theorem 1.2.5, so we only need to find $g_n : \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1}) \to \mathcal{B}_n$ making the diagrams commutative up to homotopy. We define $g_n(C) = \bigcap_{x \in p_{n,n+1}(C)} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n)$. We prove that $C \subset \bigcap_{x \in p_{n,n+1}(C)} \mathcal{B}(x, \epsilon_n)$ to verify that the intersection is non-empty and g_n is well-defined. Let us take $c \in C$ and $x \in p_{n,n+1}(c)$, $d(x, c) \leq \gamma_n$. For every $c' \in C$ we get

$$d(x,c') < d(x,c) + d(c,c') < \gamma_n + 2\epsilon_{n+1} < \epsilon_n.$$

Therefore, g_n is well-defined. If $C \leq D$, where $C, D \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1})$, then $g_n(D) \subset g_n(C)$ by the definition of g_n , which implies that $g_n(C) \leq g_n(D)$ and g_n is continuous.

For every $C \in \mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_{n+1}}(A_{n+1})$ we have clearly that $\varphi(g_n(C)) \geq p_{n,n+1}(C)$, so $\varphi \circ g_n$ is homotopic to $p_{n,n+1}$. For every $C \in \mathcal{B}_{n+1}$ we have trivially $h_{n,n+1}(C) \subset g_n(\varphi(C))$, so $h_{n,n+1}(C) \geq g_n(\varphi(C))$ and $h_{n,n+1}$ is homotopic to $g_n \circ \varphi$. Thus, the diagrams are commutative up to homotopy and $(\mathcal{B}_n, h_{n,n+1})$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ in pro-*HTop*.

By Lebesgue's number lemma [86], for every $\mathcal{U} \in Cov(X)$ there exists ϵ_n such that every subset of diameter less than ϵ_n is contained in some element of \mathcal{U} . Therefore, \mathcal{B}_n refines \mathcal{U} and we get that $\{\mathcal{B}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is cofinal in $\overline{Cov}(X)$. In addition, $(\mathcal{B}_n, h_{n,n+1})$ isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}}, \overline{Cov}(X))$ in *pro-HTop*.

Now, it is easy to get an alternative proof of Theorem 2.1.8.

Theorem 2.9.4. Let X be a compact metric space and let $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1})$ be a FAS for X. Then $\mathcal{AM}_2(X)$ is a HPol-expansion of X.

Proof. We have that $(\mathcal{U}, p_{\mathcal{U},\mathcal{V}}, \overline{Cov}(X))$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n), p_{n,n+1}, \mathbb{N})$ in pro-*HTop* by Proposition 2.9.3. If we apply the McCord functor, then we get that both inverse systems are isomorphic in *pro-HPol*. However, the first inverse system is a *HPol*-expansion of X by Proposition 2.8.9.



Figure 2.9.2: Schematic representation of $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(A_2)$ and \mathcal{B}_2 .

Example 2.9.5. Let us consider the same FAS for the unit interval considered in Example 2.1.9. For this particular case, we get that \mathcal{B}_n is exactly $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_n}(A_n)$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. This is because the distance between two consecutive points of the approximation A_n is precisely ϵ_n . In Figure 2.9.2, this situation for the case n = 2 can be observed, where we have that $A_2 = \{0, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{2}{3}, 1\}$ and $\epsilon_2 = \frac{1}{3}$. The blue lines represent the maximal points of $\mathcal{U}_{2\epsilon_2}(A_2)$.

Chapter 3

Realization problems of groups in topology

In this chapter we study problems of realization of groups and homomorphisms in topological spaces. Let X be a topological space. Then several groups can be associated to it. Given a group G, it is natural to wonder for the existence of a topological space X having G as a group related to it.

3.1 Introduction

We state the main problems that we treat in subsequent sections and introduce notation. Let C denote an arbitrary category. We have the following classical problem.

Problem 3.1.1. Given a group G, is there an object X in C such that the group of automorphisms of X is isomorphic to G?

We recall the importance of this problem when \mathcal{C} is the category of simple graphs SimGph. See [57] for a complete introduction to graph theory. In [66], Problem 3.1.1 was posed for SimGph. A positive answer for finite groups was given in [53]. It was proved that a variant of the Cayley graph of a finite group G satisfies that its group of automorphisms is isomorphic to G. The Cayley graph of a group G, which was introduced in [28], provides a way to obtain a representation of a group by means of a colored and directed graph. Given a group G and a generating set S for G, the vertices of the Cayley graph $\Gamma(G,S)$ are the elements of G. For each generator $s \in S$ is assigned a color c_s . For any $g \in G$ and $s \in S$, the vertices corresponding to the elements g and gs are joined by a directed edge from g to gs of color c_s . Then, the edges of the Cayley graph were replaced by some asymmetric graphs, that is, graphs with trivial group of automorphisms. In that way, an undirected and uncolored graph satisfying that its group of automorphisms is isomorphic to G is obtained. In Figure 3.1.1, we present an example of the Cayley graph for the dihedral group D_4 and one possible modification to get a simple graph having D_4 as group of automorphisms. Years later, in two independent papers, [96] and [39], the same result for arbitrary groups is obtained. In addition, J. de Groot also solved Problem 3.1.1 for the topological category Top. Namely, given a group G, J. de Groot found a complete, connected, locally connected metric space M of any positive dimension such that its group of homeomorphisms is isomorphic to G. As a corollary, he also obtained that every group is the automorphism group of some commutative ring. The idea to get the previous result goes as follows. Firstly, given a group G, find an easy structure (graph) with the desired property of realization. Then, find asymmetric structures, i.e., a family of pairwise non-homeomorphic topological spaces with trivial groups of homeomorphisms. Finally, replace the edges of the graph by the asymmetric structures to obtain a topological space satisfying the property required.



Figure 3.1.1: Cayley graph of D_4 (left) and modified graph having D_4 as a group of automorphisms in *SimGph* (right).

Thus, the realization problem for the category of graphs has played an important role to solve other realization problems. However, the answer to Problem 3.1.1 is not always positive, e.g., the category of groups Grp. If we consider the group of integer numbers \mathbb{Z} , then there is no group G such that its group of automorphisms is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} . For more cases, see [47] or [70].

In Section 3.2, Section 3.3 and Section 3.4, we solve Problem 3.1.1 for topological categories. Specifically, the topological category Top, the homotopical category HTop and the pointed cases for the previous categories Top_* and $HTop_*$. Since the solution of Problem 3.1.1 in each category is constructive, we can study some properties of the topological spaces obtained such as the weak homotopy type, the number of points, etc. Some of these properties are studied in Section 3.5. Furthermore, for any group G, we found a family of pairwise non-homeomorphic topological spaces satisfying that their groups of homeomorphisms are precisely G. This result provides more examples of another important problem in mathematics that is formulated in the following question.

Problem 3.1.2. Given two topological spaces X and Y with isomorphic groups of homeomorphisms, does it follow that X and Y are homeomorphic?

In general, the answer for this question is negative. For example, the method that we obtain in Section 3.5 answers negatively to this question. There are other examples and well-known cases that also give a negative answer, see for instance [92, 99, 37] or just consider the closed interval [0, 1] and the open interval (0, 1). In the opposite direction, there are some results giving a positive answer for certain classes of topological spaces, see [113], [77] or [94].

In $HPol(HPol_*)$, the full subcategory of $HTop(HPol_*)$ whose objects are all (pointed) topological spaces having the homotopy type of a (pointed) polyhedron, the problem of realizability has appeared in many papers for over fifty years, see [64], [5], [45], [95]. This problem has been placed as the first problem to solve in [6], a list of open problems about groups of self-homotopy equivalences. In this direction, a complete answer for finite groups and the pointed case was obtained in [34]. Furthermore, in [36], the free case has been completely solved using tools of highly algebraic character. In Top, there is also a positive answer for finite groups G with a generating set S, a topological space with |G|(|G| + 1) points having G as a group

of homeomorphisms is obtained. In [106], the finite topological space found realizing G has |G|(2|S|+1) points. In [16], a topological space with |G|(|S|+2) points such that its group of homeomorphisms is isomorphic to G is obtained. Recently, in [15], it is improved the previous result and a finite topological space with 4|G| points realizing G as a group of homeomorphisms is obtained. On the other hand, in [9, 10], it is shown that for every group G there exists a finite poset with 3|G| points having G as a group of homeomorphisms. Despite the fact that this construction is the sharpest one obtained up to now, it relies heavily on finding a generating set satisfying a list of non-trivial conditions. It is proved that for every group there exists a generating set satisfying these conditions but in practice it is not always trivial to get the desired generating set. The result for posets described above is obtained as a corollary of a similar statement for directed graphs, which proves again the importance of graphs in this sort of problems.

In subsequent sections, given a topological space X, we denote by Aut(X) and $\mathcal{E}(X)$, the group of homeomorphisms (Top) and the group of homotopy classes of self-homotopy equivalences (HTop) respectively. We also denote by $Aut_*(X)$ and $\mathcal{E}_*(X)$ the pointed cases $(Top_* \text{ and } HTop_*)$. With abuse of notation, let $\mathcal{E}_*(X)$ denote the group of elements of $\mathcal{E}(X)$ inducing the identity on the homology groups of X. It is not difficult to check that $\mathcal{E}_*(X)$ is a normal subgroup of $\mathcal{E}(X)$. Then, the quotient group $\mathcal{E}(X)/\mathcal{E}_*(X)$ can be considered. In [45, Problem 19], A. Viruel raised the question whether an arbitrary group can be realized as $\mathcal{E}(X)/\mathcal{E}_*(X)$. In Section 3.4, we will obtain a positive answer for the combinatorial version of this question, that is, given a finite group G we find a topological space X such that $\mathcal{E}(X)/\mathcal{E}_*(X)$ is isomorphic to G.

Another realization problems of groups in topology that arise in a natural manner are the ones involving homology or homotopy groups.

Problem 3.1.3. Given a group G (abelian) and a positive integer n (n > 1), is there a topological space X such that its n-th homotopy group is isomorphic to G?

A similar problem can be considered for homology groups. For homotopy groups, a positive answer was obtained considering the so-called Eilenberg-MacLane spaces. Given a group G and a positive integer number n, the Eilenberg-MacLane space is denoted by K(G, n) and satisfies that $\pi_n(K(G, n)) \simeq G$ and $\pi_m(K(G, n)) = 0$ for every $m \neq n$. The analogue case for homology groups is solved using the so-called Moore spaces. Given a group G and a positive integer number n, the Moore space is denoted by M(G, n) and satisfies that $H_n(M(G, n)) \simeq G$ and $H_m(M(G, n)) = 0$ for every $m \neq n$. Both spaces, Eilenberg-Maclane and Moore spaces, are CW-complexes. A complete description of the construction and properties of these spaces can be found for instance in [60].

Combining some of the previous realization problems, we can state new questions.

Problem 3.1.4. Given G and H two groups, is there a topological space X such that $\mathcal{E}(X) \simeq H$ and $Aut(X) \simeq G$?

We give a positive answer to this question in Section 3.6, where some properties of the space constructed are studied. Consequently, we have that for a topological space X its group of homeomorphisms has no relations with its group of self-homotopy equivalences and vice versa. In addition, given a topological space X, there is a natural morphism $\tau : Aut(X) \to \mathcal{E}(X)$ sending each homeomorphism f to its homotopy class [f]. Therefore, the following problem can be stated.

Problem 3.1.5. Let $f : G \to H$ be a homeomorphism of groups, is there a topological space X such that $\mathcal{E}(X) \simeq H$, $Aut(X) \simeq G$ and $\tau = f$?

A positive answer to this question is obtained in Section 3.7. Even though this result generalizes the previous one, for the sake of clarity we prefer to present the results in this order.

Finally, a more general realization problem involving all the groups mentioned before can be stated as follows.

Problem 3.1.6. Let H be a finite group, let G be a group and let $\{F_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a sequence of finitely generated groups, where $I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ is a finite set. Is there a topological space X such that $Aut(X) \simeq G$, $\mathcal{E}(X) \simeq H$ and $H_i(X) \simeq F_i$ for every $i \in I$?

Similarly, we also have the following problem for homotopy groups.

Problem 3.1.7. Let H be a finite group, let G be a group and let T be a finitely presented (abelian) group (if n > 1). Is there a topological space X such that $Aut(X) \simeq G$, $\mathcal{E}(X) \simeq H$ and $\pi_i(X) \simeq F_i$?

Both problems are solved in Section 3.9. In fact, they can be seen as corollaries of a more general result. Given a compact polyhedron K, a finite group H and a group G, there exists a finite topological space X satisfying that $Aut(X) \simeq G$, $\mathcal{E}(X) \simeq H$ and X is weak homotopy equivalent to K. To get this result, we obtain in Section 3.8 a family of asymmetric topological spaces having the weak homotopy type of a point.

A positive answer to the previous problems is telling us that there is no relation between the groups considered throughout this chapter. In contrast, for the category HPol, the situation is completely different since $\mathcal{E}(X)$ contains normal subgroups that are nilpotent. For instance, given a topological space X, $\mathcal{E}_{\#}(X)$ ($\mathcal{E}_{*}(X)$) denotes the set of self-homotopy equivalences of X that induce the identity map in homotopy (homology), it is trivial to check that $\mathcal{E}_{\#}(X)$ ($\mathcal{E}_{*}(X)$) is a normal subgroup of $\mathcal{E}(X)$. If X is a finite CW-complex, then $\mathcal{E}_{\#}(X)$ ($\mathcal{E}_{*}(X)$) is a nilpotent group. See [36] for more details. Using the construction obtained in Theorem 3.9.2, we find topological spaces that do not satisfy the previous property. This implies that the techniques used to study the group of selfhomotopy equivalences for CW-complexes cannot be adapted in a natural way to general topological spaces.

3.2 Realization problem in Top

In [16], given a finite group G, J.A. Barmak and E.G. Minian obtained a finite T_0 topological space X_G such that $Aut(X_G) \simeq G$. We generalize their construction to non-finite groups using Alexandroff spaces. The proof of the result is similar to the one given by them.

Let G be a group. We consider a non-trivial generating set S' for G, i.e., the identity element does not belong to S'. We get a topological space X_G satisfying $Aut(X_G) \simeq G$.

Construction of X_G . By the well-ordering principle, we can consider a well-order on the set S' such that S' has a maximum if and only if S' is a finite set. Suppose that S' is not finite. Then consider a non-finite countable subset $T \subset S'$. We consider the well-order on T given by the well-order of the natural numbers. By the well-ordering principle there is a well-order on $S' \setminus T$. We consider the sum of the two ordered sets $S' \setminus T$ and T, that is, for any $x, x \in S' \setminus T \cup T$, $x \leq y$ if and only if one of the following holds:

- $x, y \in S' \setminus T$ and x is smaller than y with the order defined on $S' \setminus T$.
- $x, y \in T$ and x is smaller than y with the order defined on T.

• $x \in S' \setminus T$ and $y \in T$.

This is a well-order on S' without a maximum.

We consider $S = S' \cup \{-1, 0\}$, where we are assuming that $-1, 0 \notin S$. We extend the well-order defined on S' to S. For every $\alpha \in S'$ we declare $-1 < 0 < \alpha$. Finally, we consider $X_G = G \times S$ with the following relations:

- $(g,\beta) < (g,\gamma)$ if $-1 \le \beta < \gamma$ where $g \in G$ and $\beta, \gamma \in S$.
- $(g\beta, -1) < (g, \gamma)$ if $0 < \beta \le \gamma$ where $g \in G$ and $\beta, \gamma \in S$.

It is easy to show that X_G with the previous relations is a partially ordered set.

Remark 3.2.1. If G is a finite group, then the construction of X_G is the same than the one given in [16]. At the same time, this construction can also be seen as a sort of generalization of the Cayley graph. The idea is to get a directed acylic graph from the Cayley graph with the same group of automorphisms. In a Cayley graph, there are directed closed paths, see Figure 3.2.1 where we have the Cayley graph of the cyclic group of two elements. Thus, for each vertex we add a column with the length of the number of generators of the group plus 1. Each vertex of the column represents a copy of the original vertex. Hence, the colors of the Cayley graph are codified somehow with the levels of the columns, where there is one extra level (0 level) that arises for technical reasons. In Figure 3.2.1, if the level 0 is not considered, then the group of automorphisms clearly changes because it is the Klein four-group. From this, we obtain a finite poset satisfying



Figure 3.2.1: Schematic description: from the Cayley graph (left) to a directed acylic graph having the same group of automorphism.

the desired property of realization of groups. Furthermore, let $x, y \in X_G$. We say that $x \sim y$ if and only if the first coordinates of x and y are equal. It is easily seen that \sim is an equivalence relation. The quotient space X_G / \sim is a finite set with a preorder given by the relations from X_G . We can draw a directed graph related to X_G / \sim . The vertices are the points of X_G / \sim , the edges are given by the preorder obtained, that is, we have a directed edge from a to b if and only if $a \prec b$. The new graph is the Cayley graph of G without the colors.

We present a couple of examples in order to introduce the construction of X_G for a general group G. The first one is an example for a finite group, while the second one is an example for a non-finite group.

Example 3.2.2. Let $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ be the Klein four-group. We consider $S' = \{a, b\}$, where a = (1, 0), b = (0, 1) and we declare a < b. The Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2}$ can be seen in Figure 3.2.2.



Figure 3.2.2: Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2}$

If we use the equivalence relation introduced in Remark 3.2.1, that is, $(x, y) \sim (\overline{x}, \overline{y})$ if and only if $x = \overline{x}$, then we get that $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2} / \sim$ is a preordered set. The graph associated to this preordered set can be seen in Figure 3.2.3, where we also have the Cayley graph of $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ taking as generators *a* and *b*. Again, we observe the relations of this construction with the Cayley graph.



Figure 3.2.3: Graph associated to $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2} / \sim$ and Cayley graph of $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$.

Example 3.2.3. Let \mathbb{Z} be the group of integer numbers. We consider $S' = \{1\}$. It is a simpler matter to prove that $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is a locally finite Alexandroff space. Since there is only one generator considered in the generating set, it follows that he maximum height that can have a point of $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is 2. In Figure 3.2.4 we present the Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

Proposition 3.2.4. If $f : X_G \to X_G$ is a homeomorphism, then $f(G \times \{\beta\}) = G \times \{\beta\}$ for every $\beta \in S$.

Proof. We consider $A = X_G \setminus \{(g, -1) \in X_G | g \in G\}$. We have that A is clearly the product of a discrete poset with a well-ordered set. Firstly, we show that f(A) = A. The task is now to prove that $f(G \times \{-1\}) = G \times \{-1\}$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that there exists $(g, -1) \in X_G$ with $f(g, -1) = (h, \beta)$ for some $h \in G$ and $\beta > -1$. We have $f^{-1}(h, \beta) = (g, -1)$ so $f^{-1}(h, -1) \leq f^{-1}(h, \beta)$ since $(h, -1) < (h, \beta)$. By the minimality of $(g, -1), f^{-1}(h, -1) = (g, -1)$, which leads to a contradiction with the injectivity of f^{-1} . We deduce that $f(G \times \{-1\}) = G \times \{-1\}$ and $f^{-1}(G \times \{-1\}) = G \times \{-1\}$. Thus, the restriction $f_{|A} : A \to A$ is a homeomorphism. We get that A has |G| connected components, which are $A_g = \{(g, \beta) | \beta \ge 0\}$ for $g \in G$. If $(g, \beta) \in A$ satisfies that



Figure 3.2.4: Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}}$

 $f(g,\beta) = (h,\gamma)$ for some $h \in G$ and $\gamma \geq 0$, then we get by the continuity of f that $f(A_g) \subseteq A_h$. If there exists $y \in A_h \setminus f(A_g)$, then we can find an element $x \in f(A_g)$ such that x < y or x > y. This can be done because A_h is a well-ordered set. Hence, we know that $f^{-1}(x) \in A_g$. By the continuity of f^{-1} , we get that $y \in f(A_g)$, which leads to a contradiction. Therefore, $f(A_g) = A_h$. The only isomorphism from a well-ordered set to itself is the identity, so $\gamma = \beta$. From here, we deduce the desired result.

Remark 3.2.5. From the proof of Proposition 3.2.4, it can be deduced that any homeomorphism $f : X_G \setminus \{(g, -1) \in X_G | g \in G\} \rightarrow X_G \setminus \{(g, -1) \in X_G | g \in G\}$ satisfies $f(G \times \beta) = G \times \beta$, where $\beta \in S \setminus \{-1\}$.

Theorem 3.2.6. Let G be a group. Then the group of automorphisms of X_G in Top is isomorphic to G.

Proof. Given a group G, we consider the Alexandroff space X_G constructed before. We define $\varphi : G \to Aut(X_G)$ given by $\varphi(g)(s,\beta) = (gs,\beta)$, where $(s,\beta) \in X_G$. We need to show that φ is an isomorphism of groups. First, we check that φ is well-defined. We have that $\varphi(g) : X_G \to X_G$ is clearly continuous because it preserves the order of X_G . By construction, $\varphi(g)$ is also bijective. The inverse of $\varphi(g)$ is $\varphi(g^{-1})$, which is also continuous. It is straightforward to get that φ is a homomorphism of groups.

We prove that φ is a monomorphism of groups. Suppose that $\varphi(g) = id$, where $id : X_G \to X_G$ denotes the identity. Then, $(ge, -1) = \varphi(g)(e, -1) = (e, -1)$, where e denotes the identity element of the group G. This implies that g = e.

We verify that φ is an epimorphism of groups. Let $f \in Aut(X_G)$. By Proposition 3.2.4, f(e, -1) = (h, -1) for some $h \in G$. We also have that $\varphi(h)(e, -1) = (h, -1)$. We consider $Y = \{x \in X_G | f(x) = \varphi(h)(x)\}$. If Y is open, Y is closed and X_G is a connected space, then $Y = X_G$ because Y is non-empty $((e, -1) \in Y)$.

We prove that Y is open. Let $(g,\beta) \in Y$. We have $f_{|U_{(g,\beta)}}, \varphi(h)_{|U_{(g,\beta)}} : U_{(g,\beta)} \to U_{f(g,\beta)}$ and $f(g,\beta) = (hg,\beta) = \varphi(h)(g,\beta)$. On the other hand, there is only one element for each γ with $0 \leq \gamma \leq \beta$ in $U_{(g,\beta)}$ and $U_{f(g,\beta)}, (g,\gamma)$ and (hg,γ) respectively. Concretely, $U_{(g,\beta)}$ consists of points (g,γ) with $-1 \leq \gamma \leq \beta$ and points of the form $(g\gamma, -1)$ with $0 < \gamma \leq \beta$, the description of $U_{f(g,\beta)}$ is similar. Hence, by Proposition 3.2.4, we deduce that $f(g,\gamma) = (hg,\gamma) = \varphi(h)(g,\gamma)$ for every $0 \leq \gamma \leq \beta$. It only remains to show that $f(g,-1) = \varphi(h)(g,-1)$ and $f(g\gamma,-1) = \varphi(h)(g\gamma,-1)$ for every $0 < \gamma \leq \beta$. By the construction of $X_G, (g\gamma, -1) \prec (g,\gamma)$ for every $0 < \gamma$. By Proposition 1.1.76, $f(g\gamma, -1) \prec f(g,\gamma)$. If $x \in U_{f(g,\beta)}$ satisfies $x \prec f(g,\gamma) = (hg,\gamma)$, then x can only be of the form (hg,α) for some $0 \leq \alpha < \gamma$ or $(hg\gamma, -1)$. Suppose that $f(g\gamma, -1) = (hg,\alpha)$ for some $0 \leq \alpha < \gamma$. We get a contradiction with Proposition 3.2.4. Therefore, $f(g\gamma, -1) = (hg\gamma, -1) = \varphi(h)(g\gamma, -1)$. Since $(g, -1) \prec (g, 0)$, it follows that $f(g, -1) \prec f(g, 0) = (hg, 0)$. From this, $f(g, -1) = (hg, -1) = \varphi(h)(g, -1)$. Thus, $\varphi(h)(x) = f(x)$ for every $x \in U_{(g,\beta)}$, that is, $U_{(g,\beta)} \subset Y$.

We prove that Y is closed. We consider $(k,\beta) \in X_G \setminus Y$. By Proposition 3.2.4, $f(k,\beta) = (g,\beta) = \varphi(gk^{-1})(k,\beta)$ for some $g \in G$. Furthermore, $g \neq hk$ because otherwise we would get

$$f(k,\beta) = (g,\beta) = (hk,\beta) = \varphi(hkk^{-1})(k,\beta) = \varphi(h)(k,\beta),$$

which leads to a contradiction with $(k, \beta) \in X_G \setminus Y$. We can repeat the same argument used before to get that $f_{|U_{(k,\beta)}|} = \varphi(gk^{-1})_{|U_{(k,\beta)}|}$, but $gk^{-1} \neq h$, so $f(y) = \varphi(gk^{-1})(y) \neq \varphi(h)(y)$ for every $y \in U_{(k,\beta)}$, i.e., $U_{(k,\beta)} \cap Y = \emptyset$.

We prove that X_G is connected showing that it is path-connected. We need to show that for every $x, y \in X_G$ there is a sequence $x = x_0, x_1, ..., x_n = y$ with x_i comparable to x_{i+1} for every i = 0, ..., n - 1. It suffices to check the existence of that sequence between points of the form (g, -1), (h, -1) with $g, h \in G$ and $g \neq h$. This is due to the first relation of the partial order given in X_G . We prove that for every $g \in G$ there is a sequence of comparable points from (g, -1) to (e, -1). By hypothesis, S' is a generating set so $g = \alpha_1^{d_1} \alpha_2^{d_2} ... \alpha_m^{d_m}$, where $\alpha_j \in S'$ and $d_j = 1$ or -1 with j = 1, ..., m. If $d_m = 1$, then

$$(\alpha_1^{d_1}\alpha_2^{d_2}...\alpha_m, -1) \prec (\alpha_1^{d_1}\alpha_2^{d_2}...\alpha_{m-1}^{d_{m-1}}, \alpha_m) > (\alpha_1^{d_1}\alpha_2^{d_2}...\alpha_{m-1}^{d_{m-1}}, -1).$$

If $d_m = -1$, then

$$(\alpha_1^{d_1}\alpha_2^{d_2}...\alpha_m^{-1}, -1) < (\alpha_1^{d_1}\alpha_2^{d_2}...\alpha_m^{-1}, \alpha_m) \succ (\alpha_1^{d_1}\alpha_2^{d_2}...\alpha_{m-1}^{d_{m-1}}, -1).$$

We need to combine these two steps inductively to obtain a sequence of comparable points from (g, -1) to (e, -1). From here, get the desired result.

Remark 3.2.7. By the proof of Theorem 3.2.6, the following property can be deduced: if $f, g \in Aut(X_G)$ and there exists $x \in X_G$ satisfying f(x) = g(x), then f = g.

3.3 Realization problem in *HTop*

In this section we solve Problem 3.1.1 for the homotopical category HTop using Alexandroff spaces. To do this, we update the construction obtained in Section 3.2. Given a group G, if X_G is locally a core, then we get that $Aut(X_G)$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{E}(X_G)$ by Corollary 1.1.33. Therefore, it suffices to show that $Aut(X_G)$ is isomorphic to G to obtain that every group can be realized as the group of homotopy classes of self-homotopy equivalences of an Alexandroff space. But X_G is far from being locally a core because it contains beat points, see Remark 1.1.28. Concretely, every point of the form (g,β) , where $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$, is a beat point. $F_{(g,\beta)} \setminus \{(g,\beta)\}$ can be seen as a subset of S if we ignore the first coordinate $(F_{(g,\beta)} \setminus \{(g,\beta)\} = \{(g,\alpha) | \alpha > \beta\})$. Then, there exists a minimum in $F_{(g,\beta)} \setminus \{(g,\beta)\}$, which means that (g,β) is an up beat point. We need to add points to X_G to get a good candidate \overline{X}_G to be locally a core. But we also want to modify X_G keeping the property that $Aut(\overline{X}_G)$ is isomorphic to $Aut(X_G)$. By Corollary 1.1.33 and showing that $Aut(X_G)$ is isomorphic to G, we would get the desired result. For the finite case, i.e., G is a finite group, the naive idea of studying the core of X_G expecting that $Aut(X_G) \simeq \mathcal{E}(X_G) \simeq G$ does not work. We illustrate this with the following example. **Example 3.3.1.** We consider the cyclic group of two elements \mathbb{Z}_2 . In Figure 3.3.1, we present the Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}$ and the Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}$ after removing beat points one by one. The group of homeomorphisms has changed, the group of homeomorphisms after removing the beat points is the Klein four-group while $Aut(X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}_2$. Then, $\mathcal{E}(X_{\mathbb{Z}_2})$ is not isomorphic to $Aut(X_{\mathbb{Z}_2})$.



Figure 3.3.1: Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}$ (left) and Hasse diagram of the core of $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}$ (right).

Hence, the idea to get \overline{X}_G is to change the state of the beat points (g,β) of X_G . If we add the point $B_{(g,\beta)}$ to X_G with the relation $B_{(g,\beta)} > (g,\beta)$, then we get easily that (g,β) is not a beat point. On the other hand, the new point added is now a beat point. To solve this situation, we can add the point $C_{(g,\beta)}$ with the relation $C_{(g,\beta)} < B_{(g,\beta)}$. We have that $B_{(g,\beta)}$ is not a beat point but $C_{(g,\beta)}$ is a beat point. We argue following the previous method so as to get $S_{(g,\beta)}$, i.e., we add $A_{(g,\beta)}$ and $D_{(g,\beta)}$ with $C_{(g,\beta)} < A_{(g,\beta)} > D_{(g,\beta)} < (g,\beta)$. Now, the new points added and (g,β) are not beat points.



Figure 3.3.2: Intuitive idea for the construction of $S_{(e,0)}$.

We construct $T_{(q,\beta)}$ following the idea of not introducing beat points, see Figure 3.3.3. It is also important to get that $T_{(g,\beta)}$ is not homeomorphic to $S_{(g,\beta)}$. If $S_{(g,\beta)}$ is homeomorphic to $T_{(q,\beta)}$, then we cannot expect to obtain that $Aut(X_G)$ is isomorphic to $Aut(\overline{X}_G)$. This happens because we introduce more homeomorphisms. In particular, the homeomorphism f that satisfies $f(T_{(g,\beta)}) = S_{(g,\beta)}, f(S_{(g,\beta)}) = T_{(g,\beta)}$ and keeps the remaining points fixed. In addition, the group of homeomorphisms of $S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}$ is trivial as we will see in Lemma 3.3.3. Now, it is easy to find the set A_x required in Definition 1.1.29 for $x = (g, \beta)$, where $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$, $A_x = S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}$. It is also easy to find A_x for the remaining points as we will see in the proof of Lemma 3.3.8. However, if we do not consider the space $T_{(q,\beta)}$ in the construction of X_G , then the existence of a set A_x satisfying the conditions required in Definition 1.1.29 is not guaranteed. Suppose G is a group and S' a non-finite countable generating set of G. We denote the elements of S' by s_i with $i \in \mathbb{N}$. We define a well-order on S' given by $s_i < s_j$ if and only if i < j. If we consider $X = X_G \cup (\bigcup_{\alpha \in S \setminus \{-1\}} S_{(g,\alpha)})$ and the point x = (g,0) for some $g \in G$, then a set A_x satisfying the conditions of Definition 1.1.29 does not exist. If it exists, then $(g, s_i) \in A_x$ for every $i \in \mathbb{N}$, which means that A_x cannot be a finite set.

We prove the last assertion. By construction, for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$ we have that (g, s_j) is not a maximal point. Furthermore, $minimal(\{z \in X | z > (g, 0)\}) = \{(g, s_1), B_{(g,0)}\}$. Then, $(g, s_1), B_{(g,0)} \in A_x$ because it is needed that $|A_x \cap minimal(\{z \in X | z > (g, 0)\})| \ge 2$. Moreover, $minimal(\{z \in X | z > (g, s_1)\}) = \{(g, s_2), B_{(g,s_1)}\}$, so $(g, s_2), B_{(g,s_1)} \in A_x$. In general, it can be argued inductively that $(g, s_{n+1}), B_{(g,s_n)} \in A_x$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ because $minimal(\{z \in X | z > (g, s_n)\}) = \{(g, s_{n+1}), B_{(g,s_n)}\}$.



Figure 3.3.3: Hasse diagram of $S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}$.

Construction of \overline{X}_G . Given a group G, we consider the topological space X_G constructed in Section 3.2. For every $(g,\beta) \in X_G$, where $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$ and $g \in G$, we consider $S_{(g,\beta)}$ and $T_{(g,\beta)}$ in the following way: $S_{(g,\beta)} = \{A_{(g,\beta)}, B_{(g,\beta)}, C_{(g,\beta)}, D_{(g,\beta)}, (g,\beta)\}$ and $T_{(g,\beta)} = \{E_{(g,\beta)}, F_{(g,\beta)}, G_{(g,\beta)}, H_{(g,\beta)}, I_{(g,\beta)}, J_{(g,\beta)}, (g,\beta)\}$. Finally, we consider

$$\overline{X}_G = X_G \cup \left(\bigcup_{\substack{(g,\beta) \in G \times S \\ 0 \le \beta < max(S)}} (S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)})\right)$$

with the following relations:

- 1. $(g,\beta) < (g,\gamma)$ if $-1 \le \beta < \gamma$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta, \gamma \in S$.
- 2. $(g\beta, -1) < (g, \gamma)$ if $0 < \beta \le \gamma$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta, \gamma \in S$.
- 3. $(g,\beta) > D_{(q,\gamma)}, H_{(q,\gamma)}$ if $-1 < \gamma < \beta$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta, \gamma \in S$.
- 4. $(g,\beta) > D_{(q,\beta)}, H_{(q,\beta)}$ if $0 \le \beta < max(S)$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta \in S$.
- 5. $(g,\beta) < E_{(q,\gamma)}, B_{(q,\gamma)}$ if $-1 \le \beta < \gamma < max(S)$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta, \gamma \in S$.
- 6. $(g,\beta) < E_{(q,\beta)}, B_{(q,\beta)}$ if $0 \le \beta < max(S)$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta \in S$.
- 7. $A_{(g,\beta)} > C_{(g,\beta)}, D_{(g,\beta)}$ and $B_{(g,\beta)} > C_{(g,\beta)}$ if $0 \le \beta < max(S)$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta \in S$.
- 8. $B_{(q,\beta)} > D_{(q,\gamma)}, H_{(q,\gamma)}$ if $-1 < \gamma \leq \beta < max(S)$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta, \gamma \in S$.
- 9. $E_{(g,\beta)} > D_{(g,\gamma)}, H_{(g,\gamma)}$ if $-1 < \gamma \le \beta < max(S)$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta, \gamma \in S$.
- 10. $G_{(q,\beta)} > I_{(q,\beta)}, J_{(q,\beta)}$ if $0 \le \beta < max(S)$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta \in S$.
- 11. $F_{(g,\beta)} > H_{(g,\beta)}, J_{(g,\beta)}$ and $E_{(g,\beta)} > I_{(g,\beta)}$ if $0 \le \beta < max(S)$, where $g \in G$ and $\beta \in S$.

Remark 3.3.2. If G is a finite group, then the structure T_x can be omitted in \overline{X}_G . For the finite case, \overline{X}_G is a finite topological space. By construction, it is obvious that \overline{X}_G is a minimal finite topological space, which implies that $\mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_G) \simeq \operatorname{Aut}(\overline{X}_G)$. Therefore, it suffices to show that $\operatorname{Aut}(\overline{X}_G) \simeq G$. **Lemma 3.3.3.** Given $g \in G$, $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$ and $S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}$ as a subspace of \overline{X}_G . The group of homeomorphisms of $S_{(q,\beta)} \cup T_{(q,\beta)}$ is trivial.

Proof. We can deduce that (g,β) is a fixed point for every homeomorphism since (g,β) is not a maximal or minimal point. From here, it is easy to obtain the desired result. \Box

Again, we present a couple of examples to illustrate this construction. In fact, we update the examples introduced in Section 3.2.

Example 3.3.4. Let $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ be the Klein four-group. We consider $S' = \{a, b\}$ and we declare a < b, where a = (1, 0) and b = (0, 1). The Hasse diagram of $\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2}$ can be seen in Figure 3.3.4. We have used only the structure S_x since the Klein four-group is a finite group, see Remark 3.3.2.



Figure 3.3.4: Hasse diagram of $\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2}$ without T_x .

Example 3.3.5. Let \mathbb{Z} be the group of integer numbers. We consider $S' = \{1\}$. The Hasse diagram of $\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ can be seen in Figure 3.3.5.



Figure 3.3.5: Hasse diagram of $\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

We want to prove that for every group G, there exists a topological space satisfying that its group of self-homotopy equivalences is isomorphic to G. Our candidate to satisfy this property is \overline{X}_G . We split the proof of the result in some technical lemmas.

Lemma 3.3.6. Given a non-trivial group G, $Aut(X_G)$ is isomorphic to $Aut(\overline{X}_G)$.

Proof. Firstly, we prove that every $f \in Aut(\overline{X}_G)$ satisfies $f(X_G) = X_G$, that is, $f_{|X_G} \in Aut(X_G)$. If $f \in Aut(\overline{X}_G)$, then we have trivially that f(M) = M and f(N) = N, where M and N denote the sets of maximal and minimal elements of \overline{X}_G . From this, we get $f(\overline{X}_G \setminus (M \cup N)) = \overline{X}_G \setminus (M \cup N)$. Notice that $\overline{X}_G \setminus (M \cup N)$ is precisely X_G minus the maximal and minimal points of X_G . For the finite case, $\overline{X}_G \setminus (M \cup N) = X_G \setminus (\bigcup_{g \in G} \{(g, -1), (g, max(S))\})$. For the non-finite case, $\overline{X}_G \setminus (M \cup N) = X_G \setminus (\bigcup_{g \in G} \{(g, -1)\})$

We prove that $f(G \times \{-1\}) = G \times \{-1\}$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose there exists $g \in G$ such that $f(g, -1) \in N \setminus (G \times \{-1\})$. If f(g, -1) = x with $x \in \{C_{(h,\alpha)}, D_{(h,\alpha)}, H_{(h,\alpha)}, I_{(h,\alpha)}, J_{(h,\alpha)}\}$ for some $h \in G$ and $0 \leq \alpha < max(S)$, then the set $Z = \{y \in \overline{X}_G | x \prec y\}$ has cardinality two and it contains at least one element in M. The set $Y = \{y \in \overline{X}_G | (g, -1) \prec y\}$ has cardinality at least two. If $|S'| \geq 2$, then (g, 0) and $(g\beta^{-1}, \beta)$ with $\beta < max(S)$ are points in $Y \setminus (M \cup N)$. By Proposition 1.1.76 and the injectivity of f, $f(Y \setminus (M \cup N)) = Z$ but it contradicts $f(\overline{X}_G \setminus (M \cup N)) = \overline{X}_G \setminus (M \cup N)$. If |S'| = 1, then we know that $f(G \times \{0\}) = G \times \{0\}$ since the points of the form (k, 0) for some $k \in G$ are the only points that are neither maximal nor minimal points. If f(g, -1) = x with $x \in \{C_{(h,0)}, I_{(h,0)}, J_{(h,0)}\}$ for some $h \in G$, then we get a contradiction studying the image by f of $(g, -1) \prec (g, 0) \prec (g, max(S))$. If f(g, -1) = x with $x \in \{D_{(h,0)}, H_{(h,0)}\}$ for some $h \in G$, then we get a contradiction studying the image by f of $(g, -1) \prec (g max(S)^{-1}, max(S)) \succ (g max(S)^{-1}, 0)$. We have shown that $f(G \times \{-1\}) \subseteq G \times \{-1\}$. The equality follows because f is a homeomorphism.

If S is finite, then we prove that $f(G \times \{max(S)\}) = G \times \{max(S)\}$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose there exists $g \in G$ such that f(g, max(S)) = x with $x \in \{A_{(h,\beta)}, B_{(h,\beta)}, F_{(h,\beta)}, G_{(h,\beta)}\}$ for some $h \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$. We repeat the previous argument. The set $Z = \{y \in \overline{X}_G | x \succ y\}$ has cardinality two and it is a subset of $\overline{X}_G \setminus (G \times \{-1\})$. The set $Y = \{y \in \overline{X}_G | (g, max(S)) \succ y\}$ has cardinality two, its elements are (g, α) and $(g \max(S), -1)$, where α is an immediate predecessor of max(S). By Proposition 1.1.76 and the injectivity of f, f(Y) = Z but it contradicts $f(G \times \{-1\}) = G \times \{-1\}$. Again, $f(G \times \{max(S)\}) = G \times \{max(S)\}$ follows from the fact that f is a homeomorphism.

By the previous arguments, it can be deduced that $f(X_G) = X_G$. Moreover, by Proposition 3.2.4, $f(G \times \{\beta\}) = G \times \{\beta\}$ for every $\beta \in S$. By Lemma 3.3.3 and Proposition 1.1.76, for every (g,β) with $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$ we get $f(S_{(g,\beta)}) = S_{f(g,\beta)}$ and $f(T_{(g,\beta)}) = T_{f(g,\beta)}$.

We define $\varphi : Aut(\overline{X}_G) \to Aut(X_G)$ given by $\varphi(f) = f_{|X_G}$. It is easy to show that φ is a homomorphism of groups and is well-defined. We prove that φ is a monomorphism of groups. If $f, h \in Aut(\overline{X}_G)$ with $f \neq h$, then it means that there exists a point $x \in \overline{X}_G$ such that $f(x) \neq h(x)$. Suppose $x \in (S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}) \setminus \{(g,\beta)\}$ for some $(g,\beta) \in X_G$. By the previous comments, $f(g,\beta) \neq h(g,\beta)$. Hence, we find $y \in X_G$ such that $f_{|X_G}(y) \neq h_{|X_G}(y)$. Now, we prove that φ is an epimorphism of groups. If $f \in Aut(X_G)$, then we extend $f : X_G \to X_G$ to $f' : \overline{X}_G \to \overline{X}_G$ just declaring that f'(x) = f(x) for every $x \in X_G$ and $f'(S_{(g,\beta)}) = S_{f(g,\beta)}, f'(T_{(g,\beta)}) = T_{f(g,\beta)}$ for every $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$. It is easily seen that $f' \in Aut(\overline{X}_G)$. Thus, $\varphi(f') = f$.

Lemma 3.3.7. If X is an Alexandroff space, $a \in X$ is a maximal (resp. minimal) element such that $U_a \setminus \{a\}$ (resp. $F_a \setminus \{a\}$) is not connected and $r : X \to X$ is a comparative retraction, then r(a) = a.

Proof. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that r(a) < a, the case r(a) > a is not possible since a is a maximal element. By hypothesis, $U_a \setminus \{a\} = V \cup W$, where V and W are

disjoint non-empty open sets. We can suppose that $x = r(a) \in V$, then $U_x \subseteq V$. We take $y \in W$ so $U_y \subseteq W$. By the continuity of r, we get $r(y) \leq r(a)$. We also have that r is a comparative retraction so $r(y) \leq y$ or $r(y) \geq y$. Suppose that $r(y) \leq y$. We have that $r(y) \leq x$. Therefore, $r(y) \in U_x \cap U_y \subseteq V \cap W$, which entails a contradiction. If $r(y) \geq y$, then $x \geq r(y) \geq y$ and $y \in U_x$, which leads to a contradiction.

The case when a is a minimal element follows from the previous case. If $r: X \to X$ is a comparative retraction, then it is also a comparative retraction when we consider the opposite order in X. With the opposite order we are in the previous conditions, that is, a is now a maximal element and $U_a \setminus \{a\}$ is not connected. Thus, we get that r(a) = a. \Box

Lemma 3.3.8. Given a non-trivial group G, $\mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_G)$ is isomorphic to $Aut(\overline{X}_G)$.

Proof. We need to prove that \overline{X}_G is locally a core. Then, applying Lemma 1.1.33, we get the desired result. Firstly, we show that \overline{X}_G is a \mathcal{C} -core. Hence, it suffices to verify that the only comparative retraction of X is the identity.

Let r be a comparative retraction. If $x \in (S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}) \setminus \{(g,\beta)\}$ or $x \in \{(g,-1), (g,max(S))\}$, where $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$, then we are trivially in the hypothesis of Lemma 3.3.7 so r(x) = x.

It only remains to study the points of the form (g,β) with $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$ and $g \in G$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that $r(g,\beta) \neq (g,\beta)$. Then, $r(g,\beta) < (g,\beta)$ or $r(g,\beta) > (g,\beta)$. Suppose $r(g,\beta) < (g,\beta)$. If $r(g,\beta) \neq D_{(g,\beta)}$, then we get $D_{(g,\beta)} = r(D_{(g,\beta)}) < r(g,\beta) < (g,\beta)$, which leads to a contradiction because $D_{(g,\beta)} \prec (g,\beta)$. If $r(g,\beta) = D_{(g,\beta)}$, then we get a contradiction because we get $H_{(g,\beta)} = r(H_{(g,\beta)}) \leq r(g,\beta) = D_{(g,\beta)}$, then we have $g_{(g,\beta)} = r(B_{(g,\beta)}) > r(g,\beta) > r(g,\beta) > r(g,\beta)$, which leads to a contradiction with $B_{(g,\beta)} \succ (g,\beta)$. If $r(g,\beta) = B_{(g,\beta)}$, then we have $B_{(g,\beta)} = r(B_{(g,\beta)}) > r(g,\beta) > (g,\beta)$, which leads to a contradiction with $B_{(g,\beta)} \succ (g,\beta)$. If $r(g,\beta) = B_{(g,\beta)}$, then we get $E_{(g,\beta)} = r(E_{(g,\beta)}) \geq r(g,\beta)$, which entails a contradiction.

We have shown that \overline{X}_G is a *C*-core. Now, we prove that \overline{X}_G is locally a core. For every $x \in S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}$, where $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$ and $g \in G$, we consider $A_x = S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}$. Suppose x = (g, -1) with $g \in G$. Then, $(g, -1) \prec (g\gamma^{-1}, \gamma)$ for some $\gamma \in S'$. If $\gamma \neq max(S)$, then we consider $A_x = S_{(g,0)} \cup T_{(g,0)} \cup S_{(g\gamma^{-1},\gamma)} \cup \{(g, -1)\}$. If S is finite and $\gamma = max(S)$, then we consider $A_x = S_{(g,0)} \cup T_{(g,0)} \cup S_{(g\gamma^{-1},\alpha)} \cup T_{(g\gamma^{-1},\alpha)} \cup \{(g, -1), (g\gamma^{-1}, \gamma)\}$, where $(g\gamma^{-1}, \alpha) \prec (g\gamma^{-1}, \gamma)$. If S is finite and x = (g, max(S)) with ginG, then there exists $\alpha \in S$ such that $(g, \alpha) \prec (g, max(S))$ and we consider $A_x = S_{(g,\alpha)} \cup T_{(g,\alpha)} \cup S_{(g max(S),0)} \cup T_{(g max(S),0)} \cup \{x, (g max(S), -1)\}$. It follows easily that A_x satisfies the property required in Definition 1.1.29 for every $x \in \overline{X}_G$.

In general, for an arbitrary Alexandroff space we cannot expect to obtain an isomorphism of groups between its group of homeomorphisms and its group of homotopy classes of self-homotopy equivalences.

Example 3.3.9. Let $A = \{a, b, c, d, e\}$, we use the topology associated to the following partial order: a, b < d, c, e and c < e. Firstly, we study Aut(A). A homeomorphism preserves the order and therefore should send maximal chains to maximal chains. In A, there are two maximal chains, which are a < c < e and b < c < e. From here, it is easy to deduce that e, d and c are fixed points for every homeomorphism and then $Aut(A) \simeq \mathbb{Z}_2$. On the other hand, $A^c = \{a, b, c, d\}$ is the core of A because e is clearly a down beat point and A^c does not contain beat points. Hence, $\mathcal{E}(A) \simeq \mathcal{E}(A^c)$. Since A^c is a core, it follows that $Aut(A^c) \simeq \mathcal{E}(A^c)$. From this, it is obvious that $\mathcal{E}(A^c)$ is the Klein four-group. We describe the two generators f and g of $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \simeq \mathcal{E}(A)$. We have that f is given by f(a) =

b, f(b) = a, f(c) = c, f(d) = d and g is given by g(c) = d, g(d) = c, g(a) = a, g(b) = b. A schematic situation in the Hasse diagrams can be seen in Figure 3.3.6.



Figure 3.3.6: Hasse diagram of A and A^c .

Remark 3.3.10. From the proofs of Remark 3.2.7, Lemma 3.3.6 and Lemma 3.3.8, it can be deduced that the set $L_{x,y} = \{f : (\overline{X}_G, x) \to (\overline{X}_G, y) | f(x) = y \text{ and } f \in \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_G)\}$ has cardinality at most 1.

Theorem 3.3.11. Let G be a group. Then there exists a topological space \overline{X}_G such that its group of homotopy classes of self-homotopy equivalences is isomorphic to G. Concretely, $Aut(\overline{X}_G) \simeq \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_G) \simeq G$.

Proof. Given a non-trivial group G, we consider X_G and \overline{X}_G . By the proof of Theorem 3.2.6, $G \simeq Aut(X_G)$. By Lemma 3.3.6 and Lemma 3.3.8, we get $\mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_G) \simeq Aut(X_G)$. If G is the trivial group, then we only need to consider the Alexandroff space given by one point.

3.4 Realization problem in $HTop_*$ and Top_*

Given a group G, the topological space \overline{X}_G introduced in Section 3.3 is far from satisfying that their group of pointed homotopy classes of pointed self-homotopy equivalences is isomorphic to G due to Remark 3.2.7. We deduce that $\{f : (\overline{X}_G, x) \to (\overline{X}_G, y) | x, y \in \overline{X}_G\}$ has cardinality at most 1. The same situation also holds if we consider X_G and $Aut_*(X_G)$. Therefore, we need to modify \overline{X}_G . The idea is to add one extra point that will play the role of a fixed point for every self-homotopy equivalence or autohomeomorphism.

<u>Construction of \overline{X}_{G*} .</u> Given a group G, we consider \overline{X}_G and define \overline{X}_{G*} as $\overline{X}_G \cup \{*\}$, where we keep the relations defined on \overline{X}_G and we declare * > (g, -1) for every $g \in G$.

We update previous examples to illustrate the new modification.

Example 3.4.1. Let $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ be the Klein four-group. We consider $S' = \{a, b\}$ and we declare a < b, where a = (0, 1) and b = (0, 1). The Hasse diagram of $\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2 *}$ can be seen in Figure 3.4.1.

Example 3.4.2. Let \mathbb{Z} be the group of integer numbers. We consider the following generating set $S' = \{1\}$. The Hasse diagram of $\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}*}$ can be seen in Figure 3.4.2.

Theorem 3.4.3. Given a group G, $Aut(\overline{X}_{G*}) \simeq \mathcal{E}_*(\overline{X}_{G*}) \simeq G$.

Proof. Suppose G is not a trivial group. We show that \overline{X}_{G*} is a C-core. We need to verify that the only comparative retraction $r : \overline{X}_{G*} \to \overline{X}_{G*}$ is the identity. If $x \in$



Figure 3.4.1: Hasse diagram of $\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{2^*}}$ without T_x .



Figure 3.4.2: Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}*}$

 $(S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}^n) \setminus \{(g,\beta)\}$ or $x \in \{(g,-1), *, (g, max(S))\}$, where $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$ and $g \in G$, then x satisfies the hypothesis of Lemma 3.3.7. Hence, we need to show that r(x) = x for the points of the form (g,β) , where $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$ and $g \in G$. It suffices to repeat the same arguments used in the proof of Lemma 3.3.8 for that sort of points to conclude.

We prove that \overline{X}_{G*} is locally a core. If $x \in S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}^n$, where $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$, then we consider $A_x = S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}$. Suppose x = (g, -1) with $g \in G$. Therefore, $(g, -1) \prec (g\gamma^{-1}, \gamma)$ for some $\gamma \in S'$. If $\gamma \neq max(S)$, then we consider $A_x = S_{(g,0)} \cup T_{(g,0)} \cup S_{(g\gamma^{-1},\gamma)} \cup T_{(g\gamma^{-1},\gamma)} \cup \{(g, -1)\}$. If S is finite and $\gamma = max(S)$, then we consider $A_x = S_{(g,0)} \cup T_{(g,0)} \cup S_{(g\gamma^{-1},\alpha)} \cup T_{(g\gamma^{-1},\alpha)} \cup \{(g, -1), (g\gamma^{-1}, \gamma)\}$, where $(g\gamma^{-1}, \alpha) \prec (g\gamma^{-1}, \gamma)$. If S is finite and x = (g, max(S)) for some $g \in G$, then there exists $\alpha \in S$ such that $(g, \alpha) \prec (g, max(S))$ and we consider $A_x = S_{(g,\alpha)} \cup T_{(g,\alpha)} \cup S_{(g max(S),0)} \cup T_{(g max(S),0)}^n \cup \{x, (g max(S), -1)\}$. Finally, if x = *, then we consider the sets $A_{(g,-1)}$ and $A_{(h,-1)}$ defined before, where $g, h \in G$ and $g \neq h$. Therefore, $A_* = \{*\} \cup A_{(g,-1)} \cup A_{(h,-1)}$. For every $x \in \overline{X}_{G*}$ we have that A_x satisfies the property required in Definition 1.1.29. Thus, \overline{X}_{G*} is locally a core. By Lemma 1.1.33, $\mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_{G*})$ is isomorphic to $Aut(\overline{X}_{G*})$.

We prove that $Aut(\overline{X}_G)$ is isomorphic to $Aut(\overline{X}_{G*})$. To do that, we verify that * is a fixed point for every $f \in Aut(\overline{X}_{G*})$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose * is not a fixed point for $f \in Aut(\overline{X}_{G*})$. We study cases. By construction, * is a maximal element. Then, f(*) = x with x being a maximal element of \overline{X}_G , that is, x is a maximal element in $S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}$ or is equal to (g, max(S)), where $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$. We consider $Y_z = \{y \in \overline{X}_{G*} | y \prec z\}$. We have $|Y_*| = |G|$ and $|Y_x| = 2$. By Proposition 1.1.76, $f(Y_*) \subseteq Y_x$. If |G| > 2, then we get a contradiction with the injectivity of f. If |G| = 2, then G is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_2 . Since * is a maximal element, it follows that f(*) is a maximal element. Again, we study cases. If f(*) is a maximal element in $S_{(i,0)} \cup T_{(i,0)}$, where $i \in \{0,1\}$, then we get a contradiction studying the image by f of $* \succ (0,-1) \prec (0,0) \prec (0,1)$. If f(*) = (i,1), where $i \in \{0,1\}$, then we get a contradiction studying the image by f^{-1} of $(i,1) \succ (i,0) \succ (i,-1)$. Thus, the only possibility is f(*) = *, which means that * is a fixed point for every $f \in Aut(\overline{X}_{G*})$. It follows that $Aut(\overline{X}_G)$ is isomorphic to $Aut(\overline{X}_{G*})$.

We consider the group of pointed homotopy classes of pointed self-homotopy equivalences of the pointed space $(\overline{X}_{G*}, *)$. We also denote that group by $\mathcal{E}((\overline{X}_{G*}, *))$. By the proof of Lemma 1.1.33 and Remark 1.1.34, it can be deduced that * is a fixed point for every self-homotopy equivalence $f \in \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_{G*})$. Then, we get $\mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_{G*}) = \mathcal{E}((\overline{X}_{G*}, *))$. By the proof of Theorem 3.3.11, we obtain $Aut(\overline{X}_{G*}) \simeq G$. From here, the result is obtained.

If G is the trivial group, we only need to consider $\{(S_{(e,0)} \cup T_{(e,0)}, (e,0))\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, where we have that (e,0) is a fixed point for every homeomorphism. From here, it can be deduced the result.

3.5 Infinitely many spaces realizing groups in Top, HTop, Top_* and $HTop_*$ and some properties of \overline{X}_G

Given a group G, we produce infinitely many Alexandroff spaces $(\overline{X}_G^n \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{N})$ satisfying that their groups of automorphisms in Top, HTop, Top_* and $HTop_*$ are isomorphic to G. In addition, these spaces are pairwise distinct in Top and HTop, this gives a negative answer to Problem 3.1.2 also for the homotopical category.

Construction of \overline{X}_{G*}^n . Let G be a non-trivial group and let \overline{X}_{G*} be the space constructed in Section 3.4. For every $(g,\beta) \in X_G$, where $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$, we change $T_{(g,\beta)}$ by $T_{(g,\beta)}^n$ so as to get \overline{X}_G^n . We have that $T_{(g,\beta)}^n$ consists of 2n + 5 points, concretely, $T_{(g,\beta)}^n = \{x_1, ..., x_{2+n}, y_1, ..., y_{2+n}, (g,\beta)\}$, where x_i denotes a maximal element and y_i denotes a minimal element for i = 1, ..., 2 + n. The relations are given by the following formulas:

$$(g,\beta) < x_1 > y_2 < x_3 > \dots < x_{1+n} > y_{2+n} < x_{2+n} > y_{1+n} < x_n > \dots < x_2 > y_1 < (g,\beta),$$
(3.1)

$$(g,\beta) < x_1 > y_2 < x_3 > \dots > y_{1+n} < x_{2+n} > y_{2+n} < x_{1+n} > y_n < \dots < x_2 > y_1 < (g,\beta),$$
(3.2)

where the first case is considered when n is even and the second case when n is odd. An example of the Hasse diagrams can be seen in Figure 3.5.1. It is clear that $T^1_{(g,\beta)} = T_{(g,\beta)}$ and $\overline{X}^1_{G*} = \overline{X}_{G*}$. We consider

$$\overline{X}_{G*}^n = X_G \cup \left(\bigcup_{\substack{(g,\beta)\in G\times S\\0\le \beta<\max(S)}} (S_{(g,\beta)}\cup T_{(g,\beta)}^n)\right) \cup \{*\},\$$

where we extend the partial order of $X_G \cup (\bigcup_{\substack{(g,\beta) \in G \times S \\ 0 \leq \beta < max(S)}} S_{(g,\beta)}) \cup \{*\}$ as a subspace of \overline{X}_G to \overline{X}_{G*}^n . Let $x_1, y_1 \in T^n_{(g,\beta)}$, we identify them with $E_{(g,\beta)}$ and $H_{(g,\beta)}$ respectively. Then,



Figure 3.5.1: Hasse diagrams of T_x^1 , T_x^2 and T_x^4

we consider the relations 3. 5. 8. and 9. of \overline{X}_G . Finally, we consider the relations given in Formula (3.1) and Formula (3.2).

Theorem 3.5.1. Given a group G, $Aut(\overline{X}_{G*}^n) \simeq \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_{G*}^n) \simeq Aut_*(\overline{X}_{G*}^n) \simeq \mathcal{E}_*(\overline{X}_{G*}^n) \simeq G$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Furthermore, \overline{X}_G^n is homotopy equivalent to \overline{X}_G^m if and only if m = n.

Proof. We assume that G is a non-trivial group. The first part of the result is similar to the proof of Theorem 3.4.3. Then, we prove the second part.

If \overline{X}_{G*}^n is homotopy equivalent to \overline{X}_{G*}^m , where $m \neq n$, then there exist two continuous functions $f: \overline{X}_{G*}^n \to \overline{X}_{G*}^m$, $g: \overline{X}_{G*}^m \to \overline{X}_{G*}^n$ such that $f \circ g \simeq id_{\overline{X}_{G*}^m}$ and $g \circ f \simeq id_{\overline{X}_{G*}^n}$. Without loss of generality we assume that n > m. By Theorem 1.1.31, $f \circ g = id_{\overline{X}_{G*}^m}$ and $g \circ f = id_{\overline{X}_{G*}^n}$. Then, f is a homeomorphism and g is the inverse of f. Therefore, $f(G \times \{\beta\}) = G \times \{\beta\}$ with $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$. To prove the last assertion we need to argue as we did in the proof of Lemma 3.3.6. If M^s and N^s denote the set of maximal and minimal points of \overline{X}_{G*}^s , where s = n, m, then we have $f(\overline{X}_{G*}^n \setminus (M^n \cup N^n)) = \overline{X}_{G*}^m \setminus (M^m \cup N^m)$, where $\overline{X}_{G*}^s \setminus (M^s \cup N^s)$ is the product of a discrete poset with a well-ordered set for s = n, m. By the proof of Proposition 3.2.4, it can be deduced the desired assertion. By Proposition 1.1.76 and the previous assertion, for every (g, β) , where $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$, we deduce that $f(S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}^n) \subseteq S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}^m$, which leads to a contradiction with the injectivity of f.

If G is the trivial group, we only need to consider $\{S_{(e,0)} \cup T_{(e,0)}^n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. We apply the same techniques and a generalization of Lemma 3.3.3 to prove the desired result. \Box

We study some properties of X_G . From now on in this section, G denotes a countable group, i.e., it is countable as a set or, equivalently, it has a countable set of generators. Let S' be a set of non-trivial generators of G. If S' is countable, we can denote the elements of S' by s_i with $i \in I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$. If S' is finite, then I can be taken as $I = \{1, 2, ..., |S'|\}$. We declare $s_i < s_j$ if and only if i < j. We get that S' with the previous relation is a well-ordered set. In addition, for every $x \in S'$, U_x is a finite set. Thus, taking S' and the previous relation in the construction of \overline{X}_G , it can be deduced that \overline{X}_G is a locally finite Alexandroff space.

We define the undirected graph $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ given by the Hasse diagram of \overline{X}_G , the set of vertices are the points of \overline{X}_G and there is an edge between two vertices x and y if and only if $x \prec y$ ($x \succ y$). We have that $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ can be seen as a one-dimensional CW-complex.

Proposition 3.5.2. If G is a countable infinite group, then $|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|$ is homotopy equivalent to $\bigvee_{|\mathbb{N}|} S^1$. If G is a finite group, then $|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|$ is homotopy equivalent to the wedge sum of 3nr - n + 1 copies of S^1 , where |G| = n and |S'| = r.

Proof. We prove that $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ and $|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|$ have the same homotopy type. The idea of the proof is to show that the natural inclusion $i: H_u(\overline{X}_G) \to |\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|$ is a weak homotopy equivalence between two CW-complexes. Then, by a well-known theorem of Whitehead, we would get that $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ is homotopy equivalent to $|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|$.

By the construction of the McCord complex, $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ is a subcomplex of $\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)$ so *i* is well-defined and continuous. By Theorem 1.1.43, we know that there is a weak homotopy equivalence $f : |\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)| \to \overline{X}_G$. Furthermore, by the proof of [75, Lemma 3], $f^{-1}(U_x) = \bigcup_{y \in U_x} star(y)$, where star(y) denotes the union of all open simplices from $\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)$ containing *y* as a vertex. By the proof of [100, Corollary 11, Chapter 3], we get that $|\mathcal{K}(U_x)|$ is a strong deformation retract of $f^{-1}(U_x)$ because $\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G) \setminus f^{-1}(U_x)$ is the largest subcomplex of $\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)$ disjoint from $\mathcal{K}(U_x)$ and $\mathcal{K}(U_x)$ is a full subcomplex of $\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)$. Finally, U_x is contractible because it has a maximum. We get that $|\mathcal{K}(U_x)|$ is also contractible.

Let \mathcal{U} denote the basis-like open cover given by $\{U_x\}_{x\in\overline{X}_G}$. It is straightforward to check that $f^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) = \{f^{-1}(U_x) | U_x \in \mathcal{U}\}$ is a basis-like open cover for $|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|$.

We denote $B_x = \bigcup_{y \in U_x \subset H_u(U_x)} star(y)$, here, star(y) denotes the union of all open simplices from $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ containing y as a vertex. We have that $i^{-1}(f^{-1}(U_x)) = B_x$. It is trivial to show that $H_u(U_x)$ is a full subcomplex of $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$. We can repeat the previous arguments to prove that $H_u(U_x)$ is a strong deformation retract of B_x , i.e., we use the proof of [100, Corollary 11, Chapter 3].

On the other hand, $H_u(U_x)$ is contractible for every $x \in \overline{X}_G$ since $H_u(U_x)$ is a tree. The vertices of $H_u(U_x)$ are the points of \overline{X}_G that are smaller or equal to x. In Figure 3.5.2, we have the different graphs that can appear when we consider $H_u(U_x)$. If $x \in \{A_{(g,\beta)}, F_{(g,\beta)}, G_{(g,\beta)}\}$, where $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$, then $H_u(U_x)$ is isomorphic to graph A). If $x \in \{C_{(g,\beta)}, D_{(g,\beta)}, H_{(g,\beta)}, I_{(g,\beta)}, J_{(g,\beta)}, (g,-1)\}$, where $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$, then $H_u(U_x)$ is isomorphic to graph B). If x = (g, 0), for some $g \in G$, then $H_u(U_x)$ is isomorphic to graph D), which is the graph in blue and black. If $x = (g, s_n)$ for some $g \in G$ and $n \in I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, then $H_u(U_x)$ is isomorphic to graph F). Thus, we are in the hypothesis of Theorem 1.1.46 and we get that i is a weak homotopy equivalence.



Figure 3.5.2: Graph isomorphic to $H_u(U_x)$ for different cases of $x \in \overline{X}_G$.

We prove that $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ is a connected *CW*-complex. We have $(g, -1) \prec (g, 0) \prec (g, s_1) \prec \ldots \prec (g, s_n) \prec \ldots$ for every $g \in G$. Repeating the same arguments used in the last part of the proof of Theorem 3.2.6, we deduce the result. Therefore, $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ is a one-dimensional connected CW-complex, so it is homotopy equivalent to a wedge sum of

circles. It remains to determine the number of circles.

Suppose G is a non-finite set. By [60, Proposition 1A.1] or [107, Theorem 8.4.7], $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ contains a maximal tree. Let W_g denote the subcomplex of $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ given by $(g,-1) \prec (g,0) \prec \ldots \prec (g,s_n) \prec \ldots$ We consider a maximal tree T in $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ containing the subcomplex $\bigcup_{g \in G} W_g$. It is clear that there is one edge of $S_{(g,\beta)}$ and another one of $T_{(g,\beta)}$ not contained in T for every (g,β) , where $g \in G$ and $max(S) > \beta \ge 0$. Therefore, we have that the wedge sum of circles is at least of 2|S'||G| circles. But using the arithmetic of infinite cardinals, we have that 2|S'||G| = |G|. There are |G||S'| edges in $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ not contained in $(\bigcup_{g \in G, 0 \le \beta < max(S)} H_u(S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)})) \cup (\bigcup_{g \in G} W_g)$. Then, there are at most 2|G||S'| + |G||S'| edges not contained in T. Thus, $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ is homotopy equivalent to $\bigvee_{|\mathbb{N}|} S^1$.

Suppose G is finite. We know that $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ has the homotopy type of a wedge sum of a finite number of circles. Therefore, we only need to use the Euler characteristic to determine the number of circles. The number of vertices is v = n(r+2) + 10nr, where the first term corresponds to the number of vertices of $H_u(X_G) \subset H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ and the second one to the vertices of $H_u((S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)}) \setminus \{(g,\beta)\})$, where $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < max(S)$. The number of edges is e = n(r+1) + nr + 12nr, where the two first terms correspond to the number of edges of $H_u(X_G)$ and the third term corresponds to the edges of $\bigcup_{g \in G, 0 \leq \beta < max(S)} H_u(S_{(g,\beta)} \cup T_{(g,\beta)})$. We get that the Euler characteristic of $H_u(X_G)$ is n-3nr, which means that $H_u(X_G)$ is homotopy equivalent to the wedge sum of 3nr-n+1copies of S^1 .

Remark 3.5.3. Given a countable group G, the proof of Proposition 3.5.2 can be adapted to \overline{X}_G^n for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for every countable group G we get that \overline{X}_G^n is weak homotopy equivalent to \overline{X}_G for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proposition 3.5.4. Given a group G, the McCord functor induces a natural monomorphism of groups $K : \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_G) \to \mathcal{E}(|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|)$.

Proof. If $[f] \in \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_G)$, then we get by Remark 1.1.34 that $[f] = f \in Aut(\overline{X}_G)$. We have that $\mathcal{K}(f) \in Aut(|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|)$, where $\mathcal{K}(f)$ denotes the induced map between the geometric realization of $\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)$. It is also clear that $\mathcal{K}(f)$ defines a homotopy class such that $[\mathcal{K}(f)] \in$ $\mathcal{E}(|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|)$. It is trivial to check that $K : \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_G) \to \mathcal{E}(|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|)$ given by $K(f) = [\mathcal{K}(f)]$ is a well-defined homomorphism of groups. We prove the injectivity of K. If $f, g \in \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_G)$ with $f \neq g$, then there exists $(h, \beta) \in \overline{X}_G$ with $f(h, \beta) \neq g(h, \beta)$. Therefore, $f(S_{(h,\beta)}) =$ $S_{f(h,\beta)} \neq S_{g(h,\beta)} = g(S_{(h,\beta)})$ and $\mathcal{K}(f)(|\mathcal{K}(S_{(h,\beta)})|) \neq \mathcal{K}(g)(|\mathcal{K}(S_{(h,\beta)})|)$. On the other hand, $|\mathcal{K}(S_{(h,\beta)})|$ is homotopy equivalent to S^1 . Therefore, $\mathcal{K}(f)$ and $\mathcal{K}(g)$ send the same copy of S^1 to different copies of S^1 in $|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|$. Using Proposition 3.5.2, it can be deduced that $\mathcal{K}(f)$ is not homotopic to $\mathcal{K}(g)$ so $K(f) \neq K(g)$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that $\mathcal{K}(f)$ is homotopic to $\mathcal{K}(g)$. We know that $-\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|$ is homotopy equivalent to a wedge sum of circles. We proved earlier that $\mathcal{K}(f)$ and $\mathcal{K}(g)$ send the same copy of S^1 to different copies of S^1 in $|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|$. Thus, $\mathcal{K}(f)$ and $\mathcal{K}(g)$ induce different morphisms in homology, which entails a contradiction. \square

Remark 3.5.5. It is not difficult to check that the monomorphism of groups defined in the proof of Proposition 3.5.4 is not an isomorphism of groups. For instance, consider the continuous function that interchanges $H_u(S_{(g,\beta)})$ with $H_u(T_{(g,\beta)})$ in $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ for some (g,β) with $g \in G$ and $0 \leq \beta < \max(S)$. In other words, consider the symmetry through (g,β) of $H_u(S_{(g,\beta)})$ and $H_u(T_{(g,\beta)})$ in $H_u(\overline{X}_G)$ that fixes the remaining points.

For a general Alexandroff space A the homomorphism of groups $K : \mathcal{E}(A) \to \mathcal{E}(|\mathcal{K}(A)|)$ given in Proposition 3.5.4 is not necessarily a monomorphism of groups. **Example 3.5.6.** Let us consider the Alexandroff space A^c considered in Example 3.3.9. The McCord complex $\mathcal{K}(A^c)$ of A^c is a triangulation of S^1 . Then, $\mathcal{E}(|\mathcal{K}(A^c)|) \simeq \mathcal{E}(S^1) \simeq \mathbb{Z}_2$, while $Aut(A^c) \simeq \mathcal{E}(A^c) \simeq \mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$.

Remark 3.5.7. In general, the image of the monomorphism of Proposition 3.5.4 is not a normal subgroup of $\mathcal{E}(|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_G)|)$. We consider the cyclic group of three elements \mathbb{Z}_3 . By Proposition 3.5.2, $|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_3})|$ is homotopy equivalent to $\bigvee_{i=1}^7 S_i^1$, so $\mathcal{E}(|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_3})|) \simeq$ $\mathcal{E}(\bigvee_{i=1}^7 S_i^1)$. Consider $f \in \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_3}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}_3$ of order 3. Consider $\rho \in \mathcal{E}(\bigvee_{i=1}^7 S^1)$ given by $\rho(S_i^1) = S_{i+1}^1$ and $\rho(S_7^1) = S_1^1$, where i = 1, ..., 6. It can be deduced that K(f) viewed as an element of $\mathcal{E}(\bigvee_{i=1}^7 S^1)$ satisfies that $K(f)(S_1^1) = S_3^1$, $K(f)(S_3^1) = S_5^1$, $K(f)(S_5^1) = S_1^1$, $K(f)(S_2^1) = S_4^1$, $K(f)(S_4^1) = S_6^1$, $K(f)(S_6^2) = S_2^1$ and $K(f)(S_7^1) = S_7^1$. Then, it is easy to check that $\rho K(f)\rho^{-1} \notin L$, where L denotes $K(\mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_3}))$ considered as a subgroup of $\mathcal{E}(\bigvee_{i=1}^7 S_i^1)$. In Figure 3.5.3, we have the undirected Hasse diagram of $\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_3}$.



Figure 3.5.3: Undirected Hasse diagram of $\overline{X}_{\mathbb{Z}_3}$.

3.6 Realization problem in *Top* and *HTop*

Given two groups G and H, we construct a topological space X_H^G such that $Aut(X_H^G) \simeq G$ and $\mathcal{E}(X_H^G) \simeq H$. Before giving the proof of this result we present an example to motivate the main ideas.

Example 3.6.1. Let us consider the Klein four-group $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$, where we denote $g_1 = (0,0), g_2 = (1,0), g_3 = (0,1)$ and $g_4 = (1,1)$, and the cyclic group of two elements \mathbb{Z}_2 , where we denote $h_1 = 0$ and $h_2 = 1$. We also denote $G = \mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ and $H = \mathbb{Z}_2$ for simplicity. Moreover, we consider $S_G = \{g_2, g_3\}$ and $S_H = \{h_2\}$ as generating sets of G and H respectively. We declare $g_2 < g_3$. The goal is to construct a finite T_0 topological space X_H^G such that $Aut(X_H^G) \simeq G$ and $\mathcal{E}(X_H^G) \simeq H$.

By the results obtained in Section 3.2, there exists a finite T_0 topological space X^G with $Aut(X^G)$ isomorphic to G. In Figure 3.6.1 we represent in blue the Hasse diagram of X^G . It is clear that adding to X_G a minimum *, i.e., $X^G_* = X^G \cup \{*\}$ with * < xfor every $x \in X_G$, we get that $\mathcal{E}(X^G_*)$ is trivial because X^G_* is contractible. Moreover, if $f \in Aut(X^G_*)$, then we get that f(*) = *. From this we obtain that $Aut(X^G_*)$ is isomorphic to $Aut(X^G)$. Now, we want to construct a topological space X^*_H satisfying that $Aut(X^*_H)$ is trivial and $\mathcal{E}(X^*_H)$ is isomorphic to H. By the results obtained in Section 3.4, there exists a finite T_0 topological space X_H with $\mathcal{E}(X_H) \simeq Aut(X_H) \simeq H$. In figure 3.6.1, the Hasse diagram of X_H corresponds to the red and black parts of the diagram on the right. We need to modify X_H to reduce the number of self-homeomorphisms without changing the number of self-homotopy equivalences. Therefore, we add to X_H some points. We consider $X_H^* = X_H \cup \{w_{h_1}, w_{h_2}, a\}$, where we have the following relations: $A_{(h_1,0)} \prec w_{h_1}$ and $A_{(h_2,0)} \prec w_{h_2} \prec a$. The Hasse diagram of X_H^* can be seen on the right in Figure 3.6.1, where we have in orange the new points. It is simple to check that $\mathcal{E}(X_H^*) \simeq \mathcal{E}(X_H) \simeq H$. The new points are all of them beat points, so we can remove them without changing the homotopy type of X_H^* . Hence, X_H^* and X_H have the same homotopy type. In addition, $Aut(X_H^*)$ is trivial. We prove the last assertion. If $f \in Aut(X_H^*)$, then f(M) = M and f(N) = N, where M and N denote the set of maximal and minimal elements of X_H^* respectively. From here, using Proposition 1.1.76 and the fact that f preserves heights, it can be deduced that f is the identity.



Figure 3.6.1: Hasse diagrams of X_*^G and X_H^* .

Finally, we combine properly the spaces constructed before to get X_H^G . We identify the point * of X_H^* and X_*^G and extend the partial order of the two previous posets using transitivity, that is, if $x \in X_H^*$ and $y \in X_*^G$, then x < y if and only if x < * < y. It is not difficult to check that X_H^G satisfies the property required at the beginning. Since we can collapse X_*^G to *, it follows that X_H^G and X_H have the same homotopy type. This implies that $\mathcal{E}(X_H^G) \simeq \mathcal{E}(X_H) \simeq H$. It is easily seen that * is a fixed point for every $f \in Aut(X_H^G)$ because * is the only point with height 1 and $P_* = (2, 4)$. By the continuity of f, it can be deduced that $f(X^G) = X^G$ and $f(X_H^*) = X_H^*$. This is because x > * for every $x \in X_*^G$. From here, we obtain that $Aut(X_H^G)$ is isomorphic to G.



Figure 3.6.2: Hasse diagram of X_H^G .

We can also consider what we call the dual case, i.e., X_G^H , where we have that $Aut(X_G^H) \simeq H$ and $\mathcal{E}(X_G^H) \simeq G$. We argue as we did in the previous case, we construct X_G^* and X_*^H , see Figure 3.6.3.



Figure 3.6.3: Hasse diagrams of X_*^H and X_G^* .

Now, we put together the previous constructions to obtain X_G^H , i.e., the finite topological space given by the Hasse diagram of Figure 3.6.4. It is trivial to verify that X_G^H is not homeomorphic to X_H^G because of their different cardinality. Furthermore, X_H^G and X_G^H are not homotopy equivalent. After removing one by one the beat points of X_H^G we get X_H ; after removing one by one the beat points of X_G^H we get X_G . We have that X_G is not homeomorphic to X_H because of their different cardinality. By Theorem 1.1.21, we deduce that X_H^G and X_G^H are not homotopy equivalent. Moreover, studying the McCord complexes it can be deduced that X_H^G and X_H^H are not weak homotopy equivalent.





Figure 3.6.4: Hasse diagram of X_G^H .

Theorem 3.6.2. Let G and H be groups. Then there exists a topological space X_H^G such that $Aut(X_H^G)$ is isomorphic to G and $\mathcal{E}(X_H^G)$ is isomorphic to H.

Proof. The idea of the proof is to follow the same strategy of Example 3.6.1. Find a topological space X_H^* such that $\mathcal{E}(X_H^*) \simeq H$ and $Aut(X_H^*) = 0$ and a topological space X_*^G such that $Aut(X_*^G) \simeq G$ and $\mathcal{E}(X_*^G) = 0$, where 0 is denoting the trivial group. Then, combine properly both topological spaces to obtain a topological space X_H^G with $Aut(X_H^G) \simeq G$ and $\mathcal{E}(X_H^G) \simeq H$.

Suppose G and H are not trivial groups. The trivial case will be proved later.

Construction of X^G_* and properties. Let S'_G denote a set of non-trivial generators for G. Without loss of generality we can consider a well-order on S'_G such that if $max(S'_G)$ exists, then S'_G is a finite set. We consider $S_G = S'_G \cup \{0, -1\}$, where we assume that $-1, 0 \notin S'_G$, and extend the well-order defined on S'_G to S_G as follows: $-1 < 0 < \alpha$ for every $\alpha \in S'_G$. We consider

$$X^G_* = (G \times S_G) \cup \{*\},\$$

where we have the following relations:

- $(g, \alpha) < (g, \delta)$ if $1 \le \alpha < \delta$, where $g \in G$ and $\alpha, \delta \in S_G$.
- $(g\alpha, -1) \prec (g, \alpha)$, where $g \in G$ and $\alpha \in S_G \setminus \{-1, 0\}$.
- $* \prec (g, -1)$, where $g \in G$.

The remaining relations can be deduced from the above relations using transitivity. It is easy to check that X_*^G is a partially ordered set.

We prove that $Aut(X^G_*) \simeq G$ and $\mathcal{E}(X^G_*)$ is the trivial group. We have that $\mathcal{E}(X^G_*)$ is the trivial group because X^G_* is contractible to *, which is a minimum. Since * is a minimum, it follows that every self-homeomorphism must fix this point. From this we deduce that $Aut(X^G_*) \simeq Aut(X^G_* \setminus \{*\})$. In addition, $X^G_* \setminus \{*\}$ is the same topological space considered in Section 3.2 and denoted by X_G . Hence, we know that $Aut(X^G_*) \simeq Aut(X^G_*) \simeq Aut(X_G) \simeq G$, where $\varphi : G \to Aut(X_G)$ is given by $\varphi(s)(g, \alpha) = (sg, \alpha)$ and is an isomorphism of groups.

Construction of X_H^* and properties. We consider a set of non-trivial generators S'_H for H. There is no loss of generality in assuming that there exists a well-order on S'_H satisfying that if $max(S'_H)$ exists, then S'_H is a finite set. We repeat the same construction made before, that is, we consider $S_H = S'_H \cup \{0, -1\}$, where we assume that $-1, 0 \notin S'_H$, and extend the well-order defined on S'_H to S_H as follows: $-1 < 0 < \beta$ for every $\beta \in S'_H$.

For every $h \in H$ we take a well-ordered non-empty set W_h such that W_h is isomorphic to W_t if and only if h = t. For every $h \in H$ let $w_h \in W_h$ denote the first element or minimum of W_h . We consider

$$X_H^* = (H \times S_H) \cup (\bigcup_{\substack{(h,\beta) \in G \times S_H \\ 0 \le \beta < max(S_H)}} (S_{(h,\beta)} \cup T_{(h,\beta)}) \cup (\bigcup_{h \in H} W_h)) \cup \{*\},$$

where

$$S_{(h,\beta)} = \{A_{(h,\beta)}, B_{(h,\beta)}, C_{(h,\beta)}, D_{(h,\beta)}\}, T_{(h,\beta)} = \{E_{(h,\beta)}, F_{(h,\beta)}, G_{(h,\beta)}, H_{(h,\beta)}, I_{(h,\beta)}, J_{(h,\beta)}\}, F_{(h,\beta)}, F_{$$

and we have the following relations:

- 1. $(h,\beta) < (h,\gamma)$ if $-1 \le \alpha < \gamma$, where $h \in H$ and $\beta, \gamma \in S_H$.
- 2. $(h\beta, -1) \prec (h, \beta)$, where $h \in H$ and $\beta \in S_H \setminus \{-1, 0\}$.
- 3. $A_{(h,\beta)} \succ C_{(h,\beta)}, D_{(h,\beta)}; B_{(h,\beta)} \succ (h,\beta), C_{(h,\beta)} \text{ and } (h,\beta) \succ D_{(h,\beta)}, \text{ where } h \in H \text{ and } \beta \in S_H \setminus \{-1\}.$
- 4. $E_{(h,\beta)} \succ (h,\beta), I_{(h,\beta)}; F_{(h,\beta)} \succ H_{(h,\beta)}, J_{(h,\beta)}; G_{(h,\beta)} \succ I_{(h,\beta)}, J_{(h,\beta)} \text{ and } (h,\beta) \succ H_{(h,\beta)}, \text{ where } h \in H \text{ and } \beta \in S_H \setminus \{-1\}.$
- 5. $* \succ (h, -1)$, where $h \in H$.

6. We extend the partial order defined on W_h to X_H declaring that $A_{(h,0)} \prec w_h$, where $h \in H$.

The remaining relations can be deduced from the above using transitivity. It is routine to verify that X_H^* with the previous relations is a partially ordered set.



Figure 3.6.5: Hasse diagram of $S_{(h,0)} \cup T_{(h,0)} \cup W_h$, where W_h is a finite well-ordered set.

We proceed to show that $Aut(X_H^*)$ is the trivial group and $\mathcal{E}(X_H^*) \simeq H$. It is clear that X_H^* and $X_H^* \setminus \{W_h | h \in H\}$ have the same homotopy type. We define $r : X_H^* \to X_H^* \setminus \{W_h | h \in H\}$ given by

$$r(x) = \begin{cases} A_{(h,0)} & x \in W_h \\ x & x \in X_H^* \setminus \{W_h | h \in H\} \end{cases}$$

It is trivial to show that r is continuous and satisfies that $r(x) \leq id(x)$ for every $x \in X_H^*$, where $id: X_H^* \to X_H^*$ denotes the identity map. This implies that $X_H^* \setminus \{W_h | h \in H\}$ is a strong deformation retract of X_H^* . On the other hand, $X_H^* \setminus \{W_h | h \in H\}$ is the same topological space considered in Section 3.3 and denoted by \overline{X}_H^* . Therefore we know that $\mathcal{E}(X_H^*) \simeq \mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_H^*) \simeq Aut(\overline{X}_H^*) \simeq H$, where $\phi: H \to Aut(\overline{X}_H^*)$ given by $\phi(t)(h, \beta) = (th, \beta)$ and $\phi(t)(S_{(h,\beta)} \cup T_{(h,\beta)}) = S_{(th,\beta)} \cup T_{(th,\beta)}$ is an isomorphism of groups.

The task is now to prove that $Aut(X_H^*)$ is the trivial group. Let us take $f \in Aut(X_H^*)$. We consider $A_{(h,0)}$ for some $h \in H$. Since $F_{A_{(h,0)}} \setminus \{A_{(h,0)}\}$ has a minimum w_h , it follows that $A_{(h,0)}$ is an up beat point. By Proposition 1.1.76, we know that $f(A_{(h_i,0)})$ is also an up beat point. Therefore, $f(A_{(h_i,0)})$ is of the form $A_{(t,0)}$ for some $t \in H$. By Proposition 1.1.76 we get that $f(w_h) = w_t$. It follows from the continuity of f that $f(W_h) \subseteq W_t$. Since f is a homeomorphism, we have that $f_{|W_h|}$ is also a homeomorphism. Therefore, we get that h = t; otherwise we would get a contradiction since W_h is homeomorphic to W_t if and only if h = t. Using Proposition 1.1.76 it is easy to verify that f fixes $S_{(h,0)}$ for every $h \in H$. From Remark 3.2.7 we get that if a homeomorphism $g : X_H^* \setminus \{W_h | h \in H\} \to X_H^* \setminus \{W_h | h \in H\}$ coincides at one point with the identity map, then g is the identity map. Thus, f is the identity map and $Aut(X_H^*)$

<u>Construction of X_H^G </u>. We consider $X_H^G = X_H^* \cup X_*^G$, where we are identifying the point * of both topological spaces, i.e., the partial order of X_H^G preserves the relations defined on X_H^* and X_*^G :

• If $x \in X_H^*$ and $y \in X_*^G$, then x is smaller than y if and only if $x \leq *$ and $* \leq y$.
- If $x, y \in X_H^*$, then x is smaller (greater) than y if and only if x is smaller (greater) than y with the partial order defined on X_H^* .
- If $x, y \in X^G_*$, then x is smaller (greater) than y if and only if x is smaller (greater) than y with the partial order defined on X^G_* .

It is evident that $\mathcal{E}(X_H^G)$ is isomorphic to H because X_*^G is contractible to * and X_H^* is homotopy equivalent to \overline{X}_H^* . It suffices to show that $Aut(X_H^G)$ is isomorphic to G. We verify that every $f \in Aut(X_H^G)$ satisfies that $f(x) \in X_H^*$ for every $x \in X_H^*$ and $f(x) \in X_*^G$ for every $x \in X_*^G$. Firstly, we show that * is a fixed point for every homeomorphism f. We have ht(*) = 1. Since for every $x \in X_*^G \setminus \{*\}$ the height of x is at least 2 or different from 1, it follows that $f(*) \notin X_*^G \setminus \{*\} \subset X_H^G$. The only elements of X_H^* that have height one are of the form * or (h, 0) or $A_{(s,\alpha)}, F_{(s,\alpha)}, E_{(s,\alpha)}$ for some $h, s \in H$ and $\alpha \in S_H \setminus \{-1\}$. We can discard the maximal elements, otherwise f^{-1} would send a maximal element to a non-maximal element. If $f(*) = A_{(h,0)}$, then we get a contradiction since $A_{(h,0)}$ is an up beat point. If f(*) = (h, 0) for some $h \in H$, then we get that $f^{-1}(E_{(h,0)}) \succ f^{-1}(h, 0) = *$ by Proposition 1.1.76. We have that $f^{-1}(E_{(h,0)}) \neq (g, -1)$ for every $g \in G$ because $E_{(h,0)}$ is not a down beat point. Hence, the only possibility is f(*) = *. Finally, by the continuity of f, we get that $f(x) \in X_*^G \subset X_H^G$ for every $x \in X_*^G \subset X_H^G$. This implies that $Aut(X_H^G)$ is isomorphic to G.

We prove the remaining case. If G is the trivial group, then it suffices to consider X_H^* to conclude. If H is the trivial group, then X_*^G satisfies the desired properties.

Remark 3.6.3. If $f, k \in Aut(X_H^G)$ are such that there exists $x \in X_*^G \setminus \{*\}$ satisfying f(x) = k(x), then f = k. This is an immediate consequence of the isomorphism of groups φ given in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2. Similarly, if $[f], [k] \in \mathcal{E}(X_H^G)$ are such that there exists $x \in X_H^G \setminus (\{X_G\} \cup \{W_h | h \in H\})$ satisfying that f(x) = k(x), where $f \in [f]$ and $k \in [k]$, then [f] = [k]. It is an immediate consequence of the construction of X_H^G and ϕ .

Proposition 3.6.4. Let G and H be groups. The Alexandroff space X_H^G constructed in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2 has the weak homotopy type of the wedge sum of $3|H||S_H|$ circles when H is a finite group and the wedge sum of $|\mathbb{N}|$ circles when H is a non-finite countable set.

Proof. We have that X_H^G has the same homotopy type of X_H^* . Therefore, repeating same arguments used in Section 3.5, we can obtain the desired result.

Remark 3.6.5. If G and H are finite groups, then we can remove $\{T_{(h,\beta)}|h \in H, \beta \in S_H \setminus \{-1,0\}\}$ in the construction of X_H^G and Theorem 3.6.2 also holds true. Thus, we have a finite topological space with $|G|(|S_G|+2)+|H|(|S_H|+2)+4|S_H||H|+\frac{|H|(|H|+1)}{2}+1$ points. The first term corresponds to $X_*^G \setminus \{*\}$, the second term corresponds to $X_H^* \setminus \{*\}$, the third term corresponds to the sets $S_{(h,\beta)}$, the fourth term corresponds to the points of the sets W_h and the last term corresponds to the point *.

We can change the sets $T_{(h,\beta)}$ from the proof of Theorem 3.6.2 by $T_{(h,\beta)}^n$ as it was done in Section 3.5, where $T_{(h,\beta)}^n := \{x_1, x_2, ..., x_{n+3}, y_1, y_2, ..., y_{n+3}\}$ with the following relations:

$$(h,\beta) < x_1 > y_2 < \dots < x_{n+2} > y_{n+3} < x_{n+3} > y_{n+2} < x_{n+1} < \dots < x_2 > y_1 < (h,\beta),$$
(3.3)

 $(h,\beta) < x_1 > y_2 < \dots > y_{n+2} < x_{n+3} > y_{n+3} < x_{n+2} > y_{n+1} < \dots < x_2 > y_1 < (h,\beta).$ (3.4)

We consider the first relation for n odd and the second relation for n even. We denote this poset by X_{Hn}^G .

Corollary 3.6.6. Given two finite groups G and H, there are infinitely many (nonhomotopy-equivalent) topological spaces $\{X_{Hn}^G\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ such that $Aut(X_{Hn}^G)$ is isomorphic to G and $\mathcal{E}(X_{Hn}^G)$ is isomorphic to H for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. The proof is analogous to the proof of Theorem 3.6.2. By Theorem 1.1.21, we have that the topological spaces are not homotopy equivalent due to their different cardinality after removing all the beat points one by one. \Box

3.7 Realizing homomorphisms of groups

Given a homomorphism of groups $f : G \to H$, we modify slightly the topological space X_H^* constructed in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2. The new topological space obtained X_f is similar to the one considered in Theorem 3.6.2, but new relations are added in order to control the homomorphisms of groups $\tau : Aut(X_f) \to \mathcal{E}(X_f)$ given by $\tau(f) = [f]$, as we wanted.

Example 3.7.1. Let us consider the cyclic group of two elements \mathbb{Z}_2 and the group of integer numbers \mathbb{Z} . We consider the homomorphism of groups $f : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}_2$ given by $f(n) = n \mod 2$. We consider the topological space $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}^{\mathbb{Z}}$ constructed in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2 and remove W_0 and W_1 from it. The resulting poset X_f corresponds to the Hasse diagram in black in Figure 3.7.1.



Figure 3.7.1: Hasse diagram of X_f .

Now, we add the following relations to X_f : $(n,0) \prec A_{(1,0)}$ if f(n) = 1 and $(n,0) \prec A_{(0,0)}$ if f(n) = 0, where $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. These relations are represented in blue. It is easy to check that X_f satisfies that $Aut(X_f) = G$, $\mathcal{E}(X_f) = H$ and $f = \tau$, where $\tau : Aut(X_f) \to \mathcal{E}(X_f)$ is given by $\tau(f) = [f]$.

Example 3.7.2. Let $f : \mathbb{Z}_2 \to \mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ be the homomorphism of groups given by f(0) = (0,0) and f(1) = (1,0). In Figure 3.7.2 we present the Hasse diagram of X_f , where we keep the same notation introduced in Example 3.6.1. Again, we have in black the Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2}^{\mathbb{Z}_2} \setminus \{W_{g_1}, W_{g_2}, W_{g_3}, W_{g_4}\}$. We add to the previous poset the following relations: $(h_i, 0) \prec A_{(f(h_i), 0)}$ with i = 1, 2 and $* \prec A_{(g_j, 0)}$ with j = 3, 4. These relations are represented in blue. It is easy to get that $Aut(X_f) = \mathbb{Z}_2$, $\mathcal{E}(X_f) = \mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ and $\tau = f$.



Figure 3.7.2: Hasse diagram of X_f .

Theorem 3.7.3. Let $f : G \to H$ be a homomorphism of groups. Then there exists a topological space X_f such that $Aut(X_f) = G$, $\mathcal{E}(X_f) = H$ and $\tau = f$.

Proof. Suppose G and H are not trivial groups. If G is the trivial group or H is the trivial group, the result follows from Theorem 3.6.2. We consider the topological space X_H^G constructed in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2 and we define $X_f = X_H^G \setminus \{W_h | h \in H\}$. We keep the same relations defined on X_f as a subspace of X_H^G and we add the following relations.

- $A_{(h,0)} \succ (g,0)$ if f(g) = h, where $h \in H$ and $g \in G$.
- $A_{(h,0)} \succ * \text{ if } h \notin f(G).$

It is easy to check that X_f is a partially ordered set with the above relations. Firstly, we prove that $\mathcal{E}(X_f) \simeq H$. We consider $r: X_f \to X_f$ given by

$$r(x) = \begin{cases} * & x \in X^G_* \\ x & x \in X_f \setminus \{X^G_*\}. \end{cases}$$

We have that r preserves the order, so it is a continuous map. It is simple to check that $r(x) \leq id(x)$ for every $x \in X_f$, where id denotes the identity map. From here, we can deduce that X_f is homotopy equivalent to to $r(X_f) = X_H^* \subset X_f$. On the other hand, repeating the same arguments used in previous sections, it can be proved that X_H^* is locally a core [67] or a minimal finite space for the case H is a finite group, which implies that $\mathcal{E}(X_f) \simeq \mathcal{E}(X_H^*) = Aut(X_H^*)$. Since $P_* = (|H|, |H|)$ and ht(*) = 1, we get that every homeomorphism $T : X_H^* \to X_H^*$ must fix * and then the group of homeomorphisms of X_H^* as a subspace of X_f is isomorphic to the group of homeomorphisms of X_H^* as the topological space considered in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2. Thus, $\mathcal{E}(X_f) \simeq H$.

We show that $Aut(X_f) \simeq G$. We consider the following auxiliary sets $Col_h = \{(h, \beta) | \beta \in S_H \} \cup \{S_{(h,\beta)} \cup T_{(h,\beta)} | \beta \in S_H \setminus \{-1, max(S_H)\}\}$, where $h \in H$, and $Col^g = \{(g, \alpha) | \alpha \in S_G\}$, where $g \in G$. If $x \in X^G_* \subset X_f$, then every homeomorphism $T : X_f \to X_f$ satisfies that $T(x) \in X^G_*$. We prove the last assertion. We know that $X_f \setminus \{X^G_*\}$ does not contain beat points. Moreover, (g, -1) is a beat point of height 2 for every $g \in G$. Using Proposition 1.1.76 and continuity, we can deduce that for every $T \in Aut(X_f)$ and (g, α) , where $g \in G$ and $\alpha \in S_G$, we get $T(g, \alpha) = (g', \alpha)$ for some $g' \in G$.

We consider $\varphi : G \to Aut(X_f)$ given by $\varphi(g)(g', \alpha) = (gg', \alpha)$ if $g' \in G$ and $\alpha \in S_G$, $\varphi(g)(h,\beta) = (f(g)h,\beta)$ if $h \in H$ and $\beta \in S_H$, $\varphi(g)(S_{(h,\beta)} \cup T_{(h,\beta)}) = S_{(f(g)h,\beta)} \cup T_{(f(g)h,\beta)}$ defined in the natural way if $h \in H$ and $\beta \in S_H \setminus \{-1, max(S_H)\}$ and $\varphi(g)(*) = *$. We prove that φ is well-defined. We check the continuity of $\varphi(g)$, where $g \in G$. Suppose $(g', 0) \prec A_{(h,0)}$ for some $g' \in G$ and $h \in H$. By hypothesis, f(g') = h. Then,

$$\varphi(g)(g',0) = (gg',0) \prec A_{(f(gg'),0)} = A_{(f(g)f(g'),0)} = A_{(f(g)h,0)} = \varphi(g)A_{(h,0)} =$$

It is simple to check that $\varphi(g)$ preserves the rest of the relations. The inverse of $\varphi(g)$ is given by $\varphi(g^{-1})$. Hence, φ is well-defined. By construction, φ is a monomorphism of groups. Suppose $T \in Aut(X_f)$. By Proposition 1.1.76, Remark 3.6.3 and the fact that $T_{|X_s^G} \in Aut(X_*^G)$, it can be deduced that every $T \in Aut(X_f)$ satisfies that $T(Col_h) = Col_{h'}$ and $T(Col^g) = Col_{g'}$ for some $g' \in G$ and $h' \in H$, where $g \in G$ and $h \in H$. We consider $(g, 0) \prec A_{(h,0)}$ for some $g \in G$ and $h \in H$. We get $T(Col^g) = Col_{g'}^{g'}$ for some $g' \in G$ and $T(Col_h) = Col_{h'}$ for some $h' \in H$. Since $T_{|X_G^*} \in Aut(X_*^G)$, by Remark 3.6.3 and the proof of Theorem 3.6.2, there exists $t \in G$ such that $T(Col^s) = Col^{ts}$, where $s \in G$. Hence, g' = tg. By Proposition 1.1.76, $T(A_{(h,0)}) = A_{(h',0)} \succ (tg, 0) = T(g, 0)$, we have h' = f(tg) = f(t)f(g) = f(t)h. Thus, $T = \varphi(t)$ because of Remark 3.6.3 and the fact that $T_{|X_f \setminus \{X_*^G\}} \in Aut(X_H^* \setminus \{*\})$. By construction, $\tau(g) = f(g)$ for every $g \in G$. Since every $T \in Aut(X_f)$ can be seen as $T = \varphi(g)$ for some g, we have that $\tau(T) = f(g)$, where $f(g) = \varphi(g)_{|X_H^*} \in \mathcal{E}(X_f)$.

Remark 3.7.4. Theorem 3.7.3 generalizes Theorem 3.6.2 and the results of realization obtained in previous sections. In fact, given two groups G and H and using Theorem 3.7.3, we obtain a family of topological spaces $\{X_f\}_{f:G\to H}$ satisfying that $Aut(X_f) \simeq G$ and $\mathcal{E}(X_f) \simeq H$. Hence, if we consider the trivial map $c: G \to H$ that sends each element of G to the identity element of H, we get another proof of Theorem 3.6.2

Example 3.7.5. Let us consider the Klein four-group $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ and the cyclic group of two elements \mathbb{Z}_2 . We keep the same notation and generating sets considered in Example 3.6.1. We consider $c : \mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2 \to \mathbb{Z}_2$ given by $c(g_i) = h_1$ for every $i \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$. In Figure 3.7.3, we have the Hasse diagram of X_c .



Figure 3.7.3: Hasse diagram of X_c .

With the following propositions we explore the relations between the homomorphisms from G to H and the topological spaces associated.

Proposition 3.7.6. Let G and H be groups. If $g, f : G \to H$ are homomorphisms of groups, then X_f is homotopy equivalent to X_g .

Proof. The result is an immediate consequence of the construction. X_f is homotopy equivalent to X_H^* for every homomorphism of groups $f: G \to H$. Therefore, the homotopy type of the topological space obtained in the proof of Theorem 3.7.3 does not depend on the homomorphism. From here, we deduce the desired result.

Proposition 3.7.7. Let G and H be groups and let $f, g : G \to H$ be homomorphisms of groups. Then f = g if and only if X_f is homeomorphic to X_g .

Proof. One of the implications is trivial. Hence, we only need to show that if X_f is homeomorphic to X_g , then f = g. Since X_f is homeomorphic to X_g , there exists a homeomorphism $T': X_f \to X_g$. By the construction of X_f and X_g in the proof of Theorem 3.7.3, it can be deduced easily that $T'_{|X^G_*} \in Aut(X^G_*) \simeq G$ and $T'_{|X^*_H} \in Aut(X^*_H) \simeq H$. This is due to the fact that X^G_* contains beat points while X^*_H does not have beat points. Therefore, $T'_{|X^G_*}$ can be related with the action of an element $T \in G$ and $T'_{|X^*_H}$ can be related with the action of an element $\overline{T} \in H$. We have $(e, 1) \prec A_{(f(e),0)}$, where e denotes the identity element in G, we also have

$$T'(e,1) = (T,1) \prec A_{(\overline{T}f(e),0)} = T'(A_{(f(e),0)}),$$

which implies that $g(T) = \overline{T}f(e)$. Thus, $g(T) = \overline{T}$ because f is a homomorphism of groups. In addition, for every $h \in G$, we know that there exists a relation in X_f of the following form $(h, 1) \prec A_{(f(h), 0)}$. We have

$$T'(h,1) = (Th,1) \prec A_{(\overline{T}f(h),0)} = T'(A_{(f(h),0)}).$$

By the construction of X_g , we get $g(Th) = g(T)g(h) = \overline{T}f(h)$. Previously, we proved that $g(T) = \overline{T}$, which implies that g(h) = f(h) for every $h \in G$.

3.8 An asymmetric family of topological spaces

We construct a family of topological spaces $\{W_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ satisfying that for each member the following groups are trivial: the group of homeomorphisms, the group of self-homotopy equivalences, all the homotopy and homology groups. With the following construction we show that the groups mentioned above do not determine neither the homotopy type nor the topological type of a topological space X in general. On the other hand, if the topological space X satisfies some properties, e.g., X is compact and a locally Euclidean manifold with or without boundary, then the group of homeomorphisms determines the topological type of X, see [113] or [94] for more information.

Construction of W_n . Let us consider the Alexandroff space W_2 given by the Hasse diagram of Figure 3.8.1. It is the union of $L_1 = \{x_i\}_{i=1,...,9}$ and $L_2 = \{x_j\}_{j=9,...17}$, where we are identifying the point x_9 of L_i for i = 1, 2. For simplicity, W_1 denotes L_1 . The topological space W_1 was introduced in [93, Figure 2] and has the weak homotopy type of a point. In [30], it is proved that W_1 is the smallest finite topological space having the same weak homotopy type of a point but not contractible. It is clear that W_2 does not have beat points, so $Aut(W_2)$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{E}(W_2)$. On the other hand, it is easy to show that $Aut(W_2)$ is the trivial group. Since $P_x = (3, 5)$ only for $x \in \{x_5, x_{13}\}$ and the heights of these points are different, we can deduce that every homeomorphism must fix x_5 and x_{13} . Using Proposition 1.1.76, it can be deduced the desired result. Furthermore, the homotopy and singular homology groups of W_2 are trivial. We can study the weak homotopy type of W_2 studying the McCord complex $\mathcal{K}(W_2)$ or removing beat and weak beat points. We know that x_{16} is a weak beat point. After removing this point, x_{12} and x_{14} are up beat points. If we remove them, then the remaining space is homotopy equivalent to the space given by the points $\{x_i\}_{i=1,\dots,9}$. We can repeat the same process. We have that x_8 is a weak beat point. After removing this point, x_7 and x_9 are down beat points. Thus, X has the same weak homotopy type of a point. We get that W_2 is a topological space satisfying that $Aut(W_2) \simeq \mathcal{E}(W_2) \simeq \pi_n(W_2) \simeq H_n(W_2) \simeq 0$ for every n > 0 but it does not have neither the topological type nor the homotopy type of a point. We can generalize this topological space taking more copies of the topological space introduced in [93]. For instance, we can define W_3 just as $L_3 \cup W_2$, where $L_3 = \{x_i\}_{i=17,\dots,25}$ and we are identifying the point x_{17} of L_3 and W_2 . It is easy to check that W_n has the weak homotopy type of a point for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ because $x_i \in W_n$ with $i \equiv 0 \pmod{8}$ is a weak beat point. Again, it is easy to show that the group of homeomorphisms and the group of self-homotopy equivalences of W_3 are trivial.



Figure 3.8.1: Hasse diagram of W_2 .

One possible consequence of the previous construction is the following result.

Proposition 3.8.1. Let G and H be finite groups. Then there exists a topological space X such that Aut(X) is isomorphic to G, $\mathcal{E}(X)$ is isomorphic to H and X is weak homotopy equivalent to a point.

Proof. We consider the topological space X_H^G constructed in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2 and the finite topological space W_2 constructed before. Let X denote $X_H^G \circledast W_2$. By Proposition 1.1.65 and the Proof of Theorem 3.6.2, $Aut(X) \simeq Aut(X_H^G) \times Aut(W_2) \simeq$ $Aut(X_H^G) \simeq G$. We have that X is homotopy equivalent to $X_H^* \circledast W_2$, we only need to remove one by one the beat points. Since $X_H^* \circledast W_2$ does not contain beat points we get that $\mathcal{E}(X_H^* \circledast W_2) \simeq Aut(X_H^* \circledast W_2) \simeq Aut(X_H^*) \simeq H$. In addition, since W_2 is collapsible, we can deduce that X has the weak homotopy type of a point, see Remark 1.1.64. \Box

Example 3.8.2. Let us consider the Klein four-group $\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ and the cyclic group of two elements \mathbb{Z}_2 , where we keep the same notation and generating sets considered in Example 3.6.1. Let $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}^{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2}$ denote also the same topological space considered in Example 3.6.1. In Figure 3.8.2 we present the Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}^{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2} \circledast W_2$, which is a topological space having the same weak homotopy type of a point, $Aut(X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}^{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2} \circledast W_2) = \mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2$ and $\mathcal{E}(X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}^{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2} \circledast W_2) = \mathbb{Z}_2$.



Figure 3.8.2: Hasse diagram of $X_{\mathbb{Z}_2}^{\mathbb{Z}_2 \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2} \circledast W_2$.

3.9 General realization problems

Firstly, we introduce an example to illustrates the techniques that will be used to get Theorem 3.9.2.

Example 3.9.1. Let us consider $G = \mathbb{Z}_3$ and $H = \mathbb{Z}_2$. We consider the minimal finite model of the 2-dimensional sphere X, that is, $X = \{A, B, C, D, E, F\}$, where A, B > C, D, E, F and C, D > E, F. Then, $|\mathcal{K}(X)|$ is homeomorphic to S^2 .

We want to find a finite T_0 topological space \overline{X}_H^G that is weak homotopy equivalent to a 2-dimensional sphere, $Aut(\overline{X}_H^G)$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_3 and $\mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_H^G)$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_2 . The idea is to modify X in order to get a new space satisfying that its group of homeomorphisms is trivial. We enumerate the points of X. For each $i \in X$ with i = 1, ..., |X|, we add W_i to X, see Section 3.8. The Hasse diagram of the new topological space, that is denoted by X', can be seen in Figure 3.9.1. In black, we have the Hasse diagram of X, in blue and purple the new part added. In purple, we have the weak beat points that are not beat points. It is clear that X' does not have beat points, so Aut(X') is isomorphic to $\mathcal{E}(X')$. A homeomorphism f sends weak beat points to weak beat points by Proposition 1.1.76. From here, it is easy to deduce that Aut(X') is the trivial group. On the other hand, the new structure added can be removed without changing the weak homotopy type of the space. Then, we have that X' is weak homotopy equivalent to a X, which is weak homotopy equivalent to a 2-dimensional sphere.

Finally, we add a new point t that connects X' to $X_H^G \circledast W_2$, where X_H^G is the space constructed in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2 for finite groups. In Figure 3.9.1, we have the Hasse diagram of the new topological space \overline{X}_G^H . In green, it can be observed the relations with the point t. In red and orange, it can be seen the Hasse diagram of $X_H^G \circledast W_2$. It is easy to check that \overline{X}_{H}^{G} satisfies the desired properties.



Figure 3.9.1: Hasse diagram of \overline{X}_{H}^{G}

Theorem 3.9.2. Let G be a group, let H be a finite group and let X be a topological space with the homotopy type of a compact CW-complex. Then there exists an Alexandroff space \overline{X}_{H}^{G} such that $Aut(\overline{X}_{H}^{G})$ is isomorphic to G, $\mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_{H}^{G})$ is isomorphic to H and it is weak homotopy equivalent to X, which implies that $H_n(\overline{X}_{H}^{G})$ is isomorphic to $H_n(X)$ and $\pi_n(\overline{X}_{H}^{G})$ is isomorphic to $\pi_n(X)$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. If X has the same homotopy type of a point, then the result can be deduced from Proposition 3.8.1. Therefore, we assume that X does not have the same homotopy type of a point. The idea of the proof is to follow the same techniques used in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2. By the simplicial approximation to CW-complexes, [60, Theorem 2C.5.], we get that there exists a finite simplicial complex, that will be also denoted by X, homotopy equivalent to X. We apply the McCord functor \mathcal{X} to X in order to obtain a finite T_0 topological space $\mathcal{X}(X)$ such that $\mathcal{X}(X)$ is weak homotopy equivalent to X. We can suppose that $\mathcal{X}(X)$ does not have beat points or weak beat points, otherwise we remove them one by one until there are none left. We denote $n = |\mathcal{X}(X)|$ and label the points in $\mathcal{X}(X)$, that is, $\mathcal{X}(X) = \{y_i\}_{i=1...n}$. For each $y_i \in \mathcal{X}(X)$ we consider W_i , where W_i is the topological space constructed in Section 3.8. We consider $Z = \mathcal{X}(X) \cup \bigcup_{i=1,...,n} W_i$, where we are identifying the point y_i with $x_1 \in W_i$ for every i = 1, ..., n. We define the partial order on Z extending the previous partial orders. To do that we use transitivity, i.e., suppose $x, y \in Z$, we write $x \geq y$ if and only if one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- $x, y \in \mathcal{X}(X)$ and x is greater than y with the partial order defined on $\mathcal{X}(X)$.
- $x, y \in W_i$ for some *i* and *x* is greater than *y* with the partial order defined on W_i .

• $y \in \mathcal{X}(X), x \in W_i$ for some i and $x \ge y_i(=x_1) \ge y$.

Now, we consider $\overline{X}_{H}^{G} = Z \cup X_{H}^{G} \circledast W_{2} \cup \{t\}$, where X_{H}^{G} is the space constructed in the proof of Theorem 3.6.2 and W_{2} is the space constructed in Section 3.8. We extend the partial order defined on Z and $X_{H}^{G} \circledast W_{2}$ to \overline{X}_{H}^{G} declaring that $y_{j} < t > x_{1}$ for some $h \in H$, where y_{j} is a minimal point in $\mathcal{X}(X)$ and $x_{1} \in W_{2}$. We prove that $f \in Aut(\overline{X}_{H}^{G})$ restricted to Z is the identity. In W_{i} , there are i weak beat points, that we will denote by z_{j}^{i} with j = 1, ..., i. In fact, we have that the only weak beat points that are not beat points or do not have a bigger beat point are in Z. Hence, if $z_{j}^{i} \in W_{i}$ is a weak beat point, then $f(z_{j}^{i}) = z_{l}^{k} \in W_{k}$ for some $l \leq k \leq n$. By Proposition 1.1.76, it can be deduced that $f(W_{i}) = W_{k}$. But W_{i} is homeomorphic to W_{k} if and only if i = k. From the continuity of f we get that $f(W_{i}) = id(W_{i})$, so $f_{|Z} = id_{Z}$. It is simple to check that t is also a fixed point for every homeomorphism since $y_{j} \prec t$ and $f(y_{j}) = y_{j}$. We get $Aut(\overline{X}_{H}^{G}) \simeq Aut(X_{H}^{G} \circledast W_{2}) \simeq Aut(\overline{X}_{H}^{G}) \simeq Aut(X_{*}^{G}) \simeq G$. Moreover, $\mathcal{E}(\overline{X}_{H}^{G}) \simeq \mathcal{E}(Z \cup \{t\} \cup X_{*}^{*} \circledast W_{2})$, but $Z \cup \{t\} \cup X_{*}^{*} \circledast W_{2})$. From here, repeating similar arguments than the ones used before, it can be deduced that $Aut(Z \cup \{t\} \cup X_{*}^{*} \circledast W_{2}) \simeq Aut(X_{*}^{H}) \simeq H$.

Finally, $|\mathcal{K}(\overline{X}_{H}^{G})|$ is clearly the wedge sum of $|\mathcal{K}(Z)|$ and $|\mathcal{K}(X_{H}^{G} \circledast W_{2})|$. By Proposition 1.1.64, we deduce that $\mathcal{K}(X_{H}^{G} \circledast W_{2})$ is homotopy equivalent to a point since W_{2} is collapsible, which implies that $\mathcal{K}(W_{2})$ is also collapsible, and X_{H}^{G} is homotopy equivalent to X_{H}^{*} . We also get that $|\mathcal{K}(Z)|$ is homotopy equivalent to X because every W_{i} can be removed without changing the weak homotopy type of Z. Therefore, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we have $\pi_{n}(X) \simeq \pi_{n}(Z)$ and $H_{n}(X) \simeq H_{n}(Z)$.

From this, it is easy to deduce two results about the realization of groups in topological spaces.

Corollary 3.9.3. Let H be a finite group, let G be a group and let $\{F_i\}_{i \in I}$ be a sequence of finitely generated abelian groups, where $I \subset \mathbb{N}$ is a finite set. Then there exists a topological space X such that Aut(X) is isomorphic to G, $\mathcal{E}(X)$ is isomorphic to H and $H_i(X)$ is isomorphic to F_i for every $i \in I$.

Proof. It is an immediate consequence of Theorem 3.9.2. We only need to consider the wedge sum of Moore spaces and then apply Theorem 3.9.2.

Corollary 3.9.4. Let H be a finite group, let G be a group, let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and let T be a finitely presented (abelian) group (if n > 1). Then there exists a topological space X such that Aut(X) is isomorphic G, $\mathcal{E}(X)$ is isomorphic to H and $\pi_n(X)$ is isomorphic to T.

Proof. We only need to use the beginning of the construction of Eilenberg-Maclane spaces to obtain a compact CW-complex X with $\pi_n(X) \simeq H$ and possibly non-trivial higher homotopy groups. Then, the result is an immediate consequence of Theorem 3.9.2.

Remark 3.9.5. It could be possible to get a more general result for arbitrary groups. The idea is to generalize the constructions of this section and use the theory developed in [67].

We see how these results are related with realizations problems in CW-complexes. For a compact *CW*-complex *X*, $\mathcal{E}_*(X)$ and $\mathcal{E}_{\#}(X)$ are nilpotent groups, see for instance [36, Section 4]. We get that $\mathcal{E}_{\#}(X)$ ($\mathcal{E}_*(X)$) can be seen as the kernel of a homomorphism of groups. We consider the functor π (H_*) between HPol and the category of groups given by $\pi(X) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\dim(X)} \pi_i(X)$ $(H_*(X) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\infty} H_i(X))$. It is easy to check that π (H_*) induces a homomorphisms of groups $\overline{\pi} : \mathcal{E}(X) \to Aut(\pi(X))$ $(\overline{H}_* : \mathcal{E}(X) \to Aut(H_*(X)))$ sending each self-homotopy equivalence to its induced morphism in the homotopy groups (homology groups), where $Aut(\cdot)$ denotes here the group of automorphisms of a group in the category of groups. Then, $\mathcal{E}_{\#}(X)$ $(\mathcal{E}_*(X))$ can be seen as the kernel of $\overline{\pi}$ (\overline{H}_*) and are normal subgroups of $\mathcal{E}(X)$. With the following example we prove that for a general topological space we cannot expect the same result.



Figure 3.9.2: Hasse diagram of X.

Example 3.9.6. Applying the construction obtained in the proof of Theorem 3.9.2, we can obtain a topological space X such that Aut(X) is trivial, $\mathcal{E}(X) = S_3$ and X is weak homotopy equivalent to a circle, where S_3 denotes the symmetric group on a set of 3 elements. In Figure 3.9.2 we present the Hasse diagram of X. By construction, every self-homotopy equivalence of X fixes the blue, black, green and orange part of the Hasse diagram. The only part that contributes to the homotopy groups or homology groups is the black part of the Hasse diagram. Therefore, we can deduce that $\mathcal{E}_{\#}(X) = \mathcal{E}_{*}(X) = \mathcal{E}(X) = \mathcal{E}_{3}$, which implies that $\mathcal{E}_{\#}(X)$ and $\mathcal{E}_{*}(X)$ are not nilpotent groups.

Remark 3.9.7. It is not difficult to show that the topological space X obtained in the proof of Theorem 3.9.2 satisfies that $\mathcal{E}_*(X) = \mathcal{E}_{\#}(X) = \mathcal{E}(X)$.

Chapter 4

Fixed point theory for finite topological spaces, a first approach to the approximation of dynamical systems

In this chapter, we develop fixed point and coincidence theorems for finite topological spaces. This is a first approach to develop a theory of approximation to dynamical systems. We present an application to discrete dynamical systems defined on simplicial complexes. Finally, we introduce a category enclosing the previous theory. This category generalizes the usual notions of homotopy, simple homotopy and other homotopies for finite spaces. Consequently, we give some remarks regarding to the topological degree for finite spaces.

4.1 Introduction

A dynamical system for a topological space X consists of a triad (\mathbb{T}, X, φ) , where \mathbb{T} is usually \mathbb{Z} (discrete dynamical system) or \mathbb{R} (continuous dynamical system) and φ : $\mathbb{T} \times X \to X$ is a continuous function satisfying the following: $\varphi(0, x) = x$ for every $x \in X$ and $\varphi(t + s, x) = \varphi(t, \varphi(s, x))$ for all $s, t \in \mathbb{T}$ and $x \in X$. Let $t \in \mathbb{T}$, we denote by $\varphi_t : X \to X$ the map $\varphi(t, \cdot) : X \to X$ for simplicity. Dynamical systems arise in a natural manner in different areas of mathematics and physics. For instance, every autonomous differential equation generates a dynamical system.

In Chapter 2, given a compact metric space X, we studied techniques to reconstruct the homotopy type of X using finite topological spaces. Concretely, we associate to X an inverse sequence of finite topological spaces such that its inverse limit contains a homeomorphic copy of X that is a strong deformation retract. Now, given a dynamical system (\mathbb{T}, X, φ) , it is natural to try to define a dynamical system for finite topological combining the previous results to get a theory of approximation for (\mathbb{T}, X, φ) . In Figure 4.1.1 we have a schematic drawing of this idea for a discrete dynamical system. The bigger the value of n is, the better the approximation of the dynamical system is.

However, the classical definition of dynamical system for an Alexandroff space seems uninteresting.

Proposition 4.1.1. If A is a T_0 Alexandroff space, the only continuous dynamical system $\varphi : \mathbb{R} \times A \to A$ is the trivial one, i.e., $\varphi_t : A \to A$ is the identity map for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. We will treat A as a poset (A, \leq) with the opposite order, that is, we consider the upper sets in Theorem 1.1.7. For every $x \in A$ we have that $F_x = \{y \in A | y \geq x\}$ is an open set. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that φ_t is not the identity map for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, there exists $s \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\varphi_s(x) \neq x$ for some $x \in A$. Since φ is continuous



Figure 4.1.1: Schematic drawing.

at (0, x), there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that $\varphi((-\epsilon, \epsilon) \times F_x) \subseteq F_x$. For every $t \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$ we get that $\varphi_t : F_x \to F_x$ is a homeomorphism. We prove that $\varphi_t(F_x) = F_x$. Suppose there exists $z \in F_x \setminus \varphi_t(F_x)$. Since $-t \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$, it follows that $\varphi_{-t}(z) \in F_x$, which implies the contradiction. From here, it is immediate to deduce the desired assertion.

Now, we prove that s can be considered in $(-\epsilon, \epsilon)$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that for every $t \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$ and t > 0 we have $\varphi(t, x) = x$ (the case t < 0 is analogue). We can take $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$ with $0 < \tau < \frac{\epsilon}{2}$, so $\mathbb{R}^+ = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} (n\tau, (n+2)\tau)$, where \mathbb{R}^+ denotes the set of positive real values. Therefore, $s \in (n\tau, (n+2)\tau)$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We also have that $s - n\tau \in (0, 2\tau) \subset (0, \epsilon)$. By hypothesis, $\varphi(s - n\tau, x) = x$. Then,

$$\begin{aligned} x \neq \varphi(s,x) &= \varphi(s-n\tau+n\tau,x) = \varphi((n-1)\tau+s-n\tau,\varphi(\tau,x)) = \varphi((n-1)\tau+s-n\tau,x) = \\ &= \varphi((n-2)\tau+s-n\tau,\varphi(\tau,x)) = \varphi((n-2)\tau+s-n\tau,x) = \dots = \varphi(s-n\tau,x) = x, \end{aligned}$$

which entails the contradiction. Hence, we can assume that $s \in (-\epsilon, \epsilon)$ and $\varphi(s, x) = y \in F_x$ with $y \neq x$. We know that $\varphi_s : F_x \to F_x$ is a homeomorphism. Thus, there exists $z \in F_x$ such that $\varphi_s(z) = x$. By continuity φ_s preserves the order, so $x = \varphi_s(z) > \varphi_s(x) = y$, but y > x.

Furthermore, if X is a finite T_0 topological space and we have a discrete dynamical system $\varphi : \mathbb{Z} \times X \to X$, then we get that $\varphi_1 = f$ is a homeomorphism. Hence, it is easy to check that there exists a natural number n such that $f^n = id$, where *id* denotes the identity map.

By the previous arguments, it seems natural to consider multivalued maps to be able to establish new definitions of dynamical systems in this context. Moreover, multivalued maps have been also considered for the classical setting of dynamical systems to develop computational methods. Some applications and the theoretical development can be seen in [55]. The Conley index has been adapted also for multivalued maps [63]. For the finite setting, a first approach to start can be to develop a proper fixed point theory. In [20], J.A. Barmak, M. Mrozek and T. Wanner provide a Lefschetz fixed point theorem for multivalued maps and finite T_0 topological spaces. Before recalling the definitions and results obtained in [20], we recall the classical Lefschetz fixed point theorem. Given a finite polyhedron X and a continuous map $f : X \to X$. The Lefschetz number of f is defined as follows:

$$\Lambda(f) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{i} tr(f_* : H_i(X) \to H_i(X)),$$

where f_* denotes the linear map induced by f on the torsion-free part of the homology groups of X and tr denotes the trace. This definition can be also extended for general topological spaces with finitely generated rational homology groups. Concretely, for finite T_0 topological spaces. Moreover, if f_* is a linear map on the torsion-free part of the homology groups of a topological space X that is not induced by a continuous map, we will denote also by $\Lambda(f_*)$ the alternate sum of the traces of f_* . We denote by Fix(f) the subspace of X given by the fixed points of f.

Theorem 4.1.2 (Lefschetz fixed point theorem). Given a finite polyhedron X and a continuous function $f: X \to X$. If $\Lambda(f) \neq 0$, then there exists a point $x \in X$ such that x = f(x).

A finite version of this theorem can be found in [11], where it is proved the following result.

Theorem 4.1.3. Let P be a finite poset and let $f : P \to P$ be an order-preserving map. Then $\Lambda(f)$ is the Euler characteristic of Fix(f). In particular, if $\Lambda(f) \neq 0$, then $Fix(f) \neq \emptyset$.

The Lefschetz fixed point theorem for finite T_0 topological spaces provides more information about the structure of the fixed points set of a continuous map.

Definition 4.1.4. A topological space X is acyclic if the homology groups of X are isomorphic to the homology groups of a point.

If X is an acyclic finite polyhedron and $f : X \to X$ is a continuous map, then f has a fixed point. This says that The Lefschetz fixed point theorem can be seen as a generalization of the Brouwer fixed point theorem.

A generalization of the Lefschetz fixed point theorem is the so-called coincidence theorem, which can be found in [43]. Given two continuous maps $f, g : X \to Y$, it is said that f and g have a coincidence point if there exists $x \in X$ such that f(x) = g(x). Before enunciating the coincidence theorem, we recall a result of [108] that was generalized in [22]. For simplicity, the results will be only stated for compact polyhedra.

Definition 4.1.5. Let X and Y be two compact polyhedra. A continuous map $f : X \to Y$ is a Vietoris map if $f^{-1}(y)$ is acyclic for every $y \in Y$.

Theorem 4.1.6 (Vietoris-Begle mapping theorem). Let X and Y be two compact polyhedra. If $f : X \to Y$ is a Vietoris map, then f induces isomorphisms in the homology groups.

Theorem 4.1.7 (Coincidence theorem). Let X and Y be two compact polyhedra. If $f, g: X \to Y$ are continuous maps, where g is a Vietoris map, then $\Lambda(f_* \circ g_*^{-1})$ is defined, and if $\Lambda(f_* \circ g_*^{-1}) \neq 0$, then there exists a point $x \in X$ such that f(x) = g(x).

We recall some definitions and results of [20]. We will take as definitions some characterizations instead of the original ones to simplify. **Definition 4.1.8.** [20, Lemma 3.2] Let $F : X \multimap Y$ denote an arbitrary multivalued map between two finite T_0 topological spaces. It is said that F is upper semicontinuous (lower semicontinuous) if for all $x_1, x_2 \in X$ with $x_1 \leq x_2$ ($x_1 \geq x_2$) and for all $y_1 \in F(x_1)$ there exists $y_2 \in F(x_2)$ such that $y_1 \leq y_2$ ($y_1 \geq y_2$).

The notion of upper semicontinuity is defined for general topological spaces. Concretely, a multivalued map $F : X \multimap Y$ between two topological spaces is an upper semicontinuous multivalued map if for each point $x \in X$ and for each neighborhood V of F(x) in Y there exists a neighborhood U of x in X such that $F(U) = \bigcup_{x \in X} F(x)$ is contained in V. Definition 4.1.8 is a particularization of the previous one to finite topological spaces.

Definition 4.1.9. [20, Lemma 3.4] Let $F : X \multimap Y$ denote an arbitrary multivalued map between two finite T_0 topological spaces. It is said that F is strongly upper semicontinuous (strongly lower semicontinuous) or susc (slsc) if for all $x_1, x_2 \in X$ with $x_1 \leq x_2$ ($x_1 \geq x_2$), $F(x_1) \subseteq F(x_2)$ ($F(x_1) \supseteq F(x_2)$).

From now on, if $F: X \to Y$ is a multivalued map between two finite T_0 topological spaces, then we will denote by $\Gamma(F)$ the graph of F, which is given by $\Gamma(F) = \{(x, y) | y \in F(x)\}$. Hence, $\Gamma(F)$ can also be seen as a finite T_0 topological space, where we are taking the product order on $\Gamma(F) \subseteq X \times Y$. We denote by $p: \Gamma(F) \to X$ and $q: \Gamma(F) \to Y$ the projections of the first and the second coordinate of $\Gamma(F)$ respectively. If $F: X \to X$ is a multivalued map, then $x \in X$ is called fixed point if $x \in F(x)$.

In [20, Lemma 4.1], it is shown that if $F : X \multimap Y$ is a susc (slsc) multivalued map with acyclic values between two finite T_0 topological spaces, then $p : \Gamma(F) \to X$ induces isomorphism in homology. Therefore, $F_* : H_n(X) \to H_n(Y)$ is defined in [20, Definition 4.2] as $F_* = q_* \circ p_*^{-1}$. From here, it is proved a Lefschetz fixed point theorem.

Theorem 4.1.10. [20, Theorem 5.3] Let X be an arbitrary finite T_0 space and let $F : X \multimap X$ be a susc or slsc multivalued map with acyclic values. If $\Lambda(F) \neq 0$, then F has a fixed point.

Now, we state three of the main results of this chapter. These results rely on the notion of Vietoris-like maps and multivalued maps, which play a central role herein. This notion generalizes the multivalued maps considered in [20], i.e., every susc multivalued map $F: X \multimap Y$ between finite T_0 topological spaces with acyclic values is a Vietoris-like multivalued map, see Proposition 4.2.17. The concept of Vietoris-like map is a finite analogous of the classical definition of Vietoris map. Indeed, it also satisfies that induces isomorphisms in homology groups. Then, we can obtain a coincidence theorem, as in the classical setting.

Theorem 4.1.11 (Coincidence theorem). Let $f, g: X \to Y$ be continuous maps between finite T_0 topological spaces, where f is a Vietoris-like map, then $\Lambda(g_* \circ f_*^{-1})$ is defined and if $\Lambda(g_* \circ f_*^{-1}) \neq 0$, then there exists $x \in X$ such that f(x) = g(x).

From here, the classical Lefschetz fixed point theorem for finite topological spaces and single valued maps can be deduced since the identity map is a Vietoris-like map. We generalize the notion of Vietoris-like map to multivalued maps to obtain a new Lefschetz fixed point theorem. One advantage of this notion is the fact that it is very flexible. In fact, there is no kind of continuity required in the definition of a Vietoris-like multivalued map. Despite the previous fact, Vietoris-like multivalued maps induce morphisms in homology groups. Then, we obtain a generalization of Theorem 4.1.10. **Theorem 4.1.12** (Lefschetz fixed point theorem for multivalued maps). Let X be a finite T_0 topological space. If $F: X \multimap X$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map and $\Lambda(F_*) \neq 0$, then there exists $x \in X$ with $x \in F(x)$.

In general, the composition of two Vietoris-like multivalued maps is not a Vietoris-like multivalued map. However, the composition of Vietoris-like multivalued maps presents a good behavior in terms of the Lefschetz fixed point theorem. Specifically,

Theorem 4.1.13. Let X be a finite T_0 topological space and let $F : X \multimap X$ be a multivalued map. Suppose that $F = G_n \circ \cdots \circ G_0$, where $G_i : Y_i \multimap Y_{i+1}, Y_0 = Y_{n+1} = X, Y_i$ is a finite T_0 topological space and G_i is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. If $\Lambda(G_{n*} \circ \cdots \circ G_{0*}) \neq 0$, then there exists a point $x \in X$ such that $x \in F(x)$.

In Section 4.2 we introduce the notion of Vietoris-like for single valued maps and multivalued maps and present examples. In Section 4.3 a coincidence theorem for finite topological spaces is obtained, that is, Theorem 4.1.11. Then, Lefschetz fixed point theorems are deduced, e.g., Theorem 4.1.12. Moreover, it is introduced the notion of continuous selector for a multivalued map. An existence result of selectors for a certain class of multivalued maps is given. Finally, we get coincidence theorems for multivalued maps. In Section 4.4 a hypothesis regarding to the image of the multivalued maps considered in previous sections is relaxed. A Lefschetz fixed point theorem is obtained for this new class of multivalued maps, Theorem 4.1.13. In Section 4.5 we prove that the fixed point property for multivalued maps between Alexandroff spaces does not hold. In Section 4.6 we propose a method to approximate discrete dynamical systems by finite topological spaces.

Hence, it is important to get a category enclosing Vietoris-like multivalued maps. Furthermore, if we want to adapt some classical invariants of dynamical systems like the Conley index, then we need a proper category. The Conley index can be seen as a normal functor and be described for abstract categories [105]. In Section 4.7 we adapt the notion of diagram that was introduced for multivalued maps and non-finite spaces in [55]. Our notion of diagram contains as a particular case the continuous maps and also the Vietorislike multivalued maps between finite topological spaces. To conclude this section, we prove a Lefschetz fixed point theorem for diagrams. Since diagrams with the composition given in Section 4.7 do not form a category, we introduce in Section 4.8 an equivalence relation between diagrams to define the category of morphisms. A Lefschetz fixed point theorem is also obtained for this category. In Section 4.9 we define homotopy for diagrams and we consider the homotopical category of diagrams HD. In Section 4.10 we show that the definition of homotopy given in the previous section generalizes the usual homotopy for the topological category restricted to finite spaces and the homotopy introduced in [20] for a special class of multivalued maps. Some natural results that hold for polyhedra also hold in this category. For the case of simplicial complexes, the barycentric subdivision of a simplicial complex do not modify neither the homotopy type nor the topological type. Nevertheless, if X is a finite topological space, then the finite barycentric subdivision of Xis not homotopy equivalent to X with the usual notion of homotopy. In the homotopical category of diagrams every finite topological space is isomorphic to its finite barycentric subdivision. We also have that if X and Y have the same homotopy type or have the same simple homotopy type, then X is isomorphic to Y in HD. Thus, the homotopical category of diagrams seems more suitable for the study of finite topological. Finally, in Section 4.11, some remarks regarding to the topological degree for finite spaces are given.

4.2 Vietoris-like maps and multivalued maps

In this section we introduce the notion of Vietoris-like for single valued maps and multivalued maps, we also present some examples and properties.

Definition 4.2.1. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous map between two finite T_0 topological spaces, we say that f is a Vietoris-like map if for every chain $y_1 < y_2 < ... < y_n$ in Y, we have that $\bigcup_{i=1}^n f^{-1}(y_i)$ is acyclic.

Remark 4.2.2. Definition 4.2.1 implies the surjectivity of the maps considered. Therefore, $f: X \to X$ is a Vietoris-like map if and only if f is a homeomorphism. Moreover, if $f: X \to Y$ is a Vietoris-like map, then f is also a Vietoris-like map when it is considered the other possible partial order on X and Y.

Theorem 4.2.3. If $f : X \to Y$ is a Vietoris-like map, then f induces isomorphisms in all homology groups.

Proof. The idea of the proof is to use [13, Corollary 6.5], which says that if $\varphi : X \to Y$ is a continuous map between finite T_0 topological spaces satisfying that $\mathcal{K}(\varphi^{-1}(U_y))$ (or equivalently $\varphi^{-1}(U_y)$) is acyclic for every $y \in Y$, then $\mathcal{K}(\varphi)$ (or φ) induces isomorphism in all homology groups. On the one hand, we have $\mathcal{K}(f)^{-1}(\overline{\sigma}) = \mathcal{K}(\bigcup_{i=1}^n f^{-1}(y_i))$, where σ is a simplex given by some chain $y_1 < \ldots < y_n$ in Y and $\overline{\sigma}$ denotes the subcomplex of $\mathcal{K}(Y)$ given by σ and all its faces, i.e., all the possible subchains of $y_1 < \ldots < y_n$. We prove the last assertion. If $\tau \in \mathcal{K}(f)^{-1}(\overline{\sigma})$, then $\mathcal{K}(f)(\tau) \subseteq \overline{\sigma}$. Hence, $\mathcal{K}(f)(\tau)$ is given by a subchain of $y_1 < \ldots < y_n$, which implies that $\tau \in \mathcal{K}(\bigcup_{i=1}^n f^{-1}(y_i))$. We prove the other content. If $\tau \in \mathcal{K}(\bigcup_{i=1}^n f^{-1}(y_i))$, then τ is given by a chain $x_1 < \ldots < x_m$, where $x_i \in f^{-1}(y_j)$ for some $j = 1, \ldots, n$ and $i = 1, \ldots, m$. We get that $\mathcal{K}(f)(\tau)$ is given by the chain $f(x_1) \leq \ldots \leq f(x_n)$, which is a subchain of $y_1 < \ldots < y_n$. Therefore, $\mathcal{K}(f)(\tau) \in \overline{\sigma}$.

By hypothesis, $\mathcal{K}(f)^{-1}(\overline{\sigma})$ is acyclic due to the equality that we proved above. We have $\mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(f)^{-1}(\overline{\sigma})) = \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(f))^{-1}(U_{\sigma})$, where U_{σ} is the minimal open set of $\sigma \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(Y))$, that is, U_{σ} consists of all subsimplices of σ . Therefore, we are in the hypothesis of [13, Corollary 6.5] because for every $\sigma \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(Y))$ we get that $\mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(f))^{-1}(U_{\sigma})$ is acyclic. Thus, $\mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(f))$ induces isomorphism in all homology groups. By Theorem 1.1.43 and Theorem 1.1.49, it can be deduced that f induces isomorphisms in all homology groups.

Theorem 4.2.3 is a finite analogue of the Vietoris-Begle mapping theorem. It also justifies Definition 4.2.1. In the following example we show that it is not possible to obtain an analogue of a Vietoris-Begle mapping theorem (Theorem 4.1.6) for finite topological spaces if we use an analogue of the classical definition of Vietoris map (Definition 4.1.5).

Example 4.2.4. We consider $X = \{A, B, C, D, E, F\}$ and the following relations: A > C, D, E, F; B > C, D, E, F; C >, E, F and D >, E, F, i.e., X is the minimal finite model of the 2-dimensional sphere [17]. We consider $Y = \{M, N\}$ and the relation M < N. We define f as follows: f(A) = f(B) = f(C) = N and f(D) = f(E) = f(F) = M. Clearly, f is a continuous surjective function, we also have that $f^{-1}(M)$ and $f^{-1}(N)$ are contractible. But f does not induce isomorphism in homology, X is weak homotopy equivalent to a 2-dimensional sphere and Y is weak homotopy equivalent to a point. In Figure 4.2.1 we present a schematic description.

Lemma 4.2.5. If $f : X \to Y$ and $g : Y \to Z$ are two Vietoris-like maps between finite T_0 topological spaces, then the composition $g \circ f$ is also a Vietoris-like map.



Figure 4.2.1: Schematic description of f on the Hasse diagrams of X and Y.

Proof. The continuity of $g \circ f$ is trivial. Let us take a chain $z_1 < ... < z_n$ in Z. We have that $\bigcup_{i=1}^n g^{-1}(z_i)$ is acyclic by hypothesis. Let A denote $\bigcup_{i=1}^n g^{-1}(z_i)$ for simplicity. Then $f_{|f^{-1}(A)} : f^{-1}(A) \to A$ is a Vietoris-like map trivially. Therefore, by Theorem 4.2.3, we get that $f^{-1}(A)$ and A have the same homology groups, which implies that $f^{-1}(A)$ is acyclic.

Lemma 4.2.6. Let $f : X \to Y$ and $g : Y \to Z$ be continuous maps between finite T_0 topological spaces. If f and $g \circ f$ are Vietoris-like maps, then g is also a Vietoris-like map.

Proof. Let h denote $g \circ f$. We take a chain $z_1 < z_2 < ... < z_n$ in Z. By hypothesis, $\bigcup_{i=1}^n h^{-1}(z_i)$ is acyclic, we denote $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n g^{-1}(z_i)$. We get that $f_{|f^{-1}(A)} : f^{-1}(A) \to A$ induces isomorphisms in all homology groups because f is a Vietoris-like map. Then, Ais acyclic and g is also a Vietoris-like map.

Despite Lemma 4.2.5 and Lemma 4.2.6, the 2-out-of-3 property does not hold for Vietoris-like maps in general as we show with the following example.

Example 4.2.7. We consider $X = \{A, B, C\}$ with the following partial order: A, B < C. We also consider $Y = \{D, E\}$, where we declare D < E. Finally, $Z = \{F\}$. We define $f: X \to Y$ given by f(A) = D, f(B) = D and f(C) = E. We consider $g: Y \to Z$ as the constant map. It is trivial to check that g and $g \circ f$ are Vietoris-like maps. However, $f^{-1}(D) = \{A, B\}$ has the weak homotopy type of the disjoint union of two points. Then, f is not a Vietoris-like map.

In addition, if $f: X \to Y$ is a Vietoris-like map and $g: X \to Y$ is a weak homotopy equivalence that is homotopic to f, then g is not necessarily a Vietoris-like map.

Example 4.2.8. We consider $X = \{A, B\}$, where we declare A > B, and $W = \{C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J, K\}$, where we declare C > F, G, I, J, K; D > F, H, I, J, K; E > G, H, I, J, K; F > I, J; G > I, J, K and <math>H > J, K. Since W is the finite T_0 topological space introduced in [93, Figure 2], it follows that W is weak homotopy equivalent to a point but it is not contractible. We consider $f: W \to X$ given by f(C) = f(E) = f(G) = A and f(D) = f(F) = f(H) = f(I) = f(J) = f(K) = B and $g: W \to X$ given by g(C) = g(E) = A and $g(W \setminus \{C, E\}) = B$. It is easy to check that f and g are continuous maps. We get that f is a Vietoris-like map since $f^{-1}(A)$ is the minimal closed set containing $G(F_G)$ and $f^{-1}(B)$ is the minimal open set containing $D(U_D)$, which means that $f^{-1}(A)$ and

 $f^{-1}(B)$ are contractible. Furthermore, g is homotopic to f because $g \leq f$. Nevertheless, g is not a Vietoris-like map, $g^{-1}(A)$ does not have the same weak homotopy type of a point because it is not connected. In Figure 4.2.2 we have represented the Hasse diagrams of X and W.



Figure 4.2.2: Hasse diagrams of W and X and schematic representations of $f^{-1}(A)$, $f^{-1}(B)$, $g^{-1}(A)$ and $g^{-1}(B)$.

Now, we provide one of the main definitions.

Definition 4.2.9. Let $F : X \multimap Y$ be a multivalued map between finite T_0 topological spaces, F is a Vietoris-like multivalued map if the projection p onto the first coordinate from the graph of $\Gamma(F)$ is a Vietoris-like map.

It is important to observe that we do not require any notion of continuity in the multivalued maps of Definition 4.2.9.

Example 4.2.10. We consider $X = \{A, B\}$ with A < B and $Y = \{C, D, E, F\}$ satisfying that C < E > D < F. We define $G : X \multimap Y$ given by $G(A) = \{F, D\}$ and $G(B) = \{E, C\}$. It is easy to check that G is not a usc multivalued map because there is no $z \in G(B)$ with z > F, see Definition 4.1.8. Since $p^{-1}(A)$, $p^{-1}(B)$ and $p^{-1}(A) \cup p^{-1}(B)$ are contractible spaces, G is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. In Figure 4.2.3 we have a schematic representation of the situation described above.



Figure 4.2.3: Hasse diagram of X, Y and $\Gamma(G)$ and schematic representation of G.

Remark 4.2.11. If $F : X \multimap Y$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map between finite T_0 topological spaces, then F(x) is acyclic for every $x \in X$. This is due to the fact that $p^{-1}(x) = x \times F(x)$.

Furthermore, the compositions of Vietoris-like multivalued maps are not in general Vietoris-like multivalued maps as we show in the following example. Before the example, we recall the definition of the composition of multivalued maps. If $F : X \to Y$ and $G: Y \to Z$ are multivalued maps, then $G \circ F$ is given by $G(F(x)) = \bigcup_{y \in F(x)} G(y)$.

Example 4.2.12. We consider $X = \{A, B, C, D\}$ with the following partial: A > C, D and B >, C, D, i.e., X is the minimal finite model of the circle. We define $F : X \multimap X$ given by $F(A) = \{A, C, D\}$, $F(B) = \{B, C, D\}$, F(C) = C and F(D) = D. We define $G : X \multimap X$ given by G(A) = A, G(B) = B, $G(C) = \{C, A, B\}$ and $G(D) = \{D, A, B\}$. It is easy to check that F and G are Vietoris-like multivalued maps. Nevertheless, $G \circ F : X \multimap X$ is not a Vietoris-like multivalued map since G(F(A)) = X is not acyclic, which implies a contradiction with Remark 4.2.11. In addition, G is another example of a Vietoris-like multivalued map which is not usc.

Lemma 4.2.13. Let X, Y and Z be finite T_0 topological spaces. If $f : X \to Y$ is a continuous map and $G : Y \multimap Z$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map, then $G \circ f : X \multimap Z$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map.

Proof. By hypothesis, *G* is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. Then, *p_G* is a Vietoris-like map, where *p_G* denotes the projection onto the first coordinate of the graph of *G*. We consider a chain $x_1 < ... < x_n$ in *X*, by the continuity of *f*, $f(x_1) \leq ... \leq f(x_n)$ is a chain in *Y*. Hence, $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n p_G^{-1}(f(x_i))$ is acyclic. One point in *A* is of the form $(f(x_i), y)$, where $y \in G(f(x_i))$. We will prove that $p_{G \circ f}$ is a Vietoris-like map, where $p_{G \circ f}$ denotes the projection onto the first coordinate of the graph of $G \circ f$. Then, we need to show that $B = \bigcup_{i=1}^n p_{G \circ f}^{-1}(x_i)$ is acyclic. To do that, we verify that *A* and *B* are homotopy equivalent. One point in *B* is of the form (x_i, y) , where $y \in G(f(x_i))$. We define $L : B \to A$ given by $L(x_i, y) = (f(x_i), y)$. We have that *L* is trivially well-defined and continuous. We consider $R : A \to B$ given by $R(z, y) = (f_{min}^{-1}(z), y)$, where $f_{min}^{-1}(z)$ denotes the minimum of the intersection of $f^{-1}(z)$ with $\{x_1, ..., x_n\}$. We get that *R* is well-defined since $f_{min}^{-1}(z)$ is a non-empty subset of a totally ordered set $(x_1 < ... < x_n)$. If $(z, y), (z', y') \in A$ with $(z, y) \leq (z', y')$, then $R(z, y) = (f_{min}^{-1}(z')$. Therefore $z = f(f_{min}^{-1}(z)) \geq f(f_{min}^{-1}(z')) = z'$ but $z \leq z'$. From this, we have that the only possibility is z = z' and we get $f_{min}^{-1}(z) = f_{min}^{-1}(z')$, which entails a contradiction. It is easy to check that $L \circ R$ is the identity map in *A*. Finally, if $(x_i, y) \in B$, then $R(L(x_i, y)) = R(f(x_i), y) = (min(f^{-1}(f(x_i)) \cap \{x_1, ..., x_n\}, y) \leq (x_i, y)$, which means that $R \circ L$ is homotopic to the identity map in *B*. Thus, *A* and *B* are homotopy equivalent.

If $f: Y \to Z$ is a continuous map between finite T_0 topological spaces and $F: X \multimap Y$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map between finite T_0 topological spaces, then the composition $f \circ F$ is defined as follows:

$$f(F(x)) = \bigcup_{y \in F(x)} f(y).$$

In the previous conditions, it is not possible to get an analogue of Lemma 4.2.13 as we prove in the following example.

Example 4.2.14. We consider the finite topological space of one point, $X = \{A\}$. We consider $Y = \{B, C, D, E\}$ with the following relations: B < C > D < E and we consider $Z = \{F, G, H, I\}$ with the following relations: F > H, I and G > H, I. We define $F : X \multimap Y$ given by F(A) = Y. Then, F is clearly a Vietoris-like multivalued map. We define $f : Y \to Z$ given by f(B) = H, f(D) = I, f(C) = F and f(E) = G. It is

immediate to get that f is a continuous map. We have f(F(A)) = Z, which implies that f(F(A)) is weak homotopy equivalent to a circle because Z is the minimal finite model of the circle. If we suppose that $f \circ F : X \multimap Z$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map, then we get a contradiction with Remark 4.2.11. In Figure 4.2.4 we present a schematic description of the above situation.



Figure 4.2.4: Schematic description of F and f on the Hasse diagrams of X, Y and Z.

Remark 4.2.15. If $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous map between finite T_0 topological spaces, then the projection of the graph of f onto the first coordinate p is a Vietoris-like map. In fact, p is a homeomorphism. Since every continuous map can be seen as a multivalued map, it follows that every continuous map is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. It is simple to show that $f_* = q_* \circ p_*^{-1}$ because $f \circ p = q$, where $q: \Gamma(f) \to Y$ denotes the projection onto the second coordinate.

Let $F : X \multimap Y$ be a Vietoris-like multivalued map between finite T_0 topological spaces. We denote by $F_* : H_*(X) \to H_*(Y)$ the induced morphism in homology given by $F_* = q_* \circ p_*^{-1}$. Since p induces isomorphisms in all homology groups, it follows that F_* is well-defined. If p is not a Vietoris-like map but induces isomorphisms in all homology groups, then F_* is also considered as $F_* = q_* \circ p_*^{-1}$.

Example 4.2.16. We consider $X = \{A, B, C, D, E\}$, where A, B, C < D, E, and $F : X \multimap X$ is given by $F(A) = \{D, B, A\}$, F(B) = B, F(C) = C, F(D) = D, $F(E) = \{C, E, D\}$. It is immediate that F is a usc multivalued map. Moreover, it is easy to prove that F is not a Vietoris-like multivalued map since $p^{-1}(A) \cup p^{-1}(E)$ is weak homotopy equivalent to a wedge sum of two circles. Then, the property of being usc does not imply the property of being a Vietoris-like multivalued map.



Figure 4.2.5: From left to right, Hasse diagrams of X and $p^{-1}(A) \cup p^{-1}(E)$ and McCord complex of $p^{-1}(A) \cup p^{-1}(E)$.

Important examples of Vietoris-like multivalued maps are the multivalued maps considered in [20]. In terms of continuity, Vietoris-like multivalued maps are more flexible than the ones mentioned above since the properties of being susc or slsc are not considered to prove Theorem 4.1.12 (Lefschetz fixed point theorem for multivalued maps) in Section 4.3. It is easy to find Vietoris-like multivalued maps that are not susc with acyclic values. For instance, every continuous map $f: X \to Y$ can be seen as a Vietoris-like multivalued map, Remark 4.2.15. For more examples, see the multivalued map G considered in Example 4.2.12, Example 4.2.10 or the following propositions. The multivalued map considered in Proposition 4.2.18 cannot be clearly a susc multivalued map unless it is constant.

Proposition 4.2.17. If $F : X \multimap Y$ is a multivalued map susc (slsc) such that F(x) is acyclic for every $x \in X$, then F is a Vietoris-like multivalued map.

Proof. The continuity of p is trivial to show. We follow similar techniques than the ones used in [20, Lemma 4.1] so as to get that p is a Vietoris-like map. Let us take a chain $x_1 < ... < x_n$ in X, we denote $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n p^{-1}(x_i)$. The idea is to show that A has the same homotopy type of $F(x_n)$. We define $i: F(x_n) \to A$ given by $i(z) = (x_n, z)$, clearly, i is well-defined and continuous. We also consider $r: A \to F(x_n)$ given by $r(x_i, y) = y$, we get by hypothesis that $x_i \leq x_n$ implies $F(x_i) \subseteq F(x_n)$, so r is well-defined. The continuity of rfollows trivially. It is immediate that $r \circ i = id_{F(x_n)}$. On the other hand, $i \circ r \simeq id_A$ because for every $(x_i, y) \in A$ we get that $i(r(x_i, y)) = i(y) = (x_n, y) \geq (x_i, y) = id_A(x_i, y)$. Thus, A is homotopy equivalent to $F(x_n)$, which implies that F is a Vietoris-like multivalued map.

The second case, the one in parenthesis, is analogous. If we change the partial order on X and Y, then we are in the previous hypothesis and the result follows immediately. \Box

Proposition 4.2.18. If $f : X \to Y$ is a Vietoris-like map, then $F : Y \multimap X$ given by $F(y) = f^{-1}(y)$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map.

Proof. We need to show that the projection of the graph of F onto the first coordinate is a Vietoris-like map. We take a chain $y_1 < ... < y_n$ in Y. We denote $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n p^{-1}(y_i)$. We define $g: A \to \bigcup_{i=1}^n f^{-1}(y_i)$ given by $g(y_i, z_i) = z_i$, where we have that $z_i \in f^{-1}(y_i)$ for some y_i , so g is well-defined. The continuity of g follows trivially. Now, we prove that g is injective. We take $(y_i, z), (y_j, w) \in A$ satisfying that $(y_i, z) \neq (y_j, w)$. We have two options. The first one is $y_i \neq y_j$, then, it is clear that $z \neq w$ because $f(z) = y_i$ and $f(w) = y_j$. We deduce that $g(y_i, z) \neq g(y_j, w)$. The second option, $y_i = y_j$ and $z \neq w$, implies $z = g(y_i, z) \neq g(y_j, w) = w$. We define $t: \bigcup_{i=1}^n f^{-1}(y_i) \to A$ as follows: $t(z) = (y_i, z)$, where $z \in f^{-1}(y_i)$ for some y_i in the chain $y_1 < ... < y_n$. We have that t is well-defined since f is a map. Suppose $z \leq w$, where $z, w \in \bigcup_{i=1}^n f^{-1}(y_i)$. Then $t(z) = (y_i, z)$ and $t(w) = (y_j, w)$ for some y_i and y_j . The chain $y_1 < ... < y_n$ is a totally ordered set so $y_i \leq y_j$ or $y_i > y_j$. Suppose that $y_i > y_j$ holds. By the continuity of f we obtain a contradiction because $y_i = f(z) \leq f(w) = y_i$. Therefore, the only possibility is $y_i \leq y_j$, which implies that $t(z) = (y_i, z) \leq (y_j, w) = t(w)$. Hence, t is a continuous map. It is easy to check that $t \circ g$ and $g \circ t$ are the identity map in A and $\bigcup_{i=1}^n f^{-1}(y_i)$ respectively. Thus, g is indeed a homeomorphism. From here, we get that A is acyclic and p is a Vietoris-like map.

Proposition 4.2.19. If $F : X \multimap Y$ is a usc (resp. slc) multivalued map with F(x) containing a maximum (resp. minimum) for every $x \in X$, then F is a Vietoris-like multivalued map.

Proof. We prove the result for the first case. We take a chain $x_1 < ... < x_n$ in X and we denote $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n p^{-1}(x_i)$. We argue as we did in the proof of Proposition 4.2.17. We denote by \overline{x}_i the maximum of $F(x_i)$ for i = 1, ..., n. We define $f : A \to A$ as follows $f(x_i, z) = (x_n, \overline{x}_n)$. We have that f is trivially a continuous map. We check that $f \ge id_A$. By hypothesis, F is usc, therefore, for every $z \in F(x_i)$ there exists $w \in F(x_n)$ such that $z \le w$. We know that $F(x_n)$ contains a maximum, so $z \le w \le \overline{x}_n$. From this, we deduce the desired result.

For the second case, we only need to change the partial order on X and Y. Then, we are in the hypothesis of the first case. \Box

With the following example, we show that if $F : X \multimap Y$ is a usc multivalued map such that F(x) contains a minimum for every $x \in X$, then F is not necessarily a Vietoris-like multivalued map.

Example 4.2.20. We consider $X = \{H, I\}$ with H < I and $Y = \{A, B, C, D\}$ with A > C, D and B > C, D, that is, a finite model of the unit interval and the circle. We define $F : X \multimap Y$ given by $F(H) = \{D\}$ and $F(I) = \{A, B, C\}$. We get that F is clearly use and satisfies that for every $x \in X$ there exists a minimum in F(x). The finite topological space associated to the graph of F is given by $\Gamma(F) = \{(I, A), (I, B), (I, C), (H, D)\}$ with the following partial order: (I, A) > (I, C), (H, D) and (I, B) > (I, C), (H, D). Hence, $\Gamma(F)$ is a finite model of the circle. Thus, the projection onto the first coordinate of the graph of F is not a Vietoris-like map.

Proposition 4.2.21. If $f : X \to Y$ is a continuous map between finite T_0 topological spaces, then the second projection of the graph of $F : f(X) \multimap X$ given by $F(y) = f^{-1}(y)$ is a Vietoris-like map.

Proof. We denote by $q: \Gamma(F) \to X$ the projection onto the second coordinate. We have trivially that q is surjective, for every $x \in X$ we get $(f(x), x) \in \Gamma(F)$. If $z, t \in q^{-1}(x)$ for some $x \in X$, then f(x) = z and f(x) = t, which implies z = t. Therefore, the cardinality of $q^{-1}(x)$ is one. Let us take a chain $x_1 < x_2 < \ldots < x_n$ in X. Hence, we need to show that $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n q^{-1}(x_i)$ is acyclic. We check that $(t_n, x_n) = q^{-1}(x_n) \in A$ is a maximum. If $(t_i, x_i) = q^{-1}(x_i)$ with i < n, then $f(x_i) = t_i$ and $f(x_n) = t_n$. By the continuity of f, we deduce that $t_i \leq t_n$, which implies $q^{-1}(x_n) \geq q^{-1}(x_i)$. Thus, A is contractible. \Box

4.3 A coincidence theorem for finite topological spaces

In this section, we prove a coincidence theorem for finite topological spaces. Consequently, we will obtain some versions of the Lefschetz fixed point theorem.

Proposition 4.3.1. Given two finite T_0 topological spaces X, Y and two continuous maps $f, g: X \to Y$. If there exists $x \in |\mathcal{K}(X)|$ such that $|\mathcal{K}(f)|(x) = |\mathcal{K}(g)|(x)$, then there exists $y \in X$ with f(y) = g(y).

Proof. We denote $f' = |\mathcal{K}(f)|$ and $g' = |\mathcal{K}(g)|$ for simplicity. By [75, Theorem 2], we have the following relations, $f_Y \circ f' = f \circ f_X$ and $f_Y \circ g' = g \circ f_X$, where $f_X : |\mathcal{K}(X)| \to X$ and $f_Y : |\mathcal{K}(Y)| \to Y$ are weak homotopy equivalences. Let us take $x \in |\mathcal{K}(X)|$ such that f'(x) = g'(x). Using the previous relations, we get

$$f(f_X(x)) = f_Y(f'(x)) = f_Y(g'(x)) = g(f_X(x)).$$

Therefore, $y = f_X(x) \in X$ satisfies that f(y) = g(y), as we wanted.

Lemma 4.3.2. Let $g, f : X \to Y$ be continuous maps between finite topological spaces where f is a Vietoris-like map. Then $\Lambda(\mathcal{K}(g)_* \circ \mathcal{K}(f)_*^{-1}) = \Lambda(g_* \circ f_*^{-1})$.

Proof. By Theorem 1.1.43, we have $f_* \circ f_{X*} = f_{Y*} \circ \mathcal{K}(f)_*$ and $g_* \circ f_{X*} = f_{Y*} \circ \mathcal{K}(g)_*$. Since f_* , $\mathcal{K}(f)_*$, f_{X*} and f_{Y*} are isomorphisms, we get $f_*^{-1} = f_{X*} \circ \mathcal{K}(f)_*^{-1} \circ f_{Y*}^{-1}$ and $g_* = f_{Y*} \circ \mathcal{K}(g)_* \circ f_{X*}^{-1}$. Then, $g_* \circ f_*^{-1} = f_{Y*} \circ \mathcal{K}(g)_* \circ \mathcal{K}(f)_*^{-1} \circ f_{Y*}^{-1}$. By the properties of the trace, we get the desired equality.

Now, we prove one of the main results.

Proof of Theorem 4.1.11. By Theorem 4.2.3, $\Lambda(g_* \circ f_*^{-1})$ is well-defined. For the second part, we argue by contradiction. Suppose that f and g do not have coincidence points, i.e., for every $x \in X$ we have $f(x) \neq g(x)$. We define an acyclic carrier $\Phi : \mathcal{K}(Y) \to \mathcal{K}(X)$, that is, Φ is a function which assigns an acyclic subcomplex of $\mathcal{K}(X)$ for each simplex $\sigma \in \mathcal{K}(Y)$ and satisfies that if $\sigma \subseteq \tau$, then $\Phi(\sigma) \subseteq \Phi(\tau)$. For every simplex $\sigma \in \mathcal{K}(Y)$, where σ is given by a chain $y_1 < ... < y_n$ of Y, we define $\Phi(\sigma) = \mathcal{K}(\bigcup_{i=1,...,n} f^{-1}(y_i))$. By hypothesis, f is a Vietoris-like map, so $\Phi(\sigma)$ is acyclic. Furthermore, by construction, it is clear that if $\tau \subseteq \sigma$, we have $\Phi(\tau) \subseteq \Phi(\sigma)$. By the acyclic carrier theorem (see for instance [87, Theorem 13.3]), there exists a chain-map $\phi: C_*(\mathcal{K}(Y)) \to C_*(\mathcal{K}(X))$, which is carried by Φ , i.e., for every *n*-simplex σ in $\mathcal{K}(Y)$, $\phi(\sigma)$ is a linear combination of simplices of $\Phi(\sigma)$. We will show inductively that $\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}(\phi(\sigma)) = \sigma$ for every $\sigma \in \mathcal{K}(Y)$, where $\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}$ denotes the chain-map induced by the simplicial map $\mathcal{K}(f) : \mathcal{K}(X) \to \mathcal{K}(Y)$. We have that $\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}(\phi(v)) = v$ for every vertex in $\mathcal{K}(Y)$ since $\phi(v)$ is a linear combination of vertices in $\mathcal{K}(f)^{-1}(v)$ with augmentation 1, see [87, Proof of Theorem 13.3]. If e is an edge, then $\partial(\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}(\phi(e))) = \partial e$. We also know that $\phi(e)$ is a linear combination of edges of $\Phi(e)$, that is, $\phi(e) = \sum k_i \tau_i$, where k_i is a coefficient and τ_i is an edge in $\Phi(e)$ for every *i*. We have that $\mathcal{K}(f)$ is a simplicial map, which implies that $\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}$ sends τ_i to zero or e or -e. Therefore, $\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}(\phi(e)) = \sum_{j} (-1)^{a_j} k_j e$, where $a_j = 0$ if $\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}$ sends τ_j to e and $a_j = 1$ if $\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}$ sends τ_j to -e. Since $\partial(\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}(\phi(e))) = \partial e$ we get that $\sum_{j} (-1)^{a_j} k_j = 1$ and $\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#}(\phi(e)) = e$. We can follow inductively to prove the result. From here, We get that $\mathcal{K}(f)_{\#} \circ \phi$ is the identity chain-map $id_{\#} : C_*(\mathcal{K}(Y)) \to C_*(\mathcal{K}(Y))$. Then, ϕ corresponds in homology to $\mathcal{K}(f)^{-1}_*$.

We consider $\mu = \mathcal{K}(g)_{\#} \circ \phi : C_*(\mathcal{K}(Y)) \to C_*(\mathcal{K}(Y))$. We denote by μ_* the induced homomorphism in homology. We also have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{i} (-1)^i \operatorname{trace}(\mu_i) = \sum_{i=0}^{i} (-1)^i \operatorname{trace}(\mu_* : H_i(\mathcal{K}(Y)) \to H_i(\mathcal{K}(Y))).$$

See for instance [60, Proof of Theorem 2C.3].

If the trace of μ_i is not zero for some *i*, then there exists a simplex $\sigma \in C_i(\mathcal{K}(Y))$ with $\mu_i(\sigma) = k\sigma + ...$, where *k* is a non-zero coefficient. Therefore, there exists γ in $\Phi(\sigma)$ with $\mathcal{K}(g)_{\#}(\gamma) = \sigma$. We prove the last assertion. We have $\phi(\sigma) = \sum k_j \tau_j$, where $\tau_j \in C_i(\Phi(\sigma))$ is a simplex and k_j is a coefficient for every *j*. Since $\mathcal{K}(g)$ is a simplicial map, $\mathcal{K}(g)_{\#}$ sends τ_j to an *i*-simplex or zero, which implies the desired assertion. In fact, $|\mathcal{K}(g)|$ restricted to $\overline{\gamma}$ is a homeomorphism, where $\overline{\gamma} \subset |\mathcal{K}(X)|$ denotes the closed simplex given by the simplex $\gamma \in \mathcal{K}(X)$. We get that $|\mathcal{K}(g)|(\overline{\gamma}) \subseteq \overline{\sigma}$. Then, by the Brouwer fixed point theorem, $|\mathcal{K}(f)| \circ |\mathcal{K}(g)|_{|\overline{\gamma}}^{-1} : \overline{\sigma} \to \overline{\sigma}$ has a fixed point *t*. Therefore, $|\mathcal{K}(g)|_{|\overline{\gamma}}^{-1}(t)$ is a coincidence point for $|\mathcal{K}(f)|$ and $|\mathcal{K}(g)|$. By Proposition 4.3.1 we get that *f* and *g* have a coincidence point, which entails a contradiction.

Earlier we proved that $\mathcal{K}(f)_*^{-1} = \phi_*$. Then, $\mu_* = \mathcal{K}(g)_* \circ \mathcal{K}(f)_*^{-1}$, which implies that $\sum_i (-1)^i \operatorname{trace}(\mathcal{K}(g)_* \circ \mathcal{K}(f)_*^{-1}) = 0$. By Lemma 4.3.2, we have $\Lambda(g_* \circ f_*^{-1}) = 0$, which entails a contradiction. Thus, there must exists a point $x \in X$ such that f(x) = g(x).

Suppose $f, g: X \to Y$ are continuous maps, where X and Y are finite T_0 topological spaces and f is a Vietoris-like map. If $\Lambda(g_* \circ f_*^{-1}) \neq 0$ and $g': X \to Y$ is a continuous map homotopic to g, then g' and f have at least one coincidence point. The opposite result does not hold, that is, if $f': X \to Y$ is a continuous map homotopic to f, then f' and g do not have necessarily a coincidence point.

Example 4.3.3. We consider $X = \{A, B, C\}$, where $C > A, B, f : X \to X$ given by f(C) = C, f(A) = B and $f(B) = A, g : X \to X$ given by g(y) = A for every $y \in X$ and $f' : X \to X$ given by f'(y) = B for every $y \in X$. It is easy to deduce that f and f' are homotopic. Moreover, f is a Vietoris-like map and $\Lambda(g_* \circ f_*^{-1}) \neq 0$. But f' and g do not have a coincidence point.

We can also obtain coincidence theorems for multivalued maps as corollaries of Theorem 4.1.11.

Corollary 4.3.4. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous map between finite T_0 topological spaces such that f is a Vietoris-like map and let $F: X \multimap Y$ be a Vietoris-like multivalued map. Then, $\Lambda(F_* \circ f_*^{-1})$ is defined and if $\Lambda(F_* \circ f_*^{-1}) \neq 0$, then there exists $x \in X$ such that $f(x) \in F(x)$.

Proof. We have the following diagram,



By hypothesis, p is a Vietoris-like map. Then, $f \circ p$ is a Vietoris-like map due to Lemma 4.2.5, so we are in the hypothesis of Theorem 4.1.11. Therefore, there exists $(x, y) \in \Gamma(F)$ such that f(p(x, y)) = q(x, y), so $f(x) = y \in F(x)$.

Corollary 4.3.5. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a continuous map between finite T_0 topological spaces and let $F: X \multimap Y$ be a multivalued map such that the second projection, q, is a Vietorislike map. Then, $\Lambda(f_* \circ F_*^{-1})$ is defined, where $F_*^{-1} = p_* \circ q_*^{-1}$, and if $\Lambda(f_* \circ F_*^{-1}) \neq 0$, then there exists $x \in X$ such that $f(x) \in F(x)$.

Proof. We have the following diagram:



Where F_*^{-1} is well-defined since q induces isomorphisms in all homology groups, see Theorem 4.2.3. We are in the hypothesis of Theorem 4.1.11. Thus, there exists a coincidence point $(x, y) \in \Gamma(F)$ with y = q(x, y) = f(p(x, y)) = f(x) so $f(x) \in F(x)$.

From the theory developed previously, it is easy to get an analogue of the Lefschetz fixed point theorem for Vietoris-like multivalued maps.

Proof of Theorem 4.1.12. We get that $\Lambda(F_*)$ is well-defined because F is a Vietorislike multivalued map. Then, we are in the hypothesis of Corollary 4.3.4, where we are considering the identity map as the single valued map.

We can also obtain the classical Lefschetz fixed point theorem for finite spaces using the previous techniques.

Corollary 4.3.6 (Lefschetz fixed point theorem). Let $f : X \to X$ be a continuous function and let X be a finite T_0 topological space. If $\Lambda(f) \neq 0$, there exists a fixed point. Furthermore, $\Lambda(f)$ is the Euler characteristic of Fix(f).

Proof. By Remark 4.2.15, f can be seen as a Vietoris-like multivalued map. Then, we are in the hypothesis of Theorem 4.1.12.

The second part follows easily from the fact that p is a homeomorphism. Then, we have $q \circ p^{-1} : X \to X$ and the following relations:

$$\begin{split} \Lambda(f_*) &= \Lambda(q_* \circ p_*^{-1}) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^i \operatorname{trace}(q_* \circ p_*^{-1}) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^i |\{\sigma \in \mathcal{K}(X)_i | q(p^{-1}(\sigma)) = \sigma\}| = \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^i |\{v_0 < \dots < v_i | q(p^{-1}(v_0 < \dots < v_i)) = v_0 < \dots < v_i\}| = \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^i |\{v_0 < \dots < v_i | q(p^{-1}(v_j)) = v_j \text{ where } j \in \{0, \dots, i\}\}| = \\ &= \chi(Fix(f)). \end{split}$$

The previous relations are the same used in [11, Theorem 1.1].

Using the multivalued maps mentioned in Proposition 4.2.17, it can be obtained a stronger version of the Lefschetz fixed point theorem than the one obtained in [20], which is a generalization of [11, Theorem 1.1] for multivalued maps.

Theorem 4.3.7. Let $F : X \to X$ be a multivalued map and let X be a finite T_0 topological space. If F is a slsc (susc) multivalued map such that F(x) is acyclic for every $x \in X$, then $\Lambda(F_*)$ is the Euler characteristic of Fix(F).

Proof. We follow a similar argument than the one used in the proof of Theorem 4.1.11. We consider $\Phi : \mathcal{K}(X) \to \mathcal{K}(\Gamma(F))$ given by $\Phi(\sigma) = \mathcal{K}(\bigcup_{i=0}^{n} p^{-1}(x_i))$, where σ is given by a chain $x_0 < x_1 < ... < x_n$ in X. Then, Φ is an acyclic carrier trivially. We construct explicitly a chain-map $\phi : C_*(\mathcal{K}(X)) \to C_*(\mathcal{K}(\Gamma(F)))$ carried by Φ . We consider the augmented chain complexes of $C_*(\mathcal{K}(X))$ and $C_*(\mathcal{K}(\Gamma(F)))$, where an augmented chain complex of a chain complex C_* is given as C_* adjoining \mathbb{Z} in dimension -1 and using an epimorphism $\epsilon : C_0 \to \mathbb{Z}$, which satisfies $\epsilon \circ \partial = 0$, as boundary operator. The homology groups of the augmented chain complexes are the reduced homology groups. We will construct a chain-map on the augmented chain complexes. Firstly, we consider $id: \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}$. Suppose v is a vertex in $\mathcal{K}(X)$, i.e., a point in X. If v satisfies that $(v, v) \in \Gamma(F)$, then we define $\phi(v) = (v, v)$. If v does not satisfy that $(v, v) \in \Gamma(F)$, then we define $\phi(v)$ choosing a vertex in $\mathcal{K}(p^{-1}(v))$, that is, a point in $p^{-1}(v)$. We extend ϕ to $C_0(\mathcal{K}(X))$ using linearity. Finally, we declare $\epsilon(\phi(v)) = 1$ for every vertex v. Hence, we get $\epsilon(\partial(e)) = 0$ and $\epsilon = \epsilon \circ \phi$. In addition, since $\phi(v)$ is a vertex for every vertex v, we have $\partial(\phi(v)) = 0 = \phi(\partial(v))$. By construction, for every $c \in C_0(\mathcal{K}(X)), \phi(c)$ is carried by $\Phi(c)$. Suppose e is an edge in $\mathcal{K}(X)$, that is, a chain $v_0 < v_1$ in X. If e satisfies that $(v_0, v_0), (v_1, v_1) \in \Gamma(F)$, then we define $\phi(e)$ as the edge in $\mathcal{K}(\Gamma(F))$ given by $(v_0, v_0) < (v_1, v_1)$. By construction, it is immediate that $\partial(\phi(e)) = \phi(\partial(e))$. Suppose e does not satisfy that $(v_0, v_0), (v_1, v_1) \in \Gamma(F)$. We know that $\phi(\partial e)$ is defined. Since $\Phi(e)$ is acyclic, it follows that the reduced homology of $\Phi(e)$ is trivial and there exists $c \in C_1(\Phi(e))$ such that $\partial c = \phi(\partial(e))$. Then, we define $\phi(e) = c$. It is easily seen that $\partial(\phi(e)) = \phi(\partial(e))$. We extend ϕ to $C_1(\mathcal{K}(X))$ using linearity. Therefore, if $c \in C_1(\mathcal{K}(X))$, then $\phi(c)$ is carried by $\Phi(c)$ and $\partial(\phi(c)) = \phi(\partial(c))$. We can proceed inductively so as to get a chain-map ϕ , which is carried by Φ . The chain map constructed can be restricted to the non-augmented chain complexes, i.e., we only consider ϕ and we omit $id : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}$. We have that ϕ is clearly a chain-map. It can also be proved that $\mathcal{K}(p)_{\#}(\phi(\sigma)) = \sigma$ for every $\sigma \in \mathcal{K}(X)$, as in the proof of Theorem 4.1.11. We have chosen a chain-map that is carried by Φ , but this choice is not relevant because two chain-maps carried by the same acyclic carrier are chain-homotopic, see [87, Theorem 13.3]. We consider the chain-map $\mu = \mathcal{K}(q)_{\#} \circ \phi : C_*(\mathcal{K}(X)) \to C_*(\mathcal{K}(X))$. Repeating the same arguments used in the proof of Theorem 4.1.11, we get the following relation:

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} (-1)^i \operatorname{trace}(\mu_i) = \Lambda(F_*).$$

Now, we prove that trace(μ_i) is the cardinal of $\{\sigma \in \mathcal{K}(X)_i | \mathcal{K}(q)_{\#}(\phi(\sigma)) = \sigma\}$, where $\mathcal{K}(X)_i$ denotes the set of *i*-simplices of $\mathcal{K}(X)$. Suppose that $\sigma \in \mathcal{K}(X)_i$ satisfies $\mathcal{K}(q)_{\#}(\phi(\sigma))$ $= t\sigma + \dots$, where σ is given by a chain $v_0 < \dots < v_i$ in X and t is a non-zero coefficient. Since $\mathcal{K}(q)$ is a simplicial map, there exists a simplex τ in the linear combination $\phi(\sigma)$ such that $\mathcal{K}(q)_{\#}(\tau) = \sigma$. Since $\phi(\sigma)$ is carried by $\Phi(\sigma) = \mathcal{K}(\bigcup_{j=0}^{i} p(v_j)^{-1}), \tau$ is a simplex given by a chain $(v_{j_0}, v_0) < (v_{j_1}, v_1) < \dots < (v_{j_i}, v_i)$ in $\Gamma(F)$, where $v_{j_k} \leq v_{j_l}$ if $k \leq l$ and $j_k \in \{0, 1, ..., i\}$ for every k = 0, ..., i. Suppose that $v_{j_0} > v_0$. Since F is a slsc multivalued map, we have $F(v_{j_0}) \subseteq F(v_0)$. By the construction of the graph of F and the previous observation, we get $v_0 \in F(v_0)$. Then, we can deduce that the simplex $\tau^{(0)}$ in $\mathcal{K}(\Gamma(F))$ given by the chain $(v_0, v_0) < (v_{j_1}, v_1) < \dots < (v_{j_i}, v_i)$ is a simplex in $\Phi(\sigma)$. We can proceed inductively until we get that $\tau^{(i)}$ given by $(v_0, v_0) < ... < (v_i, v_i)$ is a simplex of $\Phi(\sigma)$. By the construction of ϕ we know that if $w_0 < ... < w_m$ is a chain in X (a simplex in $\mathcal{K}(X)$) where $w_i \in F(w_i)$ for every i = 1, ..., m, then $\phi(w_0 < ... < w_m) = (w_0, w_0) < ... < (w_m, w_m)$. From this, we get that $\phi(\sigma) = \tau^{(i)}$ and $\mathcal{K}(q)_{\#}(\phi(\sigma)) = \sigma$. Thus, for every $j \in \{0, ..., i\}$ we get $(v_i, v_j) \in \Gamma(F)$, which means that $v_j \in Fix(F)$. From here, it is easy to deduce that the Euler characteristic of Fix(F) is $\Lambda(F_*)$. If F is susc, then we consider the other possible partial order on X. Now, F is slsc and we can apply the previous arguments to get the desired result.

Problem 4.3.8. It remains to study the general case of the previous result. Given a Vietoris-like multivalued map $F: X \multimap X$, do we have that $\Lambda(F_*)$ is the Euler characteristic of Fix(F)?

Definition 4.3.9. Let X and Y be finite T_0 topological spaces. A continuous selector for a multivalued map $F: X \multimap Y$ is a continuous function $f: X \to Y$ such that $f(x) \in F(x)$ for every $x \in X$.

In [20], it is proved that if $F: X \multimap X$ is a susc (slsc) multivalued map with acyclic values and f is a continuous selector, then $\Lambda(f) = \Lambda(F_*)$. With the following proposition, we extend the class of multivalued maps satisfying that $\Lambda(f) = \Lambda(F)$ for every continuous selector f of F.

Proposition 4.3.10. Let X and Y be finite T_0 topological spaces. If $F : X \multimap Y$ is a multivalued map usc (lsc) such that F(x) contains a maximum (minimum) \overline{x} for every $x \in X$, then there exists a continuous selector f for F with $F_* = f_*$. Furthermore, if X = Y, then $\Lambda(F_*) = \Lambda(f)$. If g is another continuous selector for F, then $\Lambda(g) = \Lambda(F_*)$.

Proof. By Proposition 4.2.19, F is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. Firstly, we construct a continuous selector f for F. We consider $f: X \to Y$ given by $f(x) = \overline{x} \in F(x)$. We prove the continuity of f. If $x \leq y$, then we know by the usc property that for every $x' \in F(x)$ there exists $y' \in F(y)$ with $x' \leq y'$. There exists $y' \in F(y)$ with $\overline{x} \leq y' \leq \overline{y}$, so $\overline{x} = f(x) \leq f(y) = \overline{y}$. We have the following diagram, where p and q denote the projection from the graph of F onto the first and second coordinates respectively.



If $(x, z) \in \Gamma(F)$, then $z = q(x, z) \leq f(p(x, z)) = f(x) = \overline{x} \in F(x)$. Therefore, $f \circ p$ is homotopic to q. Concretely, we have $f_* = q_* \circ p_*^{-1} = F_*$ since p is a Vietoris-like map. Thus, if X = Y, then $\Lambda(F_*) = \Lambda(f_*)$.

Suppose there is another continuous selector g for F. We prove that $g \leq f$. If $x \in X$, then $g(x) \in F(x)$ and $f(x) \geq y$ for every $y \in F(x)$, which implies that $f(x) \geq g(x)$. Thus, $\Lambda(g) = \Lambda(f) = \Lambda(F_*)$.

The result in parenthesis follows directly from the previous one. Suppose F is a multivalued map lsc such that F(x) contains a minimum for every $x \in X$. Then, taking the other possible partial order on X and Y, we are in the previous conditions.

Example 4.3.11. We consider $X = \{A, B, C, D\}$ with the partial order given as follows: A > C, D and B > C, D, that is, X is the minimal finite model of the circle. We consider $Y = \{E, F, G, H, I, J, K, L\}$ with the following relations: E > L < H > D < G > B < F > C < E. We have that Y is also a finite model of the circle. We define $T : X \multimap Y$ as follows: $T(C) = I, T(D) = K, T(A) = \{E, H, L\}$ and $T(B) = \{F, G, J\}$. It is trivial to check that T is use and the image of every point has a minimum. Furthermore, T does not have any continuous selector. Arguing by contradiction this result follows easily.

Let $F, G : X \multimap Y$ be multivalued maps, we say that F and G have a coincidence point if there exists $x \in X$ such that $G(x) \cap F(x)$ is non-empty. From Theorem 4.1.7, Corollary 4.3.4, Corollary 4.3.5 and the notion of continuous selector, it is easy to deduce the following result.

Theorem 4.3.12. Let $F : X \multimap Y$ and $G : X \to Y$ be multivalued maps between finite T_0 topological spaces.

- 1. If F is a Vietoris-like multivalued map and G admits a continuous selector g that is also a Vietoris-like map, then $\Lambda(F_* \circ g_*^{-1})$ is defined and if $\Lambda(F_* \circ g_*^{-1}) \neq 0$, then F and G have a coincidence point.
- 2. If the projection onto the second coordinate of the graph of F is a Vietoris-like map and G admits a continuous selector g, then $\Lambda(g_* \circ F_*^{-1})$ is defined and if $\Lambda(g_* \circ F_*^{-1}) \neq$ 0, then F and G have a coincidence point.
- 3. If G admits a continuous selector g that is a Vietoris-like map, F admits a continuous selector f and $\Lambda(f_* \circ g_*^{-1}) \neq 0$, then F and G have a coincidence point.

4.4 Lefschetz fixed point theorem for non-acyclic multivalued maps

In Section 4.3, given a multivalued map $F: X \multimap X$, a hypothesis regarding to the image of every point $x \in X$ is required to obtain a version of the classical Lefschetz fixed point theorem. We will show that a Lefschetz fixed point theorem can be obtained for some special multivalued maps such that the image of every point is not acyclic.

Lemma 4.4.1. Let X, Y and Z be finite T_0 topological spaces, let $f : X \to Y$ be a continuous map and let $G : Y \multimap Z$ be a multivalued map such that the projection of its graph onto the first coordinate induces isomorphisms in homology. If $H = G \circ f$ satisfies that the projection of its graph onto the first coordinate induces isomorphisms in homology, then $H_* = G_* \circ f_*$.

Proof. We only need to follow the same ideas for the analogue result obtained in [90, Theorem 3.8]. We denote by $\Gamma(f), \Gamma(G)$ and $\Gamma(H)$ the finite T_0 topological spaces given by the graphs of f, G and H respectively. Moreover, p_f, q_f, p_G, q_G, p_H and q_H denote their respective projections, where p denotes the projection onto the first coordinate and q denotes the projection onto the second coordinate. We also define an auxiliary map from $\Gamma(H)$ to $Y, \overline{F} : \Gamma(H) \to Y$ is given by $\overline{F}(x, z) = f(x)$. The continuity of \overline{F} is trivial since \overline{F} is the composition of continuous maps, p_H and f. Again, $\Gamma(\overline{F})$ denotes the finite T_0 topological space given by the graph of \overline{F} , we denote by ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 their respective projections onto the first and second coordinates. Finally, we define two extra auxiliary maps from $\Gamma(\overline{F}), \phi_3 : \Gamma(\overline{F}) \to \Gamma(f)$ is given by $\phi_3((x, z), y) = (x, y)$ and $\phi_4 : \Gamma(\overline{F}) \to \Gamma(G)$ is given by $\phi_4((x, z), y) = (y, z)$. It is clear that ϕ_3 and ϕ_4 are continuous maps because they preserve the order. It is easy to check that the following diagram of continuous maps is commutative.



By the commutativity of the diagram, we can obtain the following equalities:

$$p_H \circ \phi_1 = p_f \circ \phi_3 \tag{4.1}$$

$$\phi_2 = q_f \circ \phi_3 \tag{4.2}$$

$$q_H \circ \phi_1 = q_G \circ \phi_4 \tag{4.3}$$

$$\phi_2 = p_G \circ \phi_4. \tag{4.4}$$

In addition, p_f, p_G, p_H, ϕ_1 induce isomorphism in homology, so we can take its inverses after applying the homological functor to the previous diagram. Therefore, from (4.1) and (4.2) we deduce the following equality.

$$q_{f*} \circ p_{f*}^{-1} = \phi_{2*} \circ \phi_{1*}^{-1} \circ p_{H*}^{-1}$$

$$\tag{4.5}$$

Combining (4.3) with (4.4) we obtain the following relation:

$$q_{H*} = q_{G*} \circ p_{G*}^{-1} \circ \phi_{2*} \circ \phi_{1*}^{-1}.$$
(4.6)

To conclude, we only need to combine (4.5) with (4.6) to obtain the desired result.

$$H_* = q_{H*} \circ p_{H*}^{-1} = q_{G*} \circ p_{G*}^{-1} \circ \phi_{2*} \circ \phi_{1*}^{-1} \circ p_{H*}^{-1} = q_{G*} \circ p_{G*}^{-1} \circ q_{f*} \circ p_{f*}^{-1} = G_* \circ f_*$$
(4.7)

Now, using the previous lemmas, we can prove the generalization of Theorem 4.1.12.

Proof of Theorem 4.1.13. We show the result for the case $F = G_1 \circ G_0$, that is, n = 1. For a general $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the proof is a generalization of the case n = 1, we will indicate how to do it for the case n = 2 and the general case.

We have that $G_0 : X \multimap Y$ and $G_1 : Y \multimap X$ are Vietoris-like multivalued maps. $\Gamma(G_0)$ denotes the graph of G_0 , where we have the natural projections $p_0 : \Gamma(G_0) \to X$ and $q_0 : \Gamma(G_0) \to Y$. By hypothesis, we know that p_0 is a Vietoris-like map. We consider the following composition, $G_1 \circ q_0 : \Gamma(G_0) \multimap X$, by Lemma 4.2.13, $G_1 \circ q_0$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. Again, $\Gamma(G_1 \circ q_0)$ denotes the finite T_0 topological space given by the graph of $G_1 \circ q_0$, where we also have the natural projections $p_1 : \Gamma(G_1 \circ q_0) \to G_0$ and $q_1 : \Gamma(G_1 \circ q_0) \to X$. Again, p_1 is a Vietoris-like map. We also have that $p_0 \circ p_1$ is a Vietoris-like map by Lemma 4.2.5. We get the following diagram.



It is clear that $q_{0*} = G_{0*} \circ p_{0*}$ because G_{0*} is by construction $q_{0*} \circ p_{0*}^{-1}$. By Lemma 4.4.1, $G_{1*} \circ q_{0*} = (G_1 \circ q_0)_* = q_{1*} \circ p_{1*}^{-1}$ and then $G_{1*} \circ q_{0*} \circ p_{1*} = q_{1*}$. From here, we can deduce

$$G_{1*} \circ G_{0*} = G_{1*} \circ q_{0*} \circ p_{0*}^{-1} = q_{1*} \circ p_{1*}^{-1} \circ p_{0*}^{-1} = q_{1*} \circ (p_0 \circ p_1)_*^{-1}.$$
 (4.8)

Therefore, $\Lambda(G_{1*} \circ G_{0*}) = \Lambda(q_{1*} \circ (p_0 \circ p_1)_*^{-1}) \neq 0$, where $q_1, p_0 \circ p_1 : \Gamma(G_1 \circ q_1) \to X$ are continuous maps between finite T_0 topological spaces. Thus, we are in the hypothesis of Theorem 4.1.11, so there is a coincidence point for q_1 and $p_0 \circ p_1$, let us denote that point by $((x,y),z) \in \Gamma(G_1 \circ q_0)$, where $(x,y) \in \Gamma(G_0)$. We have that $q_1((x,y),z) =$ $z = p_0(p_1((x,y),z)) = p_0(x,y) = x$. Hence, x = z and $x \in G_1(q_0(x,y)) = G_1(y)$. But $y \in G_0(x)$, so $x \in G_1(G_0(x)) = F(x)$.

Now, suppose that $F = G_2 \circ G_1 \circ G_0$, where $G_0 : X \to Y_1$, $G_1 : Y_1 \to Y_2$ and $G_2 : Y_2 \to X$ are Vietoris-like multivalued maps and Y_1, Y_2 are finite T_0 topological spaces. We argue as we did before. We consider $G_1 \circ q_0 : \Gamma(G_0) \to Y_2$, which is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. Repeating the arguments used before, it can be obtained that the square and the bottom triangle of the following diagram commute after applying the homological functor. We consider $G_2 \circ q_1 : \Gamma(G_1 \circ q_0) \to X$, which is a Vietoris-like multivalued map by Lemma 4.2.13. Let $\Gamma(G_2 \circ q_1)$ denote the graph of $G_2 \circ q_1$, where p_2 and q_2 are the projections onto the first and second coordinates respectively.



By Lemma 4.2.5, $p_0 \circ p_1 \circ p_2$ is a Vietoris-like map. Using Lemma 4.4.1, it can be proved that $\Lambda(G_{2*} \circ G_{1*} \circ G_{0*}) = \Lambda(q_{2*} \circ (p_0 \circ p_1 \circ p_2)_*^{-1})$. By Theorem 4.1.11, there exists a coincidence point for $p_0 \circ p_1 \circ p_2$ and q_2 . Let us denote that point by $(((x, y), z), t) \in \Gamma(G_2 \circ q_1)$. Then, $p_0(p_1(p_2((((x, y), z), t)) = p_0(p_1((x, y), z))) = p_0(x, y) = x = t = q_2((((x, y), z), t))$. By construction, $t \in F(x)$, so there exists a fixed point for F.

For a general n, we only need to use the same arguments described before. Keeping the same notation introduced, we have $0 \neq \Lambda(G_{n*} \circ \cdots \circ G_{0*}) = \Lambda(q_n \circ (p_0 \circ \cdots \circ p_n)_*^{-1})$. We get that $p_0 \circ \cdots \circ p_n$ is a Vietoris-like map since it is the composition of Vietoris-like maps, see Lemma 4.2.5. Then $(p_0 \circ \cdots \circ p_n)_*^{-1}$ is well-defined. By Lemma 4.4.1, we get

$$G_{n*} \circ \dots \circ G_1 * \circ G_{0*} = G_{n*} \circ \dots \circ G_1 * \circ q_{0*} \circ p_{0*}^{-1} = G_{n*} \circ \dots \circ (G_1 \circ q_0)_* \circ p_{0*}^{-1} = G_{n*} \circ \dots \circ G_{2*} \circ q_{1*} \circ p_{1*}^{-1} \circ p_{0*}^{-1} = G_{n*} \circ \dots \circ (G_2 \circ q_1)_* \circ p_{1*}^{-1} \circ p_{0*}^{-1} = G_{n*} \circ \dots \circ q_{2*} \circ p_{2*}^{-1} \circ p_{1*}^{-1} \circ p_{0*}^{-1} = \dots = q_{n*} \circ p_{n*}^{-1} \circ \dots \circ p_{0*}^{-1}.$$

By Theorem 4.1.11, there is a coincidence point for q_n and $p_0 \circ \cdots \circ p_n$, which implies that there is a fixed point for F.

In general, we cannot expect to obtain every multivalued map as a composition of Vietoris-like multivalued maps.

Example 4.4.2. Let us consider $X = \{A, B, C\}$ with A, B < C and $F : X \to X$ given by F(A) = B, F(B) = A and $F(C) = \{A, B\}$. We get that F is clearly a susc multivalued map with images that are not weak homotopy equivalent to a point because F(C) is not connected. Suppose that there exists a sequence of spaces and Vietoris-like multivalued maps such that $F = G_n \circ \cdots \circ G_0$, where $G_i : Y_i \to Y_{i+1}$ and $Y_0 = Y_{n+1} = X$. It is trivial to show that $\Lambda(G_{n*} \circ \cdots \circ G_{0*}) \neq 0$ due to the fact that $H_i(X) = 0$ for every i > 0. By Theorem 4.1.13, we should have a fixed point for F but this is not true. Then, F cannot be expressed as the previous decomposition of multivalued maps.

Example 4.4.3. Let X be the finite T_0 topological space given by the Hasse diagram of Figure 4.4.1. We consider $F: X \multimap X$ defined by Table 4.4.1.

Table 4.4.1: $F : X \multimap X$

\overline{x}	A	В	C	D	E
F(x)	$\{A, B, C\}$	$\{A, B, D\}$	$\{A, B, C, D\}$	$\{A, B, C, D\}$	$\{A, B, C, D\}$

Table	4.4.2:	G_0 :	X	$\multimap X$
-------	--------	---------	---	---------------

x	A	В	C	D	E
$G_0(x)$	$\{C\}$	$\{D\}$	$\{C, D, B\}$	$\{C, D, B\}$	$\{C, D, B\}$

It is easy to check that F is a susc multivalued map. But F(C) is weak homotopy equivalent to S^1 because F(C) is indeed a finite model of S^1 , which implies that F is not a Vietoris-like multivalued map. We have that $F = G_1 \circ G_0$, where $G_0 : X \multimap X$ and $G_1 : X \multimap X$ are given by Table 4.4.2 and Table 4.4.3 respectively. It is simple to prove that G_0 and G_1 are susc multivalued maps with contractible images, that is, they are Vietoris-like multivalued maps.

Table 4.4.3: $G_1 : X \multimap X$

x	A	В	C	D	E
$G_1(x)$	$\{B\}$	$\{A\}$	$\{A, B, C\}$	$\{A, B, D\}$	X

We know that X is contractible because it has a maximum. Therefore, we get that $\Lambda(G_{1*} \circ G_{0*}) \neq 0$. By Theorem 4.1.13, there exists a fixed point. Looking at F it is easy to verify that C and D are fixed points. In Figure 4.4.1, we have a schematic description of G_0 and G_1 .



Figure 4.4.1: Schematic description of G_0 and G_1 on the Hasse diagram of X.

Remark 4.4.4. In Example 4.4.3, we have another example of a composition of Vietorislike multivalued maps that is not a Vietoris-like multivalued map. In addition, it can be proved that the graph of F is not contractible, it has the same weak homotopy type of a circle.

4.5 Fixed point property

In this short section we prove that the fixed point property for susc multivalued maps with acyclic values is not a homotopy invariant for the category of Alexandroff spaces. A topological space X is said to have the fixed point property if for every map $f: X \to X$, there exists a fixed point. In the classical setting, it can be seen that the fixed point property is not a homotopy invariant. In [69], two CW-complexes are given satisfying that they are homotopy equivalent but one of them has the fixed point property while the other does not. In [65], a compact metric space is given satisfying that it is contractible but does not have the fixed point property. For the category of finite T_0 topological spaces, the fixed point property is a homotopy invariant, see for example [12, Chapter 10].

The fixed point property can be adapted to multivalued maps for the category of finite T_0 topological spaces. If X is an acylic finite T_0 topological space, then X has the fixed point property for Vietoris-like multivalued maps applying Theorem 4.1.11 because $\Lambda(F_*) \neq 0$. In [20], a study of the fixed point property for susc multivalued maps with acyclic values is done. It is described an example [20, Example 6.3] of a non-acyclic finite topological space having the fixed point property for susc multivalued maps. The example is the face poset of a simplicial complex that was first considered in [97, Corollary 2.7]. This simplicial complex is an example of a simplicial complex having the fixed point property and Euler characteristic 2.

Example 4.5.1. Let X denote the topological space considered in [20, Example 6.3]. We define $Y = X \times \mathbb{N}$, where \mathbb{N} is the totally ordered set of the natural numbers with the opposite order $<_o$, that is, $n+1 <_o n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We consider the product order on Y. It is clear that Y is homotopy equivalent to X. We consider $r : Y \to X$ given by r(x, n) = x and $i : X \to Y$ given by i(x) = (x, 0). We have that $r \circ i = id_X$ and $i \circ r$ is homotopic to id_Y . Given a susc multivalued map with acyclic values $F : X \multimap X$. We define $\overline{F} : Y \to Y$ given by $\overline{F}(x, n) = F(X) \times [n+1, \infty)$, where $[n+1, \infty) = \{m \in \mathbb{N} | m \leq_o n+1\}$. It is clear that $\overline{F}(x, n)$ is acyclic for every $(x, n) \in Y$ since $F(X) \times [n+1, \infty)$ is homotopy equivalent to F(X). It is also easy to get that \overline{F} is susc using Definition 4.1.9. If $(x, n) \leq (y, m)$, then $x \leq y$ and $n \leq_o m$. Hence,

$$\overline{F}(x,n) = F(x) \times [n+1,\infty) \subseteq F(y) \times [n+1,\infty) \subseteq F(y) \times [m+1,\infty) = \overline{F}(y) \times [m+1,\infty) = \overline$$

It is trivial to check that \overline{F} does not have fixed points. But Y is homotopy equivalent to a topological space X which has the fixed point property for susc multivalued maps with acyclic values. In Figure 4.5.1, it can be seen a schematic draw of the situation described above.



Figure 4.5.1: Schematic Hasse diagram of $\overline{F}: Y \multimap Y$.

The construction obtained in Example 4.5.1 can be generalized to general finite topological spaces in order to get easily the following result for Vietoris-like multivalued maps.

Proposition 4.5.2. Let X be a finite topological space having the fixed point property for Vietoris-like multivalued maps. Then, there exists an Alexandroff space Y such that Y is homotopy equivalent to X and Y does not have the fixed point property for Vietoris-like multivalued maps.

The construction of Example 4.5.1 also serves to illustrate that it is not possible to get a direct generalization of the Lefschetz fixed point theorem for non-finite Alexandroff spaces.

Example 4.5.3. We consider the natural numbers \mathbb{N} with the usual order and $f : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ given by f(n) = n + 1. It is clear that f is continuous and does not have fixed points. In addition, since \mathbb{N} is contractible because it contains a minimum, we get that $\Lambda(f) \neq 0$.

Thus, to generalize this theory to general Alexandroff spaces, we need to impose more hypotheses. For instance, it is reasonable to require that F(X) is a compact subset of Y as in the classical setting, where $F: X \multimap Y$ is a multivalued map between Alexandroff spaces.

4.6 Approximation of dynamical systems

In this section the finite barycentric subdivision of a finite T_0 topological space X will be denoted by X'. If it is applied *n*-times, then the *n*-th finite barycentric subdivision of X will be denoted by X^n . If K is a simplicial complex, then we will also keep the same notation for its barycentric subdivisions, i.e., the *n*-th barycentric subdivision of K is denoted by K^n .

There is a natural map between a finite T_0 topological space X and its finite barycentric subdivision X' which is a weak homotopy equivalence. This map is denoted by $h: X' \to X$, see Subsection 1.1.4 for its definition and [74] for more information.

Remark 4.6.1. It is easy to show that $|\mathcal{K}(h)|$ is simplicially close to the identity map on $|\mathcal{K}(X)|$. Then, $h: X' \to X$ induces the identity in homology.

Proposition 4.6.2. Let X be a finite T_0 topological space. Then $h : X' \to X$ is a Vietoris-like map.

Proof. We take a chain $x_1 < ... < x_n$ in X and denote $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n h^{-1}(x_i)$. We define $f: A \to A$ given by $f(y) = y \cap \{x_j\}_{j=1}^n$, where we denote by $y \cap \{x_j\}_{j=1}^n$ the subchain of y given just by elements of $\{x_j\}_{j=1}^n$. We prove the continuity of f. If $y \leq z$, then y is a subchain of z. By the construction of f we get easily that $f(y) \leq f(z)$. In addition, $f: A \to f(A)$ is a retraction. We also have that $f \leq id$. If $y \in A$, then f(y) is a subchain of y so $f(y) \leq y = id(y)$. From here, it is easy to deduce that f(A) is a strong deformation retract of A. We get that f(A) contains a maximum, which is $x_1 < x_2 < ... < x_{n-1} < x_n$. Thus, f(A) is contractible.

Given a finite T_0 topological space X, we denote by $h_{n,n+1}: X^{n+1} \to X^n$ the natural weak homotopy equivalence described before. If $m \ge n$, where $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, then $h_{n,m}: X^m \to X^n$ is given by $h_{n,n+1} \circ \cdots \circ h_{m-2,m-1} \circ h_{m-1,m}$.

Example 4.6.3. Let X be a finite T_0 topological space that has the weak homotopy type of a point. Let us denote $X^0 = X$. By Proposition 4.6.2, Lemma 4.2.5 and Corollary 4.3.4, for every Vietoris-like multivalued map $F : X^m \multimap X^n$ and m > n there exists a point $x \in X^m$ such that $h_{n,m}(x) \in F(x)$.

We consider the multivalued map $H : X \multimap X'$ given by $H(x) = h^{-1}(x)$. It is important to observe that H(x) consists of chains containing x as a maximum element. More generally, we can consider $H_{n,m}: X^n \multimap X^m$ given by $H_{n,m}(x) = h_{n,m}^{-1}(x)$ for every $m \ge n$ and $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ We have that H is an example of a usc multivalued map such that H(x) contains a minimum for every $x \in X$ and is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. The chain that consists of a single element $x \in X$ is the minimum of H(x) for every $x \in X$. Now, we prove that H is usc. We consider $x, y \in X$ such that $x \leq y$. If $x' \in H(x)$, then x' is a chain of X containing x as a maximum element. We can extend this chain to a new chain containing y as a maximum element since $x \leq y$. But the new chain is an element of H(y). Therefore, H is a usc multivalued map, see Definition 4.1.8.

Proposition 4.6.4. Let X be a finite T_0 topological space and $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ are such that $m \ge n$. Then $H_{n,m}: X^n \multimap X^m$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map.

Proof. By Lemma 4.2.5 and Proposition 4.6.2, $h_{n,m}$ is a Vietoris-like map. Finally, by Proposition 4.2.18, we obtain that $H_{n,m}$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map.

Remark 4.6.5. It is easy to show that H induces the identity in homology, it is an immediate consequence of Remark 4.6.1 and the commutativity of the following diagram, where p and q denote the projection onto the first and second coordinates respectively from the graph of H.



It is clear that q is a weak homotopy equivalence by the 2-out-of-3 property, but it can be obtained that q is indeed a Vietoris-like map by Proposition 4.2.21.

Now, we will use the concept of inverse sequence and inverse limit, see Subsections 1.2.5 and 1.2.5. For a complete exposition of these notions, see for instance [73].

Given a simplicial complex K. Let X^n denote the *n*-th finite barycentric subdivision of $\mathcal{X}(K)$, where $\mathcal{X}(K)$ is considered with the opposite order. Let $h_{n,n+1}: X^{n+1} \to X^n$ denote the weak homotopy equivalence defined before. In [31], it is proved that the inverse limit of $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ contains a homeomorphic copy of K which is a strong deformation retract. Then, the inverse limit of this inverse sequence reconstructs the homotopy type of K.

If $f: |K| \to |L|$ is a continuous map between the geometric realizations of two simplicial complexes, then there is a natural induced morphism by f over the inverse sequences related to K and L. Let $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ denote the inverse sequence of finite T_0 topological spaces associated to K and let $(Y^n, h_{n,n+1})$ denote the inverse sequence of finite T_0 topological spaces associated to Y, where we are denoting the bonding maps of the two inverses sequences with the same notation for simplicity. By the simplicial approximation theorem, there exists $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for every $m \ge n_0$ there exists a simplicial map from the m-th barycentric subdivision of K to L which is simplicially close to f in |L|, that is, there exists $f(0) = n_0$ and a simplicial map $f_0 : K^{f(0)} \to L$ simplicially close to f. Using Theorem 1.1.43, we can obtain the finite version of the previous result, i.e., $\mathcal{X}(f_0) : X^{f(0)} \to Y^0$. Now, we can consider the barycentric subdivision of L, denoted by L^1 , and repeat the same arguments so as to obtain $f(1) \ge f(0)$ and $f_1 : K^{f(1)} \to L^1$. Thus, $\mathcal{X}(f_1) : X^{f(1)} \to Y^1$. We can follow inductively until we get an increasing map $f : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ and $\mathcal{X}(f_n) : X^{f(n)} \to Y^n$ continuous for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We also denote by f_n the map $\mathcal{X}(f_n)$ for simplicity. Moreover, the following diagram commutes after applying a homological functor for every $m \ge n$.



Hence, every continuous map between the geometric realization of simplicial complexes induces a morphism between the inverse sequences associated to them.

If $f: |K| \to |K|$ is a continuous map between the geometric realization of a simplicial complex K, then we have an inverse sequence $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ and a morphism $\{f_n\}$ from this inverse sequence to itself. We only need to repeat the previous arguments. We construct a new inverse sequence using as bonding maps continuous maps of $\{f_n\}$. We start with $f_0: X^{f(0)} \to X^0$, we rename $f_{0,1} = f_0$ and $X^1 = X^{f(0)}$. We have f(1) > f(0), so we can consider $f_{1,2} = f_{f(f(0))}: X^{f(f(0))} \to X^1$, we rename $X^{f(f(0))}$ just by X^2 and continue this process. Then, we obtain an inverse sequence $(X^n, f_{n,n+1})$, we also have an inverse sequence isomorphic to $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ with the same terms of $(X^n, f_{n,n+1})$ and bonding maps of $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ just relabeling and using cofinality. This new inverse sequence will also be denoted by $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$. It is also trivial to check that $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ preserves the same good properties of reconstruction in its inverse limit. An inverse sequence obtained from a geometric realization |K| of a simplicial complex K as we did before will be called finite approximative sequence for f. Now, we can compare all the bonding maps in a direct way because for every m > n we have $f_{n,m}, h_{n,m}: X^m \to X^n$, where $h_{n,m}$ is a Vietoris-like map. We define $\Lambda_{n,m}(f)$ as $\Lambda(f_{n,m*} \circ h_{n,m*}^{-1})$. By Theorem 4.1.11, if $\Lambda_{n,m}(f) \neq 0$, there exists a coincidence point for $f_{n,m}$ and $h_{n,m}$. But $|\mathcal{K}(h_{n,m})|$ is homotopic to the identity map and $|\mathcal{K}(f_{n,m})|$ is homotopic to f, so $\Lambda_{n,m}(f) = \Lambda(f_{n,m*} \circ h_{n,m*}^{-1}) = \Lambda(f)$.

We define a multivalued map for each level of the inverse sequence, we only need to consider the multivalued map $H_{n,m}$ induced by $h_{n,m}$, where $m \ge n$, that is, $H_{n,m}(x) = h_{n,m}^{-1}(x)$ for every $x \in X^n$. Thus, $F_{n+1} : X^{n+1} \multimap X^{n+1}$ is given by $F_{n+1} = H_{n,n+1} \circ f_{n,n+1}$ and we have the following diagram.

Proposition 4.6.6. $F_{n+1}: X^{n+1} \multimap X^{n+1}$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map such that $F_{n+1*} = H_{n,n+1*} \circ f_{n+1,n*}$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. By Proposition 4.6.4 we have that $H_{n,n+1}$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. By Lemma 4.2.13, F_{n+1} is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. The last part is an immediate consequence of Lemma 4.4.1.

Proposition 4.6.7. If $\Lambda(F_{n+1*}) \neq 0$, then there exists a point $x \in X_{n+1}$ such that $x \in F_{n+1}(x)$, where $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. By Proposition 4.6.6, $\Lambda(F_{n+1}) = \Lambda(H_{n,n+1*} \circ f_{n,n+1*})$. We prove that $\Lambda(H_{n,n+1*} \circ f_{n,n+1*}) = \Lambda(f_{n,n+1*} \circ h_{n,n+1*}^{-1})$. We know that $h_{n,n+1*}$ is the identity, see Remark 4.6.1. We also have that $H_{n,n+1*}$ is also the identity by Remark 4.6.5. Hence, $\Lambda(f_{n,n+1*} \circ h_{n,n+1*}^{-1}) \neq 0$.

By Theorem 4.1.7, there is a coincidence point for $f_{n,n+1}$ and $h_{n,n+1}$, i.e., there exists $t \in X^{n+1}$ such that $f_{n,n+1}(t) = h_{n,n+1}(t)$. From here, it is easy to deduce that $t \in F_{n+1*}(t)$.

Remark 4.6.8. By the proof of Proposition 4.6.7, it can be deduced that $x \in X^{n+1}$ is a fixed point for F_{n+1} if and only if x is a coincidence point for $h_{n,n+1}$ and $f_{n,n+1}$.

Corollary 4.6.9. If $\Lambda(f) \neq 0$, then there exists a point $x_{n+1} \in X^{n+1}$ such that $x_{n+1} \in F_{n+1}(x_{n+1})$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. By the proof of Proposition 4.6.7, $\Lambda(f) = \Lambda(f_{n,n+1}) = \Lambda(f_{n,n+1*} \circ h_{n,n+1*}^{-1}) = \Lambda(H_{n,n+1*} \circ f_{n,n+1*}) = \Lambda(F_{n+1}).$

Theorem 4.6.10. Let K be a compact simplicial complex. If $f : |K| \to |K|$ is a continuous map, then f has a fixed point if and only if there exist a finite approximative sequence for f, denoted by $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ and obtained from a triangulation of |K|, a sequence $\{x_{n+1}\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $x_{n+1} \in X^{n+1}$, $x_{n+1} = h_{n,n+1}(x_{n+1})$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x_{n+1} \in$ $F_{n+1}(x_{n+1})$ for every $n+1 \ge m$.

Proof. Firstly, we assume that there exist a finite approximative sequence for f, denoted by $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$, and a sequence $\{x_{n+1}\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $x_{n+1} \in X_{n+1}, x_{n+1} = h_{n,n+1}(x_{n+1})$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x_{n+1} \in F_{n+1}(x_{n+1})$ for every $n+1 \geq m$. By the proof of Proposition 4.6.7, $h_{n,n+1}(x_{n+1}) = f_{n,n+1}(x_{n+1})$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We have that $|\mathcal{K}(h_{n,n+1})|$ is simplicially close to the identity map. We also know that $|\mathcal{K}(f_{n,n+1})|$ is simplicially close to $|f_{n,n+1}|$: $|K^{n+1}| \rightarrow |K^n|$ and $|f_{n,n+1}|$ is simplicially close to |f|. The maximum diameter for a closed simplex in $|K^n|$ is denoted by ϵ_n for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If x_{n+1} is viewed as a point of $|\mathcal{K}(X_{n+1})| = |K^{n+2}| = |K|$, then by the triangle inequality $d(x_{n+1}, f(x_{n+1})) \leq d(x_{n+1}, |\mathcal{K}(h_{n,n+1})|(x_{n+1})) + d(|\mathcal{K}(h_{n,n+1})|(x_{n+1}), |f_{n,n+1}|(x_{n+1})) + d(|\mathcal{K}(h_{n,n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n+1})|(x_{n$ $d(|f_{n,n+1}|(x_{n+1}), f(x_{n+1})) \leq 3\epsilon_n$, where we also know that $\lim_{n\to\infty} 3\epsilon_n = 0$ due to the fact that after a barycentric subdivision the diameters of the new simplices are smaller, see for example [60, 100]. In addition, every $x_{n+1} \in X^{n+1}$ can be seen a closed simplex of |K|since X^{n+1} is the face poset of K^{n+1} , where have that $x_{n+1} \subset x_n$ for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence, $\bigcap_{n\in\mathbb{N}} x_{n+1}$ is non-empty because it is the intersection of a nested sequence of compact sets. In fact, the diameter of $\bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} x_n$ is zero, which implies that it is a point x*. We show that $f(x^*) = x^*$. The sequence $\{x_{n+1}\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, where we are treating now x_n as a point of |K|, is convergent to x*. From this, we get the desired result.

If f has a fixed point denoted by t, then we only need to consider a triangulation that has t as a vertex. From here, we construct the desired inverse sequence. \Box

Example 4.6.11. We consider the unit circle centered at the origin in \mathbb{R}^2 and the symmetry $f: S^1 \to S^1$ given by f(x, y) = (x, -y). In Figure 4.6.1 we have a triangulation K of S^1 . We denote by 0, 1 and 2 the vertices of K, where $0 = (\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}, \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}), 1 = (\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}, -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2})$ and $2 = (-\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}, -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2})$. It is clear that f is not a simplicial map since f(2) is not a vertex of K. We can apply the simplicial approximation theorem. In this case, the first bayrcentric subdivision is enough to get a simplicial map $f_1: K^1 \to K$ satisfying that it is simplicially close to f. Let $\{i, i + 1\}$ denote the vertex of K^1 that lies between i and i + 1, where i and i + 1 are considered modulo 3. Then, f_1 can be defined by Table 4.6.1. Applying the theory of [75], we get a continuous map $\mathcal{X}(f_1): X^1 \to X^0$, where $X^0 = \mathcal{X}(K)$ and $X^1 = \mathcal{X}(K^1) = \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(X^0))$. We have the natural Vietoris-like map $h_{0,1}: X^1 \to X^0$ and Vietoris-like multivalued map $H_{0,1}: X^0 \multimap X^1$. We obtain that $H_{0,1}$ is given by Table 4.6.2. Now, we can consider $F_1 = H_{0,1} \circ \mathcal{X}(f_1)$. Then, a explicit description of F_1 can be seen in Table 4.6.3.
Table 4.6.1:	f_1	$: X^1$	$\rightarrow X^{0}.$
--------------	-------	---------	----------------------

x	0	1	2	$\{0, 1\}$	$\{1, 2\}$	$\{2, 0\}$
$f_1(x)$	1	0	0	0	0	2

Table 4.6.2: $H_{0,1}: X^0 \multimap X^1$.

x	$H_{0,1}(X)$	x	$H_{0,1}(X)$
0	0	$\{0, 1\}$	$\{0,1\}, \{0,\{0,1\}\}, \{1,\{0,1\}\}$
1	1	$\{1, 2\}$	$\{1,2\}, \{1,\{1,2\}\}, \{2,\{1,2\}\}$
2	2	$\{2, 0\}$	$\{2,0\},\{0,\{2,0\}\},\{2,\{2,0\}\}$

It is easy to check that F_1 is a Vietoris-like multivalued map by Lemma 4.2.13 and Proposition 4.6.4. In addition, it can be computed that $\Lambda(f) = 2 = \Lambda(F_{1*})$. Therefore, there must exists at least one fixed point for F_1 by Theorem 4.1.12. Indeed, it is immediate to check that F_1 has only two fixed points that are $\{2, \{2, 0\}\}$ and $\{0, \{0, 1\}\}$. It is easily seen that f has also two fixed points that are (1,0) and (-1,0). In this step or approximation, we can say that we have an approximation of the localization of the fixed points of f.



Figure 4.6.1: $f_1: K^1 \to K, h_{0,1}: X^1 \to X^0 \text{ and } H_{0,1}: X^0 \multimap X^1.$

We can continue this method to obtain an approximative sequence for $f: S^1 \to S^1$. We compute the following step. Again, $f: K^1 \to K^1$ is not a simplicial map due to the fact that $f(\{2,3\})$ is not a vertex of K^1 . We can apply the simplicial approximation theorem to get a simplicial map f_2 which is simplicially close to f. In this case, it is enough to consider the first barycentric subdivision of K^1 , K^2 . We define $f_2: K^2 \to K^1$ given by Table 4.6.4. In Figure 4.6.2 we present K^1 , K^2 and the Hasse diagrams of $X^1 = \mathcal{X}(K^1)$ and $X^2 = \mathcal{X}(K^2)$.

We define $F_2: X^2 \to X^2$ given by $H_{1,2} \circ \mathcal{X}(f_2)$, where $X^2 = \mathcal{X}(K^2) = \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(X^1))$. Again, from Lemma 4.2.13 and Proposition 4.6.4 we get that F_2 is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. In addition, we know that $\Lambda(F_{2*}) = 2 = \Lambda(f)$. By Theorem 4.1.12, F_2 has

\overline{x}	$F_1(X)$	\overline{x}	$x F_1(X)$
0	1	$\{0, \{0\}\}$	$0,1\}\} \{0,\{0,1\}\}, \{1,\{0,1\}\}, \{0,1\}$
1	0	$\{1, \{0\}\}$	$0,1\}\}$ 0
2	0	$\{1, \{1\}\}$	$[1,2\}\}$ 0
$\{0,1\}$	0	$\{2, \{1, \dots, n\}\}$	$1,2\}\} 0$
$\{1, 2\}$	0	$\{0, \{0\}\}$	$0,2\}\} \{1,\{1,2\}\}, \{2,\{1,2\}\}, \{1,2\}$
$\{2, 0\}$	2	$\{2, \{0\}\}$	$0,2\}\} \{0,\{0,2\}\}, \{2,\{0,2\}\}, \{0,2\}$

Table 4.6.3: $F_1 : X^1 \multimap X^1$.

Table 4.6.4: $f_2: K^2 \to K^1$.

x	$f_2(X)$	x	$f_2(X)$
0	1	$\{1, 2\}$	0
$\{0, \{0, 1\}\}$	$\{0, 1\}$	$\{2, \{1, 2\}\}$	$\{2, 0\}$
$\{0,1\}$	$\{0, 1\}$	2	$\{2, 0\}$
$\{1, \{0, 1\}\}$	$\{0, 1\}$	$\{2, \{2, 0\}\}$	$\{2, 0\}$
1	0	$\{2, 0\}$	2
$\{1, \{1, 2\}\}$	0	$\{0, \{2, 0\}\}$	$\{1, 2\}$

at least one fixed point. We can describe F_2 explicitly, F_2 is given by Table 4.6.5 and Table 4.6.6. Then, it is trivial to verify that F_2 has only two fixed points that are $\{0,1\}$ and $\{\{2,0\},\{2,\{2,0\}\}\}$. We have a situation similar than in the previous step. However, in this step, we have obtained a real fixed point of S^1 , that is, the point $\{0,1\}$ that corresponds to the point (1,0) in S^1 . Furthermore, $h_{1,2}(\{\{2,0\},\{2,\{2,0\}\}\}) = \{2,\{2,0\}\}$ is one of the fixed points of F_1 .



If we proceed inductively, we can obtain a sequence of multivalued maps $F_{n,+1}$:

x	$F_2(X)$	x	$F_2(X)$
0	1	$\{1, 2\}$	0
$\{0, \{0, 1\}\}$	$\{0, 1\}$	$\{2, \{1, 2\}\}$	$\{2, 0\}$
$\{0, 1\}$	$\{0,1\}$	2	$\{2, 0\}$
$\{1, \{0, 1\}\}$	$\{0, 1\}$	$\{2, \{2, 0\}\}$	$\{2, 0\}$
1	0	$\{2, 0\}$	2
$\{1, \{1, 2\}\}$	0	$\{0, \{2, 0\}\}$	$\{1, 2\}$

Table 4.6.5: $F_2: X^2 \multimap X^2$, minimal points of X^2 .

Table 4.6.6: $F_2: X^2 \multimap X^2$, maximal points of X^2 .

x	$F_2(X)$
$\overline{\{0,\{0,\{0,1\}\}\}}$	$\{1, \{0, 1\}\}, \{\{0, 1\}, \{1, \{0, 1\}\}\}, \{1, \{1, \{0, 1\}\}\}$
$\{\{0,1\},\{0,\{0,1\}\}\}$	$\{0,1\}$
$\{\{0,1\},\{1,\{0,1\}\}\}$	$\{0,1\}$
$\{1, \{1, \{0, 1\}\}\}$	$\{0, \{0, 1\}\}, \{0, \{0, \{0, 1\}\}\}, \{\{0, 1\}, \{0, \{0, 1\}\}\}$
$\{1, \{1, \{1, 2\}\}\}$	0
$\{\{1,2\},\{1,\{1,2\}\}\}$	0
x	$F_2(X)$
$\{\{1,2\},\{2,\{1,2\}\}\}$	$\{0, \{2, 0\}\}, \{\{2, 0\}, \{0, \{2, 0\}\}\}, \{0, \{0, \{2, 0\}\}\}$
$\{2, \{2, \{1, 2\}\}\}$	$\{2,0\}$
$\{2, \{2, \{2, 0\}\}\}$	$\{2,0\}$
$\{\{2,0\},\{2,\{2,0\}\}\}\}$	$\{2, \{2, 0\}\}, \{2, \{2, \{2, 0\}\}\}, \{\{2, 0\}, \{2, \{2, 0\}\}\}$
$\{\{2,0\},\{0,\{2,0\}\}\}$	$\{2, \{1,2\}\}, \{2, \{2, \{1,2\}\}\}, \{\{1,2\}, \{2, \{1,2\}\}\}$
$\{0, \{0, \{2, 0\}\}\}$	$\{1, \{1, 2\}\}, \{1, \{1, \{1, 2\}\}\}, \{\{1, 2\}, \{1, \{1, 2\}\}\}$

 $X^{n+1} \longrightarrow X^{n+1}$. This sequence of multivalued maps is approximating the continuous map f. In Figure 4.6.3 we have a schematic representation of this method, where we have an inverse sequence $(X^n, h_{n,n+1})$ that reconstructs the homotopy type of S^1 in its inverse limit. In addition, we know that for each level of the approximation there exists at least one fixed point by Corollary 4.6.9, that is, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there is a fixed point in $F_{n+1}: X^{n+1} \longrightarrow X^{n+1}$.

Remark 4.6.12. In Example 4.6.11 we obtained two fixed points in the first and second step $(F_1 \text{ and } F_2)$, which is precisely the number of fixed points of the map we wanted to approximate. In general, this situation does not always hold true due to a poor approximation or the complexity of the continuous map that generates the dynamical system. If we obtain a better approximation $(F_{n+1} \text{ for a high value of } n)$, then we could localize the areas where there are candidates to be fixed points.

4.7 Diagrams

In this section we adapt the notion of diagram that can be seen in [55]. Throughout this section and subsequent sections, every topological space that will be considered is a



Figure 4.6.3: Approximative sequence for $f: S^1 \to S^1$.

finite T_0 topological space. Let X and Y be finite T_0 topological spaces. We consider $D(X,Y) = \{(p,q,\Gamma) | p : \Gamma \to X \text{ is a Vietoris-like map, } q : \Gamma \to Y \text{ is a continuous map and } \Gamma \text{ is a finite } T_0 \text{ topological space } \}$. Hence, $(p,q,\Gamma) \in D(X,Y)$ is just a diagram as follows:



In addition, given a finite topological space X, the identity diagram for X is given as follows: (id, id, X), where id denotes the identity map, that is, we have the following diagram:



Before giving the definition for composing diagrams, we see some basic examples.

Proposition 4.7.1. If $F : X \multimap Y$ is a Vietoris-like multivalued map, then $(p_F, q_F, \Gamma(F)) \in D(X, Y)$.

Proof. By hypothesis, p_F is a Vietoris-like map and the graph of F is also a finite T_0 topological space.

Since every continuous map $f : X \to Y$ can be seen as a Vietoris-like multivalued map, we have $(p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f)) \in D(X, Y)$, where p_f is more than a Vietoris-like map because it is indeed a homeomorphism.

We introduce some technical notions to define the composition of diagrams.

Definition 4.7.2. We consider the following diagram:

 $X_1 \xrightarrow{q} Y \xleftarrow{p} X_2,$

where $q: X_1 \to Y$ and $p: X_2 \to Y$ are continuous maps between finite T_0 topological spaces. The fibre product of the previous diagram is a map $f: X_1 \boxtimes_Y X_2 \to Y$ given by $f(x_1, x_2) = q(x_1)$, where $X_1 \boxtimes_Y X_2 = \{(x_1, x_2) \in X_1 \times X_2 | q(x_1) = p(x_2)\}$ is a finite T_0 topological space because it is a subposet of $X_1 \times X_2$ with the product order. The pull-back of the previous diagram is the following diagram:

$$X_1 \xleftarrow{\overline{p}} X_1 \boxtimes_Y X_2 \xrightarrow{\overline{q}} X_2,$$

where $\overline{p}(x_1, x_2) = x_1$ and $\overline{q}(x_1, x_2) = x_2$ for every $(x_1, x_2) \in X_1 \boxtimes_Y X_2$.

Definition 4.7.2, can be given in a more general way, see [55] for more information.

Lemma 4.7.3. If we have the following diagram:

$$X_1 \xrightarrow{q} Y \xleftarrow{p} X_2$$

where p is a Vietoris-like map, then $\overline{p}: X_1 \boxtimes X_2 \to X_1$ given by $\overline{p}(x_1, x_2) = x_1$ in the pull-back of the previous diagram is a Vietoris-like map.

Proof. We need to prove that \overline{p} is a Vietoris-like map, where we have the following diagram:



Let $x_1 < ... < x_n$ be a chain in X_1 . We will prove that $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n \overline{p}^{-1}(x_i)$ is acyclic. We consider $B = \bigcup_{i=1}^n p^{-1}(q(x_i))$, which is acyclic by hypothesis. Then, the idea of the proof is to show that B is homotopy equivalent to A.

We define $T: B \to A$ given by $T(z) = (x_z, z)$, where $x_z = \min_{i=1,...,n} \{x_i | q(x_i) = p(z)\}$. It is clear that for every z we have that x_z is well-defined since $x_1 < ... < x_n$ is a finite totally ordered set. By construction, it follows easily that $(x_z, z) \in X_1 \boxtimes_Y X_2$. Hence, T is well-defined. Now, we verify that T is continuous. Let us consider $y \leq z$, where $y, z \in A$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose that $(x_y, y) = T(y) \nleq T(z) = (x_z, z)$. Since x_y and x_z are elements of a totally ordered finite set, it follows that $x_y > x_z$. But $q(x_y) = p(y) \leq p(z) = q(x_z)$, which implies that $q(x_y) = p(y) = p(z) = q(x_z)$. Thus, we have $x_z = x_y$, which entails a contradiction.

We consider $S : A \to B$ given by $S(x_i, y) = y$. By construction, S is well-defined because $p(y) = q(x_i)$, so $y \in p^{-1}(q(x_i))$. It is trivial to show the continuity of S.

Finally, we have $S \circ T = id_B : B \to B$. For every $(x_i, y) \in A$ we get $T(S(x_i, y)) = T(y) = (x_y, y) \leq (x_i, y)$, which implies that $T \circ S \leq id_A$. Thus, A is homotopy equivalent to B.

Now, we can define the composition of diagrams, as we wanted.

Definition 4.7.4. Given $(p,q,\Gamma) \in D(X,Y)$ and $(p',q',\Gamma') \in D(Y,Z)$. The composition $(p',q',\Gamma') \circ (p,q,\Gamma)$ is given by the pull-back of the following diagram

$$\Gamma \xrightarrow{q} Y \xleftarrow{p'} \Gamma',$$

that is, $(p', q', \Gamma') \circ (p, q, \Gamma) = (p \circ \overline{p}', q' \circ \overline{q}, \Gamma \boxtimes \Gamma'_Y)$. Then, we have the following commutative diagram:



Remark 4.7.5. Since the composition of Vietoris-like maps is again a Vietoris-like map, it follows that the composition of diagrams is again a diagram by Lemma 4.7.3

Let X, Y and Z be finite topological spaces. For simplicity, if $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous map, i.e., $(p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f)) \in D(X, Y)$, and $(p, q, \Gamma) \in D(Y, Z)$, then $(p, q, \Gamma) \circ (p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f))$ will be denoted just by $(p, q, \Gamma) \circ f$.

Remark 4.7.6. Notice that diagrams do not form a category. One of the reasons is the following. We consider a diagram $(p,q,\Gamma) \in D(X,Y)$ and (id,id,Y). It is immediate that $(id,id,Y) \circ (p,q,\Gamma) = (p \circ id, id \circ \overline{q}, \Gamma \boxtimes_Y Y) \neq (p,q,\Gamma)$. It is simple to check that there exists a homeomorphism T making the following diagram commutative.



We define $T : \Gamma \to \Gamma \boxtimes_Y Y$ given by T(x, y) = ((x, y), (y, y)). We get that T is clearly well-defined and continuous. The bijectivity of T follows from the construction of $\Gamma \boxtimes_Y Y$. In addition, every point $z \in \Gamma \boxtimes_Y Y$ is of the form ((x, y), (y, y)) for some $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$. Therefore, $T^{-1}((x, y), (y, y)) = (x, y)$ is trivially continuous and the inverse of T.

The composition with the identity fails due to the definition of composition that was given. If we want to solve this problem to get a category, then a new equivalence relation between diagrams must be given. This relation is the one that will be given in Section 4.8.

Let X and Y be finite topological spaces. Every diagram $(p, q, \Gamma) \in D(X, Y)$ induces morphisms in homology. We get that $H_*(p, q, \Gamma) = q_* \circ p_*^{-1} : H_*(X) \to H_*(Y)$ is welldefined because p is a Vietoris-like map. For clarity, we will also denote $H_*(p, q, \Gamma)$ just by $H_*(p, q)$. Moreover, the homology behaves properly for the composition of diagrams.

Proposition 4.7.7. If $(p,q,\Gamma) \in D(X,Y)$ and $(p',q',\Gamma') \in D(Y,Z)$, then $H_*(p',q') \circ H_*(p,q) = H_*((p',q',\Gamma') \circ (p,q,\Gamma))$

Proof. By Definition 4.7.4, we have that $(p',q') \circ (p,q) = (p \circ \overline{p}',q' \circ \overline{q})$ and $q \circ \overline{p}' = p' \circ \overline{q}$, where $\overline{p}' : \Gamma \boxtimes_Y \Gamma' \to \Gamma$ is given by $\overline{p}'(x,y) = x$ and $\overline{q} : \Gamma \boxtimes_Y \Gamma' \to \Gamma'$ is given by $\overline{q}(x,y) = y$. Therefore,

$$H_*((p',q') \circ (p,q)) = (q \circ \overline{q})_* \circ (p \circ \overline{p}')_*^{-1} = q_* \circ \overline{q}_* \circ \overline{p}'_*^{-1} \circ p_*^{-1} =$$

$$= q'_* \circ p'^{-1}_* \circ q_* \circ p^{-1}_* = H_*(p',q') \circ H_*(p,q).$$

Definition 4.7.8. A fixed point for a diagram $(p,q,\Gamma) \in D(X,X)$ is a point $x \in X$ satisfying that $x \in q(p^{-1}(x))$.

Given a diagram $(p, q, \Gamma) \in D(X, Y)$, we define the Lefschetz number of the diagram as follows:

$$\Lambda(p,q,\Gamma) = \sum_{i=0} (-1)^n trace(q_* \circ p_*^{-1} : H_i(X) \to H_i(X)),$$

where *trace* denotes the trace of a linear map. Using the coincidence theorems for finite topological spaces obtained in Section 4.3, it can be deduced a Lefschetz fixed point theorem for diagrams.

Theorem 4.7.9 (Lefschetz fixed point theorem for diagrams). Given a diagram $(p, q, \Gamma) \in D(X, X)$. If $\Lambda(p, q, \Gamma) \neq 0$, then there exists a fixed point x for (p, q, Γ) .

Proof. We are in the hypothesis of Theorem 4.1.11, which implies the desired result. \Box

4.8 Category of morphisms

Let X and Y be finite topological spaces. We introduce a relation in D(X,Y). Given $(p,q,\Gamma), (p',q',\Gamma') \in D(X,Y)$, we write $(p,q,\Gamma) \sim (p',q',\Gamma')$ if and only if there exists a homeomorphism $h: \Gamma \to \Gamma'$ satisfying that the following diagram commutes.



Lemma 4.8.1. Let X and Y be finite topological spaces. The relation \sim in D(X,Y) is an equivalence relation

Proof. Reflexivity. It is clear that $(p, q, \Gamma) \sim (p, q, \Gamma)$, we only need to consider the identity map $id : \Gamma \to \Gamma$.

Symmetry. If $(p, q, \Gamma) \sim (p', q', \Gamma')$, then there exists a homeomorphism $h : \Gamma \to \Gamma'$ such that $p = p' \circ h$ and $q = q' \circ h$. Therefore, if we consider h^{-1} we get that $(p', q', \Gamma') \sim (p, q, \Gamma)$ since $q' = q \circ h^{-1}$ and $p' = p \circ h^{-1}$.

Transitivity. If $(p, q, \Gamma) \sim (p', q', \Gamma')$ and $(p', q', \Gamma') \sim (\overline{p}, \overline{q}, \overline{\Gamma})$, then there exist homeomorphisms $h : \Gamma \to \Gamma'$ and $h' : \Gamma' \to \overline{\Gamma}$ such that $p = p' \circ h$, $q = q' \circ h$, $p' = \overline{p} \circ h'$ and $q' = \overline{q} \circ h'$. Then, $h' \circ h : \Gamma \to \overline{\Gamma}$ is a homeomorphism such that $p = \overline{p} \circ h' \circ h$ and $q = \overline{q} \circ h' \circ h$, which implies that $(p, q, \Gamma) \sim (\overline{p}, \overline{q}, \overline{\Gamma})$.

Lemma 4.8.2. Given $(p, q, \Gamma), (p*, q*, \Gamma*) \in D(X, Y)$ and $(p', q', \Gamma'), (p^+, q^+, \Gamma^+) \in D(Y, Z)$. If $(p, q, \Gamma) \sim (p*, q*, \Gamma*)$ and $(p', q', \Gamma') \sim (p^+, q^+, \Gamma^+)$, then $(p, q, \Gamma) \circ (p', q', \Gamma') \sim (p*, q*, \Gamma*) \circ (p^+, q^+, \Gamma^+)$. *Proof.* By hypothesis, there exist homeomorphisms $h : \Gamma \to \Gamma^*$ and $h' : \Gamma' \to \Gamma^+$ such that the following diagram is commutative.



We consider $H = h \times h' : \Gamma \times \Gamma' \to \Gamma * \times \Gamma^+$ given by H(s,t) = (h(s), h'(t)), where we consider the product order in $\Gamma \times \Gamma'$ and $\Gamma * \times \Gamma^+$. It is clear that H is well-defined and bijective. The continuity of H follows trivially. If $(t,s) \leq (u,v)$, then H(t,s) = $(h(t), h'(s)) \leq (h(u), h'(v)) = H(u, v)$ by the continuity of h and h'. The inverse of His given by $H^{-1} = h^{-1} \times h'^{-1}$, which is also continuous and bijective. Therefore, H is a homeomorphism. If we restrict the domain of H to $\Gamma \boxtimes_Y \Gamma' \subseteq \Gamma \times \Gamma'$, then we get the desired homeomorphism. For simplicity, we denote $\underline{h} = H_{|\Gamma \boxtimes_Y \Gamma'}$. We show that \underline{h} is well-defined. Let us consider $(s,t) \in \Gamma \boxtimes \Gamma'$, we need to show that $\underline{h}(s,t) \in \Gamma * \boxtimes_Y \Gamma^+$, i.e., $p^+(h'(t)) = q * (h(s))$. We know by the commutativity of the diagram above that $p = p * \circ h, q = q * \circ h, p' = p^+ \circ h'$ and $q' = q^+ \circ h'$. Therefore, q * (h(s)) = q(s) = p'(t) = $p^+(h'(t))$. From here, it is easy to deduce that \underline{h} is the desired homeomorphism to prove that $(p, q, \Gamma) \circ (p', q', \Gamma') \sim (p*, q*, \Gamma*) \circ (p^+, q^+, \Gamma^+)$.

We define the category of morphisms \mathcal{M} for finite topological spaces. The objects of \mathcal{M} are the finite topological spaces. Let X and Y be finite topological spaces. Then the set of morphisms from X to Y is given by $\mathcal{M}(X,Y) = D(X,Y)/\sim$.

Theorem 4.8.3. \mathcal{M} is a category.

Proof. We prove the associativity. By Lemma 4.8.2, the representatives are independent. Therefore, we only need to check that $((p,q,\Gamma)\circ(p',q',\Gamma'))\circ(\overline{p},\overline{q},\overline{\Gamma})\sim(p,q,\Gamma)\circ((p',q',\Gamma')\circ(\overline{p},\overline{q},\overline{\Gamma})))$, where $(p,q,\Gamma)\in D(Z,W)$, $(p',q',\Gamma')\in D(Y,Z)$ and $(\overline{p},\overline{q},\overline{\Gamma})\in D(X,Y)$. We consider $T:(\overline{\Gamma}\boxtimes_Y \Gamma')\boxtimes_Z \Gamma \to \overline{\Gamma}\boxtimes_Y (\Gamma'\boxtimes_Z \Gamma)$ given by T(((x,y),(y',z),(z',w))) = ((x,y),((y',z),(z',w))). It is routine to check that T is the desired homeomorphism that proves the result.

The properties regarding to the identity morphism can be deduced from Remark 4.7.6.

Remark 4.8.4. If $f: X \to Y$ and $g: X \to Y$ are single-valued continuous maps, then Definition 4.7.4 corresponds with the usual notion of composition. We get that f can be seen as $(p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f))$ and g can be seen as $(p_g, q_g, \Gamma(g))$. Similarly, $g \circ f$ can be seen as $(p_{g \circ f}, q_{g \circ f}, \Gamma(g \circ f))$. Therefore, we have that $(p_g, q_g, \Gamma(g)) \circ (p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f)) \sim (p_{g \circ f}, q_{g \circ f}, \Gamma(g \circ f))$. To prove the last assertion we only need to consider $T: \Gamma(g \circ f) \to \Gamma(g) \boxtimes_Y \Gamma(f)$ given by T(x, y) = ((x, f(x)), (f(x), y)). It is easy to prove that T is a homeomorphism making the following diagram commutative.



We prove that the homological functor H_* can be applied properly to \mathcal{M} . To do that, we show a technical lemma.

Lemma 4.8.5. Let X and Y be finite topological spaces. If $(p, q, \Gamma), (p', q', \Gamma') \in D(X, Y)$ satisfy that $(p, q, \Gamma) \sim (p', q', \Gamma')$, then $H_*(p, q) = H_*(p', q')$.

Proof. By hypothesis, there exists a homeomorphism $h: \Gamma \to \Gamma'$ satisfying that $p = p' \circ h$ and $q = q' \circ h$. Therefore, applying H_* and using the previous relations, we get

$$H_*(p,q) = q_* \circ p_*^{-1} = q'_* \circ h_* \circ (p' \circ h)_*^{-1} = q'_* \circ h_* \circ h_*^{-1} \circ p'_*^{-1} = q'_* \circ p'_*^{-1} = H_*(p',q').$$

Proposition 4.8.6. If \mathcal{A} denotes the category of abelian groups, then the homological functor $H_* : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{A}$ is well-defined.

Proof. It is an immediate consequence of Lemma 4.8.2 and Lemma 4.8.5.

Again, we can obtain a Lefschetz fixed point theorem. Before stating this theorem, we prove an auxiliary lemma.

Lemma 4.8.7. If x is a fixed point for $(p,q,\Gamma) \in D(X,X)$ and $(p',q',\Gamma') \in D(X,X)$ satisfies that $(p,q,\Gamma) \sim (p',q',\Gamma')$, then x is a fixed point for (p',q',Γ') .

Proof. Since $(p, q, \Gamma) \sim (p', q', \Gamma')$, it follows that there exists a homeomorphism $h: \Gamma \to \Gamma'$ such that $p = p' \circ h$ and $q = q' \circ h$. If x is a fixed point for (p, q, Γ) , there exists $y \in p^{-1}(x)$ satisfying that p(y) = x = q(y). Hence, we only need to consider h(y) to get the desired result. We have $h(y) \in p'^{-1}(x)$ because x = p(y) = p'(h(y)) and q'(h(y)) = x because x = q(y) = q'(h(y)). Therefore, we get $x \in q'(p'^{-1}(x))$.

The previous lemma proves that the notion of fixed point is well-defined for morphisms. By Lemma 4.8.5, we get that the Lefschetz number that was defined for diagrams in Section 4.7 is well-defined for morphisms, i.e., the Lefschetz number does not depend on the representative chosen.

Theorem 4.8.8 (Lefschetz fixed point theorem for morphisms). If $[(p,q,\Gamma)] \in \mathcal{M}(X,X)$ satisfies that $\Lambda([(p,q,\Gamma)]) \neq 0$, then there exists a fixed point for $[(p,q,\Gamma)]$

Proof. It is an immediate consequence of Lemma 4.8.7, Lemma 4.8.5 and Theorem 4.7.9. \Box

4.9 Homotopical category of diagrams

We introduce a notion of homotopy for diagrams, the idea is to generalize the notion of homotopy introduced in [20] for strongly upper semicontinuous (susc) multivalued maps with acyclic values. We recall this notion of homotopy.

Definition 4.9.1. Let X and Y be finite topological spaces. Two susc multivalued maps $F, G : X \multimap Y$ with acyclic values are said to be homotopic, if there exists a susc multivalued map $H : X \times [0,1] \multimap Y$ with acyclic values which satisfies H(x,0) = F(x) and H(x,1) = G(x) for every $x \in X$.

In [20], the following combinatorial characterization of Definition 4.9.1 is obtained.

Proposition 4.9.2. Let X and Y be two finite topological spaces. Then two susc multivalued maps $F, G : X \multimap Y$ with acyclic values are homotopic if and only if there exists a sequence of multivalued maps $F_i : X \multimap Y$ which are susc and have acyclic values, and which satisfy $F(x) = F_0(x) \subseteq F_1(x) \supseteq F_2(x) \subseteq \dots F_n(x) = G(x)$ for every $x \in X$.

Now, we give our notion of homotopy.

Definition 4.9.3. Given two finite topological spaces X and Y and $(p,q,Z), (p',q',Z') \in D(X,Y)$. We say that (p,q,Z) is homotopic to (p',q',Z') if there exists $(p*,q*,Z*) \in D(X \times \{0,1\},Y)$ and maps $f_0: Z \to Z*, f_1: Z' \to Z*$ such that the following diagram commutes.



Where $i_0(x) = (x, 0)$, $i_1(x) = (x, 1)$, $\{0, 1\}$ is a poset (0 < 1) and $X \times \{0, 1\}$ is the product of posets, that is, $(x, t) \le (y, s)$ if and only if $x \le y$ and $t \le s$. We say that (p*, q*, Z*) is the homotopy between (p, q, Z) and (p', q', Z').

Remark 4.9.4. Definition 4.9.3 is an adaptation of the definition given in [41] for the classical setting of multivalued maps. At the same time, the definition given in [41] arises as a sort of generalization of the one given in [55]. The need of the definition given in [41] relies on the fact that with this notion of homotopy, the homotopy relation is an equivalence relation.

With the following lemma, a useful way to check if two diagrams are homotopic is given.

Lemma 4.9.5. If (p_0, q_0, Z_0) , $(p_1, q_1, Z_1) \in D(X, Y)$ and there exists a map $f : Z_0 \to Z_1$

making the following diagram commutative



then (p_0, q_0, Z_0) is homotopic to (p_1, q_1, Z_1) .

Proof. We consider the non-Hausdorff mapping cylinder of f, denoted by Z^* , i.e., we consider the disjoint union of Z_0 and Z_1 , where we have that for $y \in Z_1$ and $z \in Z_0$, y > zif and only if f(z) = y. We define $p^* : Z^* \to X \times \{0,1\}$ given by $p^*(z) = (p_0(z), 0)$ if $z \in Z_0$ and $p * (z) = (p_1(z), 1)$ if $z \in Z_1$. We prove the continuity of p*. If y > z, where $y \in Z_1$ and $z \in Z_0$, then f(z) = y and $p * (y) = (p_1(y), 1) = (p_1(f(z)), 1) = (p_0(z), 1) \ge (p_1(z), 1) = (p_1(z), 1) \ge (p_1(z), 1) = (p_1(z), 1) \ge (p_1(z), 1)$ $(p_0(z), 0) = p * (z)$. It is simple to check that p* preserves the remaining relations. Now, we show that p* is a Vietoris-like map. If $x_1 < ... < x_n$ is a chain in $X \times \{0, 1\}$, then we need to prove that $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} p *^{-1} (x_i)$ is acyclic. Suppose $A \cap Z_0 = \emptyset$ or $A \cap Z_1 = \emptyset$. Since p_0 and p_1 are Vietoris-like maps, we get the desired result. Suppose the opposite, i.e., $A \cap Z_0 \neq \emptyset$ and $A \cap Z_1 \neq \emptyset$. We consider $r: A \rightarrow Z_1 \cap A$ given by r(z) = z if $z \in Z_1 \cap A$ and r(z) = f(z) if $z \in Z_0 \cap A$. We prove that r is continuous. If $z \in Z_0$ and $y \in Z_1$ satisfy that y > z, then r(y) = y = f(z) = r(z). It is trivial to prove that r is order-preserving for the remaining relations. Let $i: Z_1 \cap A \to A$ denote the inclusion map. We have that $r \circ i = id$ and $i \circ r \geq id$. Thus, $Z_1 \cap A$ is a strong deformation retract of A. Since p_1 is a Vietoris-like map, $Z_1 \cap A$ is acyclic. Similarly, we define $q^* : Z^* \to Y$, that is, $q * (z) = q_0(z)$ if $z \in Z_0$ and $q * (z) = q_1(z)$ if $z \in Z_1$. It is simple to check that q* is continuous. If z < y, where $z \in Z_0$ and $y \in Z_1$, then f(z) = y and we get $q * (y) = q_1(y) = q_1(f(z)) = q_0(z)$. We get that q* is order-preserving for the remaining relations since q_0 and q_1 are continuous maps. We have the following diagram.



Where i_{Z_1} and i_{Z_0} denote the natural inclusions. By construction, it is easy to deduce that the diagram is commutative.

Remark 4.9.6. Lemma 4.9.5 is also telling that if $(p, q, \Gamma), (p', q', \Gamma') \in D(X, Y)$ are such that $(p, q, \Gamma) \sim (p', q', \Gamma')$, then they are homotopic.

The usual composition of continuous maps does not correspond exactly with the composition of its respective diagrams. But the graph of the usual composition and the domain of the fiber product are homeomorphic topological spaces. The last assertion is a trivial exercise. However, we can check that both compositions are homotopic. **Proposition 4.9.7.** Let X, Y and Z be finite topological spaces. If $f : X \to Y$ and $g : Y \to Z$ are continuous maps, then the usual composition $g \circ f$ as a diagram is homotopic to $(p_g, q_g, \Gamma(g)) \circ (p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f))$

Proof. The idea of the proof is to use Lemma 4.9.5, that is, we need to find a continuous map $T: \Gamma(g \circ f) \to \Gamma(f) \boxtimes_Y \Gamma(g)$ satisfying that the following diagram commutes.



We define T given by T(x, y) = ((x, f(x)), (f(x), y)). It is clear that T is well-defined by construction. The continuity of T follows from the continuity of f. Finally, the diagram commutes trivially.

In our case, as it happens in [41], the homotopy relation is an equivalence relation.

Lemma 4.9.8. The homotopy relation is an equivalence relation in D(X,Y).

Proof. We prove the transitive property. The reflexive and symmetric properties are trivial to show. Suppose that (p_0, q_0, Z_0) is homotopic to (p_1, q_1, Z_1) and (p_1, q_1, Z_1) is homotopic to (p_2, q_2, Z_2, Z_2) , that is, there exist Z, \overline{Z} and continuous maps $f_0, f_1, f_2, f_3, p, q, \overline{p}, \overline{q}$ such that p and \overline{p} are Vietoris-like maps and the following two diagrams are commutative.



We consider $Z_1 \times \{0, 1\}$, where 0 < 1. Hence, we have the product of two posets. We consider $B(f_1) = Z_1 \times \{0, 1\} \sqcup Z$, where $Z_1 \times \{0, 1\} \sqcup Z$ denotes the disjoint union of $Z_1 \times \{0, 1\}$ and Z and we have that (x, 1) > y if and only if $f_1(x) = y$. Analogously, we consider $B(f_2) = Z_1 \times \{0, 1\} \sqcup \overline{Z}$, where (x, 0) > y if and only if $f_2(x) = y$. We can say that $B(f_1)$ and $B(f_2)$ are a sort of non-Hausdorff mapping cylinders. Finally, we define $Z^* = B(f_1) \cup B(f_2)$. In Figure 4.9.1 we present a schematic representation of Z^* . We define $p^* : Z^* \to X \times \{0, 1\}$ given by

$$p * (s) = \begin{cases} (p_1(x), t), & \text{if } s = (x, t) \in Z_1 \times \{0, 1\} \\ p(y) & \text{if } s = y \in Z \\ \overline{p}(y) & \text{if } s = y \in \overline{Z}. \end{cases}$$

We need to show that p* is a Vietoris-like map. Firstly, we show the continuity of p*. We study cases. If z < s, where $z, s \in Z_1 \times \{0, 1\}$ or $z, s \in Z$ or $z, s \in \overline{Z}$, then p*(z) < p*(s)



Figure 4.9.1: Schematic representation of Z*.

trivially. Suppose (z, 1) > y, where $y \in Z$ and $(z, 1) \in Z_1 \times \{0, 1\}$. By construction, we know that $f_1(z) = y$. Using the commutativity of the first diagram, we get

$$p * (z, 1) = (p_1(z), 1) = i_1(p_1(z)) = p(f_1(z)) = p(y) = p * (y).$$

Similarly, if (z, 0) > y, where $(z, 0) \times Z_1 \times \{0, 1\}$ and $y \in \overline{Z}$, then

$$p * (z, 0) = (p_1(z), 0) = i_0(p_1(z)) = \overline{p}(f_2(z)) = \overline{p}(y) = p * (y)$$

We consider a chain $x_1 < ... < x_n$ in $X \times \{0, 1\}$ and denote $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n p *^{-1}(x_i)$. It is clear that $A_1 = A \cap Z \subset Z^*$ and $A_2 = A \cap \overline{Z} \subset Z^*$ are acyclic since p and \overline{p} are Vietoris-like maps.

We consider the closure of A_1 and A_2 , i.e., $F_1 = \bigcup_{x \in A_1} F_x$ and $F_2 = \bigcup_{x \in A_2} F_x$, where F_x denotes the minimal closed set in A containing x. We prove that $F_1 \cup F_2 = A$. We only need to check that $A \cap Z_1 \times \{0,1\}$ is a subset of $F_1 \cup F_2$. We argue by contradiction. Suppose $z \in A \setminus \{F_1 \cup F_2\}$. Then there exists x_i in the chain $x_1 < \ldots < x_n$ such that $z \in p *^{-1}(x_i)$. If $x_i = (s, 0)$ for some $s \in X$, then z can only be of the form z = (y, 0) for some $y \in Z_1$. Therefore, we have that $f_2(y) < z$ and $p * (f_2(y)) = x_i$ since $p * (f_2(y)) = \overline{p}(f_2(y)) = i_0(p_1(y)) = (p_1(y), 0) = p * (z) = x_i$, which entails a contradiction. Similarly, if $x_i = (s, 1)$ for some $s \in X$, we get that z can only be of the form z = (y, 1) for some $y \in Z_1$. We have $f_1(y) < z$ and $p * (f_1(y)) = i_1(p_1(y)) = (p_1(y), 1) = x_i$. Therefore, $z \in F_1$ because $f_1(y) < z$, but we have supposed that $z \notin F_1$.

We prove that F_1 and F_2 are acyclic. We consider $r: F_1 \to A_1$ given by r(y) = y if $y \in A_1$ and $r(y,1) = f_1(y)$ if $(y,1) \in F_1 \setminus A_1$. We prove the continuity of r. The only problematic relation that we can have is of the following type: y < (z,1), where $y \in A_1$ and $(z,1) \in F_1 \setminus A_1$. By construction, $f_1(z) = y$, therefore, $r(y) = y = f_1(z) = r(z,1)$. In addition, $r \circ i = id$ and $i \circ r \ge id$, where id denotes the identity and i denotes the inclusion. From here, we get that A_1 is a strong deformation retract of F_1 . Similarly, we can proceed with F_2 . We consider $r: F_2 \to A_2$ given by r(y) = y if $y \in A_2$ and $r(y,t) = f_2(y)$ if $(y,t) \in F_1 \setminus A_1$. Repeating the same arguments, it is easy to show that A_1 is a strong deformation retract of U_1 . Since A_1 and A_2 are acyclic, it follows the desired assertion.

Finally, we prove that $F_1 \cap F_2$ is also acyclic. If $z \in F_1 \cap F_2$, then z is of the form (y, 1) for some $y \in Z_1$ such that $p * (y, 1) = x_i$, where i = 1, ..., n. By abuse of notation, the first coordinate of $x_i \in X \times \{0, 1\}$ is also denoted by x_i . Hence, the idea is to prove that $B = \bigcup_{i=1}^n p_1^{-1}(x_i)$ is homeomorphic to $F_1 \cap F_2$. We define $T : F_1 \cap F_2 \to B$ given by T(y, 1) = y. We have that T is well-defined by construction. The continuity and

injectivity of T follow easily. If $z \in B$, then $p_1(z) = x_i$ for some i = 1, ..., n. It is clear that $(z, 1) > f_1(z), f_2(z)$. Then, we have that $(z, 1) \in F_1 \cap F_2$ and T(z, 1) = z. It is trivial to check that $S : B \to F_1 \cap F_2$ given by S(z) = (z, 1) is a bijective and continuous map, which is the inverse of T. Thus, $F_1 \cap F_2$ is acyclic because B is acyclic.

By a Mayer-Vietoris argument, we can get that A is also acyclic.

$$\cdots \to H_n(F_1 \cap F_2) \to H_n(F_1) \oplus H_n(F_2) \to H_n(F_1 \cup F_2) \to \cdots$$

To conclude, we need to define continuous maps $q^*: Z^* \to Y, f'_0: Z_0 \to Z^*, f'_3: Z_2 \to Z^*$ making the following diagram commutative.



We define $f'_0 = i \circ f_0$ and $f'_3 = \overline{i} \circ f_3$, where $i : Z \to Z^*$ and $\overline{i} : \overline{Z} \to Z$ are the natural inclusions., it is clear that f'_0 and f'_3 are continuous maps. We define q^* given by

$$q * (s) = \begin{cases} q_1(x), & \text{if } s = (x, t) \in Z_1 \times \{0, 1\} \\ q(y) & \text{if } s = y \in Z \\ \overline{q}(y) & \text{if } s = y \in \overline{Z}. \end{cases}$$

We prove the continuity of q*. We study the problematic cases. If (y, 1) > z, where $z \in Z$, then $f_1(y) = z$ and we have $q*(y, 1) = q_1(y) = q(f_1(y)) = q(z) = q*(z)$. If (y, 0) > z, where $z \in \overline{Z}$, then $f_2(z) = y$ and we have $q*(y, 0) = q_1(y) = \overline{q}(f_2(z)) = \overline{q}(z) = q*(z)$. The commutativity of the above diagram follows by construction.

The following technical lemma proves that the composition of diagrams behaves as it is expected.

Lemma 4.9.9. Given two finite topological spaces X and Y. If $(p_0, q_0, \Gamma_0), (p'_0, q'_0, \Gamma'_0) \in D(X, Y)$ and $(p_1, q_1, \Gamma_1), (p'_1, q'_1, \Gamma'_1) \in D(Y, W)$ satisfy that (p_0, q_0, Γ_0) is homotopic to (p'_0, q'_0, Γ'_0) and (p_1, q_1, Γ_1) is homotopic to (p'_1, q'_1, Γ'_1) , then $(p_1, q_1, \Gamma_1) \circ (p_0, q_0, \Gamma_0)$ is homotopic to $(p'_1, q'_1, \Gamma'_1) \circ (p'_0, q'_0, \Gamma'_0)$.

Proof. We introduce a bit of notation, $(p_1, q_1, \Gamma_1) \circ (p_0, q_0, \Gamma_0) = (\overline{p_1}, \overline{q_0}, \Gamma_0 \boxtimes_y \Gamma_1), (p'_1, q'_1, \Gamma'_1) \circ (p'_0, q'_0, \Gamma'_0) = (\overline{p'_1}, \overline{q'_0}, \Gamma'_0 \boxtimes_y \Gamma'_1)$ by Definition 4.7.4. By hypothesis, we have that there exist continuous maps and finite topological spaces $T_0: Z_0 \to Z, T'_0: Z'_0 \to Z, T_1: Z_1 \to \overline{Z}, T'_1: Z'_1 \to \overline{Z}, p: Z \to X, q: Z \to Y, \overline{p}: \overline{Z} \to X \text{ and } \overline{q}: \overline{Z} \to W$, where p and \overline{p} are

Vietoris-like maps, satisfying that the following diagram commutes.



We consider the pull-back of the following diagram.

 $Z \xrightarrow{q} Y \xleftarrow{\overline{p}} \overline{Z}$

Then, we have the following commutative diagram.



We define $T_{0,1}: \Gamma_0 \boxtimes_Y \Gamma_1 \to Z \boxtimes \overline{Z}$ given by $T_{0,1} = T_0 \times T_1$ and $T'_{0,1}: \Gamma'_0 \boxtimes_Y \Gamma'_1 \to Z \boxtimes_Y \overline{Z}$ given by $T'_{0,1} = T'_0 \times T'_1$. By construction and the commutativity of the previous diagrams, it is easy to check the that the following diagram commutes, which implies the desired result using Lemma 4.9.5 and Lemma 4.9.8.



Even though diagrams do not form a category, we can consider the homotopy classes in order to get a category, that is, the homotopical category of diagrams HD. The objects of HD are the finite T_0 topological spaces. Given two finite topological spaces X and Y, HD(X,Y) is given by the homotopy classes of diagrams in D(X,Y).

Theorem 4.9.10. *HD is a category.*

Proof. Repeating the same arguments used in the proof Theorem 4.8.3 and using Lemma 4.9.9 the result follows easily. \Box

We prove that the homotopy relation introduced in this section works properly for the homological functor.

Proposition 4.9.11. If $(p,q,\Gamma), (p',q',\Gamma') \in D(X,Y)$ are homotopic diagrams, then (p,q,Γ) and (p',q',Γ') induce the same morphism in homology.

Proof. Let $(p*, q*, \Gamma*) \in D(X \times \{0, 1\})$ denote the homotopy between (p, q, Γ) and (p', q', Γ') . By hypothesis, there exist f and f' such that the following diagram is commutative.



It is easy to deduce that (p, q, Γ) is homotopic to $(p^*, q^*, \Gamma^*) \circ i_0$ and (p', q', Γ') is homotopic to $(p^*, q^*, \Gamma^*) \circ i_1$. It is clear that $H_*(i_0) = H_*(i_1)$. From Proposition 4.7.7 we get the desired result.

As an immediate consequence of Proposition 4.9.11, Proposition 4.7.7 and Lemma 4.9.9, we obtain the following result.

Proposition 4.9.12. If \mathcal{A} denotes the category of abelian groups, then the homological functor $H_*: HD \to \mathcal{A}$ is well-defined.

Remark 4.9.13. The notion of homotopy described in this section can also be adapted to the category of morphisms. If $[(p,q,\Gamma)] \in \mathcal{M}(X,Y)$, the homotopy class of $[(p,q,\Gamma)]$ is exactly the homotopy class of a diagram $(p,q,\Gamma) \in [(p,q,\Gamma)]$. Therefore, the homotopical category of diagrams and a homotopical version of the category of morphisms can be seen as the same.

4.10 Relations of the homotopy for diagrams with other notions of homotopy

As it was mentioned before, Definition 4.9.3 generalizes the notion of homotopy obtained in Proposition 4.9.2. In the following proposition we formalize the last assertion.

Proposition 4.10.1. Let X and Y be finite topological spaces and let $G : X \multimap Y$ and $F : X \multimap Y$ be Vietoris-like multivalued maps such that $F(x) \subseteq G(x)$ for every $x \in X$. Then $(p_F, q_F, \Gamma(F))$ is homotopic to $(p_G, q_G, \Gamma(G))$.

Proof. Since $F(x) \subseteq G(x)$ for every $x \in X$, it follows that $\Gamma(F) \subseteq \Gamma(G)$. We have the natural inclusion $i: \Gamma(F) \to \Gamma(G)$ and the following diagram.



If $(x, y) \in \Gamma(F)$, then $p_F(x, y) = x = p_G(x, y) = p_G(i(x, y))$. Moreover, $q_F(x, y) = y = q_G(x, y) = q_G(i(x, y))$. Therefore, the above diagram is commutative. By Lemma 4.9.5 we get the desired result.

As an immediate consequence of this result, it can be obtained that Definition 4.9.3 also generalizes the usual notion of homotopy for single-valued maps.

Proposition 4.10.2. Let X and Y be finite topological spaces. If $f, g : X \to Y$ are homotopic maps, then $(p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f))$ is homotopic to $(p_g, q_g, \Gamma(g))$.

Proof. By Proposition 1.1.16, if f is homotopic to g, then there exists a finite sequence of continuous maps $g_i : X \to Y$, where i = 1, ..., n, such that $g_0 = f, g_n = g$ and $f \ge g_1 \le ... \ge g_{n-1} \le g$. Therefore, it suffices to prove that $f \ge g$ implies that $(p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f))$ is homotopic to $(p_g, q_g, \Gamma(g))$. We consider $F : X \multimap Y$ given by $F(x) = U_x$. It is clear that F is susc with acyclic values, which means that F is a Vietoris-like map by Proposition 4.2.17. By Proposition 4.10.1, we get that $(p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f))$ is homotopic to $(P_F, q_F, \Gamma(F))$. Again, $(p_g, q_g, \Gamma(g))$ is homotopic to $(P_F, q_F, \Gamma(F))$ by Proposition 4.10.1. By Lemma 4.9.8, we can conclude that $(p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f))$ is homotopic to $(p_g, q_g, \Gamma(g))$

Remark 4.10.3. It is also easy to check that if X is homotopy equivalent to Y in the usual sense, then X is isomorphic to Y in HD.

This category also generalizes the notion of simple homotopy as we prove in the following proposition.

Proposition 4.10.4. If x is a down (up) weak beat point of X, then $X \setminus \{x\}$ is isomorphic to X in HD.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we assume that x is a down weak beat point. We have the natural inclusion $i: X \setminus \{x\} \to X$. We consider $R: X \to X \setminus \{x\}$ given by R(y) = yif $y \neq x$ and $R(x) = U_x \setminus \{x\}$. We prove that R is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. Then, we verify that p_R is a Vietoris-like map. It is clear that for every chain $x_1 < \ldots < x_n$ in X not containing x we get that $A = \bigcup_{i=1}^n p_R^{-1}(x_i)$ is acyclic. Therefore, we check the case where $x_1 < \ldots < x_n$ is a chain in X containing x. If $x = x_j$ for some j < n, then A is contractible since it has a maximum, which is (x_n, x_n) . Suppose that $x = x_n$. We consider $T: A \to x \times U_x \setminus \{x\}$ given by $T(x_i, x_i) = (x, x_i)$ if i < n and $T(x_n, y) = (x_n, y)$ if $y \in U_x \setminus \{x\}$. Since $x_i < x_n = x$, it follows that T is well-defined. To prove the continuity of T, we check that T preserves the relations of the form $(x_i, x_i) < (x, y)$, where i < n and $y \in U_x \setminus \{x\}$, because the remaining relations are preserved by T trivially. We have $T(x_i, x_i) = (x, x_i) < (x, y) = T(x, y)$, which implies the continuity of T. We have the natural inclusion $j: x \times U_x \setminus \{x\} \to A$. It is easily seen that $T \circ j = id$ and $j \circ T \ge id$. From this, we deduce that $x \times U_x \setminus \{x\}$ is a strong deformation retract of A. By hypothesis, $x \times U_x \setminus \{x\}$ is contractible. Thus, p_R is a Vietoris-like map and R is a Vietoris-like multivalued map.

We know that $(p_R, q_R, \Gamma(R)) \circ (p_i, q_i, \Gamma(i)) = (p_i \circ \overline{p_R}, q_i \circ \overline{q_R}, \Gamma(i) \boxtimes_X \Gamma(R))$ and $(p_i, q_i, \Gamma(i)) \circ (p_R, q_R, \Gamma(R)) = (p_R \circ \overline{p_i}, q_i \circ \overline{q_R}, \Gamma(R) \boxtimes_{X \setminus \{x\}} \Gamma(i))$. Now, we prove that $(p_i \circ \overline{p_R}, q_i \circ \overline{q_R}, \Gamma(i) \boxtimes_X \Gamma(R))$ is homotopic to $(id_{X \setminus \{x\}}, id_{X \setminus \{x\}}, X \setminus \{x\})$ and $(p_R \circ \overline{p_i}, q_i \circ \overline{q_R}, \Gamma(R) \boxtimes_{X \setminus \{x\}} \Gamma(i))$ is homotopic to (id_X, id_X, X) . Firstly, we show that id_X is homotopic to $U : X \multimap X$ given by $U(x) = U_x$. This is true since $id_X(y) \in U(y)$ for every $y \in X$ and U is a Vietoris-like map. We define $S : \Gamma(R) \boxtimes_{X \times \{x\}} \Gamma(i) \to \Gamma(U)$ given by S(y, w, z, t) = (y, t). By construction, $q_R(y, w) = w = z = p_i(z, t)$, where $z \in R(y)$ and $t \in i(z)$, so $y = z \neq x$ and $z = t \in R(y) \subseteq U(y)$. Therefore, S is well-defined. The continuity of S follows trivially. By the construction of S, we have that the following diagram commutes.



From here, applying Lemma 4.9.5, we obtain that $(p_R \circ \overline{p_i}, q_i \circ \overline{q_R}, \Gamma(R) \boxtimes_{X \setminus \{x\}} \Gamma(i))$ is homotopic to (id_X, id_X, X) . We define $H : X \to \Gamma(i) \boxtimes_X \Gamma(R)$ given by H(y) = (y, y, y, y). Since $y \in i(y) = y$ and y = R(y) for every $y \in X \setminus \{y\}$, it follows that H is welldefined. The continuity of H follows trivially. Again, by Lemma 4.9.5, we deduce that $(p_i \circ \overline{p_R}, q_i \circ \overline{q_R}, \Gamma(i) \boxtimes_X \Gamma(R))$ is homotopic to $(id_{X \setminus \{x\}}, id_{X \setminus \{x\}}, X \setminus \{x\})$. \Box

Remark 4.10.5. If X and Y are simple homotopy equivalent, then X and Y are isomorphic in HD.

We also have that finite barycentric subdivisions do not change the type of a topological space in HD.

Proposition 4.10.6. Let X be a finite topological space. If X' denotes the finite barycentric subdivision of X, then X is isomorphic to X' in HD.

Proof. Since X and X' are simple homotopy equivalent [12, Proposition 4.2.9], the desired result follows by Proposition 4.10.4. \Box

Nevertheless, if two finite topological spaces are isomorphic in HD, they are not necessarily weak homotopy equivalent. We provide an example satisfying the previous assertion.

Example 4.10.7. Let us consider the topological space constructed in [60, Example 2.38]. We recall it. Let X be obtained from the wedge sum of two 1-dimensional spheres by attaching two 2-cells by the words a^5b^{-3} and $b^3(ab)^{-2}$. It can be shown that X is acyclic but it is not contractible. Indeed, the fundamental group of X has the presentation $\langle a, b | a^5b^{-3}, b^3(ab)^{-2} \rangle$. We consider a triangulation for X and then $\mathcal{X}(X)$. We define $f : \mathcal{X}(X) \to *$ given by f(x) = * for every $x \in \mathcal{X}(X)$. It is clear that f is a Vietoris-like map. We define $F : * \to \mathcal{X}(X)$ given by $F(*) = \mathcal{X}(X)$. Again, it is simple to check that F is a Vietoris-like multivalued map. We prove that * is isomorphic to $\mathcal{X}(X)$ in HD. To do this, we show that $(p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f)) \circ (p_F, q_F, \Gamma(F))$ is homotopic to (id, id, *) and $(p_F, q_F, \Gamma(F)) \circ (p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f))$ is homotopic to $(id, id, \mathcal{X}(X))$. For the first case we define $T : \Gamma(F) \boxtimes_{\mathcal{X}(X)} \Gamma(f) \to *$ as the constant map. Using Lemma 4.9.5, we get the desired result. For the second case we define $S : \mathcal{X}(X) \to \Gamma(f) \boxtimes_* \Gamma(F)$ given by S(x) = ((x, *), (*, x)). Again, by Lemma 4.9.5, we get the desired result.

Remark 4.10.8. Let X and Y be finite topological spaces. Let $X \stackrel{he}{\simeq} Y$ denote that X is homotopy equivalent to Y. Let $X \stackrel{we}{\simeq} Y$ denote that X is weak homotopy equivalent to Y. Let $X \stackrel{we}{\simeq} Y$ denote that X is isomorphic to Y in HD. Let $X \stackrel{se}{\simeq} Y$ denote that X is simple homotopy equivalent to Y. We have the following schematic diagram.



4.11 Some remarks about the topological degree for finite topological spaces

The classical notion of topological degree has been proved to be a very useful tool in topology. For example, the topological degree provides a complete classification of continuous maps from a compact connected oriented *n*-dimensional manifold X to the *n*-dimensional sphere S^n . Namely, given continuous maps $f, g : X \to S^n$, f is homotopic to g if and only if f and g have the same degree, that is, the Hopf theorem [62]. For a complete introduction to the topological degree see [89] or [79].

The notion of degree seems to be more promising for this category than the usual one for continuous maps and finite space. Indeed, in [23], the notion of topological degree is defined for continuous maps between finite models of spheres in the natural way, i.e., if X and Y are two finite models of a n-dimensional sphere and $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous map, then the degree of f is defined as $\mathcal{K}(f)_n([X]) = deg(f)[Y]$, where [X] and [Y] are the fundamental classes of $H_n(\mathcal{K}(X))$ and $H_n(\mathcal{K}(Y))$ respectively and $\mathcal{K}(f)_n : H_n(\mathcal{K}(X)) \to H_n(\mathcal{K}(Y))$. But it is shown that given two finite models of the 1-sphere and an integer number n, we cannot expect in general to have a continuous map f between them having deg(f) = n. However, for the category HD the previous result holds true in a more general way. We give first a definition of degree for a diagram.

Definition 4.11.1. Let X and Y be finite models of closed connected oriented m-dimensional manifolds and let $(p, q, \Gamma) \in D(X, Y)$. The degree of (p, q, Γ) is given as follows $q_*(p_*^{-1}([X])) = deg(p, q)[Y]$, where $deg(p, q) \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Remark 4.11.2. If $f : X \to Y$ is a continuous map between two finite models of closed connected oriented m-dimensional manifolds, then $deg(f) = deg(p_f, q_f)$ by construction.

Proposition 4.11.3. If $(p,q,\Gamma), (p',q',\Gamma') \in D(X,Y)$ are homotopic diagrams, then deg(p,q) = deg(p',q').

Proof. It is an immediate consequence of Proposition 4.9.12.

Proposition 4.11.4. *If* $(p, q, \Gamma) \in D(X, Y)$ *and* $(p', q', \Gamma') \in D(Y, Z)$ *, then* $deg((p', q') \circ (p, q) = deg(p, q)deg(p', q')$.

Proof. It is a consequence of Proposition 4.7.7.

Proposition 4.11.5. If n is a positive integer number, l is an integer number and X is a finite model of the n-dimensional sphere, then there exists a diagram $(p,q,\Gamma) \in D(X,X)$ such that its degree is l.

Proof. Let us consider a continuous map $f': S^n \to S^n$ such that deg(f') = l. We can consider a triangulation in S^n . By the simplicial approximation theorem, there exists a positive integer number m and a simplicial map $f: S^{n,m} \to S^n$ satisfying that deg(f) =deg(f'). Applying the McCord functor, we get $\mathcal{X}(f): \mathcal{X}(S^{n,m}) \to \mathcal{X}(S^n)$. Since X is a finite model of S^n , it follows that there exists a positive integer t and a continuous map $g: X^t \to \mathcal{X}(S^{n,m})$ satisfying that g induces the identity in homology. Additionally, there exists a positive integer s and continuous map $h: \mathcal{X}(S^n)^s \to X^t$ such that h induces the identity in homology. Using the natural Vietoris-like maps and multivalued maps between finite barycentric subdivisions, we get

$$X \multimap X^t \xrightarrow{g} \mathcal{X}(S^{n,m}) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{X}(f)} \mathcal{X}(S^n) \multimap \mathcal{X}(S^n)^s \xrightarrow{h} X^t \to X.$$

In the above diagram, the only map that does not induce the identity in homology is $\mathcal{X}(f)$. Since the degree of a composition is the product of the degrees, we get the desired result.

Using similar arguments as in the proof of Proposition 4.11.5, it can be obtained immediately the following result.

Proposition 4.11.6. If n is a positive integer number, l is an integer number, X is a finite model of the n-dimensional sphere and Y is a finite model of a closed connected oriented n-dimensional manifold, then there exists a diagram $(p, q, \Gamma) \in D(Y, X)$ such that its degree is l.

Proof. We know that there exists a continuous map $f : \mathcal{K}(X) \to S^n$ satisfying that its degree is 1. By the simplicial approximation theorem, there exists a barycentric subdivision $\mathcal{K}(X)^m$ and a simplicial map $f' : |\mathcal{K}(X)^m| \to S^n$ which is homotopic to f. Applying \mathcal{X} , we have $\mathcal{X}(f') : \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{K}(X)^m) \to \mathcal{X}(S^n)$. Using Proposition 4.11.5 and Proposition 4.10.6, we can deduce the desired result.



Figure 4.11.1: Schematic representation of H and f.

Example 4.11.7. We consider the minimal finite model of the 1-dimensional sphere, that is, $X = \{A, B, C, D\}$ satisfying that A, B > C, D. We will construct a diagram of degree 2. To do that, we consider the finite barycentric subdivision of X. $f : X' \to X$

is given by f(CA) = A, f(CB) = B, f(DB) = A, f(DA) = B, f(C) = C, f(B) = D, f(D) = C and f(A) = D. In Figure 4.11.1, it can be seen a schematic representation using Hasse diagrams. It follows that $\mathcal{K}(f)$ has degree 2. Furthermore, we have the natural Vietoris-like multivalued map $H : X \multimap X$. Therefore, composing the diagrams associated to the previous maps and multivalued maps we get the desired result, that is, $(p_f, q_f, \Gamma(f)) \circ (p_H, q_H, \Gamma(H)) : X \to X$ is a diagram of degree 2.

Remark 4.11.8. There are some interesting questions regarding to this topic. For example, is it true a finite version of the Hopf theorem? It could also very useful to get a combinatorial description of the degree and state a class of finite topological spaces for which it can be used.

Bibliography

- P. Alexandroff. Diskrete Räume. Mathematiceskii Sbornik (N.S.), 2(3):501–519, 1937.
- [2] M. Alonso-Morón, E. Cuchillo-Ibañez, and A. Luzón. ε-connectedness, finite approximations, shape theory and coarse graining in hyperspaces. *Phys. D*, 237(23):3109– 3122, 2008.
- [3] M. Alonso-Morón and A. González Gómez. Homotopical properties of upper semifinite hyperspaces of compacta. *Topol. App.*, 155(9):927–981, 2008.
- [4] J. Andrews and M. Curtis. Free groups and handlebodies. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 16:192–195, 1965.
- [5] M. Arkowitz. The group of self-homotopy equivalences-a survey. In Groups of selfequivalences and related topics, pages 170–203. (Montreal, PQ, 1988), Lecture Notes in Math., 1425, Springer, Berlin–Heidelberg, 1990.
- [6] M. Arkowitz. Problems on self-homotopy equivalences. Contemp. Math., 274:309– 315, 2001.
- [7] M. Arkowitz and R. Brown. The Lefschetz-Hopf theorem and axioms for the Lefschetz number. *Fixed Point Theory App.*, 2004.
- [8] S. Arya, D. Mount, N. Netanyahu, R. Silverman, and A. Wu. An optimal algorithmfor approximate nearest neighbor searching in fixed dimensions. *Journal of the* ACM, 45(6):891–923, 1998.
- [9] L. Babai. Infinite digraphs with given regular automorphism groups. J. Combin. Theory B, 25(1):26–46, 1978.
- [10] L. Babai. Finite digraphs with given regular automorphism groups. Period. Math. Hung., 1:257,270, 1980.
- [11] K. Baclawski and A. Björner. Fixed points in partially ordered sets. Adv. Math., 31(3):263–287, 1979.
- [12] J. A. Barmak. Algebraic topology of finite topological spaces and applications, volume 2032. Springer, 2011.
- [13] J. A. Barmak. On Quillen's Theorem A for posets. J. Combin. Theory A, 118:2445– 2453, 2011.
- [14] J. A. Barmak. The fixed point property in every weak homotopy type. Am. J. Math, 138(5):1425–1438, 2016.

- [15] J. A. Barmak. Automorphism groups of finite posets II. Preprint. arXiv:2008.04997, 2020.
- [16] J. A. Barmak and E. Minian. Automorphism groups of finite posets. Discrete Math., 309(10):3424–3426, 2009.
- [17] J. A. Barmak and E. G. Minian. Minimal finite models. J. Homotopy Relat. Struct., 2(1):127–140, 2007.
- [18] J. A. Barmak and E. G. Minian. Simple homotopy types and finite spaces. Adv. Math., 218:87–104, 2008.
- [19] J. A. Barmak and E. G. Minian. Strong Homotopy Types, Nerves and Collapses. Discrete Comput. Geom., 47:301–328, 2012.
- [20] J. A. Barmak, M. Mrozek, and T. Wanner. A Lefschetz fixed point theorem for multivalued maps of finite spaces. *Math. Z.*, 294:1477–1497, 2020.
- [21] B. Batko, T. Kaczynski, M. Mrozek, and T. Wanner. Linking Combinatorial and Classical Dynamics: Conley Index and Morse Decompositions. *Found. Comput. Math.*, 20:967–1012, 2020.
- [22] E. G. Begle. The Vietoris Mapping Theorem for Bicompact Spaces. Ann. of Math., 51(3):524–543, 1950.
- [23] P. Bilski. Finite spaces and an axiomatization of the Lefschetz number. Georgian Math. J., 26(2):165–175, 2017.
- [24] P. Bilski. On the inverse limits of T_0 -Alexandroff spaces. *Glas. Mat.*, 52(2):207–219, 2017.
- [25] G. Birkhoff. On groups of automorphisms. Rev. Un. Mat. Argentina, 11:155–157, 1946.
- [26] K. Borsuk. On the imbedding of systems of compacta in simplicial complexes. Fund. Math., 35, 1948.
- [27] K. Borsuk. Theory of Shape, volume Lectures Notes Series 28. Matematisk Inst. Aarhus Univ., 1971.
- [28] A. Cayley. Desiderata and Suggestions: No. 2. The Theory of Groups: Graphical Representation. Am. J. Math, 2(1):174–176, 1878.
- [29] P. J. Chocano, M. A. Morón, and F. R. Ruiz del Portal. Topological realizations of groups in alexandroff spaces. *Rev. R. Acad. Cien. Serie A. Mat.*, DOI: 10.1007/s13398-020-00964-7, 2021.
- [30] N. Cianci and M. Ottina. Smallest weakly contractible non-contractible topological spaces. Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc., 63(1):263–274, 2020.
- [31] E. Clader. Inverse limits of finite topological spaces. *Homol. Homotop. App.*, 11(2):223–227, 2009.
- [32] C. Conley. Isolated Invariant Sets and the Morse Index. volume 38 of CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1978.

- [33] J. Cordier and T. Porter. Shape theory: Categorical methods of approximation. Horwood Series: Mathematics and Its Applications, 1989.
- [34] C. Costoya and A. Viruel. Every finite group is the group of self-homotopy equivalences of an elliptic space. Acta Math., 213(1):49–62, 2014.
- [35] C. Costoya and A. Viruel. On the realizability of group actions. *Adv. Math.*, 336:299–315, 2018.
- [36] C. Costoya and A. Viruel. A primer on the group of self-homotopy equivalences: a Rational Homotopy Theory approach. *Graduate J. Math.*, 5:76–87, 2020.
- [37] E. Cuchillo-Ibañez, M. Morón, and F. Ruíz del Portal. A note on isomorphic groups and nonhomeomorphic spaces. Acta Math. Hung., 82(4):297–300, 1999.
- [38] J. Curry, R. Ghrist, and V. Nanda. Discrete Morse Theory for Computing Cellular Sheaf Cohomology. Found. Comput. Math., 16:875–897, 2015.
- [39] J. de Groot. Groups represented by homeomorphism groups I. Math. Ann., 138:80– 102, 1959.
- [40] A. Dold and R. Thom. Quasifaserungen und unendliche symmetrische Produkte. Ann. of Math., 67(2):239–281, 1958.
- [41] Z. Dzedzej and T. Gzella. On homotopies of morphisms and admissible mappings. J. Fixed Point Theory Appl., 22(91), 2020.
- [42] H. Edelsbrunner and J. Harer. Computational Topology an Introduction. American Mathematical Society, 2010.
- [43] S. Eilenberg and D. Montgomery. Fixed point Theorems for Multi-Valued Transformations. Am. J. Math, 68(2):214–222, 1946.
- [44] E. Fadell. On a coincidence theorem of F. B. Fuller. Pacific J. Math., 15(3):825–834, 1965.
- [45] Y. Félix. Problems on mapping spaces and related subjects. Homotopy theory of function spaces and related topics, Contemp. Math, 519:217–230, 2010.
- [46] D. Fernández-Ternero, E. Macías-Virgós, D. Mosquera-Lois, and J. Vilches. Morse-Bott Theory on posets and an homological Lusternik-Schnirelmann Theorem. arXiv:2007.13565, 2020.
- [47] D. Flannery and D. MacHale. Some Finite Groups Which Are Rarely Automorphism Groups: I. Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. Section A: Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 81A(2):209–215, 1981.
- [48] R. Forman. Combinatorial vector fields and dynamical systems. Math. Z., 228:629– 681, 1998.
- [49] R. Forman. Morse Theory for Cell Complexes. Adv. Math., 134(1):90–145, 1998.
- [50] R. Forman. A user's guide to discrete Morse theory. Séminaire Lotharingien de Combinatoire, 48(Article B48c):35pp, 2002.

- [51] J. Franks and D. Richeson. Shift equivalences and the Conley index. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 352(7):3305–3322, 2000.
- [52] J. Friedman, J. Bentley, and R. Finkel. An algorithm for finding best matches in logarithmic expected time. ACM Transactions on Mathematical Software, 3(3):209– 226, 1977.
- [53] R. Frucht. Herstellung von Graphen mit vorgegebener abstrakter Gruppe. Compos. Math., 6:239–250, 1939.
- [54] F. Fuller. The Homotopy Theory of Coincidences. Ann. of Math., 59(2):219–226, 1954.
- [55] L. Górniewicz. Homological Methods in Fixed Point Theory of Multivalued Mappings. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 1999.
- [56] D. Govc and P. Skraba. An Approximate Nerve Theorem. Found. Comput. Math., 18:1245–1297, 2018.
- [57] F. Harary. Graph Theory. Addison-Wesley, 1971.
- [58] K. Hardie and J. Vermeulen. Homotopy theory of finite and locally finite T_0 -spaces. Exposition Math, (11):331–341, 1993.
- [59] S. Harker, K. Mischaikow, M. Mrozek, and V. Nanda. Discrete Morse Theoretic Algorithms for Computing Homology of Complexes and Maps. *Found. Comput. Math.*, 14:151–184, 2013.
- [60] A. Hatcher. Algebraic topology. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2000.
- [61] J. Hausmann. On the Vietoris-Rips Complexes and a Cohomology Theory for Metric Spaces, pages 175–188. Princeton University Press, 1995.
- [62] H. Hopf. Abbildungklassen n-dimensionaler Mannigfaltigkeiten. Math. Ann., 96:209– 224, 1926.
- [63] T. Kaczynski and M. Mrozek. Conley index for discrete multi-valued dynamical systems. *Topol. App.*, 65(11):83–96, 1995.
- [64] D. W. Kahn. Realization problems for the group of homotopy classes of selfequivalences. Math. Ann., 220(1):37–46, 1976.
- [65] S. Kinoshita. On some contractible continua without fixed point property. Fund. Math., 40:96–98, 1953.
- [66] D. König. Theorie der endlichen und uncndliehen Graphen. Leipzig, 1936.
- [67] M. J. Kukieła. On homotopy types of Alexandroff spaces. Order, 27(1):9–21, 2010.
- [68] M. Lipiński, J. Kubica, M. Mrozek, and T. Wanner. Conley–Morse–Forman theory for generalized combinatorial multivector fields on finite topological spaces. arXiv:1911.12698, 2019.
- [69] W. Lopez. An example in the fixed point theory of polyhedra. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 73(6):922–924, 11 1967.

- [70] D. MacHale. Some Finite Groups Which Are Rarely Automorphism Groups: II. Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy. Section A: Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 83A(2):189–196, 1983.
- [71] S. Mardešić. Approximating Topological Spaces by Polyhedra. 10 Mathematical Essays on Approximation in Analysis and Topology, pages 177–198, 2005.
- [72] S. Mardešić and J. Segal. Shapes of compacta and ANR-systems. Fund. Math., 1(72):41–59, 1971.
- [73] S. Mardešić and J. Segal. Shape theory: the inverse system approach. North-Holland Mathematical Library, 1982.
- [74] J. P. May. Finite spaces and larger contexts. Unpublished book, 2016.
- [75] M. C. McCord. Singular homology groups and homotopy groups of finite topological spaces. Duke Math. J., 33(3):465–474, 1966.
- [76] M. C. McCord. Homotopy Type Comparison of a Space with Complexes Associated with its Open Covers. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 18(4):705–708, 1967.
- [77] R. McCoy. Homeomorphism groups of Hilbert cube manifolds. Gen. Topol. App., 2:55–60, 1972.
- [78] J. Milnor. Morse theory. Based on lectures notes by M. Spivak and R. Wells. Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 51. Princeton University Press, Princeto, N.J., New York-Berlin, 1963.
- [79] J. Milnor. Topology from the differentiable viewpoint. Princeton Landmarks in Mathematics. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press, 1997.
- [80] E. Minian. Some remarks on Morse theory for posets, homological Morse theory and finite manifolds. *Topol. App.*, 159(12):2860–2869, 2012.
- [81] D. Mondéjar Ruiz. Hyperspaces, Shape Theory and Computational Topology. PhD thesis, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, 2015.
- [82] D. Mondéjar and M. A. Morón. Reconstruction of compacta by finite approximation and inverse persistence. *Rev. Mat. Complut.*, 34(2): 559–584, 2021.
- [83] K. Morita. The Hurewicz isomorphism theorem on homotopy and homology progroups. Proc. Japan Acad., 50(7):453–457, 1974.
- [84] M. Mrozek. Leray functor and cohomological Conley index for discrete dynamical systems. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 318(1):149–178, 1990.
- [85] M. Mrozek. Conley-Morse-Forman Theory for Combinatorial Multivector Fields on Lefschetz Complexes. Found. Comput. Math., (17):1585–1633, 2017.
- [86] J. Munkres. Topology: A first course. Prentice-Hall, 1974.
- [87] J. Munkres. Elements of Algebraic topology. Addison-Wesley, 1984.
- [88] S. Nadler. Hyperspaces of Sets: A Text with Research Questions. M. Dekker, 1978.
- [89] E. Outerelo Domnguez and J. Ruiz Sancho. Mapping degree theory. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 2009.

- [90] M. Powers. Multi-valued mappings and Lefschetz fixed point theorems. *Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, 68(3):619–630, 1970.
- [91] D. Quillen. Homotopy properties of the poset of nontrivial p-subgroups of a group. Adv. Math., 28:101–128, 1978.
- [92] L. Rieger. Some remarks on automorphisms of Boolean algebras. Fund. Math., 38:209–216, 1951.
- [93] I. Rival. A fixed point theorem for finite partially ordered sets. J. Combin. Theory A 21, pages 309–318, 1976.
- [94] M. Rubin. On the reconstruction of topological spaces from their groups of homeomorphisms. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 312(2):487–538, 1989.
- [95] J. W. Rutter. Spaces of Homotopy Self-Equivalences. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1662. Springer, Berlin-Heidelberg, 1997.
- [96] G. Sabidussi. Graphs with given infinite group. *Monatshefte für Mathematik*, 64(1):64–67, 1960.
- [97] I. Sadofschi Costa. Presentation complexes with the fixed point property. Geom. Topol., 21(2):1275–1283, 2017.
- [98] J. M. R. Sanjurjo. An Intrinsic Description of Shape. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 329(2):625–636, 1992.
- [99] S. Shelah. Why there are many nonisomorphic models for unsuperstable theories. (Proc. Internat. Congr. Math., Vancouver, B.C., 1974, vol. 1), Canadian Math. Congress, Montreal, pages 259–263, 1975.
- [100] E. Spanier. Algebraic topology. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1981.
- [101] L. Steen and J. J. Seebach. Counterexamples in Topology. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1978.
- [102] A. Stone. Inverse limits of compact spaces. Gen. Topol. App., 10(2):203–211, 1984.
- [103] R. E. Stong. Finite topological spaces. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 123(2):325–340, 1966.
- [104] R. E. Stong. Group actions on finite spaces. Discrete Math., 49:95–100, 1984.
- [105] A. Szymczak. The Conley index for discrete semidynamical systems. Topol. App., 66:215-245, 1995.
- [106] M. C. Thornton. Spaces with given homeomorphism groups. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 33(1):127–131, 1972.
- [107] T. Tom Dieck. Algebraic topology. EMS Textbooks in Mathematics, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2008.
- [108] L. Vietoris. Über den höheren Zusammenhang kompakter Räume und eine Klasse von zusammenhangstreuen Abbildungen. Math. Ann., 97:454–472, 1927.
- [109] J. Walker. Homotopy type and Euler characteristics of partially ordered sets. Europ. J. Combinatorics 2, (2):373–384, 1981.

- [110] J. Whitehead. Simplicial spaces, nuclei and m-groups. Proc. London Math. Soc., 45:243–327, 1939.
- [111] J. Whitehead. Combinatorial homotopy. I. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 55:213–245, 03 1949.
- [112] J. Whitehead. Combinatorial homotopy. II. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 55(5):453–496, 05 1949.
- [113] J. V. Whittaker. On Isomorphic Groups and Homeomorphic Spaces. Ann. of Math., 78(1):74–91, 1963.
- [114] A. Zomorodian. Fast construction of the Vietoris-Rips complex. Comput. Graph., 34:263–271, 2010.